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内容提要

本书共分16章，内容涵盖了金融学的主要方面，以金融学的基本概念为主要内容，介绍了金融职业员工应具备的技能、商业银行和服务、货币市场、外汇市场、资本市场和保险市场产品的基本知识。在衍生金融工具方面主要介绍了期货、期权和互换的基本概念和知识。

本书内容新颖实用，适合大专院校的金融、保险和投资专业学生使用。


前　言

本书是以英文方式介绍金融产品和服务为主要内容的书籍，具体内容涉及金融的基本概念、商业银行和服务、货币市场、外汇市场、资本市场和保险市场产品和服务等。

当前我国的金融市场上，金融机构、金融工具和金融创新正处于新的发展阶段，金融业对其工作人员的英语水平也提出了更高的要求。编写一本可以在学习英语的同时也增加金融知识特别是熟悉常用的技术术语就显得十分必要，教材在选材上考虑到金融领域技术的新发展和新动向，也考虑了教材的实用性和新颖性。

本教材是为本科教学需要编写的，内容涵盖了金融学的主要方面，教材内容从介绍金融学专业学生在不同工作岗位应掌握的基本技能开始，到金融衍生工具的使用，内容新颖实用。

随着金融产品特别是衍生品的广泛使用，本书对第一版的内容进行了较大调整，增加了商业银行和服务、期权和互换等内容，并对一些章节进行了修订，使本书更显实用性。

本书6个主题共分16章。首先介绍金融的定义。接着介绍了货币市场、商业银行的产品和服务、中央银行的功能和货币政策。第三个主题是外汇市场和汇率，主要介绍外汇市场的功能和汇率的基本知识。第四个主题是企业融资技术和财务报表阅读，负债融资和权益融资的区别是主要内容，财务报表部分主要介绍了如何阅读资产负债表和利润表。第五个部分是介绍资本市场，主要内容有投资的基本技术，包括债券、股票、共同基金、期货、期权和互换。最后介绍了保险市场和产品。

我们要特别感谢上海金融学院的领导和有关教师及复旦大学出版社对本书的写作和出版给予的大力支持和帮助，在此，还要感谢对本书提出意见的各位读者。

由于专业知识水平有限，本书难免存在一些不足和遗漏，作者真诚地希望读者提出宝贵意见，以利于今后教材的修订工作。

编者的电子邮箱为：wenguoliu@gmail.com。
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Chapter 1

Finance


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What a finance is

• What the personal finance is

• What the corporate finance is

• What the capital is

• What the portfolio is

• What quantitative behavioral finance is

• What the budget is

• What the public finance is

 

The field of finance refers to the concepts of time, money and risk and how they are interrelated. Banks are the main facilitators of funding through the provision of credit, although private equity, mutual funds, hedge funds1
 , and other organizations have become important. Financial assets, known as investments, are financially managed with careful attention to financial risk management to control financial risk.

Financial instruments allow many forms of securitized2
 assets to be traded on securities exchanges such as stock exchanges, including debt such as bonds as well as equity in publicly-traded corporations.

The Main Techniques and Sectors of the Financial Industry

An entity whose income exceeds its expenditure can lend or invest the excess income. On the other hand, an entity whose income is less than its expenditure can raise capital by borrowing or selling equity claims, decreasing its expenses, or increasing its income. The lender can find a borrower, a financial intermediary such as a bank, or buy notes or bonds in the bond market. The lender receives interest, the borrower pays a higher interest than the lender receives, and the financial intermediary pockets the difference.

A bank aggregates the activities of many borrowers and lenders. A bank accepts deposits from lenders, on which it pays the interest. The bank then lends these deposits to borrowers. Banks allow borrowers and lenders, of different sizes, to coordinate their activity. Banks are thus compensators of money flows in space.

A specific example of corporate finance is the sale of stock by a company to institutional investors like investment banks, who in turn generally sell it to the public. The stock gives whoever owns it part ownership in that company. If you buy one share of XYZ Inc, and they have 100 shares outstanding (held by investors), you are 1/100 owner of that company. Of course, in return for the stock, the company receives cash, which it uses to expand its business; this process is known as "equity financing". Equity financing mixed with the sale of bonds (or any other debt financing) is called the company's capital structure2
 .

Finance is used by individuals (personal finance), by governments (public finance), by businesses (corporate finance), as well as by a wide variety of organizations including schools and non-profit organizations. In general, the goals of each of the above activities are achieved through the use of appropriate financial instruments and methodologies, with consideration to their institutional setting.

Finance is one of the most important aspects of business management. Without proper financial planning a new enterprise is unlikely to be successful. Managing money (a liquid asset) is essential to ensure a secure future, both for the individual and an organization.

Personal Finance

Personal finance is the application of the principles of finance to the monetary decisions of an individual or family unit. It addresses the ways in which individuals or families obtain, budget, save, and spend monetary resources over time, taking into account various financial risks and future life events. Components of personal finance might include checking and savings accounts, credit cards and consumer loans, investments in the stock market, retirement plans, social security benefits, insurance policies, and income tax management. Questions in personal finance revolve around:

• How much money will be needed by an individual (or by a family), and when?

• Where will this money come from, and how?

• How can people protect themselves against unforeseen personal events, as well as those in the external economy?

• How can family assets best be transferred across generations (bequests and inheritance)?

• How does tax policy (tax subsidies or penalties) affect personal financial decisions?

• How does credit affect an individual's financial standing?

• How can one plan for a secure financial future in an environment of economic instability?

Personal financial decisions may involve paying for education, financing durable goods such as real estate and cars, buying insurance, e.g., health and property insurance, investing and saving for retirement. Personal financial decisions may also involve paying for a loan, or debt obligations.

Corporate Finance

Corporate finance is an area of finance dealing with the financial decisions corporations make and the tools and analysis used to make these decisions. The primary goal of corporate finance is to maximize corporate value while managing the firm's financial risks. Although it is in principle different from managerial finance which studies the financial decisions of all firms, rather than corporations alone, the main concepts in the study of corporate finance are applicable to the financial problems of all kinds of firms.

The discipline can be divided into long-term and short-term decisions and techniques. Capital investment decisions are long-term choices about which projects receive investment, whether to finance that investment with equity or debt, and when or whether to pay dividends to shareholders. On the other hand, the short-term decisions can be grouped under the heading "Working capital management". This subject deals with the short-term balance of current assets and current liabilities; the focus here is on managing cash, inventories, and short-term borrowing and lending (such as the terms on credit extended to customers).

The terms Corporate finance and Corporate financier are also associated with investment banking. The typical role of an investment banker is to evaluate company's financial needs and raise the appropriate type of capital that best fits those needs.

Managerial or corporate finance is the task of providing the funds for a corporation's activities. For small business, this is referred to as SME finance. It generally involves balancing risk and profitability, while attempting to maximize an entity's wealth and the value of its stock.

Long-term funds are provided by ownership equity and long-term credit, often in the form of bonds. The balance between these forms the company's capital structure. Short-term funding or working capital is mostly provided by banks extending a line of credit.

Another business decision concerning finance is investment, or fund management. An investment is an acquisition of an asset in the hope that it will maintain or increase its value. In investment management? — in choosing a portfolio? — one has to decide what, how much and when to invest. To do this, a company must:

• Identify relevant objectives and constraints: institution or individual goals, time horizon, risk aversion and tax considerations;

• Identify the appropriate strategy: active v. passive — hedging strategy;

• Measure the portfolio performance.

Financial management is duplicate with the financial function of the Accounting profession. However, financial accounting is more concerned with the reporting of historical financial information, while the financial decision is directed toward the future of the firm.

Capital

Financial capital can refer to money used by entrepreneurs and businesses to buy what they need to make their products or provide their services or to that sector of the economy based on its operation, i.e., retail, corporate, investment banking.

Financial capital refers to the funds provided by lenders (and investors) to businesses to purchase real capital equipment for producing goods/services. Real capital comprises physical goods that assist in the production of other goods and services, e.g., shovels for gravediggers, sewing machines for tailors, or machinery and tooling for factories. Financial capital is provided by lenders for a price: interest. Also see time value of money for a more detailed description of how financial capital may be analyzed.

Furthermore, financial capital, or economic capital, is any liquid medium or mechanism that represents wealth, or other styles of capital. It is, however, usually purchasing power in the form of money available for the production or purchasing of goods, etcetera. Capital can also be obtained by producing more than what is immediately required and saving the surplus.

Capital, in the financial sense, is the money that gives the business the power to buy goods to be used in the production of other goods or the offering of a service.

The Desirability of Budgeting

Budget is an estimation of the revenue and expenses over a specified future period of time. A budget can be made for a person, family, group of people, business, government, country, multinational organization or just about anything else that makes and spends money. A budget is a microeconomic concept that shows the tradeoff made when one good is exchanged for another.

Budget is a document which documents the Plan of the business, this may include the objective of business, Targets set, and results in financial terms. The target set for sale, resulting cost, growth, required investment to achieve the planned sales, and financing source for the investment. Also Budget may be long term or short term. Long-term have a time horizon of 5 — 10 years giving a vision to the company, short-term is an annual budget which is drawn to control and operate in that particular year.

Capital Budget

Capital budget is the process in which a business determines whether projects such as building a new plant or investing in a long-term venture are worth pursuing. Oftentimes, a prospective project's lifetime cash inflows and outflows are assessed in order to determine whether the returns generated meet a sufficient target benchmark. This concerns fixed asset requirements for the next five years and how these will be financed.

Cash Budget

Cash Budget is an estimation of the cash inflows and outflows for a business or individual for a specific period of time. Cash budgets are often used to assess whether the entity has sufficient cash to fulfill regular operations and/or whether too much cash is being left in unproductive capacities.

A cash budget is extremely important, especially for small businesses, because it allows a company to determine how much credit it can extend to customers before it begins to have liquidity problems.

For individuals, creating a cash budget is a good method for determining where their cash is regularly being spent. This awareness can be beneficial because knowing the value of certain expenditures can yield opportunities for additional savings by cutting unnecessary costs.

For example, without setting a cash budget, spending a dollar a day on a cup of coffee seems fairly unimpressive. However, upon setting a cash budget to account for regular annual cash expenditures, this seemingly small daily expenditure comes out to an annual total of $365, which may be better spent on other things. If you frequently visit specialty coffee shops, your annual expenditure will be substantially more.

Working capital requirements of a business should be monitored at all times to ensure that there are sufficient funds available to meet short-term expenses.

The cash budget is basically a detailed plan that shows all expected sources and uses of cash. The cash budget has the following six main sections:

1. Beginning cash balance — contains the last period's closing cash balance.

2. Cash collections — includes all expected cash receipts (all sources of cash for the period considered, mainly sales).

3. Cash disbursements — lists all planned cash outflows for the period, excluding interest payments on short-term loans, which appear in the financing section. All expenses that do not affect cash flow3
 are excluded from this list (e.g., depreciation, amortisation, etc).

4. Cash excess or deficiency — a function of the cash needs and cash available. Cash needs are determined by the total cash disbursements plus the minimum cash balance required by company policy. If total cash available is less than cash needs, a deficiency exists.

5. Financing — discloses the planned borrowings and repayments, including interest.

6. Ending cash balance — simply reveals the planned ending cash balance.

Management of Current Assets

Credit Policy

Credit gives the customer the opportunity to buy goods and services, and pay for them at a later date.

Forms of Credit

1. Suppliers credit

2. Credit on ordinary open account

3. Installment sales

4. Bills of exchange

5. Credit cards

6. Contractor's credit

7. Factoring of debtors

8. Cash credit

Advantages of Credit Trade

1. Usually results in more customers than cash trade

2. Can charge more for goods to cover the risk of bad debt

3. Gain goodwill and loyalty of customers

4. People can buy goods and pay for them at a later date

5. Farmers can buy seeds and implements, and pay for them only after the harvest

6. Stimulates agricultural and industrial production and commerce

7. Can be used as a promotional tool

8. Increase the sales

Disadvantages of Credit Trade

1. Risk of bad debt

2. High administration expenses

3. People can buy more than they can afford

4. More working capital needed

5. Risk of Bankruptcy

Factors Which Influence Credit Conditions

1. Nature of the business's activities

2. Financial position

3. Product durability

4. Length of production process

5. Competition and competitors' credit conditions

6. Country's economic position

7. Conditions at financial institutions

8. Discount for early payment

9. Debtor's type of business and financial positions

Overdue Accounts

1. Attach a notice of overdue account to statement

2. Send a letter asking for settlement of debt

3. Send a second or third letter if first is ineffectual

4. Threaten legal action

Effective Credit Control

1. Increases sales

2. Reduces bad debts

3. Increases profits

4. Builds customer loyalty

Sources of Information on Creditworthiness

1. Business references

2. Bank references

3. Credit agencies

4. Chambers of commerce

5. Employers

6. Credit application forms

Duties of the Credit Department

1. Legal action

2. Taking necessary steps to ensure settlement of account

3. Knowing the credit policy and procedures for credit control

4. Setting credit limits

5. Ensuring that statements of account are sent out

6. Ensuring that thorough checks are carried out on credit customers

7. Keeping records of all amounts owing

8. Ensuring that debts are settled promptly

9. Timely reporting to the upper level of management for better management.

Cash

Reasons for Keeping Cash

• Cash is usually referred to as the "king" in finance, as it is the most liquid asset.

• The transaction motive refers to the money kept available to pay expenses.

• The precautionary motive refers to the money kept aside for unforeseen expenses.

• The speculative motive refers to the money kept aside to take advantage of suddenly arising opportunities.

Advantages of Sufficient Cash

• Current liabilities may be catered for.

• Cash discounts are given for cash payments.

• Production is kept moving.

• Surplus cash may be invested on a short-term basis.

• The business is able to pay its accounts timely, allowing for easily-obtained credit.

• Liquidity.

Insurance

Insurance, in law and economics, is a form of risk management primarily used to hedge against the risk of a contingent loss. Insurance is defined as the equitable transfer of the risk of a loss, from one entity to another, in exchange for a premium, and can be thought of as a guaranteed small loss to prevent a large, possibly devastating loss. An insurer is a company selling the insurance; an insured is the person or entity buying the insurance. The insurance rate is a factor used to determine the amount to be charged for a certain amount of insurance coverage, called the premium. Risk management, the practice of appraising and controlling risk, has evolved as a discrete field of study and practice.

Insurance is the undertaking of one party to indemnify another, in exchange for a premium, against a certain eventuality.

Uninsured Risks

• Bad debt

• Changes in fashion

• Time lapses between ordering and delivery

• New machinery or technology

• Different prices at different places

Requirements of An Insurance Contract

1. The insured must derive a real financial gain from that which he is insuring, or stand to lose if it is destroyed or lost.

2. The item must belong to the insured.

3. One person may take out insurance on the life of another if the second party owes the first money.

4. Must be some person or item which can, legally, be insured.

5. The insured must have a legal claim to that which he is insuring.

Good Faith

Uberrimae fidei refers to absolute honesty and must characterise the dealings of both the insurer and the insured.

Finance of States

Public finance is a field of economics concerned with paying for collective or governmental activities, and with the administration and design of those activities. The field is often divided into questions of what the government or collective organizations should do or are doing, and questions of how to pay for those activities. The broader term (public economics) and the narrower term (government finance) are also often used.

Country, state, county, city or municipality finance is called public finance. It is concerned with

• Identification of required expenditure of a public sector entity;

• Source(s) of that entity's revenue;

• The budgeting process;

• Debt issuance (municipal bonds) for public works projects.

Financial Economics

Financial economics is the branch of economics studying the interrelation of financial variables, such as prices, interest rates and shares, as opposed to those concerning the real economy. It is additionally characterized by its "concentration on monetary activities", in which "money of one type or another is likely to appear on both sides of a trade". The questions within financial economics are typically framed in terms of "time, uncertainty, options and information".

Financial economics concentrates on influences of real economic variables on financial ones, in contrast to pure finance.

It studies:

• Valuation — Determination of the fair value of an asset

1. How risky is the asset? (identification of the asset appropriate discount rate)

2. What cash flows will it produce? (discounting of relevant cash flows)

3. How does the market price compare to similar assets? (relative valuation)

4. Are the cash flows dependent on some other asset or event? (derivatives, contingent claim valuation)

• Financial markets and instruments

1. Commodities

2. Stocks

3. Bonds

4. Money market instruments

5. Derivatives

• Financial institutions and regulation

Financial Econometrics is the branch of Financial Economics that uses econometric techniques to parameterize the relationships.

Financial Mathematics

Financial mathematics is a main branch of applied mathematics concerned with the financial markets. Financial mathematics is the study of financial data with the tools of mathematics, mainly statistics. Such data can be movements of securities — stocks and bonds etc. — and their relations. Another large subfield is insurance mathematics.

Experimental Finance

Experimental finance aims to establish different market settings and environments to observe experimentally and provide a lens through which science can analyze agents' behavior and the resulting characteristics of trading flows, information diffusion and aggregation, price setting mechanisms, and returns processes. Researchers in experimental finance can study to what extent existing financial economics theory makes valid predictions, and attempt to discover new principles on which such theory can be extended. Research may proceed by conducting trading simulations or by establishing and studying the behavior of people in artificial competitive market-like settings.

Quantitative Behavioral Finance

Quantitative Behavioral Finance is a new discipline that uses mathematical and statistical methodology to understand behavioral biases in conjunction with valuation. Some of this endeavor has been lead by Gunduz Caginalp (Professor of Mathematics and Editor of Journal of Behavioral Finance during 2001-2004) and collaborators including Vernon Smith (2002 Nobel Laureate in Economics), David Porter, Don Balenovich, Vladimira Ilieva, Ahmet Duran, Huseyin Merdan. Studies by Jeff Madura, Ray Sturm and others have demonstrated significant behavioral effects in stocks and exchange traded funds.

The research can be grouped into the following areas:

1. Empirical studies that demonstrate significant deviations from classical theories.

2. Modeling using the concepts of behavioral effects together with the non-classical assumption of the finiteness of assets.

3. Forecasting based on these methods.

4. Studies of experimental asset markets and use of models to forecast experiments.

Intangible Asset Finance

Intangible Asset Finance is the branch of finance that deals with intangible assets such as patents (legal intangible) and reputation (competitive intangible). Like other areas of finance, intangible asset finance is concerned with the interdependence of value, risk, and time. Some people refer to this field as "IP Finance."

Related Professional Qualifications

There are several related professional qualifications in finance, that can lead to the field:

1. Qualified accountant qualifications: The Association of Chartered Certified Accountant (ACCA, UK certification), Chartered Accountant (CA, certification in Commonwealth countries), Certified Public Accountant (CPA, US certification)

2. Non-statutory accountancy qualifications: Chartered Cost Accountant (CCA, designation from AAFM)

3. Business qualifications: Master of Business Administration (MBA), Bachelor of Business Management (BBM), Master of Financial Administration (MFA), Doctor of Business Administration (DBA)

4. Finance qualifications: Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA), Certified International Investment Analyst (CIIA), Association of Corporate Treasurers (ACT), Masters degree in Finance, Certified Market Analyst (CMA/FAD) Dual Designation, Master Financial Manager (MFM), Corporate Finance Qualification (CFQ)

5. Quantitative Finance qualifications: Master of Science in Financial Engineering (MSFE), Master of Quantitative Finance (MQF), Master of Computational Finance (MCF), Master of Financial Mathematics (MFM)


 Summary


1. The field of finance refers to the concepts of time, money and risk and how they are interrelated.

2. A bank aggregates the activities of many borrowers and lenders. A bank accepts deposits from lenders, on which it pays the interest. The bank then lends these deposits to borrowers. Banks allow borrowers and lenders, of different sizes, to coordinate their activity.

3. Finance is used by individuals (personal finance), by governments (public finance), by businesses (corporate finance), as well as by a wide variety of organizations including schools and non-profit organizations.

4. Personal finance is the application of the principles of finance to the monetary decisions of an individual or family unit.

5. Corporate finance is an area of finance dealing with the financial decisions corporations make and the tools and analysis used to make these decisions.

6. Cash Budget is an estimation of the cash inflows and outflows for a business or individual for a specific period of time. Cash budgets are often used to assess whether the entity has sufficient cash to fulfill regular operations and/or whether too much cash is being left in unproductive capacities.

7. Budget is an estimation of the revenue and expenses over a specified future period of time.

8. Insurance, in law and economics, is a form of risk management primarily used to hedge against the risk of a contingent loss. Insurance is defined as the equitable transfer of the risk of a loss, from one entity to another, in exchange for a premium, and can be thought of as a guaranteed small loss to prevent a large, possibly devastating loss.

9. Financial mathematics is a main branch of applied mathematics concerned with the financial markets. Financial mathematics is the study of financial data with the tools of mathematics, mainly statistics. Such data can be movements of securities — stocks and bonds etc. — and their relations. Another large subfield is insurance mathematics.

10. Quantitative Behavioral Finance is a new discipline that uses mathematical and statistical methodology to understand behavioral biases in conjunction with valuation.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. mutual fund　共同基金

2. budget　预算

3. checking account　支票账户（个人支票账户不记利息或低利息）

4. savings account　存款账户（记利息）

5. real estate　房地产

6. durable goods　耐用品

7. working capital　运营资本

8. municipal bond (or muni)　市政债券


 Notes



1. hedge fund:
 A hedge fund is an investment fund open to a limited range of investors that is permitted by regulators to undertake a wider range of activities than other investment funds and also pays a performance fee to its investment manager. Each fund will have its own strategy which determines the type of investments and the methods of investment it undertakes. Hedge funds as a class invest in a broad range of investments extending over shares, debt, commodities and so forth.


2. capital structure:
 Capital structure refers to the way a corporation finances its assets through some combination of equity, debt, or hybrid securities. A firm's capital structure is then the composition or "structure" of its liabilities. For example, a firm that sells $20 billion in equity and $80 billion in debt is said to be 20% equity-financed and 80% debt-financed. The firm's ratio of debt to total financing, 80% in this example, is referred to as the firm's leverage. In reality, capital structure may be highly complex and include tens of sources.


3. cash flow:
 Cash flow (also called net cash flow) is the balance of the amounts of cash being received and paid by a business during a defined period of time, sometimes tied to a specific project.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What is finance?

2. What is insurance?

3. What is case budget?

4. What is capital?

5. What is quantitative behavioral finance?

6. What is corporate finance?

7. What is financial mathematics?

8. What is personal finance?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. The primary goal of corporate finance is _____ corporate value while managing the firm's financial _____.

2. Financial mathematics is the study of financial data with the tools of _____, mainly _____.

3. Capital, in the financial sense, is the _____ that gives the business the power to buy goods to be used in the production of other goods or the _____ of a service.

4. A cash budget is extremely important, especially for small businesses, because it allows a company to _____ how much credit it can extend to customers before it begins to have _____ problems.

5. A bank _____ the activities of many borrowers and lenders. A bank _____ deposits from lenders, on which it pays the interest.

6. Capital investment decisions are _____ choices about which projects receive investment, whether to _____ that investment with equity or debt, and when or whether to pay dividends to shareholders.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．金融管理是商业管理的重要方面之一，没有合适的金融计划，企业是不可能成功的。

2．金融中介机构的基本宗旨是把不受公众欢迎的金融资产转变为他们能够接受的金融资产。

3．企业经营是有风险的，因此财务经理必须对风险进行评估和管理。

4．投资决策首先是指投资机会，常常指资本投资项目。

5．现金预算常常被用来评估企业是否有足够的现金来维持企业的日常经营运转和（或）是否有太多现金富余。

6．按照金融学的观点，资本就是企业购买商品以生产其他商品或提供服务的货币资金。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. A cash budget is extremely important, especially for small businesses, because it allows a company to determine how much credit it can extend to customers before it begins to have liquidity problems.

2. Financial intermediaries include depository institutions (commercial banks and credit union) who acquired the bulk of their funds by offering their liabilities to the public mostly form of deposit.

3. A corporation is a legally distinct from its owners, who are called shareholders or stockholders.

4. Long-term financial planning focus on the firm's goals, the investment that will be needed to meet those goals, and the financing that must be raised.

5. Businesses are classified into nonfinancial and financial businesses. These entities borrow funds in the debt market and raise funds in the equity market.

6. Finance is the set of activities dealing with the management of funds. More specifically, it is the decision of collection and use of funds. It is a branch of economics that studies the management of money and other assets.


 Reading Materials


Financial Services

Financial services refer to services provided by the finance industry. The finance industry encompasses a broad range of organizations that deal with the management of money. Among these organizations are banks, credit card companies, insurance companies, consumer finance companies, stock brokerages, investment funds and some government sponsored enterprises. As of 2004, the financial services industry represented 20% of the market capitalization of the S&P 500 in the United States.

History of Financial Services

The term "financial services" became more prevalent in the United States partly as a result of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of the late 1990s, which enabled different types of companies operating in the U.S. financial services industry at that time to merge. Companies usually have two distinct approaches to this new type of business. One approach would be a bank which simply buys an insurance company or an investment bank, keeps the original brands of the acquired firm, and adds the acquisition to its holding company simply to diversify its earnings. Outside the U.S. (e.g., in Japan), non-financial services companies are permitted within the holding company. In this scenario, each company still looks independent, and has its own customers. In the other style, a bank would simply create its own brokerage division or insurance division and attempt to sell those products to its own existing customers, with incentives for combining all things with one company.

Banks

A "commercial bank" is what is commonly referred to as simply a "bank". The term "commercial" is used to distinguish it from an "investment bank", a type of financial services entity which, instead of lending money directly to a business, helps businesses raise money from other firms in the form of bonds (debt) or stock (equity).

Banking Services

The primary operations of banks include:

• Keeping money safe while also allowing withdrawals when needed.

• Issuance of checkbooks so that bills can be paid and other kinds of payments can be delivered by post.

• Provide personal loans, commercial loans, and mortgage loans (typically loans to purchase a home, property or business).

• Issuance of credit cards and processing of credit card transactions and billing.

• Issuance of debit cards for use as a substitute for checks.

• Allow financial transactions at branches or by using Automatic Teller Machines (ATMs).

• Provide wire transfers of funds and Electronic fund transfers between banks.

• Facilitation of standing orders and direct debits, so payments for bills can be made automatically.

• Provide overdraft agreements for the temporary advancement of the Bank's own money to meet monthly spending commitments of a customer in their current account.

• Provide Charge card advances of the Bank's own money for customers wishing to settle credit advances monthly.

• Provide a check guaranteed by the Bank itself and prepaid by the customer, such as a cashier's check or certified check.

• Notary service for financial and other documents.

Other Types of Bank Services

• Private banking — Private banks provide banking services exclusively to high net worth individuals. Many financial services firms require a person or family to have a certain minimum net worth to qualify for private banking services. Private banks often provide more personal services, such as wealth management and tax planning, than normal retail banks.

• Capital market bank — bank that underwrite debt and equity, assist company deals (advisory services, underwriting and advisory fees), and restructure debt into structured finance products.

• Bank cards — include both credit cards and debit cards. Bank of America is the largest issuer of bank cards.

• Credit card machine services and networks — Companies which provide credit card machine and payment networks call themselves "merchant card providers".

Foreign Exchange Services

Foreign exchange services are provided by many banks around the world. Foreign exchange services include:

• Currency Exchange — where clients can purchase and sell foreign currency banknotes.

• Wire transfer — where clients can send funds to international banks abroad.

• Foreign Currency Banking — banking transactions are done in foreign currency.

Investment Services

• Asset management — The term usually given to describe companies which run collective investment funds.

• Hedge fund management — Hedge funds often employ the services of "prime brokerage" divisions at major investment banks to execute their trades.

• Custody services — Custody services and securities processing is a kind of "back-office" administration for financial services. Assets under custody in the world was estimated to $65 trillion at the end of 2004.

Insurance

• Insurance brokerage — Insurance brokers shop for insurance (generally corporate property and casualty insurance) on behalf of customers. Recently a number of websites have been created to give consumers basic price comparisons for services such as insurance, causing controversy within the industry.

• Insurance underwriting — Personal lines insurance underwriters actually underwrite insurance for individuals, a service still offered primarily through agents, insurance brokers, and stock brokers. Underwriters may also offer similar commercial lines of coverage for businesses. Activities include insurance and annuities, life insurance, retirement insurance, health insurance, and property & casualty insurance.

• Reinsurance — Reinsurance is insurance sold to insurers themselves, to protect them from catastrophic losses.

Other Financial Services

• Intermediation or advisory services — These services involve stock brokers (private client services) and discount brokers. Stock brokers assist investors in buying or selling shares. Primarily internet-based companies are often referred to as discount brokerages, although many now have branch offices to assist clients. These brokerages primarily target individual investors. Full service and private client firms primarily assist execute trades and execute trades for clients with large amounts of capital to invest, such as large companies, wealthy individuals, and investment management funds.

• Private equity — Private equity funds are typically closed-end funds, which usually take controlling equity stakes in businesses that are either private, or taken private once acquired. Private equity funds often use leveraged buyouts (LBOs) to acquire the firms in which they invest. The most successful private equity funds can generate returns significantly higher than provided by the equity markets.

• Venture capital — Venture capital is a type of private equity capital typically provided by professional, outside investors to new, high-potential-growth companies in the interest of taking the company to an IPO or trade sale of the business.

• Angel investment — An angel investor or angel (known as a business angel or informal investor in Europe), is an affluent individual who provides capital for a business start-up, usually in exchange for convertible debt or ownership equity. A small but increasing number of angel investors organize themselves into angel groups or angel networks to share research and pool their investment capital.

• Conglomerates — A financial services conglomerate is a financial services firm that is active in more than one sector of the financial services market e.g., life insurance, general insurance, health insurance, asset management, retail banking, wholesale banking, investment banking, etc. A key rationale for the existence of such businesses is the existence of diversification benefits that are present when different types of businesses are aggregated i.e., bad things don't always happen at the same time. As a consequence, economic capital for a conglomerate is usually substantially less than economic capital is for the sum of its parts.

Market Share

The financial services industry constitutes the largest group of companies in the world in terms of earnings and equity market cap. However it is not the largest category in terms of revenue or number of employees. It is also a slow growing and extremely fragmented industry, with the largest company (Citi Group), only having a 3% US market share. In contrast, the largest home improvement store in the US, Home Depot, has a 30% market share, and the largest coffee house Starbucks has a 32% market share.


Chapter 2

Careers in Commercial Banking


 Learning Objectives


After reading this chapter you will know:

• What jobs a commercial banking offers

• What skills you should have

• What interpersonal skills you should have

• What a mortgage banker is

• What hours of commercial banking have

• What futures commercial banking will be

• The roads lead into commercial banking

• What you have to keep in mind when you take your interview

Overview

Commercial banks are in the business of providing banking services to individuals, small businesses and large organizations. While the banking sector has been consolidating, it is worth noting that far more people are employed in the commercial banking sector than any other part of the financial services industry. Jobs in banking can be exciting and offer excellent opportunities to learn about business interact with people and build up a clientele. Today's commercial banks are more diverse than ever. You'll find a tremendous range of opportunities in commercial banking, starting at the branch level where you might start out1
 as a teller to a wide variety of other services such as leasing, credit card banking, international finance and trade credit. If you are well-prepared and enthusiastic about entering the field, you are likely to find a wide variety of opportunities open to you. Carefully, read through the material below as you decide whether you've got what it takes to pursue a career in commercial banking.

Broad Business Understanding and People Skills Needed

To be good in banking you need a broad understanding of business because your job will most likely involve interacting with businesses. People skills are essential because you will be helping people get the loans and investments that they want.

Accounting and Writing Skills Are Crucial

The most common jobs in commercial banking are as a credit analyst and as a lending officer. These jobs require a strong understanding of accounting. Because banking often requires that you document loans and justify credit analyses you've written communication skills are extremely important.

High Grades Less Important than Work Ethic

Banking attracts a diverse group of people. You don't have to be a superstar student with a phenomenal GPA to make it. You do have to be detail oriented, unafraid to sell and conscientious.

International Talent is in High Demand at Money-Center Banks

According to Hoyle Jones, Head of recruiting at Citigroup2
 : The firm is "aggressively in the hiring market. We're looking for U.S. educated Asians and Latin Americans to go back home and grow businesses."

Marketing Types Wanted

A new business model which is spreading into banking is that of the marketing-oriented consumer products company. Banks are trying to build valuable brand images with consumer-oriented advertising and distinct product lines. According to Richard Kovacevich, CEO3
 of Norwest: "I believe we all must be salespeople; and we should be proud of it … We can no longer be order takers, which is still the characteristic of the old banking industry. In fact, we must be great as salespeople. We must be customer-oriented, we must be needs-based and we must be aggressive." In light of this demand, if you have good marketing skills and have taken a number of marketing courses, you will be well-suited to this new environment. Because of the increasing marketing orientation, many banks have also been paying big bucks to lure product managers away from consumer products companies. Pros with skills in product design and market segmentation wanted.

Wall Street Types Will Find a Home

Because commercial banks remain profitable and are more involved than ever in the financial markets, they are competing with Wall Street for "high-tech finance jocks" involved in foreign exchange derivatives and financial engineering.

Corporate Investment Products in High Demand

There is also high demand for finance professionals who can develop products for the corporate market. According to Windle Priem of Korn/Ferry International, a top recruiter in banking: "Half of the [recruiting activity in banking] has been in the capital markets and corporate finance arena of these banks. The other part of the commercial banking practice that's booming is investment products and mutual funds. That's been very, very strong. … Most of those people have been hired from other investment firms, other mutual fund companies. The traditional corporate lending people continue to be downsized and terminated."

MBA Optional

It is generally not necessary to get an MBA in commercial banking although it wouldn't hurt you. Many of the execs at the very top do have MBAs from prestigious schools. And others have attended summertime masters programs at places like the Southwestern Graduate School of Banking (Dallas, TX) or the Stonier School of Banking.

Days of Easy Hours Long Gone

Banking is reputed to be a low hours/workload position. This is possible, especially in smaller markets, but increasingly bankers are working longer hours as their jobs become more oriented towards general marketing of financial services. Consumers are increasingly banking from home using online services and the Internet. If you are Internet savvy and familiar with computers you will have an edge in banking. "Banks are at the point now where they have to seriously start moving into an on line environment, or risk losing some of their best customers, potentially forever. It's a very crucial and very perilous time for banks", said David Taylor, executive vice president at the Bank Administration Institute, in December 1995. A typical job in banking in the lending or branch management area would require the following skills:
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Job Descriptions and Tips

The jobs available at different commercial banks vary significantly according to the scope of their operations. Mega-banks offer a huge variety of positions, from hard-core programming spots to investment banking and trading. Small and regional banks tend to have a smaller range of more traditional positions (loan officer, teller, credit analyst, etc.).

Credit Analyst

This is a common entry level job which requires that you evaluate business and consumer loan applications made to your bank. Your duties include projecting a company's future cash flow, evaluating its current financial soundness, visiting and interacting with financial people at businesses and dealing with lenders. You will learn a lot about business in this job. Your success in this job will depend on how detail-oriented you are, your knowledge of accounting and your ability to communicate.

Loan Officer

This is a highly desirable job in banking which involves making loans to businesses and consumers. Being a loan officer requires that you have good selling skills, an ability to understand a business and a solid understanding of how banking works. Most people in upper management at banks were once loan officers.

Branch Manager

You would be responsible for overseeing all activities at your branch including opening new accounts, loan origination, solving customer problems, foreign exchange and safe deposit boxes. Most importantly, you are responsible for establishing relations with customers. This job can be very satisfying, is never boring and requires you to be hands-on. Many bank managers start as tellers or customer service representatives. Key things go have for this position are customer service skills, empathy, quantitative ability, strong work ethic, organization and a solid understanding of banking. Can move up to be a market manager and oversee branches in a market.

Bank Teller

This is the front line in the banking world — and possibly the position most likely to feel the shock waves from banking consolidation and automation. In addition to having extensive customer contact, tellers have to have a good feel for numbers, a willingness to handle large amounts of cash, and an attention to detail. There are more than 500000 tellers in the United States; most work 9:00 am to 5:00 pm, and one-third work part-time. Salary range: $18000 to $40000.

Programmer

Financial institutions have a huge need for programmers and people with technical skills: Citibank boasts that it has more software programmers than Microsoft does. Specific responsibilities can range from managing network systems to coding applications for a wide variety of transaction-oriented processes to modeling bank functions such as loan approvals and risk management. Positions usually require specific platform experience or programming knowledge. Salary range from $35000 to $150000.

Sales

Sales is another relatively sure prospect for the uncertain future. Banks are competing with brokerages, investment banks, and mutual funds, all of which offer more obvious and alluring opportunities in sales. If you seem to have a talent for this and you'd like a chance to be a big fish earlier than all the B-school hotshots, then a commercial bank might be just the pond for you. Demand is also rising for salespeople who understand product development and for investment managers (brokers). An undergraduate degree in finance, business, or economics gets you in the door. An MBA gets you a second interview. Salary range: $30000 to $150000 or more (commissions and new business you bring in can add substantially to these figures).

Trust Officer4


In this job you would deliver trust services, financial products and advice to bank customers (often more upscale ones). This work will give you knowledge of business, investing, estate planning, taxes, probate law and will involve a lot of counseling.

Mortgage Banker5


Your job will be to make mortgage loans to homebuyers and businesses. This involves heavy contact with real estate professionals, credit checks, and dealing with new buyers. Today, many loans are sold to other investors in the mortgage backed securities market. This job has a good future because an increasing fraction of the population is likely to buy a house in the future. Other jobs in banking involve accounting, marketing and advertising, commercial card operations, securities transfer, wire operations, private banking, cash management services, installment loans, loan servicing, correspondent banking, personnel, operations and communications.

Getting Hired

Many roads lead into the commercial banking world. At the bottom end, you can apply to your local branch for a number of different positions. At the corporate level, the large banks hire hundreds of people from college and graduate programs each year; they hire even more from industry, especially for positions requiring certain types of knowledge or experience: programming, credit analysis, marketing, and so on. Many of the largest players also have extensive job listings on their websites and solicit electronic resumes. If you want to get a foot in this industry, keep these things in mind:

• In banking, most jobs relate in some way to convincing people to part with their money (checking, savings, investing) or to take yours (credit, loans) and pay you surcharges for the privilege of doing either. Financial skills are only part of the job. To excel, you need some serious interpersonal skills as well.

• Bankers' hours aren't what they used to be. Increasingly, banks are looking for talented, competitive individuals with the desire to work hard to beat the competition. Expect an extensive interview process. At banks, you have to talk to lots and lots of people before you get hired. And then you have to talk to some more just so they can all be in complete agreement about what a wonderful addition you'll be to the bank and its customers.

• Commercial banking remains a relatively conservative industry. To make a positive impression on your interviewer: Wear a suit. Don't wear patterned stockings. Address no one by his or her first name, not even in California, not even on casual Friday. And smile. No matter how much your brand-new dress shoes are pinching your feet, smile and have a warm handshake at the ready.

• Especially for corporate jobs, you'll be expected to have some knowledge of the changes going on in the financial services sector — and an opinion about them. Also, you'll want to keep an eye on the business section of the newspaper — at least while you're interviewing — to make sure that you catch the headline about your potential employer merging with another firm.

Facts and Trends

Banking is Satisfying. In 1992, Money magazine surveyed 100 jobs in the United States. The job of banker was listed as the second most satisfying. Bankers love their jobs!

Banking Is in a Period of Consolidation

Banking is going through a period of tremendous consolidation with frequent mergers and layoffs. Mergers abound such as those of Citibank and Travelers into Citigroup or NationsBank and BankAmerica. Customers don't go to branches like they used to an increasingly rely on ATM's and electronic transactions. And many now direct their savings into mutual funds like Vanguard and Fidelity. At the same time business increasingly raise money using commercial paper and medium-term notes instead of bank loans, this means jobs are getting tighter. Fortune
 , Oct 30, 1995: "Few industries have experienced as intense a spasm of consolidation and corporate restructuring as has banking in the past decade. New mergers and job cuts are announced practically every week…"

Think Online

David Taylor of the Bank Administration Institute notes that "PCs and modems are reaching a 40% penetration level for households with annual incomes over $50000, banks' best customers". Home banking offers tremendous convenience to these customers a will grow enormously in the next decade. "Before doing the Saturday morning shopping, you can check the status of your checking account, pay any outstanding bills, and, with the advent of smart cards, some day download credit onto your card to pay for he shopping."

Don't Forget Government Job Opportunities in Banking

State governments and the U.S. government actively recruit banking regulators. Interesting places to look include The Office of Thrift Supervision, the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council and the Federal Reserve Banking System.

Branch Out

Jobs in bank branches could be risky. According to a recent study by Deloitte & Touche6
 about 30% of bank employees (850000 people) work in branches. However, productivity improvements are expected to replace 151200 of them, and electronic delivery services is projected to eliminate an additional 344400 jobs. When new jobs created by electronic delivery services are factored in, the study shows a net loss of 450000 jobs by the year 2000.

Banks Are Getting Aggressive

The competitive environment is changing too. USA Today
 writes on Aug 29, 1995: "Behind the bank deals: The easy times are over for bank earnings. Banks have posted record profits since 1991, thanks to falling interest rates and their efforts to slash costs. But interest rates aren't falling anymore, loan demand has slowed and bankers can't cost-cut their way to continued prosperity. They must grow and sell their services aggressively in new markets to keep earnings up and investors happy."

US Banks Aren't That Big

The largest banks in the world are outside of the United States. In 2008, the world's largest bank was Industrial and Commercial Bank of China with $277514 billion in assets. That is two times as big as the US bank: Citigroup.

Banking Is Shrinking

The business of banking is changing dramatically as traditional demand deposit and CD business shrinks. The U.S. banking system's share of financial assets in the economy has sunk to 25%, the lowest in the last 130 years. It is forecasted that half of the nation's retail branches will close in 10 years and that as many as 450000 bank jobs may disappear.

The Future Is in New Areas

Because traditional banking is in decline the future of the industry lies in services and new areas. Many banks are now starting to compete against investment banks, for example. One in five banks owns a full-service brokerage firm today. Half of banks own a discount broker. Expect these numbers to rise.

Specialized Banks Are Doing Best

Banks which specialize in a niche such a retail lending, credit card operations, cash management or global retail appear to be doing better than more diversified banks. Expect focused banks to continue to succeed and create more jobs. Players like Associates, MBNA and Providian are doing well at present.

You May Be Traveling

New regulations permit interstate banking. Historically, you might not have been asked to travel much as a banker or deal with businesses in other states. That is changing rapidly.

Middle-Managers Are in Demand

The shake-up in banking has left a shortage of good middle-managers, especially at smaller banks which find it more difficult to hire well-trained managers away from well-staffed larger banks. Other hot areas include loan review officers, technology specialists and auditors.


 Summary


1. Commercial banks are in the business of providing banking services to individuals, small businesses and large organizations.

2. To be good in banking you need a broad understanding of business because your job will most likely involve interacting with businesses. People skills are essential because you will be helping people get the loans and investments that they want.

3. Banking attracts a diverse group of people. You don't have to be a superstar student with a phenomenal GPA to make it. You do have to be detail oriented, unafraid to sell and conscientious. There is also high demand for finance professionals who can develop products for the corporate market.

4. Many roads lead into the commercial banking world. At the bottom end, you can apply to your local branch for a number of different positions.

5. The large banks hire hundreds of people from college and graduate programs each year, the jobs include: credit analyst, loan officer, branch manager, bank teller, programmer, sales, trust officer, mortgage banker, marketing, and so on.

6. The business of banking is changing dramatically as traditional demand deposit and CD business shrinks.

7. Traditional banking is in decline the future of the industry lies in services and new areas. Many banks are now starting to compete against investment banks, for example. One in five banks owns a full-service brokerage firm today. Half of banks own a discount broker. Expect these numbers to rise.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. teller　（银行）出纳

2. clientele　诉讼委托人，顾客

3. crucial　关键的，决定性的

4. phenomenal　非凡的，杰出的

5. Citigroup　花旗集团

6. abound　丰富，大量存在，盛产

7. layoff　解雇（由于市场不景气）

8. marketing-oriented　市场（营销）导向

9. customer-oriented　客户导向

10. Wall Street　华尔街

11. derivative　衍生的，被引申出的

12. mutual fund　公共基金

13. trust services　信托服务

14. counsel　商议考虑

15. MBNA　银行名称

16. Forrest Gump　《阿甘正传》

17. shrinking　收缩，变小，退缩

18. shake-up　剧变，振作

19. outstanding bills　未偿付票据

20. interpersonal skills　人际关系技巧


 Notes



1. start out:
 To begin your life


2. citigroup:
 Citibank


3. CEO:
 Chief executive officer (abbreviation CEO), the person with the most important position in a company.


4. trust officer:
 A fiduciary relationship in which one party, known as a trustor, gives another party, the trustee, the right to hold title to property or assets for the benefit of a third party, the beneficiary.


5. mortgage banker:
 A company, individual or institution that originates, sells and services mortgage loans.


6. Deloitte & Touche:
 A company name.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. Why does people say "High Grades less important than work ethic"?

2. Why are banks getting aggressive?

3. Where are the largest banks in the world?

4. What do you think about "specialized banks are doing best"?

5. What would Branch Manager be responsible for?

6. Could jobs in bank branches be risky? Explain it.

7. Do you think that the future is in New Areas?

8. Do you know why the banking sector wants to consolidate?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Jobs in banking can be exciting and offer excellent opportunities to learn _____ business interact with people and build _____ a clientele. Today's commercial banks are more diverse than ever. You'll find a tremendous range of opportunities in commercial banking, starting _____ the branch level where you might start _____ as a teller to a wide variety of other services such as leasing, credit card banking, international finance and trade credit.

2. Banking is going _____ a period of tremendous consolidation with frequent mergers and layoffs.

3. Mergers abound such as those _____ Citibank and Travelers into Citigroup or NationsBank and Bank America.

4. Because commercial banks remain profitable and are more involved than ever in the financial markets, they are _____ with Wall Street for "high-tech finance jocks" _____ in foreign exchange derivatives and financial engineering.

5. Your job will be to make mortgage loans to homebuyers and businesses. This involves heavy contact _____ real estate professionals, credit checks, and dealing with new buyers.

6. If you are Internet savvy and familiar _____ computers you will have an edge in banking.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．花旗提供公平且具有竞争力的薪资福利，并根据业绩给予奖励，衡量标准与业务目标相对应。

2．花旗希望所有员工都能奉行高度的个人与职业道德。

3．为客户提供优质的金融服务，最大限度地为银行争取综合效益，完善与同业在银团业务领域的合作框架、模式与机制。

4．良好的个人修养和职业道德、正直、敬业、遵纪守法是对银行职员的基本要求。

5．全日制本科及以上学历，经济、金融类相关专业毕业，具有较好的金融学、管理学以及商业银行经营管理理论方面的基础，是对银行管理者的基本条件和能力的要求。

6．具有较强的客户需求理解、市场营销策划能力和能够根据不同市场客户的特点有针对性地进行产品规划，是对银行管理者的能力要求。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Many college graduates start in investment banking in an analyst position. To succeed in these positions you need to be extremely dedicated, have good spreadsheet skills and be analytically fluent. Your next step will be to become an associate. Same skills, just raise the volume.

2. Some jobs in investment banking call for very strong mathematical ability. If you are good at math think about getting an advanced degree in a technical field (studying areas such as stochastic calculus and differential equations), then take some advanced finance courses in options pricing or bond valuation and apply to a research department on Wall Street (Carnegie-Mellon's FAST program is a leading in training mathematicians and physicists for Wall Street jobs).

3. The number one attribute most corporate employers are looking for is initiative. If you can give examples in interviews of situations where you did something plain useful even though no one asked you to, you will be a hot commodity.

4. Have you ever started a business? Or put together a social event that brought people together? Or started a new organization?

5. Banking is going through a period of tremendous consolidation with frequent mergers and layoffs.

6. Your job will be to make mortgage loans to homebuyers and businesses. This involves heavy contact with real estate professionals, credit checks, and dealing with new buyers.


 Reading Materials


Careers in Investment Banking

Overview

Investment Banks help companies and governments issue securities, help investors purchase securities, manage financial assets, trade securities and provide financial advice. The leading investment banks including Merrill Lynch, Salomon Smith Barney, Morgan Stanley Dean Witter and Goldman Sachs are said to be in the bulge bracket
 . Other investment banks are regionally oriented or situated in the middle market (e.g., Piper Jaffray). Others are small, specialized firms called boutiques
 which might be oriented toward bond-trading, M&A advisory, technical analysis or program trading. Firms have lots of different areas and groups within them. In most firms, there is sales and trading which works with owners of securities, investment banking which works with issuers of securities (firms and governments) and capital markets which goes in between the other two. To get an idea of how a firm is organized, check out the products and services groups at Goldman Sachs.

Requirements

Investment banks want employees with a combination of strong analytical and interpersonal skills. Some jobs lean more towards one skill set than another (e.g., brokers need to be mainly sales people). A typical job of an equities analyst requires both analytic and interpersonal skills. The skills involved include:
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Hard Work Expected and Respected

Investment banking is a high work, high risk, and high reward profession. When you start your hours will typically be long but the work can be exciting. Be prepared for moments of frustration where you are stretched too thin and moments of exhilaration where everything clicks.

Tough to Break In

It's relatively hard to break into investment banking. You need to be prepared to pursue firms on your own after you have thoroughly prepared yourself.

Believe It or Not, Bankers Have Social Value

Investment bankers are often the subject of social scorn in movies like Bonfire of the Vanities
 . Are investment bankers really greedy narcissistic scum? Some probably are. But keep in mind that they play a crucial social role of helping to direct capital to companies with great ideas that make people better off.

Analyst Jobs Are the Best Entry Point

Many college graduates start in investment banking in an analyst position. To succeed in these positions you need to be extremely dedicated, have good spreadsheet skills and be analytically fluent. Your next step will be to become an associate. Same skills, just raise the volume.

Communication and Completion Abilities Key

In mid-career, your success usually will depend on your ability to communicate with clients and get deals done. At this level it is also important to have a good understanding of market trends, the political and macroeconomic environment and deal mechanics.

Math Skills Can Help

Some jobs in investment banking call for very strong mathematical ability. If you are good at math think about getting an advanced degree in a technical field (studying areas such as stochastic calculus and differential equations), then take some advanced finance courses in options pricing or bond valuation and apply to a research department on Wall Street (Carnegie-Mellon's FAST program is a leading in training mathematicians and physicists for Wall Street jobs).

Accounting Skills Valuable

The ability to analyze accounting numbers critically is important in most analyst positions. Ultimately, you should aim for the CFA designation if you would like to be a securities analyst. The CFA helps you become much more mobile over time. If you have ambitions too "bail out" some day and become a corporate financial analyst you might also want to consider the CMA (Certified Management Accountant) designation.

Traders Are Multi-Talented

It's hard to define what makes a good trader. A good understanding of the market, quick reactions, analytical skills and the ability to bluff help. Read Liars Poker by Michael Lewis to learn more about sales and trading.

Get Used to New York

Most large firms operate out of New York. Even if you are interested in working in another location, your general interviewing activities are likely to be centered there. Other places you should look at include Hong Kong, Tokyo, London, Moscow and Singapore. If you go looking for a job in investment banking using informational interviews in the U.S., it is crucial that you make several trips to New York.

Teamwork Crucial

A crucial success factor in investment banking is teamwork. Being able to pull together persons with large egos to get a presentation together for a client is a challenge and is likely to be rewarded highly.

Scientists and Lawyers Wanted

There's definitely an interest in people with backgrounds in science and law. Scientist types can work on everything from derivatives algorithms to biotech banking. Lawyers can help design new securities, sell leasing business and use their analytical prowess to talk to clients. This said, you have to sell
 yourself. It often doesn't hurt to go back and get an MBA from a top school, and then try to repurpose your career into investment banking.

Contacts Are Everything

The key to breaking into investment banking is a good network of contacts. You may already be blessed with such a network, but if you don't have one, you can start to develop one by going on informational interviews, attending industry conferences, finding alumni from your school in the business etc. Keep in mind that your network might not really "pay off" for some time. If you are young and haven't gone for an MBA degree, try to get into the best possible school and then go for quantitative and analytical coursework.

Getting Things Done Is Important

Starting off in an investment bank, you are usually responsible for getting projects done well and on-time, whether it be writing reports, running spreadsheets, trading, doing research or coding programs. Later, once you get involved with clients and ideas for generating revenue, you will be rewarded greatly if you can bring in business. At higher levels (usually Director, Managing Director and up) you are exposed to much greater risk. At this level, people are often fired for non-performance, whereas at lower levels you may not be scrutinized as closely.

Job Description

Corporate Finance

In a corporate finance position you would work to help companies raise capital needed for new projects and ongoing operations. You would work to determine the amount and structure of fund needs of a client through equity, debt, convertibles, preferred, asset-backs, or derivative securities. As a starting analyst in corporate finance you would usually work on a client team and would have responsibilities to prepare registration statements, attend road shows where investors are sold on securities etc. Merrill Lynch, PaineWebber and Salomon/SmithBarney are acknowledged powers in corporate finance. Sometimes jobs in corporate finance are referred to as investment banking positions. When you hear phrases such as IBD or IBK people are referring to corporate finance.

Mergers and Acquisitions

Setting up deals where one company buys another is an important source of fee income for many investment banks. This has been a hot area on Wall Street in the 1990s and is likely to continue hopping through the next century. If you go to work in this area you would help out with a team which acts as an advisor to a client, values transactions, creatively structures deals and negotiates favorable terms. Worldwide, Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley/Dean Witter are the recognized leaders in M&A advisory. Investment banks have increasingly participated directly in LBOs, spinoffs and bridge loans, often by taking their own investment stake (known as merchant banking). Your duties could involve analyzing the appropriate form of participation. Expect to start running lots of valuation models on spreadsheets and gradually get more client focus as you progress.

Project Finance

The field of project finance is booming. Typically project finance involves funding infrastructure and oil capital projects off of a company or government's main balance sheet. Banks like CSFB and Deutsche Bank are active in this area. Project financed deals have been some of the first significant conduits of foreign capital into countries such as China, Yemen and Indonesia. When other sources of borrowing dry up, project finance is generally still there.

Trading

Some of the most desirable jobs in investment banking are in sales and trading. Your responsibilities would involve undertaking transactions in equities, bonds, currencies (referred to as Forex or FX), options or futures with traders at commercial banks, investment banks and large institutional investors. Trading can be tumultuous and requires a thorough knowledge of markets, financial instruments and an intuition for human psychology. Equities trading positions often involve "telling a story" to other traders about why they should purchase your stock. Fixed income trading positions call for strong analytical know-how and the wherewithal to manage large amounts of inventory in an often-thin market. Derivatives traders need very strong analytical know-how (perhaps even an engineering degree). Foreign exchange trading is based more on your instincts about markets, politics and macroeconomics. There are a variety of other types of trading jobs in agency securities, commercial paper etc.

Structured Finance

Positions in structured finance involve the creation of financing vehicles to redirect cash flows to investors (known as asset-backed securities). Typical asset-backs securitied credit card receivables, auto loan receivables or mortgages. This market is red hot in 1998-1999 and is likely to grow considerably into the future. Other growth areas include asset-backed commercial paper, collateralized bond obligations (CBOs), and repackaged asset vehicles. It would be beneficial to have a solid combination of spreadsheet, accounting and legal skills. Most students coming out of school know very little about this area; so you can get an edge by educating yourself by reading articles in the area from publications like Standard and Poors CreditWeek
 and picking up lingo like "early-am risk" from talking to market participants on informational interviews.

Derivatives

Derivatives derive their value from another primitive security. Options, swaps and futures are examples of derivatives. The market for derivatives is gigantic and subject to increasing scrutiny. The derivatives business is highly profitable and the demand on Wall Street for skilled derivatives practitioners has been very high. This market is likely to see further innovation in the forms which swaps take and in the area of exotic options. This will create further specialized job areas. If this area interests you, start studying math (especially stochastic differential equations and derivation of common models like Black-Scholes). Questions about models are likely to come up in interviews. Sales skills are also important in this area. Another related word you will hear is "structured notes." A structured note might be a foreign exchange loan, forward or futures contract with built in options structured to a client's need. So, for example, a client that will no longer be worried about their position once the Yen falls below 85 to the dollar could buy a "knock-out" option on a forward that will not be active once the yen/dollar rate falls below a floor. A related and popular area is credit derivatives which might involve selling an option which pays off when a defaults on one of its debt obligations.

Advisory

Advisory services are often provided by investment banks to public and private clients involved in M&A and financings. The area of risk management advisory has been popular at many investment banks. Often work will be done to determine a client's value, options for creating value or on a client's industry conditions.

Equity and Fixed Income Research

Security analysts are usually assigned to an industry or region. You could be responsible for making buy or sell recommendations to investors about a stock or bond. Your duties would involve visiting companies and heavy telephone contact with institutional investors. Investment banks often like to hire people with industry experience into analyst positions (as opposed to fresh MBAs or undergrads). For example, if you were a restaurant executive you could probably get hired as a restaurant industry analyst with a healthy pay raise. Knowing the business, being able to talk to clients well and having good forecasts are key in this position. You want to help your firm avoid the dreaded Worst Analysts list. Analysts are often referred to as either quants or fundamentalists. Fundamentalists make recommendations based on what's going on at a company — how's the CEO, what are the earnings etc.? In contrast, quants look at computer programs that identify undervaluated securities, markets or even whole countries. There are fewer quant jobs, but they often pay more because the required skills are greater.

International Sales/Emerging Markets

A rapidly growing area is in international sales. Despite the Asia crisis, investor demand for securities issued in emerging markets is strong. Firms are meeting this demand by providing sales personnel and analysts specialized in these markets. Another area of high demand is in emerging markets such as Thailand or Mexico. Firms are looking for people with specific language skills, a willingness to travel and knowledge of these emerging markets. You can often rise very quickly in this area, even if you are quite young. With volatility in emerging market bonds in 1998, be sure to do your research carefully — the Russia crisis has triggered layoffs at a number of firms. A great place to track goings on is through Bloomberg's web site.

Public Finance

The market for municipal bonds is very large and calls for analysts, municipal advisors and traders. Positions in public finance are usually difficult to obtain but offer high rewards. Persons with previous experience in public administration would be attractive to investment banks in this capacity. A major growth area in municipals is in the project finance area. For example, Senior VP of public finance at Tucker Anthony, stated in August 1995 that his area has moved from 15% project finance before to 60% today (Bond Buyer, Aug 15, 1995).

Retail Brokerage (Stockbroker)

Stockbrokers are in the business of selling stocks, bonds, insurance and other investments to individuals. Some brokers specialize in high net worth individuals while others span a variety of clients. This is a tough business to get started in (especially if you are much younger than your clients), but the rewards to a good people person with great sales skills are high. The Securities Industry Association reports that the average retail broker earned $128553 in 1993. And many brokers earn upwards of $500000. Try to start with a firm like Merrill Lynch that has a good training program. A good web page to look at if you are interested in being a broker is the Syndicate.

Institutional Sales

In institutional sales you would be responsible for conveying information about particular securities to institutional investors. You would be likely to have heavy contact with portfolio managers and your own firm's analysts and traders. Sales skills and product knowledge are crucial in this area as is the ability to get through to busy institutional investors. Working in sales for an investment bank (on the sell side) is often good preparation to move over to the buy side (insurance companies and mutual funds). Both types of jobs can be brutal and subject you to abuse. A common Wall Street Joke: What's the difference between a sell side and a buy side player? Answer: On the sell side they curse you only after they hang up the telephone. Taking abuse can be lucrative. The average salaries in institutional sales in 1995 exceeded $300000 according to the Securities Industry Association.

Computer Guru

Some of the best jobs in computers and information systems are on Wall Street. A firm with good trading software, pricing software, or back office software can get a strong competitive advantage. In 1999 the big headhunters and firms on the Street have been scouring the country for people who can develop UNIX-based workstation software and financial mainframe applications. Six figure salaries are not uncommon for really good systems people.

Ratings Analyst


Chapter 3

Money Market


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What money market is

• What the instruments of the money market are

• What the Treasury Bills are

• What a certificate of deposit is

• What a commercial paper is

• What a bankers' acceptance is

• What the Eurodollars are

Introduction

Money market is a segment of the financial market in which financial instruments with high liquidity and very short maturities are traded. The money market is used by participants as a means for borrowing and lending in the short term, from several days to just under a year. Money market securities consist of negotiable certificates of deposit (CDs), bankers acceptances, U.S. Treasury bills, commercial paper, municipal notes, federal funds and repurchase agreements (repos). The money market is a subsection of the fixed income market too. We generally think of the term "fixed income" as synonymous with bonds. In reality, a bond is just one type of fixed income1
 security. The difference between the money market and the bond market is that the money market specializes in very short-term debt securities (debt that matures in less than one year). Money market investments are also called cash investments because of their short maturities.

Whenever a bear market2
 comes along, investors realize that the stock market is a risky place for their savings. It's a fact we tend to forget while enjoying the returns of a bull market3
 ! Unfortunately, this is part of the risk/return tradeoff4
 . To get higher returns, you have to take on a higher level of risk. For many investors, a volatile market is too much to stomach — an alternative is the money market.

The money market is better known as a place for large institutions and government to manage their short-term cash needs. However, individual investors have access to the market through a variety of different securities. We will learn about money market instruments in this chapter. Money market securities are essentially issued by governments, financial institutions, and large corporations. These instruments are very liquid and considered extraordinarily safe. Because they are extremely conservative, money market securities offer significantly lower return than most other securities.

One of the main differences between the money market and the stock market is that most money market securities trade in awfully high denominations. This limits the access of the individual investor. Furthermore, the money market is a dealer market, which means that firms buy and sell securities in their own accounts, at their own risk. Compare this to the stock market where a broker receives commission to acts as an agent, while the investor takes the risk of holding the stock. Another characteristic of a dealer market is the lack of a central trading floor or exchange. Deals are transacted over the phone or through electronic systems.

The easiest way for us to gain access to the money market is with a money market mutual funds5
 , or sometimes through money market bank account. These accounts and funds pool together the assets of thousands of investors in order to buy the money market securities on their behalf. However, some money market instruments, like treasury bills, may be purchased directly. Failing that, they can be acquired through other large financial institutions with direct access to these markets.

There are several different instruments in the money market, offering different returns and different risks. Let's take a look at the major ones.

Treasury Bills

Treasury Bills (T-bills) are the most marketable money market security (say that three times fast). Their popularity is mainly due to their simplicity. T-bills are basically a way for the U.S. government to raise money from the public. We are referring to T-bills issued by the U.S. government, but many other governments issue T-bills in a similar fashion. T-bills are short-term securities that mature in one year or less from their issue date. T-bills are issued with 3 month, 6 month, and 1 year maturities. You buy T-bills for a price less than their par (face) value, and when they mature, the government pays you their par value. This is different than coupon bonds6
 , which pay interest semi-annually. Effectively, your interest is the difference between the purchase price of the security and what you get at maturity. If a bought a 90-day T-bill at $9800 and held it until maturity, your interest would be $200. Treasury bills (as well as notes and bonds) are issued through a competitive bidding process at auctions. If you want to buy a T-bill, you submit a bid that is prepared either non-competitively or competitively. Noncompetitive bidding means you'll receive the full amount of the security you want at the return determined at the auction. Competitive bidding means you have to specify the return that you would like to receive. If the return you specify is too high, you might not receive any securities, or just a portion of what you bid for.

The biggest reasons that T-bills are so popular is because they are one of the few money market instruments that are affordable to the individual investors. T-bills are usually issued in denominations of $1000, $5000, $10000, $25000, $50000, $100000, and $1 million. Other positives are that T-bills (and all treasuries) are considered to be the safest investments in the world because the U.S. government backs them. In fact, they are considered risk-free. Also, they are exempt from state and local taxes.

The only downside is that you won't get a great return because Treasuries are exceptionally safe. Corporate bonds, CDs, and money market funds will often give higher rates of interest. What's more, you might not get back all of your investment if you cash out before the maturity date.

Certificate of Deposit (CD)

A certificate of deposit (CD) is a time deposit with a bank. Time deposits may not be withdrawn on demand like a check account. CDs are generally issued by commercial banks but they can be bought through brokerages. They bear a specific maturity date (from 3 months to 5 years), a specified interest rate, and can be issued in any denomination, very similar to bonds. CDs offer a slightly higher yield than T-bills because of the slightly higher default risk for a bank, but overall the likeliness of a large bank going broke is pretty slim. Of course, the amount of interest you earn depends on a number of factors such as the current interest rate environment, how much money you invest, the length of time, and your specific bank. While nearly every bank offers CDs, the rates are rarely competitive, so it's important to shop around.

A fundamental concept to understand when buying a CD is the difference between annual percentage yield (APY)7
 and annual percentage rate (APR)8
 . APY is the total amount of interest you earn in one year taking into account compound interest. APR is simply the stated interest you earn in one year, without taking into account compounding9
 .

The difference results from when interest is paid. The more frequently interest is calculated, the greater the yield will be. When an investment pays interest annually, its rate and yield are the same. But when interest is paid more frequently, the yield gets higher. For example, say you purchase a 1-year, $1000 CD that pays 5% semiannually. After 6 months, you'll receive interest payment of $25 ($1000 × 5% × 0.5 years). Here's where the magic of compounding starts. The $25 payment starts earning interest of its own, which over the next 6 months amounts to 62.5 cents ($25 × 5% × 0.5 years). As a result, the rate on the CD is 5 percent, but its yield is 5. 06. It may not sound like a lot, but compounding adds up over time.

The main advantage of CDs is their safety and knowing the return you'll receive. You'll generally earn more than in a savings account, and you won't be at the mercy of the stock market. Plus, in the U.S. the FDIC guarantees your investment up to $100000. There are two main disadvantages to CDs. The returns are paltry and your money is tied up for the length of the CD. You can't get your money out without paying a harsh penalty.

Commercial Paper

For many corporations, borrowing short-term money from banks is often a labored and annoying task. Their desire to avoid banks as much as possible has led to the widespread popularity of commercial paper. Commercial paper is an unsecured, short-term loan issued by a corporation, typically for financing accounts receivable and inventories. It is usually issued at a discount10
 , reflecting current market interest rates. Maturities on commercial paper are usually no longer than 9 months, with maturities of 1-2 months being the average. For the most part, commercial paper is a very safe investment because the financial situation of a company can easily be predicted over a few months. Furthermore, typically only companies with high credit ratings and credit worthiness issue commercial paper. Over the past 40 years, there have only been a handful of cases where corporations have defaulted on their commercial paper repayment. Commercial paper is usually issued with denominations of $100000 or more. Therefore, smaller investors can only invest in commercial paper indirectly through money market funds.

Bankers' Acceptance

A bankers' acceptance (BA) is a short-term credit investment created by a non-financial firm and guaranteed by a bank to make payment. Acceptances are traded at discounts from face value in the secondary market11
 .

For corporations, a BA acts as a negotiable time draft for financing imports, exports, or other transactions in goods. This is especially useful when the credit worthiness of a foreign trade partner is unknown.

Acceptances sell at a discount from the face value:
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One advantage of a bankers acceptance is that they do not need to be held on until maturity. Instead they can be sold off in the secondary markets where investors and institutions constantly trade BAs.

Eurodollars

Contrary to the name, Eurodollars have very little to do with the Euro or European countries. Eurodollars are U.S. dollar-denominated deposits at banks outside of the United States. This market evolved in Europe (specifically London), hence the name, but Eurodollars can be held anywhere outside the United States. The Eurodollar market is relatively free of regulation, and so banks can operate on narrower margins than their counterparts in the United States. As a result, the Eurodollar market has expanded largely as a way of circumventing regulatory costs.

The average Eurodollar deposit is very large (in the millions) and has a maturity of less than 6 months. A variation on the Eurodollar time deposit is the Eurodollar certificate of deposit. A Eurodollar CD is basically the same as a domestic CD, except that it's the liability of a non-U.S. bank, and they are typically less liquid and so offer higher yields. The Eurodollar market is obviously out of reach for all but the largest institutions. The only way for individuals to invest in this market is indirectly through a money market fund.

Repos

Repo? Isn't that what the collection agency does when you fail to pay your bills, or do they just come and break one of your knees? Fortunately, the type of repo we're talking about has nothing to do with collection agencies, gangsters, or limping on your good leg.

Repo is short for repurchase agreement. Those who deal in government securities use repos as a form of overnight borrowing. A dealer or other holder of government securities (usually T-bills) sells the securities to a lender and agrees to repurchase them at an agreed future date at an agreed price. They are usually very short-term, from overnight to 30 days or more. This short-term maturity and government backing means repos provide lenders with extremely low risk.

Repos are popular because they can virtually eliminate credit problems. Unfortunately, a number of significant losses over the years from fraudulent dealers suggest that lenders in this market have not always checked their collateralization closely enough.

There are also variations on standard repos:


• Reverse Repo — the complete opposite of a repo, where a dealer buys government securities from an investor and then sells them back on a later date at a higher price.

• Term Repo — exactly the same as a repo except the term of the loan is greater than 30 days.




 Summary


1. The money market specializes in debt securities that mature in less than one year.

2. Money market securities are very liquid, and considered very safe. As a result, they offer a lower return than other securities.

3. The easiest way for individuals to gain access to the money market is through a money market mutual fund.

4. T-bills are short-term government securities that mature in one year or less from their issue date.

5. T-bills are considered to be one of the safest investments, and so don't give a great return.

6. A certificate of deposit (CD) is a time deposit with a bank.

7. APY takes into account compound interest, APR does not.

8. CDs are safe, but the returns aren't great, and your money is tied up for the length of the CD.

9. Commercial paper is an unsecured, short-term loan issued by a corporation. Returns are higher than T-bills because of the higher default risk.

10. Bankers' acceptances (BA) are negotiable time draft for financing transactions in goods.

11. BAs are used frequently in international trade and generally only available to individuals through money market funds.

12. Eurodollars are U.S. dollar-denominated deposit at banks outside of the United States.

13. The average Eurodollar deposit is very large. The only way for individuals to invest in this market is indirectly through a money market fund.

14. Repurchase agreements (repos) are a form of overnight borrowing backed by government securities.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. synonymous　同义的

2. awfully　可怕的；庄重的

3. stomach　忍受，容忍

4. slim　微小的；无价值的

5. labored　费工

6. annoying　费神

7. Eurodollar　欧洲美元

8. maturity　到期


 Notes



1. fixed income:
 An investment that provides a return in the form of fixed periodic payments and eventual return of principal at maturity. Unlike a variable-income security, where payments change based on some underlying measure such as short-term interest rates, the payments of a fixed-income security are known in advance.


2. bear market:
 A market condition in which the prices of securities are falling or are expected to fall. Although figures can vary, a downturn of 15%-20% or more in multiple indexes (Dow or S&P 500) is considered an entry into a bear market.


3. bull market:
 A financial market of a certain group of securities in which prices are rising or are expected to rise. The term "bull market" is most often used in respect to the stock market, but really can be applied to anything that is traded, such as bonds, currencies, commodities, etc.


4. risk/return tradeoff:
 The principle that potential return rises with an increase in risk. Low levels of uncertainty (low risk) are associated with low potential returns, whereas high levels of uncertainty (high risk) are associated with high potential returns. In other words, the risk-return tradeoff says that invested money can render higher profits only if it is subject to the possibility of being lost.


5. money market mutual funds:
 A mutual fund that invests in short-term debt instruments. The fund's objective is to earn interest for shareholders while maintaining a net asset value of $1 per share.


6. coupon bonds:
 A debt obligation with coupons attached that represent semiannual interest payments. Also known as a "bearer bond".


7. Annual Percentage Yield (APY):
 The effective annual rate of return taking into account the effect of compounding interest. APY is calculated by: APY = (1 + PERIODIC RATE)periods
 -1. The resultant percentage number assumes that funds will remain in the investment vehicle for a full 365 days.


8. Annual Percentage Rate (APR):
 The annual rate that is charged for borrowing (or made by investing), expressed as a single percentage number that represents the actual yearly cost of funds over the term of a loan. This includes any fees or additional costs associated with the transaction.


9. compounding:
 The ability of an asset to generate earnings, which are then reinvested in order to generate their own earnings. In other words, compounding refers to generating earnings from previous earnings.


10. discount:
 The condition of the price of a bond that is lower than par. The discount equals the difference between the price paid for a security and the security's par value.


11. secondary market:
 A market on which an investor purchases an asset from another investor rather than an issuing corporation.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. How big is the money market?

2. What are the terms of most T-bills?

3. Why would a company issue commercial paper?

4. A money market instrument usually used for import/export payments is known as?

5. What does Eurocurrency encompass?

6. What is a major advantage of money market instruments?

7. What are Eurodollars?

8. Who can issue commercial paper?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. One of the main differences _____ the money market and the stock market is that most money market _____ trade in awfully high denominations.

2. The money market is better known _____ a place for large institutions _____ government to manage their short-term cash needs.

3. There are several different instruments _____ the money market, offering different returns _____ different risks.

4. CDs are generally issued _____ commercial banks but they can be bought through brokerages. They bear a specific maturity date (from 3 months to 5 years), a specified interest rate, and can be issued in _____ denomination, very similar to bonds.

5. The biggest reasons that T-bills are so popular is _____ they are one of the few money market instruments _____ are affordable to the individual investors.

6. A bankers' acceptance is a short-term credit investment created _____ a non-financial firm and guaranteed by a bank to make payment. Acceptances are traded _____ discounts from face value in the secondary market.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．货币市场上的金融工具包括短期的、可交易的、流动的、低风险的债券。货币市场工具有时被称作是现金的等同物，或简称现金。

2．国库券是货币市场上所有金融工具中流动性最强的一种。国库券是最简单的借钱形式：政府通过向公众出售债券而筹集到资金，投资者则按低于面值折价购买，在债券到期日债券持有人从政府获得等额于债券面值的回报。

3．大额存单或称CD，是银行的定期存款。定期存款的存款者不能因需用资金而随时任意提取存款，银行只在定期存款到期时才付给储户利息与本金。

4．著名的大公司通常自己发行短期无担保的标明借贷关系的票据，而不是直接向银行借款。这些票据就称为商业票据。

5．欧洲美元是指外国银行或美国银行的国外分支机构中的美元存款。

6．政府证券交易商运用回购协议作为短期借款手段，这通常是隔夜借款的一种形式。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Money market investments are also called cash investments because of their short maturities.

2. For many corporations, borrowing short-term money from banks is often a labored and annoying task.

3. T-bills are short-term securities that mature in one year or less from their issue date.

4. Contrary to the name, Eurodollars have very little to do with the Euro or European countries. Eurodollars are U. S. dollar-denominated deposits at banks outside of the United States.

5. The more frequently interest is calculated, the greater the yield will be. When an investment pays interest annually, its rate and yield are the same.

6. One of the main differences between the money market and the stock market is that most money market securities trade in awfully high denominations.


 Reading Materials


Money Management

Money management is the process of analyzing trades for risk and potential profits, determining how much risk, if any, is acceptable and managing a trade position (if taken) to control risk and maximize profitability.

Many traders pay lip service to money management while spending the bulk of their time and energy trying to find the perfect (read: imaginary) trading system or entry method. But traders ignore money management at their own peril. The importance of money management can best be shown through drawdown analysis.

Drawdown

Drawdown is simply the amount of money you lose trading, expressed as a percentage of your total trading equity. If all your trades were profitable, you would never experience a drawdown. Drawdown does not measure overall performance, only the money lost while achieving that performance. Its calculation begins only with a losing trade and continues as long as the account hits new equity lows. Suppose you begin with an account of $10000 and lose $2000. Your drawdown would be 20%. On the $8000 that remains, if you subsequently make $1000, then lose $2000, you now have a drawdown of 30% ($8000 + $1000 - $2000 = $7000, a 30% loss on the original equity stake of $10000). But, if you made $4000 after the initial $2000 loss (increasing your account equity to $12000), then lost another $3000, your drawdown would be 25% ($12000 - $3000 = $9000, a 25% drop from the new equity high of $12000).

Maximum Drawdown

Maximum drawdown is the largest percentage drop in your account between equity peaks. In other words, it's how much money you lose until you get back to breakeven. If you began with $10000 and lost $4000 before getting back to breakeven, your maximum drawdown would be 40%. Keep in mind that no matter how much you are up in your account at any given time — 100%, 200%, 300% — a 100% drawdown will wipe out your trading account. This leads us to our next topic: the difficulty of recovering from drawdowns.

Drawdown Recovery

The best illustration of the importance of money management is the percent gain necessary to recover from a drawdown. Many think that if you lose 10% of your money all you have to do is make a 10% gain to recoup your loss. Unfortunately, this is not true.

Suppose you start with $10000 and lose 10% ($1000), which leaves you with $9000. To get back to breakeven, you would need to make a return of 11.11% on this new account balance, not 10% (10% of $900 is only $900 — you have to make 11.11% on the $9000 to recoup the $1000 lost). Even worse is that as the drawdowns deepen, the recovery percentage begins to grow geometrically. For example, a 50% loss requires a 100% return just to get back to break even.

Professional traders and money managers are well aware of how difficult it is to recover from drawdowns. Those who succeed long term have the utmost respect for risk. They get on top and stay on top, not by being gunslingers and taking huge risks, but by controlling risk through proper money management. Sure, we all like to read about famous traders who parlay small sums into fortunes, but what these stories fail to mention is that many such traders, through lack of respect for risk, are eventually wiped out.

In the Next Installment

Money management ranges from simple, commonsense approaches to complex portfolio theory formulas. The good news is that it does not have to be rocket science. A simple, straightforward approach should be sufficient for most traders. Money management ranges are from simple, commonsense approaches to complex portfolio theory. The good news is that for most traders money management can be a matter of common sense rather than rocket science. Below are some general guidelines that should help your long-term trading success.

1. Risk only a small percentage of total equity on each trade, preferably no more than 2% of your portfolio value. I know of two traders who have been actively trading for over 15 years, both of whom have amassed small fortunes during this time. In fact, both have paid for their dream homes with cash out of their trading accounts. I was amazed to find out that one rarely trades over 1 000 shares of stock and the other rarely trades more than two or three futures contracts at a time. Both use extremely tight stops and risk less than 1% per trade.

2. Limit your total portfolio risk to 20%. In other words, if you were stopped out on every open position in your account at the same time, you would still retain 80% of your original trading capital.

3. Keep your reward-to-risk ratio at a minimum of 2:1, and preferably 3:1 or higher. In other words, if you are risking 1 point on each trade, you should be making, on average, at least 2 points. An S&P futures system I recently saw did just the opposite: It risked 3 points to make only 1. That is, for every losing trade, it took 3 winners make up for it. The first drawdown (string of losses) would wipe out all of the trader's money.

4. Be realistic about the amount of risk required to properly trade a given market. For instance, don't kid yourself by thinking you are only risking a small amount if you are position trading (holding overnight) in a high-flying technology stock or a highly leveraged and volatile market like the S&P futures.

5. Understand the volatility of the market you are trading and adjust position size accordingly. That is, take smaller positions in more volatile stocks and futures. Also, be aware that volatility is constantly changing as markets heat up and cool off.

6. Understand position correlation. If you are long heating oil, crude oil and unleaded gas, in reality you do not have three positions. Because these markets are so highly correlated (meaning their price moves are very similar), you really have one position in energy with three times the risk of a single position. It would essentially be the same as trading three crude, three heating oil, or three unleaded gas contracts.

7. Lock in at least a portion of windfall profits. If you are fortunate enough to catch a substantial move in a short amount of time, liquidate at least part of your position. This is especially true for short-term trading, for which large gains are few and far between.

8. The more active a trader you are, the less you should risk per trade. Obviously, if you are making dozens of trades a day you can't afford to risk even 2% per trade — one really bad day could virtually wipe you out. Longer-term traders who may make three to four trades per year could risk more, say 3%-5% per trade. Regardless of how active you are, just limit total portfolio risk to 20%.

9. Make sure you are adequately capitalized. There is no "Holy Grail" in trading, However, if there was one, I think it would be having enough money to trade and taking small risks. These principles help you survive long enough to prosper. I know of many successful traders who wiped out small accounts early in their careers. It was only until they became adequately capitalized and took reasonable risks that they survived as long term traders. This point can best be illustrated by analyzing mechanical systems (computer-generated signals that are 100% objective). Suppose the system has a historical drawdown of $10000. You save up the bare minimum and begin trading the system. Almost immediately you encounter a string of losses that wipes out your account. The system then starts working again as you watch in frustration on the sidelines. You then save up the bare minimum and begin trading the system again. It then goes through another drawdown and once again wipes out your account. Your "failure" had nothing to do with you or your system. It was solely the result of not being adequately capitalized. In reality, you should prepare for a "real-life" drawdown at least twice the size indicated in historical testing (and profits to be about half the amount indicated in testing). In the example above, you would want to have at least $20000 in your trading account, and most likely more. If you would have started with three to five times the historical drawdown ($30000 to $50000), you would have been able to weather the drawdowns and actually make money.

10. Never add to or "average down" a losing position. If you are wrong, admit it and get out. Two wrongs do not make a right.

11. Avoid pyramiding altogether or only pyramid properly. By "properly," I mean only adding to profitable positions and establishing the largest position first. In other words the position should look like an actual pyramid. For example, if your typical total position size in a stock is 1 000 shares then you might initially buy 600 shares, add 300 (if the initial position is profitable), then 100 more as the position moves in your direction. In addition, if you do pyramid, make sure the total position risk is within the guidelines outlined earlier (i.e., 2% on the entire position, total portfolio risk no more that 20%, etc.).

12. Always have an actual stop in the market. "Mental stops" do not work.

13. Be willing to take money off the table as a position moves in your favor; "2-for-1 money management1
 " is a good start. Essentially, once your profits exceed your initial risk, exit half of your position and move your stop to breakeven on the remainder of your position. This way, barring overnight gaps, you are ensured, at worst, a breakeven trade, and you still have the potential for gains on the remainder of the position.

14. Understand the market you are trading. This is especially true in derivative trading (i.e., options, futures). I know a trader who was making quite a bit of money by selling put options until someone exercised their options and "put" the shares to him. He lost thousands of dollars a day and wasn't even aware this was happening until he received a margin call from his broker.

15. Strive to keep maximum drawdowns between 20% and 25%. Once drawdowns exceed this amount it becomes increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to completely recover. The importance of keeping drawdowns within reason was illustrated in the first installment of this series.

16. Be willing to stop trading and re-evaluate the markets and your methodology when you encounter a string of losses. The markets will always be there. Gann said it best in his book, How to Make Profits in Commodities
 , published over 50 years ago: "When you make one to three trades that show losses, whether they be large or small, something is wrong with you and not the market. Your trend may have changed. My rule is to get out and wait. Study the reason for your losses. Remember, you will never lose any money by being out of the market."

17. Consider the psychological impact of losing money. Unlike most of the other techniques discussed here, this one can't be quantified. Obviously, no one likes to lose money. However, each individual reacts differently. You must honestly ask yourself, What would happen if I lose X%? Would it have a material effect on my lifestyle, my family or my mental well being? You should be willing to accept the consequences of being stopped out on any or all of your trades. Emotionally, you should be completely comfortable with the risks you are taking.

The main point is that money management doesn't have to be rocket science. It all boils down to understanding the risk of the investment, risking only a small percentage on any one trade (or trading approach) and keeping total exposure within reason. While the list above is not exhaustive, I believe it will help keep you out of the majority of trouble spots. Those who survive to become successful traders not only study methodologies for trading, but they also study the risks associated with them.


 Summary

Money management involves analyzing the risk/reward of trades on an individual and portfolio basis. Drawdown refers to how much money you've lost between hitting new equity peaks in your account. As drawdowns increase in size, it becomes increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to recover the equity. Traders may have phenomenal short-term success by taking undue risk, but sooner or later these risks will catch up with them and destroy their accounts. Professional traders with long-term track records fully understand this and control risk through proper money management.


Chapter 4

Commercial Banks and Services


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What the commercial banks are

• What functions the commercial bank support

• What the role of commercial banks are

• Types of loans granted by commercial banks

• What mortgage loan is

• What commercial loans are

Introduction

Commercial banks are banking institutions that are geared more toward the lending of money to customers, rather than focusing on generating or raising money. A commercial bank accepts deposits to personal and corporate accounts, and then uses the combined strength of the deposits to finance loans for individuals and businesses. This is in contrast to an investment bank, which focuses on generated revenue through investments.

The commercial bank will extend a number of different types of loans to customers. For individuals, a commercial bank may loan funds for the purchase of personal property, such as vehicles or homes. A commercial bank may also extend a personal loan to an individual for home improvements or to consolidate a number of personal debt instruments. Loans of this type are usually extended with interest included, allowing the bank to cover the costs associated with extending the loan.

Business clients may also obtain loans from a commercial bank. The type of business loans that would be offered by a commercial institution would include funds to finance a payroll or to purchase operating supplies. However, if the funds were needed to effect a corporate realignment or restructuring, investment banks would more likely finance that type of business loan.

A commercial bank will also offer a wide range of savings programs for customers. Along with standard savings accounts, the commercial bank may also offer interest bearing checking accounts, certificates of deposit, and other savings strategies that are considered to provide a small but consistent return in exchange for doing business with the bank. The distinction between the functions of a commercial bank and those of an investment bank are not always clear. While the banking industry within the United States tends to operate with a clear division between the two types of banks, this is not always the case across the globe. Often, large international banking institutions will provide both commercial and investment banking services to their clients.

The name bank derives from the Italian word "banco" (desk/bench), used during the Renaissance by Florentine bankers, who used to make their transactions above a desk covered by a green tablecloth. However, there are traces of banking activity even in ancient times. In fact, the word traces its origins back to the Ancient Roman Empire, where moneylenders would set up their stalls in the middle of enclosed courtyards called macella on a long bench called a bancu, from which the words banco and bank are derived. As a moneychanger, the merchant at the bancu did not so much invest money as merely convert the foreign currency into the only legal tender in Rome — that of the Imperial Mint.

The Role of Commercial Banks

Commercial banks engaged in the following activities:

• processing of payments by way of telegraphic transfer, EFTPOS, internet banking or other means;

• issuing bank drafts and bank cheques;

• accepting money on term deposit;

• lending money by way of overdraft, installment loan or otherwise;

• providing documentary and standby letter of credit1
 , guarantees, performance bonds2
 , securities underwriting commitments and other forms of off balance sheet exposures;

• safekeeping of documents and other items in safe deposit boxes3
 ;

• currency exchange;

• sale, distribution or brokerage, with or without advice, of insurance, unit trusts and similar financial products as a "financial supermarket".

Services of Loans Granted by Commercial Banks

A loan is a financial transaction in which one party (the lender) agrees to give another party (the borrower) a certain amount of money with the expectation of total repayment. The specific terms of a loan are often spelled out in the form of a promissory note or other contract. The lender can ask for interest payments in addition to the original amount of the loan (principal). The borrower must agree to the repayment terms, including the amount owed, interest rate and due dates. Some lenders can also assign financial penalties for missed or late payments.

Because a loan can contain many hidden costs such as interest payments and finance charges, many people tend to avoid applying for one until it becomes absolutely necessary. Purchasing a new vehicle or home almost always necessitates some form of financial loan, whether it be a bank mortgage or a private loan with the seller. Financing a higher education may also require a federally-backed student loan. Interest rates on these types of large loans can be fixed at the time of the application or may vary according to the federal prime interest rate.

There is a very important legal difference between a gift and a loan. A very generous relative or friend may give you $5000 for car repairs, for example. If there is no expectation of repayment, the money can be considered a gift. The giver could not sue for repayment later in a civil lawsuit. But if the lender designates the money as a loan and the borrower pays back even one dollar, the money can be considered a legal loan and the lender can demand repayment any time. Small claims4
 courts spend much of their time determining whether or not a transaction involving money was a gift or loan. This is why paperwork is essential when making private loans to friends or relatives.

Most loan applications are handled by banks or other professional lending institutions. They may use any number of criteria to determine if a potential borrower is eligible for a loan. Past credit history is almost always considered, along with current income and assets. The purpose of the loan may also be a factor — a proven investment opportunity may have more appeal than an unproven idea for a new restaurant. One important consideration is the income to debt ratio of the borrower. Can the borrower afford to pay the loan back with interest? Professional lenders essentially "sell" money, so borrowers must realize how much a loan actually "costs" in terms of real dollars and cents.

Types of Loans Granted by Commercial Banks

Secured loan

A secured loan is a loan in which the borrower pledges some asset (e.g., a car or property) as collateral (i.e., security) for the loan.

Mortgage loan

A mortgage loan is a very common type of debt instrument, used to purchase real estate. Under this arrangement, the money is used to purchase property. Commercial banks, however, are given security — a lien on the title to the house — until the mortgage is paid off in full. If the borrower defaults on the loan, the bank would have the legal right to repossess the house and sell it, to recover sums owing to it.

In the past, commercial banks have not been greatly interested in real estate loans and have placed only a relatively small percentage of their assets in mortgages. As their name implies, such financial institutions secured their earning primarily from commercial and consumer loans and left the major task of home financing to others. However, due to changes in banking laws and policies, commercial banks are increasingly active in home financing.

Changes in banking laws now allow commercial banks to make home mortgage loans on a more liberal basis than ever before. In acquiring mortgages on real estate, these institutions follow two main practices. First, some of the banks maintain active and well-organized departments whose primary function is to compete actively for real estate loans. In areas lacking specialized real estate financial institutions, these banks become the source for residential and farm mortgage loans. Second, the banks acquire mortgages by simply purchasing them from mortgage bankers or dealers.

In addition, dealer service companies, which were originally used to obtain car loans for permanent lenders such as commercial banks, wanted to broaden their activity beyond their local area. In recent years, however, such companies have concentrated on acquiring mobile home loans in volume for both commercial banks and savings and loan associations. Service companies obtain these loans from retail dealers, usually on a nonrecourse basis. Almost all bank/service company agreements contain a credit insurance policy that protects the lender if the consumer defaults.

The Commercial Bank offers a variety of mortgage programs with competitive rates and terms. The mortgage programs offered at The Commercial Bank are:


• fixed rate mortgages;

• short-term balloon mortgages;

• adjustable rate mortgages;

• second mortgages.



Fixed Rate Mortgages

A fixed rate mortgage is a mortgage in which the interest rate does not change during the entire term of the loan. The terms for fixed rate mortgages are usually 15 to 30 years. Other terms are available. The advantage of a fixed rate mortgage is that the interest rate will not increase. The disadvantage of a fixed rate mortgage occurs when interest rates drop substantially lower than your existing rate.

Short-term Balloon Mortgage

A short-term fixed rate mortgage, which involves small payments for a certain period of time and one large payment for the remaining amount of the principal at a time specified in the contract. The advantage of this type of loan is that the initial rate is usually lower than a normal fixed rate loan. The disadvantage of a balloon mortgage is that you may have to refinance or payoff the loan when the note matures. The interest rates at that time may be substantially higher.

Adjustable Rate Mortgage

An adjustable rate mortgage usually has a term of 30 years and has an interest rate that changes based on a standard rate index. Most adjustable rate mortgages have caps on how much the interest may increase or decrease. The initial rate is fixed for a specified period and thereafter has an adjustment interval of one year. The advantage of an adjustable rate mortgage is that the initial rate is usually lower than a traditional fixed rate mortgage. Also, the interest rate changes up or down depending on the financial conditions of the economy. This can be an advantage if interest rates remain the same or if there is a decline in the interest rates. The disadvantage of this type of loan is that the interest rate may increase.

Second Mortgages

A second mortgage is a second loan on the same property and home that is secured by a first mortgage loan. The interest you pay on a second mortgage may be tax-deductible. (Consult your tax advisor to find out if you qualify for this deduction.)

Construction Loans

Build the home of your dreams with a construction loan from the commercial bank. The process is simple and easy, once the home is near completion the commercial bank will help you roll the loan over into permanent financing. All loans are subject to credit approval, acceptable collateral and available equity.

Unsecured Loan

Unsecured loans are monetary loans that are not secured against the borrowers assets (i.e., no collateral is involved). These may be available from financial institutions under many different guises or marketing packages:


• credit card debt;

• personal loans;

• bank overdrafts;

• credit facilities or lines of credit;

• corporate bonds.



Personal Bank Services

Checking Account

A checking account is a service provided by financial institutions (banks, savings and loans, credit unions, etc.) which allows individuals and businesses to deposit money and withdraw funds from a federally-protected account. The terms of a checking account may vary from bank to bank, but in general a checking account holder can use personal checks in place of cash to pay debts. He or she can also use electronic debit cards or ATM cards to access individual accounts or make cash withdrawals.

Virtually every bank offers some form of checking account service for their customers. Some may require a minimal initial deposit before establishing a new account, along with proof of identification and address. A student or other low-income applicant may opt for a no-frills checking account which does not charge fees for the use of personal checks and other services. Others may benefit from interest payments by maintaining a high minimum balance each month. Some states are required by law to provide a "lifeline" checking account option for senior citizens and low-income customers. This type of checking account waives many of the fees banks may charge, such as monthly service fees for low balances and surcharges for ATM usage.

A typical checking account is handled through careful posting of deposits and withdrawals. The account holder has a supply of official checks which contain all of the essential routing and mailing information. When a check is filled out correctly, the recipient treats it the same as cash and completes the transaction. After this check has been deposited into the recipient's own bank account, a bank worker files the check electronically and the check writer's bank receives the cancelled check and amount to be debited (withdrawn) from the check writer's account. This process continues for every check written against an individual checking account.

Owners of a checking account are ultimately responsible for keeping track of their available funds, even though the bank will routinely issue its own accounting statements. Checks must represent an actual amount of money contained in the checking account itself. If a check is written for an amount higher than the available balance, the check writer faces numerous fees and possible legal action. The recipient of the bad check can demand immediate cash payment for the original debt as well as a substantial fee for the returned check. Some banks will protect checking account holders by making the proper payments and notifying the check writer that an overdraft has taken place. Most often the bank will recoup their losses through substantial service charges, so it pays to avoid writing checks when the balance is unknown.

Most banks have several different methods which allow checking account customers to check their balances and reconcile their records. Printed monthly statements of debits and credits (deposits) are mailed to individual account holders. ATM machines offer an option to check the current balance, while online or phone-in accounts can provide real time updates on which checks have been processed and which are still outstanding. This information can be compared with the entries recorded in a journal called a check register.

As long as the account holder maintains accurate financial records, a checking account provides a safe and efficient way to pay bills and deposit money from payroll checks and other income sources. A savings account may pay more interest over time, but a checking account replaces the need for large amounts of cash to satisfy routine debts such as rent or mortgage payments, credit card bills and utility bills.

Saving Account

A savings account typically refers to an account in which one places money to earn a small amount of interest. The savings account funds are usually easily accessible, though some banks do charge for withdrawing money early. In most cases, people can withdraw money from a savings account at any time, at least at any time the bank is open, or one has access to the bank's ATM.

The term "bank" is used here loosely. Not only banks, but also credit unions, and money market funds companies can offer a savings account to customers. In addition to earning interest on your deposits, the savings account also provides a safe place to put your money, far better than stowing it in the mattress or the cookie jar. If the bank declares bankruptcy, is the target of embezzlement or mismanagement of funds, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insures your account, up to 100000 US dollars (USD). In fact, a requirement when shopping for a savings account is to look for one that is FDIC insured. If your savings account isn't FDIC insured, you might have difficulty if the bank encounters financial problems. Most banks, credit unions and money markets funds do offer this insurance.

You also need to shop around for a savings account that offers the best interest rates. In the past, it was often the case that banks offered a slightly higher interest rate than did credit unions. This is because credit unions attempt to confer lower interest rates than bank rates to their customers borrowing money. Now sometimes credit unions are quite competitive in rates. Money market funds tend to be the most changeable in rates. Rates earned will depend upon the stock market, so they can be very high at some times and low at others.

Many people wonder how a savings account works and is profitable to the bank or other financial institution. The simple explanation is that you are actually lending your money to the financial institution. In return for this loan, the bank offers you part of the interest rate they charge customers. Thus the bank makes a profit and you make a profit on any money in a savings account.

Sometimes people might use an interest checking account instead of a savings account. If you really plan not to spend your money for a few months, it makes sense to use a savings account instead. Interest checking accounts pay much less interest than does a savings account, and normally require maintaining a high minimum balance, about 1000 USD. If this balance is not maintained, the checking account may actually charge you bank fees for your use of the account, which nullifies any potential interest earned.

Most savings accounts require a minimum deposit, usually 100 USD. An exception exists for children, who often have a savings account as their first bank account. Banks are very accommodating to children who wish to open a savings account because it is a way to build its future base of customers. Usually kids can open a savings account with about 5 USD.

The high competition for your temporary loan to banks mean you should shop around prior to choosing a savings account. Some companies will offer terrific incentives. In 2007 Ameritrade began offering a money market savings account, that if kept open for a year would pay a 100 USD bonus at the end of the first year. Money expert Suze Orman, who normally doesn't endorse specific products, touted this as one of the best offers available to people who want to save their money.

A Certificate of Deposit

A certificate of deposit, also called a CD, is a type of savings certificate. A client deposits a certain amount of funds with a bank for a fixed period, usually from one to five years although longer terms are possible, and in return is guaranteed a locked interest rate which is higher than that of a traditional savings account. For people who want non-risky methods of investment with guaranteed returns, such as the elderly, youth wanting to set money aside, or people with limited funds, a certificate of deposit is an excellent investment alternative, because when the certificate of deposit is held by an Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insured bank and is for less than 100 000 USD, the client will never lose his or her money.

A certificate of deposit can take a wide variety of forms which are negotiable with the issuing bank. If it is under 100000 USD, it is known as a "small CD," while deposits over that amount are called "jumbo CD." A jumbo CD is somewhat more risky, because the FDIC cannot insure it, but is still a sound investment when made with a reputable bank. After the amount of deposit is decided, the term of the certificate of deposit is determined: this can range from six months to 20 years, and it is very important to understand the length of the term before signing paperwork, because you will pay a penalty for withdrawing funds early. Finally, an interest rate can be locked in. Depending on the market, it may be possible to secure a very favorable interest rate, although if the market improves, the interest rate will remain the same, unless a variable interest rate has been agreed upon. Generally, the longer the term, the better the interest rate.

There are a few things to be cautious of when setting up a certificate of deposit. The first is whether the certificate of deposit is "callable" or not. If the certificate of deposit is callable, it means that the bank can terminate it, forcing the client to establish a new certificate of deposit, whether at that bank or another. Unfortunately, a certificate of deposit is usually called when interest rates drop, meaning that the client loses the high rate of interest that he or she has negotiated. Clients, of course, cannot call their certificates of deposit, and are locked in at the agreed upon rate and terms until the deposit matures. It is also important to understand how the interest rate works, including when it is applied and whether the interest is fixed or variable.

Finally, it is important to make sure that you get a certificate of deposit from a reputable and FDIC or Federal Reserve insured source. If you are using a broker, check to make certain that you know which bank is issuing the certificate of deposit, and that the bank is insured. You should also check out the broker with the chamber of commerce, to make sure that he or she has not been involved in fraudulent activity. You can also check with the securities regulator for the state in which the broker works. When you do it safely and with care, a certificate of deposit is a sound long-term investment with a predictable yield.

Individual Retirement Account (IRA)

An IRA is an Individual Retirement Account, and provides either a tax-deferred or tax-free way of saving for retirement. There are many different types of accounts within the world of IRAs, depending on the financial goals and situations of each individual, though traditional and Roth IRAs are the most common choices.

A traditional IRA allows tax-deductible contributions of up to $4000 per year, or more if you are over age 50. Whatever you contribute towards your IRA comes off your yearly income, thereby reducing total tax liability. However, once the money in an IRA is withdrawn, it is subject to standard income taxes and an additional 10% penalty if withdrawn before the age of 59. An exception is made if the money is used for purchasing a house or to cover approved higher education costs. Standard income tax still applies, but the ten percent penalty is waived. This provides a great investment tool with flexibility for important purchases.

Roth IRAs were created in 1997 to help middle-class Americans. These IRAs are not tax-deductible, but provide even greater flexibility than traditional IRAs. Contributions to the account can be withdrawn at any time without being subject to penalty or tax, though interest earned in the account is. After five years, both contributions and earnings in the account can be withdrawn without penalty or taxation. The same benefits concerning education and housing also apply as with the traditional IRA. A Roth IRA isn't for everyone, though. Individuals who file taxes using single status are eligible for full contribution as long as they don't exceed $95000 per year in earnings, and $110000 for partial contributions. Joint filers face an earnings cap at $150000 and $160000 for full and partial contributions respectively. High-level corporate execs need not apply for this type of IRA. Choosing IRAs can be complicated, depending on the financial situation and may require the services of a certified financial planner. Another important decision may be whether or not to rollover a traditional IRA into the new Roth IRA. Generally speaking, if the person is eligible, contributing to a Roth IRA is always more advantageous due to the fact that income taxes will not apply later when the money is taken out, provided the person adheres to all the guidelines. But be sure there is enough time to absorb the costs of the rollover, since it will be taxed as if you were taking the money out of the IRA.

Credit Card

The plastic credit card with a magnetic strip many people carry in their wallets or purses is the end result of a complex banking process. Holders of a valid credit card have the authorization to purchase goods and services up to a predetermined amount, called a credit limit. The vendor receives essential credit card information from the cardholder, the bank issuing the card actually reimburses the vendor, and eventually the cardholder repays the bank through regular monthly payments. If the entire balance is not paid in full, the credit card issuer can legally charge interest fees on the unpaid portion.

Individual banking institutions have their own policies when it comes to credit card applications. Customers may seek either a secured or unsecured credit card, depending on their individual repayment histories (credit rating). A secured credit card requires the applicant to deposit an amount of cash equivalent to the credit limit desired. A deposit of $1500, for example, should be enough to be issued a credit card with a $1000 to $1500 spending limit. If the customer fails to make sufficient payments, the deposited money will be used to satisfy the credit card debt. An unsecured credit card, on the other hand, is generally issued to those who have a good credit history and have demonstrated an ability to repay the accrued debt on time. Credit limits are determined on an individual basis, and may be raised or lowered based on performance. An unsecured credit card is essentially a pre-approved loan, with interest rates higher than a similar personal bank loan. The main benefit of any credit card is instant access to more cash than you may have on hand. A recent college graduate, for example, may have to purchase a business suit for employment purposes. Earning the $200 needed for an average suit could take weeks, and he or she needs the suit in order to earn the income. Putting the suit on a credit card would be the ideal solution; the borrower could repay the balance with his or her first paycheck and few interest charges would accrue.

Credit card use often becomes problematic when the holder accrues more debt than a regular monthly payment can cover. The issuing bank does allow credit card users to carry over balances every month (revolving credit), but significant interest rates may also accrue on those balances. Missing a scheduled payment can also prompt the bank to raise interest rates on a delinquent account. If a credit card holder can only afford to pay the minimal amount due every month, he or she will not be reducing the actual debt incurred. The minimal payments may only apply to the accrued interest. This is a financial spiral many credit card users may experience if they don't use proper spending restraint.

A credit card does give the holder an immediate credibility for services such as hotel reservations, car rentals and airline ticket reservations. Those without a credit card often have to guarantee their reservations with cash deposits or several forms of identification. Many credit card plans also include insurance coverage for theft or fraud. If a credit card is reported stolen and then used illegally, the cardholder would not be held responsible for unauthorized charges. A credit card holder can authorize other people to use the card for purchases or services, however. Ultimately, the primary cardholder is responsible for all charges placed on his or her account.

A credit card is not a requirement for successful living, but even those who only pay for goods or services with available cash often find a credit card to be a convenient form of identification and instant credibility. In order to avoid excessive credit card debt, the holder must decide if the goods or services are worth the added expenses.

Bank Draft

If you have to make a large purchase, and do not carry credit cards or cash with you, a private or public seller may ask you to pay by bank draft. This term is more commonly used in the UK than it is in the US, where it is roughly equivalent to the word cashier's check. Essentially, up to a certain amount of money, a genuine bank draft or cashier's check is guaranteed.

When you withdraw funds from your account to get a cashier's check, you are essentially purchasing the bank draft. Once you've purchased the cashier's check, or money order5
 , the money in your account is gone and can t be spent on other things. This can add extra security to the person selling you something, because it can guarantee that your check will not bounce. The same cannot be said of personal checks, which offer no guarantee that money exists in the account to cover the check.

The face of the bank draft, cashier's check or money order is changing with so many people now banking with ATM cards. Further, software currently exists that can automatically deduct funds from your bank account. This is increasingly in use in retail locations, and chances are it may become standard at some future point. There are thus only a few reasons why you might need to use a bank draft instead of a standard check or an ATM or credit card. If you're purchasing or renting something from an individual, instead of from a store or a large company, that individual is not likely to have the means of determining whether a personal check is valid, and probably doesn't have the ability to take credit card or ATM transactions.

For example, you might need a bank draft as part of a deposit to hold a house you plan to rent, or you might need cash or a cashier's check to pay for a car you plan to purchase from a private seller. While some people might prefer to pay with cash, this is not always a good idea. Getting a bank draft at the least provides you with a record of a transaction, whereas cash does not. The draft is usually made out to the individual to whom you are making the payment, and this is also recorded. You can show you withdrew cash from your account, but you may not be able to prove that you then gave it to a third party. It can cost a little money to purchase a cashier's check, usually a couple of dollars per hundred US Dollars (USD) withdrawn. Many find the security of researchable records is well worth the cost.

In recent years there have been some unfortunate scams involving bank drafts that are phony. Since printers are now so capable of creating very realistic appearing checks, people have been fooled into taking bank drafts that don't truly have any value. To avoid this, you might want to accompany the buyer to his or her bank to see the bank draft written out, or you might ask for a cash payment instead. Another way of checking is to call the bank from which the draft originates and verify that the draft is indeed real. If you've never heard of the bank before, get the phone number independently from your telephone operator or phone book, instead of using the number on the check.

Commercial Loans

Commercial loans are bank loans that are granted to different types of business entities. In some cases, the commercial loan is extended to assist a company with short-term funding for basic operational functions, such as meeting payroll or purchasing supplies that are used in the production of the goods manufactured and sold by the company. At other times, the commercial loan may be utilized to purchase new machinery that is directly connected to the operation of the business.

The commercial loan is often thought of in terms of a short-term source of cash for a business. Some bankers offer a commercial loan format that is known as a renewable loan. Renewable loans allow the business to secure necessary funds, repay the balance within terms, and then roll the loan into a second or renewed period. This type of commercial loan is often employed when a company needs funds to secure resources to handle large seasonal orders from customers while still providing goods to other clients.

As with most types of loans, the credit worthiness of the applicant will play a major role in the securing of a commercial loan. The business normally must present documentation that proves the stable cash flow of the company, thus ensuring the lender that the loan can be repaid according to terms. If approved, the borrower can anticipate to pay a rate of interest that is in keeping with the prime lending rate.

One of the advantages to a commercial loan is that many banks offer these types of loans at very competitive rates of interest. Often, the rates will be lower than for other types of loans, especially asset-based loans. This means that the borrower will have a smaller amount to repay the lender.

As with all financial arrangements, local and national laws regarding the banking industry will dictate the structure and conditions associated with a commercial loan. Any company seeking a commercial loan would do well to work with the banking institution to evaluate the current working capital6
 needs of the company and look at all possible loan solutions before making a formal application for the commercial loan.


 Summary


1. Commercial banks are banking institutions that are geared more toward the lending of money to customers, rather than focusing on generating or raising money.

2. A loan is a financial transaction in which one party (the lender) agrees to give another party (the borrower) a certain amount of money with the expectation of total repayment.

3. Most loan applications are handled by banks or other professional lending institutions. They may use any number of criteria to determine if a potential borrower is eligible for a loan.

4. A mortgage loan is a very common type of debt instrument, used to purchase real estate. Under this arrangement, the money is used to purchase property.

5. A checking account is a service provided by financial institutions which allows individuals and businesses to deposit money and withdraw funds from a federally-protected account.

6. A savings account typically refers to an account in which one places money to earn a small amount of interest.

7. A certificate of deposit, also called a CD, is a type of savings certificate.

8. An Individual Retirement Account provides either a tax-deferred or tax-free way of saving for retirement.

9. Bank draft is a check drawn by one bank against funds deposited into its account at another bank, authorizing the second bank to make payment to the individual named in the draft.

10. Commercial loans are bank loans that are granted to different types of business entities.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1．paperwork　文件

2．principal　本金

3．embezzlement　侵占

4．collateral　抵押品

5．overdrafts　透支

6．payroll　发薪

7．deductible　可扣除的

8．reconcile　调和

9．adheres　坚持

10．vendor　供应商

11．reimburses　偿还

12．renaissance　文艺复兴


 Notes



1. a letter of credit:
 A letter of credit is a document issued mostly by a financial institution, used primarily in trade finance, which usually provides an irrevocable payment.


2. performance bond:
 A performance bond is a surety bond issued by an insurance company or a bank to guarantee satisfactory completion of a project by a contractor.


3. a safe deposit box:
 A safe deposit box is a type of safe usually located in groups inside a bank vault or in the back of a bank or post office. It usually holds things such as valuable gemstones, precious metals, currency, or important documents such as wills or property deeds that a person might feel afraid to leave at home due to fear of theft, fire, flood, tampering or other reasons.


4. small claims:
 A small claims case is the process of going to court to settle a dispute without the need for lawyers.


5. money order:
 A money order is an instrument that orders a sum of money to be paid to someone else．


6. working capital:
 Working capital is a measurement of an entity's current assets, after subtracting its liabilities. Sometimes referred to as operating capital, it is a valuation of the amount of liquidity a business or organization has for the running and building of the business.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. Why is a jumbo CD more risky?

2. What is commercial loan?

3. What is credit card?

4. What is money order?

5. What is working capital?

6. What is a secured loan?

7. What are commercial banks?

8. What is a checking account?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. A commercial bank offers a wide range of savings programs for customers. Along with standard savings accounts, the commercial bank may also _____ interest bearing checking accounts, certificates of deposit, and other savings strategies that are _____ to provide a small but consistent return in exchange for doing business with the bank.

2. Sometimes people might use an interest checking account instead of a savings account. If you really plan not to _____ your money for a few months, it makes sense to use a savings account _____.

3. A fixed rate mortgage is a mortgage in which the _____ does not change during the _____ term of the loan.

4. A typical checking account is _____ through careful posting of deposits and withdrawals. The account holder has a supply of official checks which _____ all of the essential routing and mailing information.

5. In recent years there have been some unfortunate scams involving bank drafts that are phony. Since printers are now so capable of _____ very realistic appearing checks, people have been _____ into taking bank drafts that don't truly have any value.

6. Credit card use often _____ problematic when the holder _____ more debt than a regular monthly payment can cover.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．商业银行应积极开展电话银行转账功能风险评估和分类，依据收款账户的潜在风险高低，相应设置不同的转账额度和次数限制。

2．商业银行相对其他行业属于信息化程度较高的行业，银行数据库里积累了海量的客户信息。

3．商业银行的管理人员在分析客户的贷款申请时必须考虑许多因素。

4．除中国银行外，交通银行、农业银行、工商银行、建设银行在城乡也都设立了许多的机构，便于你获得金融服务。

5．定期存款也叫CD，是存款证书的一种类型。

6．商业银行作为一家金融机构，其业务范围包括：从个人和公司吸收存款；通过提供贷款和其他对客户的财务或生意的运转很重要的金融业务来建立信贷，包括资金转账、支票兑现、银行保管箱等。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The risk-based capital requirements imposed on commercial bank and saving and loan associations.

2. Who regulates commercial banks and thrifts and types of regulations imposed?

3. Banks generate income in three ways: (1)the bid-ask spread; (2)capital gains on the securities or foreign currency used in transactions, and (3)in the case of securities, the spread between interest income earned by holding the security and cost of funding the purchase of security.

4. Several types of deposit accounts are available. Checking accounts pay no interest and can be withdrawn upon demand.

5. A certificate of deposit can take a wide variety of forms which are negotiable with the issuing bank.

6. Banks that raise most of their funds from the domestic and international money markets, relying less on depositors for funds, are called money center banks.


 Reading Materials


Internet Banks

The Internet has changed the way many of us lead our lives. We can shop, gain educational certificates and even work from home, online. Banks have also come up to date, and now we can process all our financial transactions on our computers, via an Internet bank.

An Internet bank, or online banking, is a term used for the many different functions a bank can perform by computer. The only difference between an Internet bank and a normal bank is that, with the former, you may never need to set foot inside the actual bank. People usually have their salary placed into a bank account and the money can be used to perform many different transactions. These can all be performed online using your personal computer.

There are many advantages to using an Internet Bank. Banking hours are generally short, but with an Internet bank account you can bank outside of the normal banking hours. You can shop instantly online and pay through your bank account. You can also set up direct debits, and pay credit card and utility bills through an Internet bank. There is no need to stand in line waiting to complete transactions. You do not need to dispense with your traditional bank altogether. Most banks now offer an Internet service that can be used in conjunction with your normal banking service. Online facilities vary from bank to bank, but most will be able to offer you the same basic banking services. You should be able to access account information, review and pay bills, transfer funds and apply for credit cards.

With online technology becoming increasingly sophisticated, you now have the option to open an Internet only, virtual bank account. These banks have no building and only exist online. They usually provide all the same services as a traditional bank, but you can never set foot inside the bank.

With an Internet bank account, a big consideration should be the security and privacy of your account. You should check the bank's policy on information sharing and ask to see a copy of the bank's privacy policy. This way, you will know what information the bank will share with other banks. Also check the banks information security procedures to make sure another party cannot access your account. Never send information such as PIN numbers by email and always change your passwords regularly.

As long as you are aware of all the security and safety issues, you should have no problems banking online. An Internet bank is a terrific time saving option. You can "virtually" visit your bank any time, day or night, even while wearing pyjamas (pajamas).

Online banking solutions have many features and capabilities in common, but traditionally also have some that are application specific. The common features fall broadly into several categories:

• Transactional (e.g., performing a financial transaction such as an account to account transfer, paying a bill, wire transfer … and applications … apply for a loan, new account, etc.).

• Non-transactional (e.g., online statements, check links, cobrowsing, chat).

• Financial Institution Administration — features allowing the financial institution to manage the online experience of their end users.

• ASP/Hosting Administration — features allowing the hosting company to administer the solution across financial institutions.

Features commonly unique to business banking include:

• Support of multiple users having varying levels of authority.

• Transaction approval process.

• Wire transfer.

Features commonly unique to Internet banking include:

• Personal financial management support, such as importing data into personal accounting software. Some online banking platforms support account aggregation to allow the customers to monitor all of their accounts in one place whether they are with their main bank or with other institutions.

History

The precursor for the modern home online banking services were the distance banking services over electronic media from the early 1980s. The term online became popular in the late 1980s and referred to the use of a terminal, keyboard and TV (or monitor) to access the banking system using a phone line. "Home banking" can also refer to the use of a numeric keypad to send tones down a phone line with instructions to the bank. Online services started in New York in 1981 when four of the city's major banks (Citibank, Chase Manhattan, Chemical and Manufacturers Hanover) offered home banking services using the videotex system. Because of the commercial failure of videotex these banking services never became popular except in France where the use of videotex (Minitel) was subsidised by the telecom provider and the UK, where the Prestel system was used.

The UK's first home online banking services was set up by the Nottingham Building Society (NBS) in 1983 ("History of the Nottingham", http://www.thenottingham.com/main.asp? p = 1710. Retrieved on 2007-12-14). The system used was based on the UK's Prestel system and used a computer, such as the BBC Micro, or keyboard (Tandata Td1400) connected to the telephone system and television set. The system (known as "Homelink") allowed on-line viewing of statements, bank transfers and bill payments. In order to make bank transfers and bill payments, a written instruction giving details of the intended recipient had to be sent to the NBS who set the details up on the Homelink system. Typical recipients were gas, electricity and telephone companies and accounts with other banks. Details of payments to be made were input into the NBS system by the account holder via Prestel. A cheque was then sent by NBS to the payee and an advice giving details of the payment was sent to the account holder. BACS was later used to transfer the payment directly.

Stanford Federal Credit Union was the first financial institution to offer online internet banking services to all of its members in Oct, 1994.

Security

Protection through single password authentication, as is the case in most secure Internet shopping sites, is not considered secure enough for personal online banking applications in some countries. Basically there exist two different security methods for online banking.

The PIN/TAN system where the PIN represents a password, used for the login and TANs representing one-time passwords to authenticate transactions. TANs can be distributed in different ways, the most popular one is to send a list of TANs to the online banking user by postal letter. The most secure way of using TANs is to generate them by need using a security token. These token generated TANs depend on the time and a unique secret, stored in the security token (this is called two-factor authentication or 2FA). Usually online banking with PIN/TAN is done via a web browser using SSL secured connections, so that there is no additional encryption needed.

Signature based online banking where all transactions are signed and encrypted digitally. The Keys for the signature generation and encryption can be stored on smartcards or any memory medium, depending on the concrete implementation.

Attacks

Most of the attacks on online banking used today are based on deceiving the user to steal login data and valid TANs. Two well known examples for those attacks are phishing and pharming. Cross-site scripting and keylogger/Trojan horses can also be used to steal login information. A method to attack signature based online banking methods is to manipulate the used software in a way, that correct transactions are shown on the screen and faked transactions are signed in the background.

A recent FDIC Technology Incident Report, compiled from suspicious activity reports banks file quarterly, lists 536 cases of computer intrusion, with an average loss per incident of $30000. That adds up to a nearly $16-million loss in the second quarter of 2007. Computer intrusions increased by 150 percent between the first quarter of 2007 and the second. In 80 percent of the cases, the source of the intrusion is unknown but it occurred during online banking, the report states.

Countermeasures

There exist several countermeasures which try to avoid attacks. Digital certificates are used against phishing and pharming, the use of class-3 card readers is a measure to avoid manipulation of transactions by the software in signature based online banking variants. To protect their systems against Trojan horses, users should use virus scanners and be careful with downloaded software or e-mail attachments.


Chapter 5

Central Bank


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What the functions of central bank are

• What the monetary policy is

• What the primary responsibility of central bank is

• How central banks earn money

• Monetary policy tools

• What open market operations are

• What the M1 is

Overview

A central bank, reserve bank, or monetary authority is the entity responsible for the monetary policy of a country or of a group of member states. It is a bank that can lend to other banks in times of need. Its primary responsibility is to maintain the stability of the national currency and money supply, but more active duties include controlling subsidized-loan interest rates, and acting as a lender of last resort1
 to the banking sector during times of financial crisis (private banks often being integral to the national financial system). It may also have supervisory powers, to ensure that banks and other financial institutions do not behave recklessly or fraudulently.

Most richer countries today have an "independent" central bank, that is, one which operates under rules designed to prevent political interference. Examples include the European Central Bank (ECB) and the Federal Reserve System in the United States. Some central banks are publicly owned, and others are privately owned. For example, the Reserve Bank of India is publicly owned and directly governed by the Indian government. Another example is the United States Federal Reserve, which is a privately owned, for-profit corporation. The major difference is that government owned central banks do not charge the taxpayers interest on the national currency, whereas privately owned central banks do charge interest.

In Europe prior to the 17th century most money was commodity money2
 , typically gold or silver. However, promises to pay were widely circulated and accepted as value at least five hundred years earlier in both Europe and Asia. The medieval European Knights Templar ran probably the best known early prototype of a central banking system, as their promises to pay were widely regarded, and many regard their activities as having laid the basis for the modern banking system. At about the same time, Kublai Khan of the Mongols introduced fiat currency to China, which was imposed by force by the confiscation of specie.

The oldest central bank in the world is the Riksbank in Sweden, which was opened in 1668 with help from Dutch businessmen. This was followed in 1694 by the Bank of England, created by Scottish businessman William Paterson in the City of London at the request of the English government to help pay for a war. The US Federal Reserve was created by the U.S. Congress through the passing of the Glass-Owen Bill, signed by President Woodrow Wilson on December 23, 1913.

The People's Bank of China evolved its role as a central bank starting in about 1979 with the introduction of market reforms in that country. By 2000 the People's Bank of China was in all senses a modem central bank, and emerged as such partly in response to the European Central Bank. This is the most modem bank model and was introduced with the euro to coordinate the European national banks, which continue to separately manage their respective economies other than currency exchange and base interest rates.

Activities and Responsibilities

Functions of a central bank (not all functions are carried out by all banks):

• implementing monetary policy

• controlling the nation's entire money supply

• the Government's banker and the bankers, bank ("lender of last resort")

• managing the country's foreign exchange and gold reserves and the Government's stock register

• regulating and supervising the banking industry

• setting the official interest rate — used to manage both inflation and the country's exchange rate — and ensuring that this rate takes effect via a variety of policy mechanisms

Monetary policy

Central banks implement a country's chosen monetary policy. At the most basic level, this involves establishing what form of currency the country may have, whether a fiat currency, gold-backed currency (disallowed for countries with membership of the IMF), currency board or a currency union. When a country has its own national currency, this involves the issue of some form of standardized currency, which is essentially a form of promissory note: a promise to exchange the note for "money" under certain circumstances. Historically, this was often a promise to exchange the money for precious metals in some fixed amount. Now, when many currencies are fiat money, the "promise to pay" consists of nothing more than a promise to pay the same sum in the same currency.

In many countries, the central bank may use another country's currency either directly (in a currency union), or indirectly, by using a currency board. In the latter case, local currency is directly backed by the central bank's holdings of a foreign currency in a fixed-ratio; this mechanism is used, notably, in Estonia.

In countries with fiat money, monetary policy may be used as a shorthand form for the interest rate targets and other active measures undertaken by the monetary authority.

Currency issuance

Many central banks are "banks" in the sense that they hold assets (foreign exchange, gold, and other financial assets) and liabilities. A central bank's primary liabilities are the currency outstanding, and these liabilities are backed by the assets the bank owns.

Central banks generally earn money by issuing currency notes and "selling" them to the public for interest-bearing assets, such as government bonds. Since currency usually pays no interest, the difference in interest generates income, called seigniorage. In most central banking systems, this income is remitted to the government. The European Central Bank remits its interest income to its owners, the central banks of the member countries of the European Union.

Although central banks generally hold government debt, in some countries the outstanding amount of government debt is smaller than the amount the central bank may wish to hold. In many countries, central banks may hold significant amounts of foreign currency assets, rather than assets in their own national currency, particularly when the national currency is fixed to other currencies.

Naming of central banks

There is no standard terminology for the name of a central bank, but many countries use the "Bank of Country" form (e.g., Bank of England, Bank of Canada, Bank of Russia). Some are styled "national" banks, such as the National Bank of Ukraine; but the term "national bank" is more often used by privately-owned commercial banks, especially in the United States. In other cases, central banks may incorporate the word "Central" (e.g., European Central Bank, Central Bank of Ireland). The word "Reserve" is also often included, such as the Reserve Bank of Australia, Reserve Bank of India, Reserve Bank of New Zealand, the South African Reserve Bank, and U.S. Federal Reserve System. Many countries have state-owned banks or other quasi-government entities that have entirely separate functions, such as financing imports and exports.

In some countries, the term national bank may be used to indicate both the monetary authority and the leading banking entity, such as the USSR's Gosbank (state bank). In other countries, the term national bank may be used to indicate that the central bank's goals are broader than monetary stability, such as full employment, industrial development, or other goals.

Interest rate interventions

Typically a central bank controls certain types of short-term interest rates. These influence the stock and bond markets as well as mortgage and other interest rates. The European Central Bank for example announces its interest rate at the meeting of its Governing Council; in the case of the Federal Reserve, the Board of Governors.

Both the Federal Reserve and the ECB are composed of one or more central bodies that are responsible for the main decisions about interest rates and the size and type of open market operations3
 , and several branches to execute its policies. In the case of the Fed, they are the local Federal Reserve Banks; for the ECB they are the national central banks.

Limits of enforcement power

Contrary to popular perception, central banks are not all-powerful and have limited powers to put their policies into effect. Most importantly, although the perception by the public may be that the "central bank" controls some or all interest rates and currency rates, economic theory (and substantial empirical evidence) shows that it is impossible to do both at once in an open economy. Robert Mundell's "impossible trinity" is the most famous formulation of these limited powers, and postulates that it is impossible to target monetary policy (broadly, interest rates), the exchange rate (through a fixed rate) and maintain free capital movement. Since most Western economies are now considered "open" with free capital movement, this essentially means that central banks may target interest rates or exchange rates with credibility, but not both at once. Even when targeting interest rates, most central banks have limited ability to influence the rates actually paid by private individuals and companies. In the most famous case of policy failure, George Soros arbitraged the pound sterling's relationship to the ECU and (after making $2 billion himself and forcing the UK to spend over $8 billion defending the pound) forced it to abandon its policy. Since then he has been a harsh critic of clumsy bank policies and argued that no one should be able to do what he did.

The most complex relationships are those between the yuan and the US dollar, and between the Euro and its neighbours. The situation in Cuba is so exceptional as to require the Cuban peso to be dealt with simply as an exception, since the United States forbids direct trade with Cuba. US dollars were ubiquitous in Cuba's economy after its legalization in 1991, but were officially removed from circulation in 2004 and replaced by the convertible peso.

Policy Instruments

The main monetary policy instruments available to central banks are open market operation, bank reserve requirement, interest rate policy, relending and rediscount (including using the term repurchase market), and credit policy (often coordinated with trade policy). While capital adequacy is important, it is defined and regulated by the Bank for International Settlements, and central banks in practice generally do not apply stricter rules.

To enable open market operations, a central bank must hold foreign exchange reserves (usually in the form of government bonds) and official gold reserves. It will often have some influence over any official or mandated exchange rates: Some exchange rates are managed, some are market based (free float) and many are somewhere in between ("managed float" or "dirty float").

Interest rates

By far the most visible and obvious power of many modem central banks is to influence market interest rates; contrary to popular belief, they rarely "set" rates to a fixed number. Although the mechanism differs from country to country, most use a similar mechanism based on a central bank's ability to create as much fiat money as required.

The mechanism to move the market towards a "target rate" (whichever specific rate is used) is generally to lend money or borrow money in theoretically unlimited quantities, until the targeted market rate is sufficiently close to the target. Central banks may do so by lending money to and borrowing money from (taking deposits from) a limited number of qualified banks, or by purchasing and selling bonds. As an example of how this functions, the Bank of Canada sets a target overnight rate, and a band of plus or minus 0.25%. Qualified banks borrow from each other within this band, but never above or below, because the central bank will always lend to them at the top of the band, and take deposits at the bottom of the band; in principle, the capacity to borrow and lend at the extremes of the band are unlimited. Other central banks use similar mechanisms. It is also notable that the target rates are generally short-term rates. The actual rate that borrowers and lenders receive on the market will depend on (perceived) credit risk, maturity and other factors. For example, a central bank might set a target rate for overnight lending of 4.5%, but rates for (equivalent risk) five-year bonds might be 5%, 4.75%, or, in cases of inverted yield curves, even below the short-term rate. Many central banks have one primary "headline" rate that is quoted as the "central bank rate." In practice, they will have other tools and rates that are used, but only one that is rigorously targeted and enforced. "The rate at which the central bank lends money can indeed be chosen at will by the central bank; this is the rate that makes the financial headlines." — Henry C. K. Liu. Liu explains further that "the U.S. central-bank lending rate is known as the Fed funds rate. The Fed sets a target for the Fed funds rate, which its Open Market Committee tries to match by lending or borrowing in the money market … a fiat money system set by command of the central bank. The Fed is the head of the central-bank snake because the U.S. dollar is the key reserve currency for international trade. The global money market is a USA dollar market. All other currencies markets revolve around the U.S. dollar market." Accordingly the U.S. situation is not typical of central banks in general. A typical central bank has several interest rates or monetary policy tools it can set to influence markets.

• Marginal lending rate (currently 4.25% in the Eurozone) — a fixed rate for institutions to borrow money from the central bank. (In the USA this is called the discount rate.)

• Main refinancing rate (3.75% in the Eurozone) — the publicly visible interest rate the central bank announces. It is also known as minimum bid rate
 and serves as a bidding floor for refinancing loans. (In the USA this is called the federal funds rate.)

• Deposit rate (3.25% in the Eurozone) — the rate parties receive for deposits at the central bank.

These rates directly affect the rates in the money market, the market for short term loans.

Open market operations

Through open market operations, a central bank influences the money supply in an economy directly. Each time it buys securities, exchanging money for the security, it raises the money supply. Conversely, selling of securities lowers the money supply. Buying of securities thus amounts to printing new money while lowering supply of the specific security. The main open market operations are:

• Temporary lending of money for collateral securities ("Reverse Operations" or "repurchase operations", otherwise known as the "repo" market). These operations are carried out on a regular basis, where fixed maturity loans (of 1 week and 1 month for the ECB) are auctioned off.

• Buying or selling securities ("direct operations") on ad-hoc basis.

• Foreign exchange operations such as forex swaps.

All of these interventions can also influence the foreign exchange market and thus the exchange rate. For example, the People's Bank of China and the Bank of Japan have on occasion bought several hundred billions of U.S. Treasuries, presumably in order to stop the decline of the U.S. dollar versus the renminbi and the yen.

Capital requirements

All banks are required to hold a certain percentage of their assets as capital, a rate which may be established by the central bank or the banking supervisor. For international banks, including the 55 member central banks of the Bank for International Settlements, the threshold is 8% (see the Basel Capital Accords4
 ) of risk-adjusted assets, whereby certain assets (such as government bonds) are considered to have lower risk and are either partially or fully excluded from total assets for the purposes of calculating capital adequacy. Partly due to concerns about asset inflation and repurchase agreements, capital requirements may be considered more effective than deposit/reserve requirements in preventing indefinite lending: when at the threshold, a bank cannot extend another loan without acquiring further capital on its balance sheet.

Reserve requirements

Another significant power that central banks hold is the ability to establish reserve requirements for other banks. By requiring that a percentage of liabilities be held as cash or deposited with the central bank (or other agency), limits are set on the money supply.

In practice, many banks are required to hold a percentage of their deposits as reserves. Such legal reserve requirements were introduced in the nineteenth century to reduce the risk of banks overextending themselves and suffering from bank runs, as this could lead to knock-on effects on other banks. As the early 20th century gold standard and late 20th century dollar hegemony evolved, and as banks proliferated and engaged in more complex transactions and were able to profit from dealings globally on a moment's notice, these practices became mandatory, if only to ensure that there was some limit on the ballooning of money supply. Such limits have become harder to enforce. The People's Bank of China retains (and uses) more powers over reserves because the yuan that it manages is a non-convertible currency.

Even if reserves were not a legal requirement, prudence would ensure that banks would hold a certain percentage of their assets in the form of cash reserves. It is common to think of commercial banks as passive receivers of deposits from their customers and, for many purposes, this is still an accurate view.

This passive view of bank activity is misleading when it comes to considering what determines the nation's money supply and credit. Loan activity by banks plays a fundamental role in determining the money supply. The money deposited by commercial banks at the central bank is the real money in the banking system; other versions of what is commonly thought of as money are merely promises to pay real money. These promises to pay are circulatory multiples of real money. For general purposes, people perceive money as the amount shown in financial transactions or amount shown in their bank accounts. But bank accounts record both credit and debits that cancel each other. Only the remaining central-bank money after aggregate settlement — final money — can take only one of two forms:

• physical cash, which is rarely used in wholesale financial markets,

• central-bank money.

The currency component of the money supply is far smaller than the deposit component. Currency and bank reserves together make up the monetary base, called Ml and M2.

Exchange requirements

To influence the money supply, some central banks may require that some or all foreign exchange receipts (generally from exports) be exchanged for the local currency. The rate that is used to purchase local currency may be market-based or arbitrarily set by the bank. This tool is generally used in countries with nonconvertible currencies or partially-convertible currencies. The recipient of the local currency may be allowed to freely dispose of the funds, required to hold the funds with the central bank for some period of time, or allowed to use the funds subject to certain restrictions. In other cases, the ability to hold or use the foreign exchange may be otherwise limited.

In this method, money supply is increased by the central bank when it purchases the foreign currency by issuing (selling) the local currency. The central bank may subsequently reduce the money supply by various means, including selling bonds or foreign exchange interventions.

Margin requirements and other tools

In some countries, central banks may have other tools that work indirectly to limit lending practices and otherwise restrict or regulate capital markets. For example, a central bank may regulate margin lending5
 , whereby individuals or companies may borrow against pledged securities. The margin requirement establishes a minimum ratio of the value of the securities to the amount borrowed.

Central banks often have requirements for the quality of assets that may be held by financial institutions; these requirements may act as a limit on the amount of risk and leverage created by the financial system. These requirements may be direct, such as requiring certain assets to bear certain minimum credit ratings, or indirect, by the central bank lending to counterparties only when security of a certain quality is pledged as collateral.

Examples of use

The People's Bank of China has been forced into particularly aggressive and differentiating tactics by the extreme complexity and rapid expansion of the economy it manages. It imposed some absolute restrictions on lending to specific industries in 2003, and continues to require 1% more (7%) reserves from urban banks (typically focusing on export) than rural ones. This is not by any means an unusual situation. The USA historically had very wide ranges of reserve requirements between its dozen branches. Domestic development is thought to be optimized mostly by reserve requirements rather than by capital adequacy methods, since they can be more finely tuned and regionally varied.

Banking Supervision and Other Activities

In some countries a central bank through its subsidiaries controls and monitors the banking sector. In other countries banking supervision is carried out by a government department such as the UK Treasury, or an independent government agency (e.g., UK's Financial Services Authority). It examines the banks' balance sheets and behaviour and policies toward consumers. Apart from refinancing, it also provides banks with services such as transfer of funds, bank notes and coins or foreign currency. Thus it is often described as the "bank of banks".

Many countries such as the United States will monitor and control the banking sector through different agencies and for different purposes, although there is usually significant cooperation between the agencies. For example, money center banks, deposit-taking institutions, and other types of financial institutions may be subject to different (and occasionally overlapping) regulation. Some types of banking regulation may be delegated to other levels of government, such as. state or provincial governments.

Any cartel of banks is particularly closely watched and controlled. Most countries control bank mergers and are wary of concentration in this industry due to the danger of groupthink and runaway lending bubbles based on a single point of failure6
 , the credit culture of the few large banks.

Independence

Over the past decade, there has been a trend towards increasing the independence of central banks as a way of improving long-term economic performance. However, while a large volume of economic research has been done to define the relationship between central bank independence and economic performance, the results are ambiguous.

Advocates of central bank independence argue that a central bank which is too susceptible to political direction or pressure may encourage economic cycles ("boom and bust7
 "), as politicians may be tempted to boost economic activity in advance of an election, to the detriment of the long-term health of the economy and the country. In this context, independence is usually defined as the central bank's operational and management independence from the government.

The literature on central bank independence has defined a number of types of independence.

Legal independence

The independence of the central bank is enshrined in law. This type of independence is limited in a democratic state; in almost all cases the central bank is accountable at some level to government officials, either through a government minister or directly to a legislature. Even defining degrees of legal independence has proven to be a challenge since legislation typically provides only a framework within which the government and the central bank work out their relationship.

Goal independence

The central bank has the right to set its own policy goals, whether inflation targeting, control of the money supply, or maintaining a fixed exchange rate. While this type of independence is more common, many central banks prefer to announce their policy goals in partnership with the appropriate government departments. This increases the transparency of the policy setting process and thereby increases the credibility of the goals chosen by providing assurance that they will not be changed without notice. In addition, the setting of common goals by the central bank and the government helps to avoid situations where monetary and fiscal policy are in conflict; a policy combination that is clearly sub-optimal.

Operational independence

The central bank has the independence to determine the best way of achieving its policy goals, including the types of instruments used and the timing of their use. This is the most common form of central bank independence. The granting of independence to the Bank of England in 1997 was, in fact, the granting of operational independence; the inflation target continued to be announced in the Chancellor's annual budget speech to Parliament.

Management independence

The central bank has the authority to run its own operations (appointing staff, setting budgets, etc.) without excessive involvement of the government. The other forms of independence are not possible unless the central bank has a significant degree of management independence. One of the most common statistical indicators used in the literature as a proxy for central bank independence is the "turn-over-rate" of central bank governors. If a government is in the habit of appointing and replacing the governor frequently, it clearly has the capacity to micro-manage the central bank through its choice of governors.

It is argued that an independent central bank can run a more credible monetary policy, making market expectations more responsive to signals from the central bank. Recently, both the Bank of England (1997) and the European Central Bank have been made independent and follow a set of published inflation targets so that markets know what to expect.

Governments generally have some degree of influence over even "independent" central banks; the aim of independence is primarily to prevent short-term interference. For example, the chairman of the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank is appointed by the President of the U.S. (all nominees for this post are recommended by the owners of the Federal Reserve, as are all the board members), and his choice must be confirmed by the Congress.

International organizations such as the World Bank, the BIS and the IMF are strong supporters of central bank independence. This results, in part, from a belief in the intrinsic merits of increased independence. The support for independence from the international organizations also derives partly from the connection between increased independence for the central bank and increased transparency in the policy-making process. The IMF's FSAP review selfassessment, for example, includes a number of questions about central bank independence in the transparency section. An independent central bank will score higher in the review than one that is not independent.

Criticism

According to the Austrian School of Economics, central banking is responsible for the cause of the boom bust economic cycle because central banks set interest rates too low and cause inflation. According to the Austrian Business Cycle Theory, the business cycle unfolds in the following way. Low interest rates tend to stimulate borrowing from the banking system. This expansion of credit causes an expansion of the supply of money, through the money creation process in a fractional reserve banking system. This in turn leads to an unsustainable "monetary boom" during which the "artificially stimulated" borrowing seeks out diminishing investment opportunities. This boom results in widespread malinvestments8
 , causing capital resources to be misallocated into areas that would not attract investment if the money supply remained stable. A correction or "credit crunch9
 " — commonly called a "recession" or "bust"? — occurs when credit creation cannot be sustained. Then the money supply suddenly and sharply contracts when markets finally "clear", causing resources to be reallocated back towards more efficient uses. The main proponents of the Austrian business cycle theory historically were Ludwig von Mises and Friedrich Hayek, both of whom predicted the Great Depression. F.A. Hayek won the Nobel Prize in economics in 1974 based on his elaborations on this theory.


 Summary


1. A central bank, reserve bank, or monetary authority is the entity responsible for the monetary policy of a country or of a group of member states. It is a bank that can lend to other banks in times of need. Its primary responsibility is to maintain the stability of the national currency and money supply, but more active duties include controlling subsidizedloan interest rates, and acting as a lender of last resort to the banking sector during times of financial crisis.

2. The People's Bank of China evolved its role as a central bank starting in about 1979 with the introduction of market reforms in that country.

3. The mail functions of a central bank are implementing monetary policy, controlling the nation's entire money supply, the Government's banker and the bankers' bank, managing the country's foreign exchange and gold reserves and the Government's stock register, regulating and supervising the banking industry, setting the official interest rate — used to manage both inflation and the country's exchange rate — and ensuring that this rate takes effect via a variety of policy mechanisms.

4. A central bank's primary liabilities are the currency outstanding, and these liabilities are backed by the assets the bank owns.

5. Open market operations are the means of implementing monetary policy by which a central bank controls its national money supply by buying and selling government securities, or other financial instruments. Monetary targets, such as interest rates or exchange rates, are used to guide this implementation.

6. Significant power that central banks hold is the ability to establish reserve requirements for other banks.

7. Central banking is responsible for the cause of the boom bust economic cycle because central banks set interest rates too low and cause inflation.

8. International organizations such as the World Bank, the BIS and the IMF are strong supporters of central bank independence.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. intervention　干预

2. crunch　紧缩

3. specie　硬币

4. fiat currency　法定货币

5. IMF (International Monetary Fund)　国际货币基金组织

6. credit crunch　信贷紧缩

7. currency outstanding　货币流通

8. seigniorage　铸币税

9. ad-hoc basis　专责性质

10. collateral　信贷紧缩


 Notes



1. lender of last resort:
 A lender of last resort is an institution willing to extend credit when no one else will.


2. commodity money:
 Commodity money is money whose value comes from a commodity out of which it is made. It is objects that have value in themselves as well as for use as money. Examples of commodities that have been used as mediums of exchange include gold, silver, copper, salt, peppercorns, large stones, decorated belts, shells, alcohol, cigarettes, cannabis, candy, barley etc. These items were sometimes used in a metric of perceived value in conjunction to one another, in various commodity valuation or price system economies.


3. open market operations:
 Open market operations are the means of implementing monetary policy by which a central bank controls its national money supply by buying and selling government securities, or other financial instruments. Monetary targets, such as interest rates or exchange rates, are used to guide this implementation.


4. The Basel Accord(s):
 The Basel Accord(s) or Basle Accord(s) refers to the banking supervision Accords (recommendations on banking laws and regulations), Basel I and Basel II issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS).


5. margin lending:
 In finance, a margin is collateral that the holder of a position in securities, options, or futures contracts has to deposit to cover the credit risk of his counterparty (most often his broker).


6. a single point of failure, (SPOF):
 A Single Point of Failure is a part of a system which, if it fails, will stop the entire system from working. They are undesirable in any system whose goal is high availability, be it a network, software application or other industrial system.


7. boom and bust:
 The term boom and bust refers to a great buildup in the price of a particular commodity or, alternately, the localized rise in an economy, often based upon the value of a single commodity, followed by a downturn as the commodity price falls due to a change in economic circumstances or the collapse of unrealistic expectations.


8. malinvestment:
 Malinvestment is a concept developed by the Austrian School which refers to investment of firms badly allocated, the reason of being an artificially too low cost of credit and an unsustainable rise increase in money supply, often decided the central bank.


9. credit crunch:
 A credit crunch (also known as a credit squeeze or credit crisis) is a reduction in the general availability of loans (or credit) or a sudden tightening of the conditions required to obtain a loan from the banks. A credit crunch generally involves a reduction in the availability of credit independent of a rise in official interest rates. In such situations, the relationship between credit availability and interest rates has implicitly changed, such that either credit becomes less available at any given official interest rate, or there ceases to be a clear relationship between interest rates and credit availability (i.e., credit rationing occurs). Many times, a credit crunch is accompanied by a flight to quality by lenders and investors, as they seek less risky investments (often at the expense of small to medium size enterprises).


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. How do central banks earn money?

2. What is primary responsibility of central bank?

3. What is central bank's primary liability?

4. What is open market operations?

5. What are the functions of legal reserve requirements?

6. What is mean about Ml and M2?

7. Why do central banks establish reserve requirements for other banks?

8. Does the lower interest rate stimulate economy development?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Through open market operations, a central bank influences the money ____ in an economy directly. Each time it buys securities, exchanging money for the security, it _____ the money supply. Conversely, selling of securities lowers the money supply.

2. Central banks generally _____ money by _____ currency notes and "selling" them to the public for interest-bearing assets, such as government bonds.

3. Typically a central bank _____ certain types of short-term interest rates. These _____ the stock and bond markets as well as mortgage and other interest rates.

4. All banks are required to _____ a certain percentage of their assets as capital, a rate which may be _____ by the central bank or the banking supervisor.

5. The mechanism to move the market towards a "target rate" is generally to _____ money or borrow money in theoretically unlimited quantities, until the targeted market rate is sufficiently _____ to the target.

6. Most countries control bank mergers and are wary of concentration in this industry _____ the danger of groupthink and runaway lending bubbles _____ a single point of failure, the credit culture of the few large banks.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．中国人民银行运用的货币政策工具包括准备金率、中央银行基准利率、再贴现率、中央银行贷款、公开市场操作和其他由国务院规定的政策工具。

2．货币政策与银行监管两者的关系是既相互独立，又相互联系。

3．1942年起，中央银行垄断了货币发行，成为中国历史上第一个真正的中央银行。

4．随着银行不良资产绝对数量的增加，央行加强对商业银行提高存款准备金率、加强资产流动性和分散资金风险的管理，以及银行贷款利率空间的扩大，我国商业银行等金融机构推行资产证券化的呼声越来越高。

5．1984年国家将商业银行的职能从中国人民银行中剥离出去，成立了独立的四大国家银行，并决定中国人民银行专门行使国家中央银行的职能，主要控制货币政策，调控各金融机构。

6．每个有完整金融体系的国家都有中央银行，广义而言，中央银行是政府的银行。某些国家的货币制度过去一直是金本位的。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. A central bank's primary responsibility is to maintain the stability of the national currency and money supply, but more active duties include controlling loan interest rates.

2. To enable open market operations, a central bank must hold foreign exchange reserves (usually in the form of government bonds) and official gold reserves.

3. In some countries, central banks may have other tools that work indirectly to limit lending practices and otherwise restrict or regulate capital markets.

4. Central banks' actions affect interest rates, the amount of credit, and the money supply, all of which have direct impacts not only on financial markets but also on aggregate output and inflation.

5. The central bank acts as an adviser to the government, particularly in the area of international finance, many governments rely strongly on the advice of their central banks.

6. In an extraordinary move that reflects the gravity of the financial turmoil, the world's central banks Wednesday announced coordinated interest rate cuts as they try to restore confidence in the economy. The People's Bank of China said that it also lowered its key rates in coordination with the other central banks.


 Reading Materials


The People's Bank of China

History

The People's Bank of China (PBC) was established on December 1, 1948 based on the consolidation of the former Huabei Bank, Beihai Bank and Xibei Farmer Bank. In September 1983, the State Council decided to have the PBC function as a central bank.

The Law of the People's Republic of China on the People's Bank of China passed by the Third Plenum of the Eighth National People's Congress on March 18, 1995 legally confirmed the PBC's central bank status. In March 2003, the First Plenum of the Tenth National People's Congress approved the Decision on Reform of the Organizational Structure of the State Council, separating the supervisory responsibilities of the PBC for the banking institutions, asset management companies, trust and investment companies and other depository financial institutions. Instead, the China Banking Regulatory Commission was established to supervise the financial industry.

On December 27, 2003, the Standing Committee of the Tenth National People's Congress approved at its Sixth Meeting the amendment to the Law of the People's Republic of China on the People's Bank of China, which has strengthened the role of the PBC in the making and implementation of monetary policy, in safeguarding the overall financial stability and in the provision of financial services.

Major Responsibilities

Under the guidance of the State Council, the PBC formulates and implements monetary policy, prevents and resolves financial risks, and safeguards financial stability.

The Law of the People's Republic of China on the People's Bank of China provides that the PBC performs the following major functions: issuing and enforcing relevant orders and regulations; formulating and implementing monetary policy; issuing Renminbi and administering its circulation; regulating inter-bank lending market and inter-bank bond market; administering foreign exchange and regulating inter-bank foreign exchange market; regulating gold market; holding and managing official foreign exchange and gold reserves; managing the State treasury; maintaining normal operation of the payment and settlement system; guiding and organizing the anti-money laundering work of the financial sector and monitoring relevant fund flows; conducting financial statistics, surveys, analysis and forecasts; participating in international financial activities in the capacity of the central bank; performing other functions specified by the State Council.

Institutional Arrangement

Under the leadership of the State Council, the PBC implements monetary policy, performs its functions and carries out business operations independently according to laws and free from intervention by local governments, government departments at various levels, public organizations or any individuals.

The PBC needs to report to the State Council its decisions concerning the annual money supply, interest rates, exchange rates and other important issues specified by the State Council for approval before they are put into effect. The PBC is also obliged to submit work report to the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress on the conduct of monetary policy and the performance of the financial industry. All capital of the PBC is invested and owned by the State.

Management and Organizational Structure

The top management of the PBC is composed of the governor and a certain number of deputy governors. The governor of the PBC is appointed into or removed from office by the President of the People's Republic of China. The candidate for the governor of the PBC is nominated by the Premier of the State Council and approved by the National People's Congress. When the National People's Congress is in adjournment, the Standing Committee of the National People's Congress sanctions the candidacy for the governor of the PBC. The deputy governors of the PBC are appointed into or removed from office by the Premier of the State Council.

The PBC adopts a governor responsibility system under which the governor supervises the overall work of the PBC while the deputy governors provide assistance to the governor to fulfill his or her responsibility. The head office of the PBC is located in Beijing, the nation's capital and consists of 18 functional departments (bureaus):

General Administration Department

Legal Affairs Department

Monetary Policy Department

Financial Market Department

Financial Stability Bureau

Financial Survey and Statistics Department

Accounting and Treasury Department

Payment System Department

Technology Department

Currency, Gold and Silver Bureau

State Treasury Bureau

International Department

Internal Auditing Department

Personnel Department

Research Bureau

Credit Information System Bureau

Anti-Money Laundering Bureau (Security Bureau)

Education Department of the CPC PBC Committee


Chapter 6

The Foreign Exchange Market


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What the foreign market is

• What the foreign exchange rates are

• How to read a currency quote

• What the market orders is

• A strategy of trading currencies

• The types of currency traders

• What the market order is

Introduction

In a universe with a single currency, there would be no foreign exchange market, no foreign exchange rates, no foreign exchange. But in our world of mainly national currencies, the foreign exchange market plays the indispensable role of providing the essential machinery for making payments across borders, transferring funds and purchasing power from one currency to another, and determining that singularly important price, the exchange rate. Over the past twenty-five years, the way the market has performed those tasks has changed enormously.

Presently, there are various kinds of financial market, it is divided into: stock market, interest market (including bond, commercial bill and so on), gold market (including gold, platinum, silver), futures market (including grain, cotton and kapok, oil and so on), option market and foreign exchange market or Forex market and so on. The foreign exchange market is a place to trade foreign exchange currency, or it is also a place for the transaction of all foreign currency.

Foreign Exchange Rates

A foreign exchange rate is the relative value between two currencies. In particular, it is the quantity of one currency required to buy or sell one unit of the other currency. There are two common methods to express a foreign exchange rate. The most widely used method expresses the amount of any currency that is required to buy one U.S. dollar. For example, a foreign exchange quote expressed as USD/CND at 1.4300 means that one U.S. dollar can be exchanged for 1.43 Canadian dollars. Another common way of quoting rates is simply the reverse of the first method. Under this second method, the foreign exchange rate is expressed in terms of the U.S. dollar amount that can be exchanged for one unit of foreign currency. For example, a quote of CND/USD at 0.6700 means that one Canadian dollar can be exchanged for 0.6700 U.S. dollars. Where U.S. dollars are not used to express an exchange rate, the term "cross rate" is usually used to express the relative values between two currencies.

Trade and Investment

Import and export business, people pays one kind of currency when doing business, but when earns another kind of currency when receive the commodity. This means that, when settling account, business people will pay and receive different currencies. Therefore, they must convert the currencies that they received into the currencies that they could buy commodities. With this similar, when buying a foreign property a company must use the concerned country's currency to make payment, therefore, it needs to convert the domestic currency is concerned country's currency.

Basis Points

A foreign exchange rate is generally expressed by way of a whole number integer followed by 4 decimal points. Each such 0.0001 is called a basis point. Hence, if an exchange rate goes from 1.4510 to 1.4560, the currency is said to have changed by 50 basis points.

The Foreign Exchange Market

To invest in other countries or to buy foreign products, firms and individuals may first need to acquire the currency of the country with which they intend to deal with. In addition, exporters may demand to be paid for their goods and services either in their own currency or in U.S. dollars, which are accepted worldwide.

The Foreign Exchange Market, or "Forex" market, is where the majority of buying and selling of world currencies takes place. The Forex market is by far the largest financial market in the world with trading volumes surpassing USD 1.5 trillion on some days. The very large commercial banks are the major traders in this market. The five major centers of Forex trading, are based in London, New York, Zurich, Frankfurt and Tokyo.

The Forex market itself consists of a worldwide network of primarily interbank traders connected by telephone lines and computers. Forex traders constantly negotiate prices between one another and the resulting market bid/ask price for a particular currency is then fed into computers and displayed on official quote screens. Forex exchange rates quoted between banks are referred to as Interbank Rates1
 .

How to Read a Currency Quote

An investor has to understand how to interpret currency quotes and other basic terminology of the forex market before trading currencies with real money. Every foreign exchange transaction involves the simultaneous buying one currency and selling of another. These two currencies make up what is called a "currency pair". An example of an actual forex quote of the dollar-yen exchange rate will make this easier to learn. Example: USD/JPY = 115.53. The currency to the left of the slash ("/") is called the base currency (USD = the U.S. Dollar) and the one on the right is called the quote currency or counter currency (JPY = the Japanese Yen). The way the exchange rate is given means that 1 unit of the base currency (that is, 1 dollar) is equal to 115.53 yen. When buying a currency, the exchange rate specifies how much the buyer has to pay in units of the quote currency to buy one unit of the base currency; in the example above, a day trader would have to pay 115.53 yen to buy 1 U.S. Dollar. When selling, the exchange rate specifies how much units of the quote currency a trader gets for selling one unit of the base currency; in the example above, 115.53 Japanese Yen will be received when 1 U.S. Dollar is sold.

Just like a stock quote, a currency quote is made up of a bid price (or bid) and an ask price (or ask). Look at the example below of a forex quote obtained from the online trading platform:
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The example above shows a bid price of 107.01 yen and an ask price of 107.06 yen [notice that only the last two decimal places of the ask price are displayed in the quote (06 instead of 107.06) — this is because it is understood that since the bid price starts with the numbers 107, these must also be the first three number for the ask price]. The bid is the price at which dealers are willing to buy dollars (base currency) in terms of yen (quote currency) and users of our trading platform can sell dollars in terms of yen. This means that if a currency trader pressed the button labeled "Sell USD," he would sell dollars at 107.01 yen. The ask price, on the other hand, is the price at which currency dealers are willing to sell the base currency (dollars) and traders on our online trading software could buy it. Likewise, by clicking the button labeled "Buy USD," a trader would be buying dollars at 107.06 yen.

Despite the fact that there are a great number of currencies all over the world, about 85% of all daily transactions involve trading a group of leading currencies known as the "Majors." These include the U.S. Dollar, Japanese Yen, Euro, British Pound, Swiss Franc, Canadian Dollar and Australian Dollar. In order of most active to least active, the four most actively traded currency pairs are the U.S. Dollar/Japanese Yen (USD/JPY), Euro/U.S. Dollar (EUR/USD), British Pound/U.S. Dollar (GBP/USD), and the U.S. Dollar/Swiss Franc (USD/CHF). The U.S. Dollar/Canadian Dollar (USD/CAD) and the Australian Dollar/U.S. Dollar (AUD/USD) are also actively traded pairs. For currency traders, the best opportunities are with the most commonly traded (i.e., most liquid) currencies; i.e., the "Majors."

Three quotes below were taken from the live FX trading system. Going from left the following rates are displayed: the Euro-Dollar exchange rate, the British Pound-Dollar exchange rate, and the Dollar-Swiss Franc exchange rate — all quotes of major pairs.
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Example 1
 — Euro-U.S. Dollar Quote: Buying one euro would cost 1.2605 U.S. dollars and selling would provide 1.2601 U.S. dollars.


Example 2
 — British Pound-U.S. Dollar Quote: Buying one British Pound would cost 1.7884 U.S. dollars and selling would provide 1.7879 U.S. dollars.


Example 3
 — U.S. Dollar-Swiss Franc Quote: Buying one Dollar would cost 1.2375 Swiss Francs and selling would provide 1.2370 Swiss Francs.

Market Orders

A market order is an order to buy or sell a currency at the current market price. When placing a market order, the currency trader specifies the currency pair he wants to buy or sell (EUR/USD, USD/JPY, etc.) and the number of lots he is interested in buying or selling. The currency trader will pay the Ask price when buying and the Bid price when selling.

A market order is the easiest and simplest order to place when trading currencies online. With our single-click online currency trading platform, to buy, the trader will simply click a button labeled "BUY" and to sell, a button labeled "SELL." Thus, with a single click of the mouse button, a currency trader can buy and sell currencies almost instantly. When placing a currency market order over the phone, the same situation described above applies. A trader will ask the dealer to buy or sell a specific number of lots of a given currency after obtaining a two-way quote from the dealer.

Limit Orders

A limit is an order to buy or sell a currency at a specified price or better. In a limit order, the currency trader not only specifies which currency he wants to buy or sell, but also at which price he wants to do so. For example, if a trader places an limit order to buy 2 lots of EUR/USD at 1.1310, the order could only be executed at an exchange rate equal to 1.1310 or lower (which is better for a buyer).

When placing a limit order, the trader also specifies the duration for which the order is to remain active while it is not executed. Look at the "Other Order Parameters" section below for more information.

Stop Orders2


The stop order is an order that is activated when a specified price is reached. A stop order becomes a regular market order when the exchange rate reaches a specified level. Stop orders can be used to enter the market on momentum3
 or to limit the potential loss of a position. Stop orders are extremely important in foreign currency trading and should be used by all traders that want to participate in the currency markets. Just like for limit orders, when placing a stop order a trader must specify for how long that order is to remain active.

Example of using a stop order to protect a position: A currency day trader buys 100000 (1 lot) of EUR/USD at 1.1305 in anticipation of an expected 80 pips rally in the euro. In order to protect himself from an unmanageable loss, the trader places a stop loss order 1.1285 (20 pips below the current price). This way, if the euro drops instead of rises against the dollar, the trader's loss is limited to 20 pips ($200).

Example of using a stop order to buy on momentum: A currency trader expects the US dollar to rally versus the Japanese yen, but is hesitant to enter a buy order because the USD/JPY is getting close to a short-term resistance at 118.00. The trader instead places a buy stop order 10 pips above the resistance level. His stop is thus placed at 118.10. Unless the USD/JPY goes to 118.10, the currency trader's order won't be activated. By doing this, the trader is waiting for the USD/JPY resistance level to be broken before entering the trade; in other words, he is waiting for the upward momentum on the dollar versus the yen to be confirmed before buying.

OCO (Once Cancels Other)

An OCO order is the simultaneous placement of two linked orders above and below the current market price. If either one of the orders is executed in the specified time period, the remaining order will automatically be canceled.

Example: The price of the EUR/USD is at 1.1340. A currency trader wants to buy 200000 (2 lots) if the rate breaks the resistance at 1.1395 or wants to sell short if the price breaks the support at 1.1300. The trader can then enter an OCO order made up of a buy stop order at 1.1405 (10 pips above the resistance) and a sell stop order at 1.1290 (10 pips below the support). If the EUR/USD breaks support and gets to 1.1290, the sell stop order will be executed and the buy stop order at 1.1405 will be canceled. If instead the EUR/USD breaks resistance and reaches 1.1405, the opposite will take place.

Other Order Parameters

When placing any type of order (except a market order), a currency trader needs to specify a duration of time for which that order can remain active. If the order is not executed in the specified amount of time, the order is canceled. The two options below are available to customers of Currency Trading USA.

Good Till Canceled (GTC): A GTC order remains active until it is canceled by the currency trader or until the order is executed. It is the trader's responsibility to cancel a GTC order.

End of Day: The order remains active until the end of the trading day (5:00 PM EST), unless it is executed or canceled by the trader.

Trading Currencies with a Strategy

Currency trading or any other type of trading has to be done via a strategy; that is, a set of steps and principles that the day trader or position trader will follow with strict discipline to improve his chances of succeeding. A trading strategy is like the floor plan of a house. The floor plan has to exist before the building begins. Imagine building the house from scratch with no floor plan. What a successful endeavor that will be, right?

Currency Trading is Only For Part of Your Investment Money

In the realm of investing, foreign currency trading could be considered speculation. Only a portion of an investor's portfolio should be earmarked for speculation while the rest should be in long-term, fundamentally sound investments. Therefore, online currency trading should only be done with a part of your entire portfolio (not with all of it).

You Must Limit Your Losses In Currency Trading

If an online currency trader wants to survive in the business, he must learn to limit his losses. This is one of the keys to smart money management. A trader must have a systematic way to limit his losses and must follow his system religiously. By limiting his losses, a currency trader will protect a greater part of his trading capital when he is wrong. This will allow him to stay in the game a lot longer and improve his probability of trading the currency market successfully.

The best way to limit a loss is by using a stop order. The currency trader will set his stop levels depending on the time frame he is trading (tighter for day traders and less restrictive for swing or position traders) and his technical analysis assessment of the currency market. Live account customers of Currency Trading USA will receive free currency trading training that will include the setting of proper stop-loss levels to limit losses.

Know the Trends of the Foreign Currency Market Before Trading

Every currency trader should identify the existing markets trend before trading. The reason for this is that trading in the direction of the existing trend will increase a currency trader's probability of making money. Furthermore, knowing the existing trend will also prepare the trader to take action when a currency changes trend direction.

The currency trader should have answers to questions such as, "What is the long-term trend of the dollar versus the yen?" or "What is the euro doing in the short term versus the dollar?", before jumping into the market. The currency trader should also decide the time frame that he will be using to trade in order to determine which trend will be the most important. For example, a currency day trader should be more concerned with the trend in the very short term, than with the trend for the past year.

Decide What Type of Currency Trader You Will be

Is your goal to trade actively in the short-term, not holding positions for more than a few hours, or do you want to trade occasionally while holding positions for a few days? Your answer to questions like this one will have important implications on the way you should trade currencies. For the most part, a currency day trader should be more concerned with short-term trends and near-term support and resistance levels. A long-term position trader, on the other hand, will nor pay much attention to very short-term fluctuations in currency prices and focus instead on the long-term perspective, as far as trends and technical price levels go. Each of these trading styles requires a different approach to the market and a a different implementation of stop loss levels.

Trade currencies in multiple lots

It is safer to get into a currency position in multiple lots than to do it all at once. Rather than to risk all he's got into one trade, a trader can scale into a position in parts, adding more lots if he is right and risking less if he is wrong.

Lose the urge to trade currencies every day

A common mistake of a beginning currency trader is to force himself every day because of daily goals or excitement. Not all days are good to trade. Sometimes the currency market is not moving or the currencies are in a level where it does not make sense to take a position. If a trader still forces himself to enter a position on that day because of excitement, his chances of losing money increase.

Sometimes day traders also force themselves to trade because they have daily goals to meet. This is not a wise thing to do because the market does not always provide good profit opportunities. A trader who forces himself to trade on that day is like a treasure looking for treasure in a place where no treasure exists. That is the reason that daily goals are dangerous. A trader should look to make whatever the market provides on that day rather than a set money figure.

Stick to your trading plan

Sticking to a logical trading style that a currency trader has studied and practices is essential in currency trading. Many traders get paralyzed by overanalyzing everything and always looking for another magical trading indicator to enhance their current system. This is a frequent reason why many traders don't make money. Sticking to your trading system is a must to build discipline in currency trading.


 Summary


1. The foreign exchange market is a place to trade foreign exchange currency, or it is also a place for the transaction of all foreign currency.

2. A foreign exchange rate is the relative value between two currencies. In particular, it is the quantity of one currency required to buy or sell one unit of the other currency.

3. A foreign exchange rate is generally expressed by way of a whole number integer followed by 4 decimal points. Each such 0.0001 is called a basis point.

4. An investor has to understand how to interpret currency quotes and other basic terminology of the Forex market before trading currencies with real money. Every foreign exchange transaction involves the simultaneous buying one currency and selling of another. These two currencies make up what is called a "currency pair".

5. A market order is an order to buy or sell a currency at the current market price.

6. Currency trading or any other type of trading has to be done via a strategy; that is, a set of steps and principles that the day trader or position trader will follow with strict discipline to improve his chances of succeeding.

7. Every currency trader should identify the existing markets trend before trading. The reason for this is that trading in the direction of the existing trend will increase a currency trader's probability of making money.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. platinum　白金，铂

2. Zurich　苏黎世

3. settling account　结算账户

4. stick　坚持，信守

5. discipline　行为准则，规章制度

6. momentum　动力，势头

7. realm　区域；范围；部门

8. paralyze　使无能为力；使气馁；使瘫痪


 Notes



1. Interbank Rates:
 The rate of interest charged on short-term loans made between banks. Banks borrow and lend money in the interbank market in order to manage liquidity and meet the requirements placed on them. The interest rate charged depends on the availability of money in the market, on prevailing rates and on the specific terms of the contract, such as term length.


2. stop order:
 An order to buy or sell a security when its price surpasses a particular point, thus ensuring a greater probability of achieving a predetermined entry or exit price, limiting the investor's loss or locking in his or her profit. Once the price surpasses the predefined entry/exit point, the stop order becomes a market order. Also referred to as a "stop" and/or "stop-loss order".


3. momentum:
 The rate of acceleration of a security's price or volume. Once a momentum trader sees an acceleration in a stock's price, earnings, or revenues, the trader will often take a long or short position in the stock with the hope that its momentum will continue in either an upwards or downwards direction. This strategy relies more on short-term movements in price rather then fundamental particulars of companies, and is not recommended for novices.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. How many common methods to express a foreign exchange rate?

2. What is usefulness of settling account?

3. How does stop order work?

4. What do you think about single currency system? Is it possible to establish single currency system in the world now?

5. What is limit order?

6. How to make money for many traders through foreign exchange market?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. The currency trader should also decide the time _____ that he will be using to trade in order to determine which trend will be the most important.

2. The bid is the price at which dealers are willing to _____ dollars (base currency) in terms of yen (quote currency) and users of our trading platform can _____ dollars in terms of yen.

3. The order remains active until the end of the trading day (5:00 PM EST), unless it is _____ or canceled by the trader.

4. A GTC order remains active until it is canceled by the currency trader or until the order is executed. It is the _____ responsibility to _____ a GTC order.

5. The Foreign Exchange Market is where the majority of buying and selling of world _____ takes place.

6. When placing a limit order, the trader also specifies the _____ for which the order is to remain active while it is not executed.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．外汇交易市场，也称为“Forex”或“FX”市场，是世界上最大的金融市场，平均每天超过1兆美元的资金在当中周转 —— 相当于美国所有证券市场交易额总和的30倍。

2．“外汇交易”是同时买入一对货币组合中的一种货币而卖出另外一种货币。外汇是以货币对形式交易，例如欧元／美元（EUR/USD）或美元／日元（USD/JPY）。

3．外汇交易市场是一个24小时全球交易市场，市场交易每天从悉尼开始，并且随着地球的转动，全球每个金融中心的营业日将依次开始，首先是东京，然后是伦敦和纽约。

4．外汇交易投资者可以对无论是白天或者晚上发生的经济、社会和政治事件而导致的外汇波动而随时反应。

5．外汇交易市场是一个超柜台（OTC）或“银行内部”交易市场，因为事实上外汇交易是交易双方通过电话或者一个电子交易网络而达成的，外汇交易不像股票和期货交易市场那样，不是集中在某一个交易所里进行的。

6．在外汇交易中，您会看到一个两边的报价，由买价与卖价组成，买价是在此价格上您拟卖掉基础货币（同时买进相反货币）。卖价是这个价格，在此价格上您可以买进基准货币时卖掉相反货币。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The foreign exchange market is a place to trade foreign exchange currency, or it is also a place for the transaction of all foreign currency.

2. A foreign exchange rate is the relative value between two currencies. In particular, it is the quantity of one currency required to buy or sell one unit of the other currency.

3. Where U.S. dollars are not used to express an exchange rate, the term "cross rate" is usually used to express the relative values between two currencies.

4. If an online currency trader wants to survive in the business, he must learn to limit his losses. This is one of the keys to smart money management.

5. It is safer to get into a currency position in multiple lots than to do it all at once.

6. The Forex market itself consists of a worldwide network of primarily interbank traders connected by telephone lines and computers. FX traders constantly negotiate prices between one another and the resulting market bid/ask price for a particular currency is then fed into computers and displayed on official quote screens.


 Reading Materials


Foreign Exchange Spreads

Exchange rates on the Forex market are quoted as two-tier "bid/ask" rates. For example a U.S. dollar/German mark quotation may be expressed as 1.6000/15. The Forex trader who quotes this rate is saying that he is willing to buy marks at 1.600 and is willing to sell marks at 1.6015? The difference between the purchase and the sale rates is called the "spread" and represents the expected profit to the Forex trader on the transaction. The spread on a particular currency may vary widely depending on whether the currency is a weak or a strong currency and its past or anticipated volatility.

Most individuals will not be able to acquire foreign currencies at the quoted Forex rates unless they are licensed Forex traders. Rather, most individuals will acquire foreign currency from a commercial bank which will charge the individual a commission and/or a higher spread than that prevailing in the Forex market so as to enable the bank to make a profit on the transaction.

Why would the demand for a currency increase?

Not surprisingly pretty much the same organizations who caused supply changes will cause demand changes. They are as follows:

1. Import Companies

A British retailer specializing in Chinese merchandise will often have to pay for that merchandise in Chinese yuan
 . So if the popularity of Chinese goods goes up in other countries the demand for Chinese yuan
 will go up as retailers purchase yuan
 to make purchases from Chinese wholesalers and manufacturers.

2. Foreign Investors

As before a German automobile manufacturer wants to build a new plant in Windsor, ON, Canada. To purchase the land, hire construction workers, etc., the firm will need Canadian dollars. So the demand for Canadian dollars will rise.

3. Speculators

If an investor feels that the price of Mexican pesos will rise in the future, she will demand more pesos today. This increased demand leads to an increased price for pesos.

4. Central Bankers

A central bank might decide that its holdings of a particular currency are too low, so they decide to buy that currency on the open market. They might also want to have the exchange rate for their currency decline relative to another currency. So they put their currency on the open market and use it to buy another currency. So Central Banks can play a role in the demand for currency.

Supply and demand are often thought of as being two sides of the same coin. Here we see that this is the case, as in every transaction there is a buyer and a seller, or in other words, a demander and a supplier.

Now we know what agents can cause price changes and for what reasons. We can use our knowledge to analyze what happens in the "real world". An interesting case is the Canadian-to-American exchange rate. Due to the geographical proximity and economic intergration of the two countries the Canadian-to-American exchange rate is often examined. The sharp decline in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the American one is widely discussed in the news, so we'll discuss it now.

An overview of the foreign exchange (Forex) market

The Forex market is a nonstop cash market where currencies of nations are traded, typically via brokers. Foreign currencies are constantly and simultaneously bought and sold across local and global markets and traders' investments increase or decrease in value based upon currency movements. Foreign exchange market conditions can change at any time in response to real-time events.

The main enticements of currency dealing to private investors and attractions for short-term Forex trading are:

• 24-hour trading, 5 days a week with nonstop access to global Forex dealers.

• An enormous liquid market making it easy to trade most currencies.

• Volatile markets offering profit opportunities.

• Standard instruments for controlling risk exposure.

• The ability to profit in rising or falling markets.

• Leveraged trading with low margin requirements.

• Many options for zero commission trading.

Forex trading

The investor's goal in Forex trading is to profit from foreign currency movements. Forex trading or currency trading is always done in currency pairs. For example, the exchange rate of EUR/USD on Aug 26th, 2003 was 1.0857. This number is also referred to as a "Forex rate" or just "rate" for short. If the investor had bought 1000 euros on that date, he would have paid 1085.70 U.S. dollars. One year later, the Forex rate was 1.2083, which means that the value of the euro (the numerator of the EUR/USD ratio) increased in relation to the U.S. dollar. The investor could now sell the 1000 euros in order to receive 1208.30 dollars. Therefore, the investor would have USD 122.60 more than what he had started one year earlier. However, to know if the investor made a good investment, one needs to compare this investment option to alternative investments. At the very minimum, the return on investment (ROI) should be compared to the return on a "risk-free" investment. One example of a risk-free investment is long-term U.S. government bonds since there is practically no chance for a default, i.e., the U.S. government going bankrupt or being unable or unwilling to pay its debt obligation.

When trading currencies, trade only when you expect the currency you are buying to increase in value relative to the currency you are selling. If the currency you are buying does increase in value, you must sell back the other currency in order to lock in a profit. An open trade (also called an open position) is a trade in which a trader has bought or sold a particular currency pair and has not yet sold or bought back the equivalent amount to close the position.

However, it is estimated that anywhere from 70%-90% of the FX market is speculative. In other words, the person or institution that bought or sold the currency has no plan to actually take delivery of the currency in the end; rather, they were solely speculating on the movement of that particular currency.

Exchange rate

Because currencies are traded in pairs and exchanged one against the other when traded, the rate at which they are exchanged is called the exchange rate. The majority of the currencies are traded against the U.S. dollar (USD). The four next-most traded currencies are the euro (EUR), the Japanese yen (JPY), the British pound sterling (GBP) and the Swiss franc (CHF). These five currencies make up the majority of the market and are called the major currencies or "the Majors". Some sources also include the Australian dollar (AUD) within the group of major currencies.

The first currency in the exchange pair is referred to as the base currency and the second currency as the counter or quote currency. The counter or quote currency is thus the numerator in the ratio, and the base currency is the denominator. The value of the base currency (denominator) is always 1. Therefore, the exchange rate tells a buyer how much of the counter or quote currency must be paid to obtain one unit of the base currency. The exchange rate also tells a seller how much is received in the counter or quote currency when selling one unit of the base currency. For example, an exchange rate for EUR/USD of 1.2083 specifies to the buyer of euros that 1.2083 USD must be paid to obtain 1 euro.

At any given point, time and place, if an investor buys any currency and immediately sells it — and no change in the exchange rate has occurred — the investor will lose money. The reason for this is that the bid price, which represents how much will be received in the counter or quote currency when selling one unit of the base currency, is always lower than the ask price, which represents how much must be paid in the counter or quote currency when buying one unit of the base currency. For instance, the EUR/USD bid/ask currency rates at your bank may be 1.2015/1.3015, representing a spread of 1000 pips (also called points, one pip = 0.0001), which is very high in comparison to the bid/ask currency rates that online Forex investors commonly encounter, such as 1.2015/1.2020, with a spread of 5 pips. In general, smaller spreads are better for Forex investors since even they require a smaller movement in exchange rates in order to profit from a trade.

Margin

Banks and/or online trading providers need collateral to ensure that the investor can pay in case of a loss. The collateral is called the margin and is also known as minimum security in Forex markets. In practice, it is a deposit to the trader's account that is intended to cover any currency trading losses in the future.

Margin enables private investors to trade in markets that have high minimum units of trading by allowing traders to hold a much larger position than their account value. Margin trading also enhances the rate of profit, but has the tendency to inflate rates of loss, on top of systemic risk.

Leveraged financing

Leveraged financing, i.e., the use of credit, such as a trade purchased on a margin, is very common in Forex. The loan/leveraged in the margined account is collateralized by your initial deposit. This may result in being able to control USD 100000 for as little as USD 1000.

Five ways private investors can trade in Forex directly or indirectly:

• The spot market

• Forwards and futures

• Options

• Contracts for difference

• Spread betting

A spot transaction

A spot transaction is a straightforward exchange of one currency for another. The spot rate is the current market price, also called the benchmark price. Spot transactions do not require immediate settlement, or payment "on the spot." The settlement date, or "value date," is the second business day after the "deal date" (or "trade date") on which the transaction is agreed to by the two traders. The two-day period provides time to confirm the agreement and arrange the clearing and necessary debiting and crediting of bank accounts in various international locations.

Risks

Although Forex trading can lead to very profitable results, there are risks involved: exchange rate risks, interest rate risks, credit risks, and country risks. Approximately 80% of all currency transactions last a period of seven days or less, while more than 40% last fewer than two days. Given the extremely short lifespan of the typical trade, technical indicators heavily influence entry, exit and order placement decisions.


Chapter 7

Business Financing


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What a business financing is

• What a debt financing is

• What a equity financing is

• How to financing for sole proprietorships

• How to financing for general partnership

• How to financing for corporations

Introduction

A brief overview of the basic types of financing may be helpful to understand which options might be most attractive and realistically available to your particular business. Typically, financing is categorized into two fundamental types: debt financing and equity financing.

Debt financing means borrowing money that is to be repaid over a period of time, usually with interest. Debt financing can be either short-term (full repayment due in less than one year) or long-term (repayment due over more than one year). The lender does not gain an ownership interest in your business and your obligations are limited to repaying the loan. In smaller businesses, personal guarantees1
 are likely to be required on most debt instruments; commercial debt financing thereby becomes synonymous with personal debt financing.

Equity financing describes an exchange of money for a share of business ownership. This form of financing allows you to obtain funds without incurring debt; in other words, without having to repay a specific amount of money at any particular time. The major disadvantage to equity financing is the dilution of your ownership interests and the possible loss of control that may accompany a sharing of ownership with additional investors. Debt and equity financing provide different opportunities for raising funds, and a commercially acceptable ratio between debt and equity financing should be maintained. From the lender's perspective, the debt-to-equity ratio measures the amount of available assets or "cushion" available for repayment of a debt in the case of default. Excessive debt financing may impair your credit rating and your ability to raise more money in the future. If you have too much debt, your business may be considered overextended and risky and an unsafe investment. In addition, you may be unable to weather unanticipated business downturns, credit shortages, or an interest rate increase if your loan s interest rate floats. Conversely, too much equity financing can indicate that you are not making the most productive use of your capital; the capital is not being used advantageously as leverage2
 for obtaining cash. Too little equity may suggest the owners are not committed to their own business. Lenders will consider the debt-to-equity ratio in assessing whether the company is being operated in a sensible, creditworthy manner. Generally speaking, a local community bank will consider an acceptable debt-to-equity ratio to be between 1:2 and 1:1. For startup businesses in particular, the owners need to guard against cash flow3
 shortages that can force the business to take on excess debt, thereby impairing the business's ability to subsequently obtain needed capital for growth.

Debt Financing

Debt financing refers to what we normally think of as a loan. A creditor agrees to lend money to a debtor in exchange for repayment, with accumulated interest, at some future date. The creditor does not obtain any ownership claim in the debtor s business. Debt financing is attractive because you do not have to sacrifice any ownership interests in your business, interest on the loan is deductible, and the financing cost is a relatively fixed expense.

In this discussion, we're going to look at debt financing, including:

• Selecting a bank or conventional lender: what are your options and where are you most likely to obtain the best loan for your business?

• Common types of bank loans: what kinds of loans are available, and what are the practical considerations for small business owners?

• Direct and indirect costs: what are the expenses and demands of a bank loan?

• What banks look for: credit history, collateral, cash flow, and character as they relate to different kinds of small business loans, and the documents you'll need to get a conventional loan.

• Asset-based financing: how accounts receivable and inventory can be used as collateral.

• Leasing: renting can be an alternative way to finance equipment purchases.

• Trade credit4
 : suppliers can often provide an easily available way to supplement conventional borrowing.

• Life insurance companies: your existing policy can be a source for low-interest policy loans.

Equity Financing

Equity financing requires that you sell an ownership interest in the business in exchange for capital. The most basic hurdle to equity financing is finding investors who are willing to buy into your business; however, the amount of equity financing that you undertake may depend more upon your willingness to share management control than upon the investor appeal of the business. By selling equity interests in your business, you sacrifice some of your autonomy and management rights.

The effect of selling a large percentage of the ownership interest in your business may mean that your own investment will be short-term, unless you retain a majority interest in the business and control over future sale of the business. Of course, many small business operators are not necessarily interested in maintaining their business indefinitely, and your personal motives for pursuing a small business will determine the value you place upon business ownership. Sometimes the bottom line is whether you would rather operate a successful business for several years and then sell your interests for a fair profit, or be repeatedly frustrated in attempts at financing a business that cannot achieve its potential because of insufficient capital.

Here are the most common small business options for equity financing:

• forms of business organization — your organizational form influences how willing others will be to invest in your business

• business combinations — cooperative arrangements with other businesses for sharing costs

• venture capital5
 — money and expertise for hot businesses

• SBICs6
 — the government's venture capital businesses

• angels7
 — private investors who want to make money and also help small businesses

• initial public offerings8
 — going public can mean big gains, but it's not for everyone

• alternatives to going public — limited private offerings of ownership interests

• franchising — a shortcut to getting started, but don't expect to run the whole show

• ESOPs9
 — employee stock ownership plans that allow employees to own a piece of the business; can boost production and provide leverage for additional financing.

Forms of Business Organization

The specific types of equity financing available to you are, to some extent, determined by the organizational form of your small business. While your choice of business form or "entity" for your small business involves a wide spectrum of other important issues — such as the degree of personal risk involved in the type of business, tax considerations, and the need to attract good business managers — the following discussion highlights some of the financing considerations associated with different forms of business entities.

• Sole proprietorships are the simplest businesses to form, but equity financing is limited to the owner's assets.

• General partnerships require at least two owners, so equity financing possibilities are greater than in proprietorships.

• Limited partnerships can provide limited liability to some of the owners, if they're not active participants in the business.

• Corporations provide the most flexible possibilities for investors.

• Limited liability companies/limited liability partnerships are relatively new forms of entity that combine favorable tax treatment10
 with limited legal liability for the owners.

Which form is best for you? No formula exists for making the determination of which entity is best for your business. Business combinations are a way of leveraging your business's assets through contractual arrangements with other companies.

Financing Corporations

A corporation is a separate legal entity that can be created only by compliance with state statutes. The business enters into a kind of contract with the state (called a corporate charter) in which the business agrees to abide by the governing state regulations, in return for the state's agreeing to treat the business as a separate legal entity for legal liability and tax purposes.

For many small businesses, incorporation provides the easiest method for raising capital from multiple investors, particularly those investors who are not necessarily interested in actively participating in the business. In some instances, it may be easier to persuade 15 people to invest $5000 than to convince one person to contribute $125000, and a corporation permits this kind of widespread ownership. Several alternative types of corporations may be available for small businesses, including S corporations, close corporations, and C corporations. Each of these types of corporations have different requirements but they all permit equity financing through the sale of stock in exchange for a capital contribution of money or property. Stock comes in a variety of different types and, depending upon your negotiating strength and the interests of your investors, a small business can limit the extent of ownership control being sold by limiting the number of shares for sale and/or the rights associated with each class of stock. Nonvoting shares, preferred shares, redeemable shares, and a variety of hybrid shares are possible.

For example, the sale of either nonvoting shares or a minority percentage of voting shares in a small company could represent an acceptable investment to a family member who doesn't want to be actively involved in the small business and trusts the business judgment of the company's active managers.

Other prospective shareholders, such as venture capitalists and investment "angels," may demand a more active role in exchange for their capital contribution. As a condition of investing, they may even require a public sale of the business within a certain time period in order to ensure a quick return on their investment.

• Advantages of corporations include ease of transfer, limited personal liability for the investors, and a great deal of flexibility in structuring ownership and control over the business.

• Disadvantages of corporations include the expense and administrative burden of maintaining the formalities of corporate structure, double taxation of profits while operating, and double taxation of capital gains upon dissolution.

Financing General Partnerships

A general partnership is an association of two or more parties to operate a business for profit. The partners raise equity funds through their own capital contributions, by adding a new partner, or by restructuring the relative ownership interests of the existing partners to reflect new contributions. Debt financing for general partnerships is similar to financing for sole proprietorships, because the individual creditworthiness of the owners largely determines the business's creditworthiness.

Advantages of a partnership include:

• Inexpensive and simple to form and maintain: partnerships can be relatively cheap and easy to form and maintain. All partnerships should adopt a written partnership agreement, but there is no legal requirement for a contract. No statutory formalities are required nor are there any fees. However, if you choose to do business under an assumed name, registration with state authorities may be required.

• Favorable tax treatment: partners are taxed as individuals, and the partnership itself is not taxed. Each individual partner shares the income and deductions of the business according to the agreed-upon allocation of partnership interests. Because new small businesses frequently experience temporary losses the pass-through tax treatment of a partnership can often benefit a partner by allowing the partner to immediately apply any losses from the business to offset income from other sources.

• Sharing of expertise and risk: partnerships are often formed to take advantage of the different skills and expertise of different persons. In addition, the partners also agree to share the financial and legal risks of the business, thereby spreading the cost of possible losses.

Disadvantages of a partnership include:

• Personal liability: a general partner has unlimited personal liability for business liabilities. Each partner bears personal financial liability for the contract and tort debts of the business. However, this financial exposure can be minimized, to some extent, by purchasing liability insurance.

• Limited transferability of ownership: most partnership arrangements restrict a partner's rights to withdraw from the partnership or to transfer the ownership interests.

• Limited financing options: obtaining financing, especially long-term financing, is often difficult for smaller partnerships. New equity financing is generally limited to increased contributions from existing partners in exchange for a greater ownership percentage, or by adding a new partner, which ordinarily requires the unanimous approval of all existing partners. Debt financing is easier than in a sole proprietorship, but may still be difficult because the business's credit is no better than the credit of each individual partner.

Financing Sole Proprietorships

A sole proprietorship is a single-owner business and the simplest form of business entity. However, a sole proprietorship is also the most restrictive form of organization for equity financing because the equity investment is limited to whatever personal funds you are willing to put into the business. Those funds may be already available in your personal financial portfolio — from simple savings accounts at banks to ownership of commercial real estate — or you may need to borrow more money and contribute those funds as an equity investment in your business. Debt financing for startup sole proprietorships is also typically limited by the amount of personal assets that the entrepreneur has available to pledge as security for a loan. Among the advantages of a sole proprietorship are:

• Exclusive control: you retain sole control over the management and development of your business.

• Cheap and easy to form and maintain: almost no formalities are required to create a sole proprietorship (unless certain licenses are necessary for that type of business) and the administrative costs are minimal. Most states do require that if you operate your business under any name that is not your personal name, you need to file, in the local county where you will do business, a certificate that identifies you as the owner of that business. This certificate allows creditors to locate the people legally responsible for the business's affairs.

• Simple (and often favorable) tax treatment: all income and expenses of the business are included on your personal tax return, usually on Schedule C. In addition, because startup businesses often operate at a loss during an initial period, the losses can be deducted on your personal tax return to offset income you earn from other sources.

Disadvantages of a sole proprietorship include:

• Personal liability: your business is not a separate legal entity and all business debts and liabilities are your personal obligations. You are personally responsible for the business's contracts, taxes, and the misconduct of employees or co-owners who create legal liabilities while acting within their employment. Although personal liability is a risk for sole proprietors, several considerations should be kept in mind. First, insurance may be available to minimize the effects of personal exposure for some of these liabilities. In addition, personal liability for business contracts is common in any form of small business — the situation is not necessarily worse for sole proprietors. To minimize the risks associated with small businesses, customers, landlords, suppliers, and others will often require that the owner assume personal responsibility (sign a personal guarantee) for the business's contract, regardless of the form of your business enterprise.

• Limited financing options: the financing profile of a sole proprietorship is limited to the credit profile of the individual entrepreneur. If you are unwilling, or unable, to sell off any ownership interests in your business, you are the sole source of available equity financing. You may also have a difficult time obtaining debt financing, except to the extent you can pledge personal assets on a secured loan11
 .

Financing Limited Partnerships

A limited partnership is a partnership that requires only one partner to assume personal liability for the business's liabilities (the general partner). There may be more than one general partner. However, there may also be other partners (limited partners) who are passive investors and do not incur personal liability. A limited partnership encourages contributions from investors who might be reluctant to assume the personal liability associated with a general partnership. A limited partner is merely an investor; he or she supplies the capital but is not involved in the day-to-day management of the business. In fact, limited partners are prohibited from becoming actively involved in the on-going management of the business or they forfeit their limited liability. The business must have at least one general partner who is responsible for overseeing operations and for making daily management decisions. For purposes of equity investing, a limited partnership is appealing because an investor has limited personal exposure and does not need to be actively involved in management responsibilities. In the past, limited partnerships were especially popular in certain industries, such as real estate, because of the generous passive loss rules of prior tax laws. The current tax code reduces the appeal of limited partnerships to many investors by restricting passive loss deductions. In addition, the limited partnership's feature of limited liability is available through other entity forms (a corporation, a limited liability company, or a limited liability partnership), and unlike a limited partnership, these alternative entities also allow each participant the option of being actively involved in the business without forgoing their limited liability.

Financing LLCs and LLPs

A limited liability company is a relatively new form of business entity that is now permitted in all states. The LLC is a hybrid between a corporation and a partnership that offers the best of both worlds for some businesses. As with a corporation, the entity can only be created via compliance with state law formalities. The members enjoy limited personal liability for the entity's liabilities. As with a partnership, the members benefit from pass-through (individual) tax treatment; that is, there's no taxation of the business itself, but all income, deductions, credits etc., "pass through" to the individual members and are reported by them on their individual returns.

The features of limited personal liability and partnership tax treatment have made LLCs a very popular form of business entity. The disadvantages of an LLC are the statutory formalities that must be followed and the expenses that accompany compliance with those formalities, as well as several unresolved legal and tax issues (e.g., multistate transactions, whether single-member LLCs are allowed, and conflicts between state LLC laws) .

Limited liability partnerships (LLPs). A limited liability partnership is similar to an LLC in that the LLP permits limited liability for partners and partnership tax treatment; however, unlike an LLC, the LLP is often available only for certain occupations (e.g., professional groups such as attorneys or physicians.) An LLP is formed by a simple registration that indicates that the partnership elects to be treated as an LLP. General partnership law, except as to partner's personal liability for business liabilities, governs the entity. If a partnership can qualify as an LLP, there are few disadvantages to registering as an LLP.

For financing purposes, the limited liability feature of LLCs and LLPs is attractive to investors who might balk at investing in a risky general partnership. Yet unlike a limited partnership, the participants in an LLC and LLP can be actively involved in management of the business.


 Summary


1. Debt financing means borrowing money that is to be repaid over a period of time, usually with interest. Debt financing can be either short-term (full repayment due in less than one year) or long-term (repayment due over more than one year).

2. Equity financing describes an exchange of money for a share of business ownership. This form of financing allows you to obtain funds without incurring debt; in other words, without having to repay a specific amount of money at any particular time.

3. A corporation is a separate legal entity that can be created only by compliance with state statutes.

4. For many small businesses, incorporation provides the easiest method for raising capital from multiple investors, particularly those investors who are not necessarily interested in actively participating in the business.

5. A sole proprietorship is also the most restrictive form of organization for equity financing because the equity investment is limited to whatever personal funds you are willing to put into the business. Debt financing for startup sole proprietorships is also typically limited by the amount of personal assets that the entrepreneur has available to pledge as security for a loan.

6. The partners raise equity funds through their own capital contributions, by adding a new partner, or by restructuring the relative ownership interests of the existing partners to reflect new contributions. Debt financing for general partnerships is similar to financing for sole proprietorships, because the individual creditworthiness of the owners largely determines the business's creditworthiness.

7. For financing purposes, the limited liability feature of LLCs and LLPs is attractive to investors who might balk at investing in a risky general partnership.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. synonymous　同义的

2. cushion　偿债安全余量

3. deductible　可扣除的，可减免的

4. collateral　担保，担保品

5. hurdle　障碍

6. spectrum　范围，系列，幻象

7. autonomy　自主，自治权

8. venture　风险，冒险

9. hybrid　混合物，混合的

10. nonvoting　无表决权

11. pledge　质押，质押品

12. via　通过，经由

13. preferred shares　优先股

14. redeemable shares　可赎回股票

15. nonvoting shares　特别股，但没有投票权，股利和其他种股权相同


 Notes



1. leverage.
 The use of various financial instruments or borrowed capital, such as margin, to increase the potential return of an investment.


2. cash flow.
 A revenue or expense stream that changes a cash account over a given period. Cash inflows usually arise from one of three activities — financing, operations or investing — although this also occurs as a result of donations or gifts in the case of personal finance. Cash outflows result from expenses or investments. This holds true for both business and personal finance.


3. personal guarantees.
 A personal guarantee is a pledge, by someone other than the named borrower that he or she promises to pay any deficiencies on a specific loan. Most guarantee forms require joint and several liability, meaning that each individual who signs a guarantee can be held responsible for the whole amount of the loan.


4. trade credit:
 Trade credit is the generic term for a buyer's purchase of supplies or goods from a seller (supplier) who finances the purchase by delaying the date at which the price is due, or allowing installment payments. Vendors and suppliers are often willing to sell on credit and this source of working capital financing is very common for both startup and growing businesses. Suppliers know that most small business rely primarily upon a limited number of suppliers and that small businesses typically represent relatively small order risks; as long as the supplier keeps a tight rein on credit terms and receivables, most small businesses are a worthwhile gamble for future business.


5. venture capitalists:
 Venture capital ("VC") firms supply funding from private sources for investing in select companies that have a high, rapid growth potential and a need for large amounts of capital. VC firms speculate on certain high-risk businesses producing a very high rate of return in a very short time. The firms typically invest for periods of three to seven years and expect at least a 20 percent to 40 percent annual return on their investment.


6. SBICs:
 The federal government sponsors its own public
 venture capital organization through the Small Business Investment Corporation (SBIC) program. An SBIC is a privately owned and operated small business investment company that partners with the federal government to provide venture capital to small business. Using a combination of private funds and funds borrowed from the federal government, the SBICs provide equity capital, long-term loans (up to 20 years, with a possible 10-year extension), and management assistance to eligible small businesses. Loans and securities for less than five years are unusual and the cost of money on loans and debt securities is regulated by the Small Business Administration.


7. angels:
 A less-formal source for external equity financing is through private investors, called "angels," who are seeking new business investments for a variety of economic and personal reasons. Angels can be a very good source of money if you are looking for outside investors but you are not interested in, or not a likely target for, a venture capital firm. Although angels tend to be less demanding in their financing terms than venture capital firms, you should still exercise great caution in ensuring that your "angel" financier doesn't turn out to be a devil in disguise.


8. initial public offerings:
 The public sale of ownership interests can generate funds for working capital, repayment of debt, diversification, acquisitions, marketing, and other uses. In addition, a successful public offering increases the visibility and appeal of your company, thereby escalating the demand and value for shares of your company. Investors can benefit from an IPO not only because of the potential increase in market value for their stock, but also because publicly-held stock is more liquid and can be readily sold if the business appears to falter or if the investor needs quick cash. The availability of a public market for shares will also help determine the taxable values of the shares and assist in estate transfers.


9. ESOPs:
 An Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) is a qualified retirement benefit plan in which the major investment is securities of the employer's company. In an ESOP, employees can purchase shares of stock in the company by paying cash or by agreeing to reductions from salary or benefits. The employees become part owners of the business and you have additional funds for other business purposes. In addition, the company contributes to the ESOP by either making an annual cash contribution to the plan for the purchase of company securities or by directly contributing stock to the plan. Either way, the company's contribution results in the cash price of the stock being returned to the company. The company gets a tax deduction for the ESOP contribution while effectively retaining the cash.


10. tax treatment:
 A partnership is an unincorporated business with two or more owners. For businesses with more than one owner, the IRS will presume that your business should be taxed as a partnership unless you have incorporated under state law, or you elect to be taxed as a corporation by filing IRS Form 8832, Entity Classification Election
 . A partnership is not a taxable entity under federal law — there is no separate partnership income tax, as there is a corporate income tax. Instead, income from the partnership is taxed to the individual partners, at their own individual tax rates. However, the partnership is required to file a tax return (Form 1065) that reports its income and loss to the IRS, and also reports each partner's share of income and loss on Schedule K-1 of the 1065. For tax purposes, all of the income of the partnership must be reported as distributed to the partners, and they will be taxed on it through their individual returns. This is true whether or not the partners actually received their shares of the income, and even if the partnership agreement requires that the money be retained in the business as partnership capital.


11. secured loan:
 Debt financing can also be secured or unsecured. A secured loan is a promise to pay a debt, where the promise is "secured" by granting the creditor an interest in specific property (collateral) of the debtor. If the debtor defaults on the loan, the creditor can recoup the money by seizing and liquidating the specific property used for collateral on the debt. For startup small businesses, lenders will usually require that both long- and short-term loans be secured with adequate collateral. Because the value of pledged collateral is critical to a secured lender, loan conditions and covenants, such as insurance coverage, are always required of a borrower. You can also expect a lender to minimize its risk by conservatively valuing your collateral and by loaning only a percentage of its appraised value. The maximum loan amount, compared to the value of the collateral, is known as the loan-to-value ratio.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What is mean about debt financing?

2. What is equity financing?

3. Why does company's organizational form influence willing others will be to invest company's business?

4. How many advantages for a partnership?

5. How many disadvantages for a partnership?

6. What is the major disadvantage to equity financing?

7. Why does some one say debt financing is attractive?

8. What are the disadvantages of an LLC?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Equity financing describes an exchange of money for a share of business ownership. This form of financing allows you to obtain funds _____ incurring debt; in other words, without having to repay a specific amount of money _____ any particular time.

2. Financing is categorized _____ two fundamental types: debt financing and equity financing.

3. The effect of selling a large percentage of the ownership interest in your business _____ mean that your own investment will be short-term, _____ you retain a majority interest in the business and control _____ future sale of the business.

4. The business enters _____ a kind of contract with the state (called a corporate charter) in _____ the business agrees to abide by the governing state regulations, in return for the state's agreeing to treat the business as a separate legal entity for legal liability and tax purposes.

5. A limited partnership is a partnership _____ requires only one partner to assume personal liability for the business's liabilities (the general partner).

6. The business must have _____ one general partner who is responsible for overseeing operations and for making daily management decisions.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．企业融资是指企业在发展扩张中筹集所需资金的行为。

2．企业融资是为了满足企业战略调整、产业扩张、现金周转等方面的需要。

3．企业通过融资行为改变资本结构，使资金得以形成、集中、积累、组合，同时形成相应的产权关系和权利、责任、利益格局。

4．内部融资来自公司的自有资金，以及在生产经营过程中的资金积累部分，在公司内部通过计提折旧而形成现金，或通过留用利润等增加公司资本。

5．债权性融资主要有向金融机构贷款和发行企业债券两种形式。

6．目前国内企业在进行投资时采用的融资方式有股权性融资、债权性融资等。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. If you have too much debt, your business may be considered overextended and risky and an unsafe investment.

2. Debt financing is attractive because you do not have to sacrifice any ownership interests in your business, interest on the loan is deductible, and the financing cost is a relatively fixed expense.

3. A corporation is a separate legal entity that can be created only by compliance with state statutes.

4. The partners raise equity funds through their own capital contributions, by adding a new partner, or by restructuring the relative ownership interests of the existing partners to reflect new contributions.

5. Equity financing requires that you sell an ownership interest in the business in exchange for capital.

6. The major disadvantage to equity financing is the dilution of your ownership interests and the possible loss of control that may accompany a sharing of ownership with additional investors.


 Reading Materials


Financing Through Franchising

Franchising "is the transfer of the right to sell a trademarked product or service through a system prescribed by a" franchisor, "who owns the trademark. Franchising has been one of the fastest growing areas of new business development during the last 15 years and there are currently over half a million franchise businesses in the U.S. While traditional franchise businesses such as gasoline stations, auto dealers, and soft drink bottlers continue to grow, the most rapidly expanding industries for franchises are service businesses involving recreation and leisure activity and business services.

Franchise arrangements are usually either: (1) product and trade name franchises or (2) business format franchises. The former involves product distribution arrangements within a specified geographic territory. For example, a gas station can be a product and trade name franchise. A business format franchise includes not only a product and trade name, but also operating procedures such as facility design, accounting and bookkeeping procedures, employee relations, quality assurance standards, and the overall image and appearance of the business. For instance, restaurants and convenience stores are often business format franchises.

• For the franchisee, franchising is a way to reduce the risks of a new business by buying into an established product or concept.

• For the franchisor, franchising is a way to expand your business more quickly, by sharing some of the costs, risks, and rewards with franchisees.

For the Franchisee

A primary advantage of franchising is that you can reduce the risks associated with a new business by buying into an existing business that has established goodwill and a marketable reputation. While purchasing a franchise may often be a more expensive way to start a business, franchises can also provide a "blueprint" for business operations that's especially valuable if you don't have much experience in the type of business you want to start.

The conventional wisdom is that franchised businesses have a much greater likelihood of success than independently started firms. However, some recent studies have reached an opposite conclusion. It's probably safest to say that the jury is still out on this one.

Franchising is a form of capital financing, and franchisors may offer financing assistance in securing fixed assets and occasionally even working capital. For example, where real estate and building costs are high, the franchisor may be able to secure financing because of its creditworthiness or by use of a real estate limited partnership. The franchisor would then lease the property to the franchisee. A franchisor may also sign a guarantee or assume other contingent liability on loans or leases made directly between a third party and the franchisee. Less direct methods of financing assistance can take the form of the franchisor's subordination of certain claims to franchisee lenders or assistance in preparing loan packages for commercial lenders. Nonetheless, while franchisors can assist in financing, you should be aware that startup costs with franchises may run from $25000 to $500000 or more, depending upon the particular franchise and the nature of the business. Professional service franchises, such as tax preparation, usually are significantly less expensive than, for instance, hotels or gas stations.

Franchise Disclosures

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) provides some protection against franchisor abuses by requiring certain disclosures at least 10 days prior to a franchisee's execution of a franchise agreement. The disclosure must include the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of other franchisees; an audited financial statement of the franchisor's business; background information on the officers of the franchisor; a statement of estimated costs for setting up and operating the franchise; and the respective responsibilities of the franchisee and the franchisor. If you don't get the disclosure or are uncomfortable with what it says, we recommend you delay signing any contracts until you are satisfied.

Franchise Fees

The costs of franchising include a variety of fees and contributions typically required by the franchisor in exchange for the assistance and experience of the franchisor. Usually an initial franchise fee or license fee will be required. The fee may be a lump sum or may be payable in installments. Interest varies and is often nonrefundable. Other fees may be assessed for training costs (tuition, room, board, and transportation) and on-site startup assistance and promotions, advertising (2 percent to 8 percent of gross sales), periodic royalties (4 percent to 6 percent of gross sales), or fees. These fees are typically tied to a percentage of sales and payable weekly or monthly. Royalties usually represent the cost of using trade names and commercial symbols, as well as any trade secrets, patents, or other intellectual property rights, and advertising contributions (often payable monthly or weekly, based upon a percentage of sales). If bookkeeping is centralized, separate accounting and processing fees may be assessed.

Additional payments for equipment, supplies, property, and beginning inventory may be required. Note that "initial fees" do not generally include product inventory or equipment downpayments.

For the Franchisor

Some entrepreneurs may begin their business with the intent of franchising their operations; other businesses may elect to franchise an existing business because it has been so successful. For franchisors, franchising is a means of equity financing in which the franchisor "sells off" expansion rights in the business. In return, the franchisor typically receives an initial franchise fee, service fees, equipment sale or lease fees, and royalties.

The advantage of this form of financing is that the franchisor passes on much of the cost of expansion to the franchisee, thereby permitting much faster growth in a wider geographic market. This is particularly true when the startup costs of a new facility entail high capital expenditures.

Disadvantages of franchising are the unique development and overhead costs associated with franchising, the heightened legal risks from vicarious liability for the acts of franchisee operations, increased regulatory costs, and a dilution of ownership.

If you think that your business is a good prototype for similar businesses in other locations, we recommend that you establish at least a couple of other sites yourself. If the expansion is successful for at least a year, talk to a good franchise attorney about testing the waters by selling one or two franchises. Contrary to popular opinion, slow and steady growth is the best route to success in franchising.


Chapter 8

Financial Statements


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What function the financial statements have

• The structure and items of balance sheet

• The structure and items of income statement

• How to read and analyze balance sheet

• How to read and analyze income statement

Introduction

Financial statements paint a picture of the transactions that flow through a business. Each transaction or exchange — for example, the sale of a product or the use of a rented a building block — contributes to the whole picture. Let s approach the financial statements by following a flow of cash-based transactions. In the illustration below, we have numbered four major steps:

1. Shareholders and lenders supply capital (cash) to the company.

2. The capital suppliers have claims on the company. The balance sheet is an updated record of the capital invested in the business. On the right-hand side of the balance sheet, lenders hold liabilities1
 and shareholders hold equity. The equity claim is "residual", which means shareholders own whatever assets2
 remain after deducting liabilities. The capital is used to buy assets, which are itemized on the left-hand side of the balance sheet. The assets are current, such as inventory, or long-term, such as a manufacturing plant.

3. The assets are deployed to create cash flow in the current year. Selling equity and issuing debt start the process by raising cash. The company then "puts the cash to use" by purchasing assets in order to create (build or buy) inventory. The inventory helps the company make sales (generate revenue), and most of the revenue is used to pay operating costs, which include salaries.
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4. After paying costs (and taxes), the company can do three things with its cash profits. One, it can (or probably must) pay interest on its debt. Two, it can pay dividends to shareholders at its discretion. And three, it can retain or reinvest the remaining profits. The retained profits increase the shareholders' equity account (retained earnings3
 ). In theory, these reinvested funds are held for the shareholders, benefit and reflected in a higher share price. This basic flow of cash through the business introduces two financial statements: the balance sheet and the statement of cash flows. It is often said that the balance sheet is a static financial snapshot taken at the end of the year.

Balance Sheet

A balance sheet, also known as a "statement of financial position", reveals a company's assets, liabilities and owners, equity (net worth). It, together with the income statement, makes up the cornerstone of any company's financial statements. If you are a shareholder of a company, it's important that you understand how the balance sheet is structured and how to read it.

How It Works

The balance sheet is divided into two parts that, based on the following equation, must equal each other: assets = liabilities + owners' equity. This means that assets, or the means of production, are balanced by a company's financial obligations and the amount of money available to finance its operations.

Assets are what a company uses for its production process, while liabilities are obligations to be paid to outside parties. Owners' equity, referred to as shareholders, equity in a publicly traded company, is the amount of money initially invested into the company plus any retained earnings, and represents the source of the business's funding.

A balance sheet represents a specific period of time (usually one day) and is most commonly calculated on the last day of a company's fiscal year, Dec 31.

Types of Assets

Current Assets

Three types of assets are included in the balance sheet: current assets, fixed assets and intangible assets. Current assets have a life span of one year or less, meaning they can easily be converted into cash. Such assets are cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and inventory. All are short-term, highly liquid assets that can easily be converted into cash and used as currency.

Cash, the most fundamental of current assets, also includes non-restricted bank accounts and checks. Cash equivalents are stocks and other money market instruments such as U.S. Treasuries that can be quickly changed into money.

Accounts receivable are the short-term obligations owed to the company from clients. Accounts receivable for a company selling a good could expect to receive monthly installments from its clients, while accounts receivable for a company offering a service could be in the form of monthly subscription fees.

Finally, inventory represents the amount of materials currently available for production. If the firm is manufacturing a product, the inventory is divided into three different stages: raw materials, work-in-progress (WIP) and finished goods. Inventory for businesses that sell retail will consist of products purchased from the manufacturer and yet to be sold to the public.

Long-term Assets

Long-term assets, also known as fixed assets, have a life span of over one year. They can refer to tangible assets such as machinery, computers, buildings and land. Depreciation is calculated and deducted from these types of assets. Long-term assets can also be intangible assets, such as a website domain, or a patent or copyright. While these assets are not physical in nature, they are often the resources that can make or break a company — the value of a brand name, for instance, should not be underestimated.

Types of Liabilities

On the other side of the balance sheet are the liabilities. These are the financial obligations a company owes to outside clients. Like assets, they can be both current and long-term. Long-term liabilities are debt that has more than a year's maturity. Current liabilities are typically paid within one year or less, and are therefore paid with current assets. Because current assets pay for current liabilities, the ratio between the two is important: a company should have enough of the former to cover the latter. Current liabilities include such items as dividends payable, accounts payable (what the company owes to suppliers for buying raw materials or retail products on credit), interest payments on long-term debt and taxes payable.

Owners' Equity

Owners' equity is the initial amount of money invested into a business. If, at the end of the fiscal year, a company decides to reinvest its net earnings (after taxes) into the company, the retained earnings will be restated from the income statement onto the balance sheet here. The sum of the two figures represents a company's total net worth. In order for the balance sheet to balance, total assets on one side have to equal total liabilities plus owners' equity on the other. Here's an example, demonstrating this balance between assets and liabilities plus net worth.


Balance Sheet for XYZ Company


As of Dec 31, 2005
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Reading the Balance Sheet

When we look at the balance sheet we need to know how to assess the numbers. Financial ratios can be calculated from the balance sheet, and these help the investor understand the state of liquidity and growth potential of the company in question.

One example is the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities), which reveals a company's ability to pay its short-term obligations. In the above example the ratio is 1.5, showing us that XYZ Company is not only liquid but also healthy enough to pay off its debts without taking out a loan. It also shows us that the company is financing itself through a larger amount of reinvested earnings rather than through debt. When comparing companies in the same industry, the investor can determine which company is the best investment. When compared against the industry's average, a lower ratio may indicate possible liquidity problems.

Another useful ratio is leverage (long-term debt/total net worth), which displays how assets are financed by the company, that is, whether by debt or retained earnings. If a company has a high amount of leverage, or debt, it may be a sign that the company will have difficulty finding any future financing and is therefore headed towards bankruptcy.

Income Statement

While the balance sheet states a company's assets and liabilities, the income statement (IS), also referred to as a profit and loss statement4
 (P&L), shows a company's revenues and expenses for a given period of time. The income statement divulges a company's profitability, which reflects the company's performance and how much income can be reinvested into the company or passed onto investors in the form of dividends.

The Items

The income statement covers a specific period of time. It is usually released every financial quarter, and at the end of the fiscal year (FY). The more detailed the statement is, the more transparency to the user. In a standard income statement, the components are listed in such a way that each line tells the user where the company stands financially, depending on what item is being calculated.

Whether it's because of the way a company defines a certain transaction, or because of the nature of the industry in question, income statements will vary in the amount of information they detail. However, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)5
 — which are accounting standards companies are encouraged to maintain — ensure that income statements from year to year or from different companies can be compared. In order to understand the income statement, let's define the most essential items as they are listed:

• Sales — This is the total financial amount earned by the company through revenues and sales of its goods and/or services.

• Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) — This figure is the amount of money it cost the company to produce the goods or services sold. This includes the cost of raw materials, manufacturing and labor (but not salaries). COGS is subtracted from sales in order to arrive at the gross profit. Good management will strive to keep the COGS at a minimum, without compromising the quality of goods and services sold.

• Gross Profit — After subtracting COGS from sales, you will have the gross profit, which tells the user how much the company has made from its core operations. The higher the gross profit, the more money available for reinvestment into the company for research and development (R&D), marketing, expansion, other investments and dividends paid to the investor. Increased investment into R&D, for example, could eventually lead to a reduction in COGS over the long run. It's important for an investor to understand the source of the gross profit. A diminishing gross profit could be the result of poor management not taking advantage of cheaper suppliers, for example, or a reduction in sales due to oversupply in the market. An increase in sales, on the other hand, could be a sign of increased demand due to the seasonality of a product (e.g. umbrellas during the rainy season).

• General Operating Expenses — General operating expenses include research and development, marketing, salaries and/or rent. Any normal expense incurred in the day-to-day operations of the company falls under this category.

• Depreciation — Depreciation is the annual amount deducted from tangible assets (such as heavy machinery used in the production of goods), representing the life span of the machine in question. The idea is that the usefulness of a machine lessens with use over the years, and therefore becomes a loss from the initial value of the machine upon its purchase. There are different ways to calculate depreciation.

• Operating Income — After subtracting the general operating costs and the depreciation from the gross profit, we arrive at the operating income. This represents income received from core operations, minus the cost of day-to-day functions and the loss accumulated on tangible assets. Operating income is important for investors because it shows if a company's working base is profitable. A low operating income can raise questions over whether too much is being spent on marketing or on salaries, or whether the equipment is being misused, resulting in a higher rate of depreciation than necessary.

• Other Income — Revenues that don't stem from the core operations of the business are considered other income. This includes items such as capital gains (or losses) made from investments, foreign currency exchange or income from the rental of properties. And while some of this income may be received regularly (e.g., from yearly dividends), it is still considered other income because it is outside main business activities. Other income (or loss) is added or subtracted to/from operating income for determining EBIT (see below).

• Extraordinary Income — This income is often bulked together with other income, but can be seen separately as well, because it represents profits or losses that do not occur on a regular, or even yearly basis. An example may be the expenses caused by a natural disaster or the costs incurred due to a network malfunction as a result of an Internet virus. Depending on whether it is a profit or a loss, extraordinary income is either added or subtracted from operating income to get EBIT (see below).

• Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) — If a company does not have other and/or extraordinary incomes for a particular year, then EBIT will be the same as operating income. Either way, EBIT shows the investor a company's ability to pay interest expenses (such as on bonds or bank loans) with the income it has made for the year.

• Interest Expense — Interest expense is the amount the company has to pay on debt owed. This could be to bondholders or to banks. Interest expense subtracted from EBIT equals net earnings.

• Net Profit Before Taxes (NPBT) — This figure is calculated because often companies will postpone payment on taxes. As such, the amount that a company has to use to pay taxes for that specific period of time is the NPBT.

• Taxes — This refers to income taxes, which all companies must pay. It is usually a percentage of income generated, and therefore will vary from year to year. This amount is deducted from NPBT, in order to get to Net Profit After Taxes (NPAT).

• Net Profit After Taxes (NPAT) — This is the money that is left over after all other duties have been paid. It is a key figure for shareholders because it reveals the company's final income that can be distributed to shareholders and/or reinvested for future growth.

• Dividends Paid to Shareholders — If a company decides to distribute dividends for a particular year, the amount is stated here. This amount is deducted from NPAT.

• Retained Earnings — Retained earnings are what's left after dividends are paid. This money is either used for future business ventures or invested back into the company for growth purposes. If a company pays dividends, it's considered to be "income orientated". If it uses its NPAT for reinvestment into the company, it is considered "growth orientated". Either way, it is important for an investor to understand a company's policies and goals to make sure that net earnings are being used in a satisfactory way.

Sample Income Statement

Now let's take a look at a sample income statement for company XYZ for FY ending 2007 and 2008 (expenses are in parentheses):


Income Statement For Company ABC


FY 2007-2008
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Now that we understand the IS, we can deduce from the above example that between the years 2007 and 2008, the company managed to increase sales, while proportionately reducing COGS. And while general operating expenses may have increased, this could be a reflection of the company not paying dividends in 2007, opting instead to use its retained earnings to reinvest in the company in the form of research and development, which in turn paid off in bigger sales.

We can also see that interest earned increased over the year, suggesting a stronger capital market, or better or increased investments made by the company. Interest expenses remained stable, indicating that a loan with fixed interest is being repaid. Income taxes, which are stated at 10 per cent, increased with the rise in profit over the year.

By the end of FY 2008, the company realized a growth in net profit of 50 per-cent! This may have influenced the company's income-orientated decision to share its profits with shareholders in 2008, after realizing substantial benefits from its previous year's reinvestment/growth-orientated decision.


 Summary


1. Financial statements paint a picture of the transactions that flow through a business.

2. A balance sheet, also known as a "statement of financial position", reveals a company's assets, liabilities and owners' equity (net worth).

3. The balance sheet is divided into two parts that, based on the equation: assets = liabilities + owners' equity. A balance sheet represents a specific period of time (usually one day) and is most commonly calculated on the last day of a company's fiscal year, Dec 31. Three types of assets are included in the balance sheet: current assets, fixed assets and intangible assets. On the other side of the balance sheet are the liabilities. These are the financial obligations a company owes to outside clients. Owners' equity is the initial amount of money invested into a business.

4. When we look at a balance sheet from year to year, we can detect the growth potential and value of the company. It shows us how profits are used to finance the company's operations, and if the company has enough cash for growth. Among other things, it also reveals if inventory levels are stagnant or active, if debt is being paid and finally, what the cash value would be to shareholders in the case of bankruptcy, which is basically the value of current assets as they can easily be converted into cash.

5. The income statement (IS), also referred to as a profit and loss statement (P&L), shows a company's revenues and expenses for a given period of time.

6. The income statement covers a specific period of time. It is usually released every financial quarter, and at the end of the fiscal year (FY).

7. When an investor understands an income statement, he or she can identify the source of a company's income. (For example, is it core operations, or outside investments?) After answering such questions, the investor can analyze the financial health of the company and make more sound investment decisions.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. Shareholders　股东

2. balance sheet　资产负债表

3. liabilities　负债

4. inventory　存货

5. cash flow　现金流量

6. operating costs　经营

7. retained earnings　留存收益

8. statement of cash flows　现金流量表

9. income statement　利润表

10. Shareholders' equity　股东权益

11. current assets　流动资产

12. fixed assets　固定资产

13. intangible assets　无形资产

14. cash and cash equivalents　现金及现金等价物

15. accounts receivable　应收账款

16. liquid　流动性

17. stocks　股票

18. U.S. Treasuries　美国债券（国库券）

19. tangible assets　有形资产

20. depreciation　折旧

21. patent　专利权

22. long-term liabilities　长期负债

23. current liabilities　流动负债

24. accounts payable　应付账款

25. current ratio　流动比例

26. debt　负债

27. leverage　杠杆

28. bankruptcy　破产

29. profit and loss statement　损益表

30. revenues　收入，费用

31. expenses　费用

32. dividends　股利

33. quarter　季度

34. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)　公认会计准则

35. Cost of Goods Sold (COGS)　销售成本

36. Research and Development (R&D)　研究与开发

37. capital gains　资本收益

38. Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)　息税前利润

39. bonds　债券

40. Net Profit After Taxes (NPAT)　税后净利润


 Notes



1. liability:
 A company's legal debts or obligations that arise during the course of business operations. These are settled over time through the transfer of economic benefits including money, goods or services.


2. asset:
 1. A resource having economic value that an individual, corporation or country owns or controls with the expectation that it will provide future benefit. 2. A balance sheet item representing what a firm owns.


3. retained earnings:
 The percentage of net earnings not paid out as dividends, but retained by the company to be reinvested in its core business or to pay debt. It is recorded under shareholders' equity on the balance sheet.

Calculated by adding net income to (or subtracting any net losses from) beginning retained earnings and subtracting any dividends paid to shareholders:

Retained Earnings = Beginning RE + Net Income - Dividends also known as the "retention ratio" or "retained surplus".


4. profit and loss statement:
 A financial statement that summarizes the revenues, costs and expenses incurred during a specific period of time — usually a fiscal quarter or year. These records provide information that shows the ability of a company to generate profit by increasing revenue and reducing costs. The P&L statement is also known as a "statement of profit and loss", an "income statement" or an "income and expense statement".


5. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP):
 The common set of accounting principles, standards and procedures that companies use to compile their financial statements. GAAP are a combination of authoritative standards (set by policy boards) and simply the commonly accepted ways of recording and reporting accounting information.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. In what section of the balance sheet would one find patents and trademarks?

2. Which depreciation method bases depreciation expense for a given period on actual use?

3. Which financial statement is prepared as of a particular date rather than for a period ending on a particular date?

4. Who has the primary responsibility for the financial statements?

5. At what value is land used in a business shown on the balance sheet?

6. Which of the following results from using the LIFO method of inventory cost flows during a period of inflation?

7. What reflects the net tax effects of the temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes?

8. What is the cost of a fixed asset less its accumulated depreciation?

9. How are held-to-maturity securities reported on the balance sheet?

10. How many types of inventories does a manufacturing firm list on its balance sheet?

11. What does the FIFO inventory method assume about the first units purchased?

12. What does a company record when it receives a cash payment for services before it performs the services?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by _____.

2. Financial statements must be prepared in accordance with _____.

3. The annual depreciation expense using the double-declining-balance method is equal to _____.

4. Financial instruments that derive their value from an underlying asset or index are called _____.

5. Accounts receivable are reported on the balance sheet at their _____.

6. The book value of property, plant, and equipment is the _____.

7. The reporting of inventory values at the lower of cost or market reflects the accounting principle or convention of _____.

8. Financial instruments that derive their value from an underlying asset or index are called _____.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．公司财务报表既反映了公司的财务状况，同时也是公司经营状况的综合反映。因此，通过分析公司财务报表，就能对公司财务状况及整个经营状况有个基本的了解。

2．分析公司财务报表可以掌握反映公司经营状况的一系列基本指标和变化情况，了解公司经营实力和业绩，并将它们与其他公司的情况进行比较，从而对公司的内在价值作出基本的判断。

3．按有关规定，上市公司应将其中期财务报表（上半年的）和年度财务报表公开发表。这样，一般投资者可从有关报刊上获得上市公司的中期和年度财务报表。

4．公司中期报表较为简单，年度报表则较为详细，但上市公司的各种财务报表至少应包括两个基本报表，即资产负债表和利润及利润分配表。

5．资产负债表是一张静态报表，反映了该报表截止时间时公司的资金来源及分布状况。对该表的基本分析内容包括了解分析公司当时的财务结构、经营能力、盈利水平和偿债能力。

6．对财务状况的分析不能静态地看一个数据或一张报表的内容，而应将各种财务数据结合起来综合分析才能看出问题的实质。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The significance of transparent, timely and reliable financial statements and its importance to investor protection has never been more apparent.

2. If a company fails to provide meaningful disclosure to investors about where it has been, where it is and where it is going, a damaging pattern ensues.

3. The bond between shareholders and the company is shaken; investors grow anxious; prices fluctuate for no discernible reasons; and the trust that is the bedrock of our capital markets is severely tested.

4. When we look at the balance sheet we need to know how to assess the numbers. Financial ratios can be calculated from the balance sheet, and these help the investor understand the state of liquidity and growth potential of the company in question.

5. A balance sheet, also known as a "statement of financial position", reveals a company's assets, liabilities and owners' equity (net worth).

6. The income statement covers a specific period of time. It is usually released every financial quarter, and at the end of the fiscal year (FY).


 Reading Materials


Cash Flow Statement

Complementing the balance sheet and income statement, the cash flow statement (CFS), a mandatory part of a company's financial reports since 1987, records the amounts of cash and equivalents entering and leaving a company. The CFS allows investors to understand how a company's operations are running, where its money is coming from, and how it is being spent. Here you will learn how the CFS is structured and how to use it as part of your analysis of a company.

The Structure of the CFS

The cash flow statement is distinct from the income statement and balance sheet because it does not include the amount of future incoming and outgoing cash that has been recorded on credit. Therefore, cash is not the same as net income, which, on the income statement and balance sheet, includes cash sales and sales made on credit. Cash flow is determined by looking at three components by which cash enters and leaves a company: core operations, investing and financing.

Operations

Measuring the cash inflows and outflows caused by core business operations, the operations component of cash flow reflects how much cash is generated from a company's products or services. Generally, changes made in cash, accounts receivable, depreciation, inventory and accounts payable are reflected in cash from operations.

Cash flow is calculated by making certain adjustments to net income by adding or subtracting differences in revenue, expenses and credit transactions (appearing on the balance sheet and income statement) resulting from transactions that occur from one period to the next. These adjustments are made because non-cash items are calculated into net income (income statement) and total assets and liabilities (balance sheet). So, because not all transactions involve actual cash items, many items have to be reevaluated when calculating cash flow from operations.

For example, depreciation is not really a cash expense; it is an amount that is deducted from the total value of an asset that has previously been accounted for. That is why it is added back into net sales for calculating cash flow. The only time income from an asset is accounted for in CFS calculation is when the asset is sold.

Changes in accounts receivable on the balance sheet from one accounting period to the next must also be reflected in cash flow. If accounts receivable decrease, this implies that more cash has entered the company from customers paying off their credit accounts — the amount by which AR has decreased is then added to net sales. If accounts receivable increase from one accounting period to the next, the amount of the increase must be deducted from net sales because, although the amounts represented in AR are revenue, they are not cash.

An increase in inventory, on the other hand, signals that a company has spent more money to purchase more raw materials. If the inventory was paid with cash, the increase in the value of inventory is deducted from net sales. A decrease in inventory would be added to net sales. If inventory was purchased on credit, an increase in accounts payable would occur on the balance sheet, and the amount of the increase from one year to the other would be deducted from net sales.

The same logic holds true for taxes payable, salaries payable and prepaid insurance. If something has been paid off, then the difference in the value owed from one year to the next has to be subtracted from net income. If there is an amount that is still owed, then any differences will have to be added to net earnings.

Investing

Changes in equipment, assets or investments relate to cash from investing. Usually cash changes from investing are a "cash out" item, because cash is used to buy new equipment, buildings or short-term assets such as marketable securities. However, when a company divests of an asset, the transaction is considered "cash in" for calculating cash from investing.

Financing

Changes in debt, loans or dividends are accounted for in cash from financing. Changes in cash from financing are "cash in" when capital is raised, and they're "cash out" when dividends are paid. Thus, if a company issues a bond to the public, the company receives cash financing. However, when interest is paid to bondholders, the company is reducing its cash.

Analyzing an Example of a CFS

Let's take a look at this CFS sample:
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From this CFS, we can see that the cash flow for FY 2003 was $1492000. The bulk of the positive cash flow stems from cash earned from operations, which is a good sign for investors. It means that core operations are generating business and that there is enough money to buy new inventory. The purchasing of new equipment shows that the company has cash to invest in inventory for growth. Finally, the amount of cash available to the company should ease investors' minds regarding the notes payable, as cash is plentiful to cover that future loan expense.

Of course, not all cash flow statements look this healthy, exhibiting a positive cash flow. But a negative cash flow should not automatically raise a red flag without some further analysis. Sometimes, a negative cash flow is a result of a company's decision to expand its business at a certain point in time, which in fact would be a good thing for the future. This is why analyzing changes in cash flow from one period to the next gives the investor a better idea of how the company is performing, and whether or not a company may be on the brink of bankruptcy or success.

Tying the CFS with the Balance Sheet and Income Statement

As we have already discussed, the cash flow statement is derived from the income statement and the balance sheet. Net earning from the income statement is the figure from which the information on the CFS is deduced. As for the balance sheet, the net cash flow in the CFS from one year to the next should equal the increase or decrease of cash between the two consecutive balance sheets that apply to the period that the cash flow statement covers. (For example, if you are calculating a cash flow for the year 2000, the balance sheets from the years 1999 and 2000 should be used.)

Conclusion

A company can use a cash flow statement to predict future cash flow, which helps with matters in budgeting. For investors, the cash flow reflects a company's financial health: basically, the more cash available for business operations, the better. However, this is not a hard and fast rule. Sometimes a negative cash flow results from a company's growth strategy in the form of expanding its operations.

By adjusting earnings, revenues, assets and liabilities, the investor can get a very clear picture of what some people consider the most important aspect of a company: how much cash it generates and, particularly, how much of that cash stems from core operations.


Chapter 9

Investments


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What the investment is

• What the financial assets are

• What the investment process is

• What the investment risks are

• The investment decisions

Introduction

The term investing can cover a wide range of activities. It often refers to investing money in certificates of deposit, bonds, common stocks, or mutual funds. More knowledgeable investors would include other "paper" assets, such as warrants, puts and calls, futures contracts, and convertible securities, as well as tangible assets, such as gold, real estate, and collectibles. Investing encompasses very conservative positions as well as aggressive speculation. Whether your perspective is that of a college graduate starting out in the workplace or that of a senior citizen concerned with how to live after retirement, investing decisions can be very important to you. An investment can be defined as the commitment of funds to one or more assets that will be held over some future time period. The field of investments, therefore, involves the study of the investment process. Investments is concerned with the management of an investor's wealth, which is the sum of current income and the present value of all future income. (Therefore, present value and compound interest concepts have an important role in the investment process.) Although the field of investments encompasses many aspects, it can be thought of in terms of two functions analysis and management. In this text, the term investments refer in general to financial assets and in particular to marketable securities. Financial assets are paper (or electronic) claims on some issuer, such as the federal government or a corporation; on the other hand, real assets are tangible assets such as gold, silver, diamonds, art, and real estate. Marketable securities are financial assets that are easily and cheaply tradable in organized markets. Technically, investments include both financial and real assets, and both marketable and nonmarketable assets. Because of the vast scope of investment opportunities available to investors, our primary emphasis is on marketable securities; however, the basic principles and techniques discussed in this test are applicable to real assets. Even when we limit our discussion primarily to financial assets, it is difficult to keep up with the proliferation of new products. Two such assets that did not exist a few years ago are junk bonds and stock-index futures. Junk bonds became a $200 billion market by the end of the 1980s before undergoing a severe crisis and subsequent rebound, whereas stock-index futures have grown at such a rate that their trading often impacts the stock market significantly.

A Perspective on Investing in Financial Assets

The investment of funds in various assets is only part of the coverall financial decision making and planning that most individuals must do. Before investing, each individual should develop an overall financial plan. Such a plan should include the decision on whether to purchase a house, which for most individuals represents a major investment. In addition, very important decisions must be made about insurance of various types — life, health, disability, and protection of business and property. Finally, the plan should provide emergency reserve funds.

We invest to make money! Although everyone would agree with this statement, we need to be more precise. We invest to improve our welfare. We assume that investors are interested only in the monetary benefits to be obtained from investing, as opposed to such factors as the psychic income to be derived from impressing one's friends with one's financial prowess.

Funds to be invested come from assets already owned, borrowed money, and savings or foregone consumption. By forgoing consumption today and investing the savings, investors expect to enhance their future consumption possibilities by increasing their wealth. Investors also seek to manage their wealth effectively, obtaining the most from it while protecting it from inflation, taxes, and other factors. To accomplish both objectives, people invest. We now live in a global economy, where the economic fortunes of both businesses and investors are increasingly intertwined. Global competition is so intense that it has caused major changes in many industries — for example, the U.S. auto industry. Almost 70 percent of Coca-Cola's revenues are derived from international sales, and it distributes its products in more than 195 companies. One estimate is that between 1990 and 1993. Motorola's sales of phones and pages to China increased sevenfold and accounted for 5 percent of total revenues. U.S. investors clearly can no longer ignore international financial markets because foreign financial assets are readily available and offer the possibility of either higher returns or lower risk, or both, compared to a portfolio of only domestic financial assets. Nor would they want to. Although international investing was not born in 1993, it seems that way to many investors. That was certainly the year to invest abroad, and almost everyone who did had large returns, with an average of perhaps 40 percent and a downside of 20 percent. Some investors made 80 percent or more on their money in that one year. Relative to the U.S. stock market, 39 of 40 principle foreign markets performed better. This was not a one-year phenomenon. From 1988 through 1993, the average compound rate return for eight major Asian markets was approximately double that of the primary measure of U.S. stock return.

U.S. investors also cannot ignore capital flows from abroad into domestic financial markets. Foreign capital inflows to the United States averaged over $580 billion annually fro much of the 1980s and over $65 billion annually for the first few years of the 1990s. The future of foreign markets appears bright, and many investment advisors recommend that typical investor allocated some percentage of his or her portfolio to foreign stocks. Thus, in studying investments, we must consider foreign markets as well as the U.S. investment environment. We will do so throughout this text as an integral part of the discussion, rather than analyzing foreign markets in a separate chapter. Though the details may vary, the principles of investing are applicable to financial assets and financial markets wherever they exist. As noted above, investors invest to make money!

Understanding the Investment Process

An organized view of the investment process involves analyzing the basic nature of investment decisions, dividing the activities in the decision process, and examining the major factors in the investors operating environment that affect their investing decisions. Common stocks have produced, on average, significantly larger returns over the years than savings accounts or bonds. Should not all investors invest in common stocks and realize these larger returns? The answer to this question is that to pursuer these higher returns investors must assume larger risks. Underlying all investment decisions is the tradeoff between return and risk. Therefore, we first consider these two basic parameters that are of critical importance to all investors and the tradeoff that exists between them.

Giving the foundation for making investment decisions — the tradeoff between expected return and risk — we next consider the decision process in investments as it is typically practiced today. Although numerous separate decision must be made, for organizational purposes this decision process has traditionally been divided into a two-step process, security analysis and portfolio management. Security analysis involves the valuation of securities, whereas portfolio management involves the management of an investor's investment selections as a portfolio, with its own unique characteristics. Finally, we consider major external factors that affect today's investors as they made investing decisions.

The Basis of Investment Decisions

Why invest? Stated in simplest terms, investors wish to earn a return on their money. Cash has an opportunity cost. By holding cash, you forego the opportunity to earn a return on that cash. Furthermore, in an inflationary environment, the purchasing power of cash diminishes, with high rates of inflation bringing a relatively rapid decline in purchasing power.

In investments it is critical to distinguish between an expected return (the anticipated return for some future period) and a realized return (the actual return over some past period). Investors invest for the future — for the return they expect to earn — but when the investing period is over, they are left with their realized returns. What investors actually earn from their holdings may turn out to be more or less than what they expected to earn when they initiated the investment. This point is the essence of the investments process: investors must always consider the risk involved in investing.

Risk investors would like their returns to be as large as possible; however, this objective is subject to constraints, primary risk. In 1982 the stock market had a very good year, with total returns in excess of 20 percent on a broad cross-section of common stocks. Nevertheless, several professionally managed funds managed to lose money that year. As this example shows, marketable securities offering variable returns across time are risk. The investment decision, therefore, must always be considered in terms of both risk and return. The two are inseparable.

Common Stock

Stock is sometimes referred to as shares, securities or equity. Simply put, common stock is ownership in part of a company. For every stock you own in a company, you own a small piece of the office furniture, company cars, and even that lunch the boss paid for with the company credit card. More importantly, you are entitled to a portion of the company's profits and any voting rights attached to the stock. With some companies, the profits are typically paid out in dividends. The more shares you own, the larger the portion of the company (and profits) you own. Common stock is just that, "common". The majority of stocks trading today are in this form. Common stock represents ownership in a company and a portion of profits (dividends). Investors also have voting rights (one vote per share) to elect the board members who oversee the major decisions made by management. In the long term, common stock, by means of capital growth, yield higher rewards than other forms of investment securities. This higher return comes at a cost, as common stock entails the most risk. Should a company go bankrupt and liquidate, the common shareholders will not receive money until the creditors, bondholders and preferred shareholders are paid.

Objectives and Risks

Over the long term, no investment provides better returns at a reasonable risk than common stock. History dictates that common stocks average 11%-12% per year and outperform just about every other type of security including bonds and preferred shares. Stocks provide potential for capital appreciation and income and offer protection against moderate inflation. The risks associated with stocks can vary widely, and they usually depend on the company. Purchasing stock in a well-established and profitable company means there is much less risk you'll lose your investment, whereas purchasing a penny stock1
 increases your risks substantially. If you use margin2
 , you can also dramatically increase your leverage3
 in a stock, but this is only recommended for experienced investors.

How to Buy or Sell It

The most common method for buying stocks is to use a brokerage, either full service or discount. There is no minimum investment for most stocks (other than the price per share), but many brokerages require clients to have at least $500 to open an account. Dividend reinvestment plans (DRIPs) and direct investment plans (DIPs) are two ways individual companies allow shareholders to purchase stock directly from them for a minimal cost. DRIPs are also a great way to invest money at regular intervals. Top traders and salespeople seem to do best on Wall Street. A "junior" bond trader on Wall Street can earn $300 to $400000 or more, while an experienced bond trader can earn in the neighborhood of $750000. A bond salesperson who sells to institutional investors can earn $200000 or more if relatively in experienced and $600000 to $700000 if experienced.

Mutual Funds

Are you someone who wants to invest (or already does), but doesn't want to bother deciphering a company's numbers and deciding whether or not the stock is a good buy? Or are you someone who finds the risk and volatility of the stock market stomach-turning?

If this describes your personality, you are a prime candidate for mutual funds. A mutual fund is simply a large group of people who lump their money together and give it to a management company to invest it on their behalf. A mutual fund manager proceeds to buy a number of stocks from various markets and industries. Depending on the amount you invest, you own a part of the overall fund.

Objectives and Risks

For the most part, investors should buy mutual funds as a long-term investment. The nice thing about mutual funds is that the objectives change from fund to fund. Each mutual fund has a different strategy — it is your job to decide what your objectives are and which fund best suits those objectives. Mutual fund strategies include growth/aggressive, low risk, balanced, momentum, and many others.

Your risk tolerance4
 will play a big role in determining which fund you purchase — it all comes down to the old risk/return tradeoff. For example, if your fund is meant for retirement, then perhaps a low-risk money market fund is best for you. Many funds justify their under-performance as a factor of risk. For example, a mutual fund might fall short of beating the S&P 500, but at the same time it offers a beta5
 (risk) that is much less than that of the market. If you are willing to sacrifice some performance in return for a good night's sleep, then these "low-risk" funds are a good option.

How to Buy or Sell It

There are thousands of different mutual funds out there. Most of them can be purchased directly through the mutual fund company, a bank, a brokerage or a financial planner. The commissions on mutual funds can vary widely depending on the company and the style of the fund. A load mutual fund charges you for the shares bought, plus a sales fee. A no-load fund6
 sells its shares without a commission7
 or sales charge, but management fees can be higher.

Corporate Bond

Similar to a mortgage with a bank, bonds are an issue by a borrower to a lender. When you buy a corporate bond, you are loaning your money to a corporation for a predetermined period of time (known as the maturity). In most cases, the bond's par value8
 is $1000. This is the face value of the bond and the amount the lender will be repaid once the bond matures.

Of course, you're not going to loan your money for free. The borrower must also pay you a premium, known as a "coupon9
 ", at a predetermined interest rate in exchange for using your money. These interest payments are usually made every six months until maturity is reached.

There are three important factors you need to consider before buying a bond. The first is the person issuing the bond. The second is the interest (or coupon) you will receive. The third is the maturity date, the day when the borrower must pay back the principal to the lender.

Objectives and Risks

Corporate bonds offer a slightly higher yield because they carry a higher default risk10
 default risk than government bonds. Corporate bonds are not the greatest for capital appreciation, but they do offer an excellent source of income, especially for retirees. Corporate bonds are also highly useful for tax-deferred retirement savings accounts, which allow you to avoid taxes on the semiannual interest payments.

The risks associated with corporate bonds depend entirely on the issuing company. Purchasing bonds from well-established and profitable companies is much less risky than purchasing bonds from firms in financial trouble. Bonds from extremely unstable companies are called junk bonds and are very risky because they have a high risk of default.

How to Buy or Sell It

Corporate bonds can be bought through a full service or discount broker, a commercial bank? or other financial intermediaries. The best time to buy a corporate bond is when interest rates are relatively high.

Convertible Security

A convertible, sometimes called a CV, is either a convertible bond or a preferred stock11
 convertible. A convertible bond is a bond that can be converted into the company's common stock. You can exercise the convertible bond and exchange the bond into a predetermined amount of shares in the company. The conversion ratio12
 can vary from bond to bond. You can find the terms of the convertible, such as the exact number of shares or the method of determining how many shares the bond is converted into, in the indenture13
 . For example, a conversion ratio of 40:1 means that every bond (with a $1000 par value) you hold can be exchanged for 40 shares of stock. Occasionally, the indenture might have a provision that states the conversion ratio will change through the years, but this is rare. Convertibles typically offer a lower yield than regular bonds because there is the option to convert the shares into stock and collect the capital gain14
 . However, should the company go bankrupt, convertibles are ranked the same as regular bonds, so you have a better chance of getting some of your money back than those people holding common stock.

Objectives and Risks

Convertibles are an excellent choice for investors looking for capital appreciation, while still protecting their original investment in a bond. While CVs do provide some income, it's not very high. Investors give up higher returns on the bond in exchange for the option to convert into shares at a later date.

One risk associated with convertibles is that most are callable. In other words, the company can force convertible bondholders to convert the bonds to common stock by calling the bonds. This is called "forced conversion15
 ". When investing in convertibles, remember that the CV is only as good as the underlying stock, and if the CV is offering a high premium, be very wary.

How to Buy or Sell It

The most common method for buying stocks is to use a brokerage, either full service or discount. The minimum investment for a convertible is typically $1000 — the price of one bond. Convertible preferred stock trades on the stock market like regular shares, so the prices usually range from $5 to around $100.


 Summary


1. The term investing can cover a wide range of activities. It often refers to investing money in certificates of deposit, bonds, common stocks, or mutual funds. More knowledgeable investors would include other "paper" assets, such as warrants, puts and calls, futures contracts, and convertible securities, as well as tangible assets, such as gold, real estate, and collectibles.

2. The investment of funds in various assets is only part of the coverall financial decision making and planning that most individuals must do.

3. In studying investments, we must consider foreign markets as well as the domestic investment environment.

4. An organized view of the investment process involves analyzing the basic nature of investment decisions, dividing the activities in the decision process, and examining the major factors in the investors operating environment that affect their investing decisions.

5. In investments it is critical to distinguish between an expected return (the anticipated return for some future period) and a realized return (the actual return over some past period).


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. brokerage　佣金费用

2. certificates of Deposit (CD)　（定期）存单

3. discount　贴现

4. real estate　不动产

5. mutual Funds　共同基金

6. volatility　波动性

7. rosy　美好的，乐观的

8. warrant　认股权证

9. forego　放弃，摒绝

10. diminishes　减小，缩减

11. liquidate　清理，清算

12. outperform　超越市场表现

13. decipher　解释

14. lump　把全部（赌注）压在；把……弄成一团

15. momentum　动力，契机

16. indenture　契据，正式凭单

17. wary　谨慎的，小心翼翼的


 Notes



1. penny stock:
 A stock that sells for less than $1 per share but may also rise to as much as $10 per share as a result of heavy promotion. All penny stocks are traded over the count (OTC). Penny stocks are highly speculative and risky. Many brokerages don't cover them simply because they are so difficult to track and predict.


2. margin:
 Borrowed money that is used to purchase securities. This practice is referred to as "buying on margin". The amount of equity contributed by a customer as a percentage of the current market value of the securities held in a margin account. In a general business context, the difference between a product's (or service's) selling price and the cost of production. The portion of the interest rate on an adjustable-rate mortgage that is over and above the adjustment-index rate. This portion is retained as profit by the lender.


3. leverage:
 The use of various financial instruments or borrowed capital, such as margin, to increase the potential return of an investment. The amount of debt used to finance a firm's assets. A firm with significantly more debt than equity is considered to be highly leveraged. Leverage helps both the investor and the firm to invest or operate. However, it comes with greater risk. If an investor uses leverage to make an investment and the investment moves against the investor, his or her loss is much greater than it would've been if the investment had not been leveraged — leverage magnifies both gains and losses. In the business world, a company can use leverage to try to generate shareholder wealth, but if it fails to do so, the interest expense and credit risk of default destroys shareholder value.


4. risk tolerance:
 The degree of uncertainty that an investor can handle in regards to a negative change in the value of their portfolio. An investor's risk tolerance varies according to age, income requirements, financial goals, etc. For example, a 70-year old retired widow would generally have a lower risk tolerance than a single 30-year old executive.


5. beta:
 Measure of the volatility, or systematic risk, of a security or a portfolio in comparison to the market as a whole. Also known as "beta coefficient".


6. no-load fund:
 A mutual fund whose shares are sold without a commission or sales charge. The reason for this is that the shares are distributed directly by the investment company, instead of going through a secondary party. This is the opposite of a load fund, which charges a commission upon the initial purchase at the time of sale.


7. commission:
 A service charge assessed by an agent in return for arranging the purchase or sale of a security or real estate. The commission must be fair and reasonable, considering all the relevant factors of the transaction. Commissions vary widely from broker to broker.


8. par value:
 The face value of a bond. A dollar amount that is assigned to a security when representing the value contributed for each share in cash or goods. The par values for different fixed income products will vary. Bonds generally have a par value of $1000 while most money market instruments have higher par values. Stocks will typically have a par value of $0.01 or none at all.


9. coupon:
 The interest rate stated on a bond when it's issued. The coupon is typically paid semiannually. This is also referred to as the "coupon rate" or "coupon percent rate".


10. default risk:
 The risk that companies or individuals will be unable to pay the contractual interest or principal on their debt obligations.


11. preferred stock:
 A class of ownership in a corporation with a stated dividend that must be paid before dividends to common stock holders. Preferred stock does not usually have voting rights.


12. conversion ratio:
 The number of common shares received at the time of conversion for each convertible security. It is calculated by using this formula:
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13. indenture:
 A contract between an issuer of bonds and the bondholder stating the time period before repayment, amount of interest paid, if the bond is convertible (and if so, at what price or what ratio), if the bond is callable and the amount of money that is to be repaid.


14. capital gain:
 An increase in the value of a capital asset (investment or real estate) that gives it a higher worth than the purchase price. The gain is not realized until the asset is sold. A capital gain may be short term (one year or less) or long term (more than one year) and must be claimed on income taxes.


15. forced conversion:
 The occurrence of an issuer of a convertible security exercising the right to call the issue, forcing investors to convert their securities into the predetermined number of shares.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. Stocks are also referred to as?

2. Which type of stock typically pays a higher dividend, but whose share price appreciates slower?

3. Is LEAP stock market?

4. What is the fundamental thing that drives stock prices?

5. If someone is considered to be bearish, where do they think the stock market is heading?

6. What do we call a market order that executes after a specified price level has been reached?

7. Historically, what asset has always performed the best over the long term?

8. Does preferred stock holder can get more benefits than common stock holder?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Risk investors would like their returns to be _____ possible; however, this objective is subject to constraints, primary risk.

2. In 1982 the stock market had a very good year, with total returns _____ excess of 20 percent on a broad cross-section of common stocks. Nevertheless, several professionally managed funds managed to lose money that year. As this example shows, marketable securities offering variable returns _____ time are risk.

3. The investment decision, therefore, must always be considered in _____ both risk and return.

4. The risks associated _____ stocks can vary widely, and they usually depend on the company. Purchasing stock in a well-established and profitable company means there is _____ less risk you'll lose your investment, whereas purchasing a _____ stock increases your risks substantially.

5. If you use margin, you can also dramatically increase your leverage in a stock, but this is only recommended _____ experienced investors.

6. We assume that investors are interested only in the monetary benefits to be obtained _____ investing, as opposed to such factors _____ the psychic income to be derived from impressing one's friends with one's financial prowess.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．组合投资原则，即将风险资金按一定比例投向不同行业、不同企业（项目），或联合几个风险投资公司共同向一家企业投资。

2．风险投资主体多元化原则。在美国，风险资金来源相当广泛，既有政府、财团法人的资金，也有来自大众游资、民间企业和海外的投资，还有养老保险基金的积极参与。

3．创业投资是由专业投资者投入到新兴的、迅速发展的、有巨大竞争潜力的企业中的一种股权性资本。

4．随着社会经济的快速发展，如何投资、如何理财已经成为商业人士关注的焦点。

5．创业投资以其谋求长期资本收益、分散投资及专业化管理的特点适应了高新技术产业的资金需求，以其特别的投资方式、合同方式和组织架构部分地解决了信息不对称和激励约束不当所带来的问题。

6．投资者可把目光聚焦到正在发售的银行保本基金上，这种在国际市场上大受欢迎的新型理财品种不但能够提供银行储蓄般的安全感，而且可以利用此次利率上升的机会创造更高的收益；同时，加息导致债券价格下跌，实际上提高了即将入市的银行保本基金的债券投资收益率。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. A bull market is when everything in the economy is great, people are finding jobs, GDP is growing, and stocks are rising. Things are just plain rosy! Picking stocks during a bull market is easier because everything is going up.

2. Bull markets cannot last forever though, and sometimes they can lead to dangerous situations if stocks become overvalued.

3. If a person is optimistic, believing that stocks will go up, he or she is called a "bull" and said to have a "bullish outlook."

4. In investments it is critical to distinguish between an expected return (the anticipated return for some future period) and a realized return (the actual return over some past period). Investors invest for the future — for the return they expect to earn — but when the investing period is over, they are left with their realized returns.

5. What investors actually earn from their holdings may turn out to be more or less than what they expected to earn when they initiated the investment. This point is the essence of the investments process: investors must always consider the risk involved in investing.

6. There are three important factors you need to consider before buying a bond. The first is the person issuing the bond. The second is the interest (or coupon) you will receive. The third is the maturity date, the day when the borrower must pay back the principal to the lender.


 Reading Materials


Investing

Why are you investing? It's OK if you have many different answers for this question, but there is a big problem if you have no answer at all. Investing is like driving — it is best done with your eyes open! Joking aside, having clear reasons or purposes for investing is critical to investing successfully. Like training in a gym, investing can become difficult, tedious and even dangerous if you are not working toward a goal and monitoring your progress. In this article we examine some common reasons for investing and suggest investments that fit those reasons.

Retirement

No one knows whether the pension system will survive the coming decades. It is this uncertainty and the reality of inflation that forces us to plan for our own retirement. You need only open the newspaper to find out about a company that is freezing pensions or a new bill that will cut government payouts. In these uncertain times, investing can be a tool to help you carve out a solid path to retirement. There are three maxims that apply to investing for your post-work years:

1. The more years there are between today and your retirement, the more years your money has to grow. You have to keep in mind that you are fighting inflation when you are planning to retire. In other words, if you don't invest your money to outpace inflation, it won't be worth as much in the future.

2. The older you are when you start, the more risk averse you will have to be. This means that you will likely use guaranteed investments such as debt securities, which have lower returns. By contrast, if you start young, you can take larger risks for (hopefully) larger gains.

3. The earlier you start learning about investing, the easier it will be to pick it up. Financial professionals are difficult to choose and costly to keep, so it is best to manage your own affairs whenever possible.

Investing for retirement is similar to long-term investing. You want to find quality investment vehicles to buy and hold with the majority of your investment capital. Your retirement portfolio will actually be a mix of stocks, debt securities, index funds and other money market instruments. This mix will change as you do, moving increasingly toward low-risk guaranteed investments as you age.

Achieving Financial Goals

You don't always have to think long-term. Investing is as much a tool for shaping your present financial situation as it is for forming your future one. Do you want to buy a BMW next year? Want to go on a cruise from Seattle to Morocco? Wouldn't a vacation that was paid for with dividends feel nicer?

Investing can be used as a way to enhance your employment income, helping you to buy the things you want. Because investing changes along with the investor's desired goals, this type of investing is not like retirement investing. Investing to achieve financial goals involves a blend of long-term and short-term investments. If you are investing in the hope of buying a house, you will almost certainly be looking at longer-term instruments. If you are investing to buy a new computer in the New Year, you may want short-term investments that pay dividends or some high-yield bonds.

The caveat here is that you need to pinpoint your goals first. If you want to go on a vacation in a year, you have to sit down and figure out the cost of the vacation in total and then come up with an investing strategy to meet that goal. If you don't have a set goal, the money that should be going into that investment will doubtless be used for other purposes that seem more pressing at the time (Christmas presents, a night out, and so on).

Investing to achieve financial goals can be very exciting and challenging. Combining the pressure of time constraints with the fact that you're not usually dealing with large sums of vital money (as in retirement investing), you may be less risk averse and more motivated to learn about higher yield investments (growth stocks, shorting, etc.). Best of all, there is a tangible reward at the end.

Reasons Not to Invest

Just as there are two main reasons to invest, there are two big reasons not to invest: debt or a lack of knowledge. In the first case, it is a simple matter of math. Imagine that you have a $1000 loan at 9% interest, and you get a $1000 dollar bonus. Should you invest it or should you pay down the debt? Short answer: pay down the debt. If you invest it, the money has to make a return of well over 9% (not counting commissions and fees) to make it worthwhile. It can be done, but it is much easier to find good returns on investment without having to fight losses on your debt. There are different kinds of debt — credit card, mortgage, student loans, loan sharks — and they carry different degrees of weight when you are considering whether or not to invest in spite of them. When it comes to lack of knowledge, it is a matter of "fools rush in where angels fear to tread", Throwing your money haphazardly into investments that you don't understand is a sure way to lose it quickly. Returning to the exercise analogy, you don't walk into a gym and squat 500 pounds your first day (unless having kneecaps bothers you). In other words, your introduction to investing should follow the same incremental process as weight training.

Conclusion: Allowing for Change

Your reasons for investing are bound to change as you go through the ups and downs of life. This is an important process because the only other option is to invest with no purpose, which will likely result in investing practices that reflect your uncertainty and cause your returns to suffer. Your reasons and goals will have to be reviewed and adjusted as your circumstances change. Even if nothing significant has changed, it is always helpful to reacquaint yourself with your reasons at regular intervals to see how you've progressed. Like running on a treadmill, investing gets easier and easier once you actually start.


Chapter 10

Bond Basics


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What a bond is

• The characteristics of a bond

• What the yield and price of a bond

• The types of bonds

• The risk of investing bonds

• How to read a bond table

• How to buy bonds

Introduction

The first thing that comes to most people's minds when they think of investing is the stock market. After all, stocks are exciting. The swings in the market are scrutinized in the newspapers and even covered by local evening newscasts. Stories of investors gaining great wealth in the stock market are common. Bonds, on the other hand, don't have the same sex appeal. The lingo seems arcane and confusing to the average person. Plus, bonds are much more boring — especially during raging bull markets, when they seem to offer an insignificant return compared to stocks. However, all it takes is a bear market to remind investors of the virtues of a bond's safety and stability. In fact, for many investors it makes sense to have at least part of their portfolio invested in bonds. This text will hopefully help you determine whether or not bonds are right for you. We'll introduce you to the fundamentals of what bonds are, the different types of bonds and their important characteristics, how they behave, how to purchase them, and more. Bonds have a number of characteristics of which you need to be aware. All of these factors play a role in determining the value of a bond and the extent to which it fits in your portfolio.

Face Value/Par Value

The face value (also known as the par value or principal) is the amount of money a holder will get back once a bond matures. A newly issued bond usually sells at the par value. Corporate bonds normally have a par value of $1000, but this amount can be much greater for government bonds.

What confuses many people is that the par value is not the price of the bond. A bond's price fluctuates throughout its life in response to a number of variables (more on this later). When a bond trades at a price above the face value, it is said to be selling at a premium. When a bond sells below face value, it is said to be selling at a discount.

Coupon (The Interest Rate)

The coupon is the amount the bondholder will receive as interest payments. It's called a "coupon" because sometimes there are physical coupons on the bond that you tear off and redeem for interest. However, this was more common in the past. Nowadays, records are more likely to be kept electronically. As previously mentioned, most bonds pay interest every six months, but it's possible for them to pay monthly, quarterly or annually. The coupon is expressed as a percentage of the par value. If a bond pays a coupon of 10% and its par value is $1000, then it'll pay $100 of interest a year. A rate that stays as a fixed percentage of the par value like this is a fixed-rate bond. Another possibility is an adjustable interest payment, known as a floating-rate bond. In this case the interest rate is tied to market rates through an index, such as the rate on Treasury bills. You might think investors will pay more for a high coupon than for a low coupon. All things being equal, a lower coupon means that the price of the bond will fluctuate more.

Maturity

The maturity date is the date in the future on which the investor's principal will be repaid. Maturities can range from as little as one day to as long as 30 years (though terms of 100 years have been issued). A bond that matures in one year is much more predictable and thus less risky than a bond that matures in 20 years. Therefore, in general, the longer the time to maturity, the higher the interest rate. Also, all things being equal, a longer term bond will fluctuate more than a shorter term bond.

Issuer

The issuer of a bond is a crucial factor to consider, as the issuer's stability is your main assurance of getting paid back. For example, the U.S. government is far more secure than any corporation. Its default risk (the chance of the debt not being paid back) is extremely small — so small that U.S. government securities are known as risk-free assets. The reason behind this is that a government will always be able to bring in future revenue through taxation. A company, on the other hand, must continue to make profits, which is far from guaranteed. This added risk means corporate bonds must offer a higher yield in order to entice investors — this is the risk/return tradeoff1
 in action. The bond rating system helps investors determine a company's credit risk. Think of a bond rating as the report card for a company's credit rating. Blue-chip firms, which are safer investments, have a high rating, while risky companies have a low rating. The chart below illustrates the different bond rating scales from the major rating agencies in the U.S.: Moody's, Standard and Poor's and Fitch Ratings.
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Notice that if the company falls below a certain credit rating, its grade changes from investment quality to junk status. Junk bonds are aptly named: they are the debt of companies in some sort of financial difficulty. Because they are so risky, they have to offer much higher yields than any other debt. This brings up an important point: not all bonds are inherently safer than stocks. Certain types of bonds can be just as risky, if not riskier, than stocks.

Yield, Price and Other Confusion

Understanding the price fluctuation of bonds is probably the most confusing part of this lesson. In fact, many new investors are surprised to learn that a bond's price changes on a daily basis, just like that of any other publicly-traded security. Up to this point, we've talked about bonds as if every investor holds them to maturity. It's true that if you do this you're guaranteed to get your principal back; however, a bond does not have to be held to maturity. At any time, a bond can be sold in the open market, where the price can fluctuate — sometimes dramatically. We'll get to how price changes in a bit. First, we need to introduce the concept of yield.

Measuring Return with yield

Yield is a figure that shows the return you get on a bond. The simplest version of yield is calculated using the following formula: yield = coupon amount/price. When you buy a bond at par, yield is equal to the interest rate. When the price changes, so does the yield. Let's demonstrate this with an example. If you buy a bond with a 10% coupon at its $1000 par value, the yield is 10% ($100/$1000). Pretty simple stuff. But if the price goes down to $800, then the yield goes up to 12.5%. This happens because you are getting the same guaranteed $100 on an asset that is worth $800 ($100/$800). Conversely, if the bond goes up in price to $1,200, the yield shrinks to 8.33% ($100/$1,200).

Yield to Maturity

Of course, these matters are always more complicated in real life. When bond investors refer to yield, they are usually referring to yield to maturity (YTM). YTM is a more advanced yield calculation that shows the total return you will receive if you hold the bond to maturity. It equals all the interest payments you will receive (and assumes that you will reinvest the interest payment at the same rate as the current yield on the bond) plus any gain (if you purchased at a discount) or loss (if you purchased at a premium). Knowing how to calculate YTM isn't important right now. In fact, the calculation is rather sophisticated and beyond the scope of this tutorial. The key point here is that YTM is more accurate and enables you to compare bonds with different maturities and coupons.

Putting It All Together: the Link between Price and Yield

The relationship of yield to price can be summarized as follows: when price goes up, yield goes down, and vice versa
 . Technically, you'd say the bond's price and its yield are inversely related. Here's a commonly asked question: How can high yields and high prices both be good when they can't happen at the same time? The answer depends on your point of view. If you are a bond buyer, you want high yields. A buyer wants to pay $800 for the $1000 bond, which gives the bond a high yield of 12.5%. On the other hand, if you already own a bond, you've locked in your interest rate, so you hope the price of the bond goes up. This way you can cash out by selling your bond in the future.

Price in the Market

So far we've discussed the factors of face value, coupon, maturity, issuers and yield. All of these characteristics of a bond play a role in its price. However, the factor that influences a bond more than any other is the level of prevailing interest rates in the economy. When interest rates rise, the prices of bonds in the market fall, thereby raising the yield of the older bonds and bringing them into line with newer bonds being issued with higher coupons. When interest rates fall, the prices of bonds in the market rise, thereby lowering the yield of the older bonds and bringing them into line with newer bonds being issued with lower coupons.

Exposure to Risk

Like any other type of investment vehicle, fixed-income securities should be viewed in terms of their risk and return. Generally speaking, bonds are exposed to five major types of risks: interest rate risk, purchasing power risk, business/financial risk, liquidity risk, and call risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the number one source of risk to fixed-income investors, because it's the major cause of price volatility in the bond market. In the case of bonds, interest rate risk translates into market risk: The behavior of interest rate, in general, affects all bonds and cuts across all sectors of the market — even the U.S. Treasury market. When market interest rates rise, bond prices fall, and vice versa. And as interest rates become more volatile, so do bond prices.

Purchasing Power Risk

Purchasing power risk accompanies inflation. During periods of mild inflation, bonds do pretty well, because their returns tend to outstrip inflation rates. Purchasing power risk really heats up when inflation takes off, the way it did in the late 1970s; when that happens, bond yields start to lag behind inflation rates. The reason: you have a fixed coupon rate on you bond, so even though market yields are rising with inflation, your return is locked in for the long haul.

Business/Financial Risk

This is basically the risk that the issuer will default on interest and/or principle payments. Also known as credit risk, business/financial risk has to do with the quality and financial integrity of the issuer; the stronger the issuer, the less business/financial risk there is to worry about. This risk doesn't even exist for some securities (e.g., U.S. Treasuries), whereas for others (corporate and municipal bonds), it's a very important consideration.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that a bond will be difficult to unload if you want or have to sell it. In certain sectors of the market, this is a far bigger problem than a lot of investors realize. For even though the U.S. bond market is enormous, the market is chiefly over-the counter in nature, and much of the activity occurs in the primary/new-issue market. Therefore, with the exception of the Treasury market and a good deal of the agency market, relatively little trading is done in the secondary markets, particularly with corporates and municipals.

Call Risk

Call risk, or prepayment risk, is the risk that a bond will be "called" — that is, retired — long before its scheduled maturity date. Issuers are often given the opportunity to prepay their bonds, and they do so by calling them in for prepayment. (We'll examine call features later in this chapter.) When issuers call their bonds, the bondholders end up getting cashed out of the deal and have to find another place for their investment funds — and there's the problem. Because bonds are nearly always called for prepayment after interest rates have taken a big fall, comparable investment vehicles just aren't available. Thus the investor has to replace a high-yielding bond with a much lower-yielding issue. Being able to prepay a bond might be great for the issuer, but from the bondholder's perspective, a called bond means not only a disruption in the investor's cash flow but also a sharply reduced rate of return.

Bond Types

Government Bonds

In general, fixed-income securities are classified according to the length of time before maturity. These are the three main categories:

Bills — debt securities maturing in less than one year.

Notes — debt securities maturing in one to 10 years.

Bonds — debt securities maturing in more than 10 years.

Marketable securities from the U.S. government — known collectively as Treasuries — follow this guideline and are issued as Treasury bonds2
 , Treasury notes3
 and Treasury bills4
 (T-bills). Technically speaking, T-bills aren't bonds because of their short maturity. (You can read more about T-bills in our Money Market tutorial.) All debt issued by Uncle Sam is regarded as extremely safe, as is the debt of any stable country. The debt of many developing countries, however, does carry substantial risk. Like companies, countries can default on payments.

Municipal Bonds

Municipal bonds, known as "munis", are the next progression in terms of risk. Cities don't go bankrupt that often, but it can happen. The major advantage to munis is that the returns are free from federal tax. Furthermore, local governments will sometimes make their debt non-taxable for residents, thus making some municipal bonds completely tax free. Because of these tax savings, the yield on a muni is usually lower than that of a taxable bond. Depending on your personal situation, a muni can be a great investment on an after-tax basis.

Corporate Bonds

A company can issue bonds just as it can issue stock. Large corporations have a lot of flexibility as to how much debt they can issue: the limit is whatever the market will bear. Generally, a short-term corporate bond is less than five years; intermediate is five to 12 years, and long-term is over 12 years. Corporate bonds are characterized by higher yields because there is a higher risk of a company defaulting than a government. The upside is that they can also be the most rewarding fixed-income investments because of the risk the investor must take on. The company's credit quality is very important: the higher the quality, the lower the interest rate the investor receives. Other variations on corporate bonds include convertible bonds, which the holder can convert into stock, and callable bonds5
 , which allow the company to redeem an issue prior to maturity.

Zero-coupon Bonds

This is a type of bond that makes no coupon payments but instead is issued at a considerable discount to par value. For example, let's say a zero-coupon bond with a $1000 par value and 10 years to maturity is trading at $600; you'd be paying $600 today for a bond that will be worth $1000 in 10 years.


How to read a bond table
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Column 1: Issuer — This is the company, state (or province), or country that is issuing the bond.

Column 2: Coupon — The coupon refers to the fixed interest rate that the issuer pays to the lender.

Column 3: Maturity Date — This is the date on which the borrower will repay the investors their principal. Typically, only the last two digits of the year are quoted: 25 means 2025, 04 is 2004, etc.

Column 4: Bid Price — This is the price someone is willing to pay for the bond. It is quoted in relation to 100, no matter what the par value is. Think of the bid price as a percentage: a bond with a bid of 93 is trading at 93% of its par value.

Column 5: Yield — The yield indicates annual return until the bond matures. Usually, this is the yield to maturity, not current yield. If the bond is callable it will have a "c — "where the "— "is the year the bond can be called. For example, c10 means the bond can be called as early as 2010.

How to Buy Bonds?

Most bond transactions can be completed through a full service or discount brokerage. You can also open an account with a bond broker, but be warned that most bond brokers require a minimum initial deposit of $5000. If you cannot afford this amount, we suggest looking at a mutual fund that specializes in bonds (a bond fund). Some financial institutions will provide their clients with the service of transacting government securities. However, if your bank doesn't provide this service and you do not have a brokerage account, you can purchase government bonds through a government agency (this is true in most countries). In the U.S. you can buy bonds directly from the government through TreasuryDirect at http://www.treasurydirect.gov. The Bureau of the Public Debt started TreasuryDirect so that individuals could buy bonds directly from the Treasury, thereby bypassing a broker. All transactions and interest payments are done electronically. If you do decide to purchase a bond through your broker, he or she may tell you that the trade is commission free. Don't be fooled. What typically happens is that the broker will mark up the price slightly; this markup is really the same as a commission. To make sure that you are not being taken advantage of, simply look up the latest quote for the bond and determine whether the markup is acceptable.


 Summary


1. A Bond is simply an "IOU" in which an investor agrees to loan money to a company or government in exchange for a predetermined interest rate. A bond is fixed income security.

2. The face value (also known as the par value or principal) is the amount of money a holder will get back once a bond matures.

3. The coupon is the amount the bondholder will receive as interest payments.

4. The maturity date is the date in the future on which the investor's principal will be repaid.

5. The issuer of a bond is a crucial factor to consider, as the issuer's stability is your main assurance of getting paid back.

6. At any time, a bond can be sold in the open market, where the price can fluctuate — sometimes dramatically. We'll get to how price changes in a bit. First, we need to introduce the concept of yield. Yield is a figure that shows the return you get on a bond. When interest rates rise, the prices of bonds in the market fall, thereby raising the yield of the older bonds and bringing them into line with newer bonds being issued with higher coupons. When interest rates fall, the prices of bonds in the market rise, thereby lowering the yield of the older bonds and bringing them into line with newer bonds being issued with lower coupons.

7. Generally speaking, bonds are exposed to five major types of risks: interest rate risk, purchasing power risk, business/financial risk, liquidity risk, and call risk.

8. Most bond transactions can be completed through a full service or discount brokerage.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. premium　溢价

2. discount　贴现，折价

3. oredictable　可预言的，可预报的

4. coupon　息票

5. redeem　买回，赎回

6. default　违约，拖欠

7. municipal bonds　市政债券

8. volatility　变化

9. lag　落后，滞后

10. heats up　加剧，激化

11. haul　距离，拖，拉

12. end up　结束，告终

13. disruption　破坏，中断

14. risk/return tradeoff　风险收益抵换，风险收益平衡


 Notes



1. risk/return tradeoff:
 The principle that potential return rises with an increase in risk. Low levels of uncertainty (low risk) are associated with low potential returns, whereas high levels of uncertainty (high risk) are associated with high potential returns. In other words, the risk-return tradeoff says that invested money can render higher profits only if it is subject to the possibility of being lost. Because of the risk-return tradeoff, you must he aware of your personal risk tolerance when choosing investments for your portfolio. Taking on some risk is the price of achieving returns; therefore, if you want to make money, you can't cut out all risk. The goal instead is to find an appropriate balance one — that generates some profit, hut still allows you to sleep at night.


2. treasury bonds:
 A marketable, fixed-interest U.S. government debt security with a maturity of more than 10 years. The bonds make interest payments semi-annually and the income that holders receive is only taxed at the federal level. Treasury bonds are issued with a minimum denomination of $1000. The bonds are initially sold through auction in which the maximum purchase amount is $5 million if the bid is non-competitive or 35% of the offering if the bid is competitive. A competitive bid states the rate that the bidder is willing to accept; it will he accepted depending on how it compares to the set rate of the bond. A non-competitive bid ensures that the bidder will get the bond but he or she will have to accept the set rate. Alter the auction, the bonds can be sold in the secondary market.


3. treasury notes:
 A marketable, U.S. government debt security with a fixed interest rate and a maturity between one and 10 years. T-notes can be bought either directly from the U.S. government or through a bank. When buying from the government you can either put in a competitive or noncompetitive bid. With a competitive bid you specify the yield you want; however, this does not mean your bid will be approved. With a noncompetitive bid is one where you accept whatever yield is determined at auction.


4. treasury bill:
 A short-term debt obligation backed by the U.S. government with a maturity of less than one year. T-bills are sold in denominations of $1000 up to a maximum purchase of $5 million and commonly have maturities of one month (four weeks), three months (13 weeks) or six months (26 weeks). T-bills are issued through a competitive bidding process at a discount from par, which means that rather than paying fixed interest payments like conventional bonds, the appreciation of the bond provides the return to the holder.


5. callable bonds:
 A bond that can be redeemed by the issuer prior to its maturity. Usually a premium is paid to the bond owner when the bond is called. Also known as a "redeemable bond".


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. When is bond said to be selling at a premium and when is bond said to be selling at a discount?

2. What is the most important source of risk for bonds in general? Explain.

3. What is the major advantage for municipal bonds?

4. What is the coupon?

5. What are callable bonds?

6. How to classify fixed-income securities in general?

7. What are zero-coupon bonds?

8. What do bond brokers do for investors?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Interest Rate Risk is the number one source of risk to fixed-income investors, because it's the _____ cause of price volatility in the bond market.

2. In the _____ of bonds, interest rate risk translates _____ market risk: The behavior of interest rate, in general, affects all bonds and cuts _____ all sectors of the market-even the U.S. Treasury market.

3. When market interest rates rise, bond prices fall, and vice versa. And as interest rates become more volatile, _____ do bond prices.

4. This is a type of bond that makes no coupon payments but _____ is issued at a considerable discount to par value. For example, let's say a zero-coupon bond with a $1000 par value and 10 years to maturity is _____ at $600; you'd be paying $600 _____ for a bond that will be worth $1000 in 10 years.

5. Bonds have a _____ of characteristics of which you need to be aware. All of these factors play a role in determining the value of a bond and the extent to _____ it fits in your portfolio.

6. In general, fixed-income securities are classified _____ the length of time before maturity. These are the three main categories.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．债券买卖是指交易双方以约定的价格买卖一定金额的债券并在规定的清算时间内办理债券款项交割的交易方式。

2．债券回购是指交易双方进行的以债券为权利质押的一种短期资金融通业务。资金融入方（正回购方）在将债券卖给资金融出方（逆回购方）以融入资金的同时，双方约定在将来某一日期由正回购方按约定回购利率计算的金额向逆回购方买回相等数量的同品种债券的交易行为。

3．所谓可转换公司债券是指由公司发行的，投资者在一定时期内可选择一定条件转换成公司股票的公司债券，通常称作可转换债券或可转债。这种债券兼具债权和股权双重属性。

4．证券较易必须受SEC及证券交易所自我约束机制的监管。

5．场外交易市不是一个正式的证券交易所，而是由经纪人和交易商组成的一个非正式的网络，他们通过这一网络协商证券的交易。

6．一级市场上的发行方式也分为两种，公募和私募。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The higher rate of return the bond offers, the more risky the investment. There have been instances of companies failing to pay back the bond (default), so, to entice investors, most corporate bonds will offer a higher return than a government bond.

2. It is important for investors to research a bond just as they would a stock or mutual fund. The bond rating will help in deciphering the default risk.

3. Accrued interest is added to the contract price of a bond transaction.

4. Capital Gain. An increase in the value of a capital asset (investment or real estate) that gives it a higher worth than the purchase price. The gain is not realized until the asset is sold. A capital gain may be short term (one year or less) or long term (more than one year) and must be claimed on income taxes.

5. Like any other type of investment vehicle, fixed-income securities should be viewed in terms of their risk and return. Generally speaking, bonds are exposed to five major types of risks: interest rate risk, purchasing power risk, business/financial risk, liquidity risk, and call risk.

6. So far we've discussed the factors of face value, coupon, maturity, issuers and yield. All of these characteristics of a bond play a role in its price.


 Reading Materials


Retail Notes Make Bond Investing Easier

You may know that bonds are one way to get income from your investments. You may also know they can help you diversify your portfolio since they often move in the opposite direction of stocks. Yet some people might stay away from bonds because they don't understand how these investments work, or the pricing structure turned them off to the idea. Here go over why bond investing may be confusing, how using bond funds as a solution can present problems and, finally, how retail notes offer an alternative.

Bonds Can Be Confusing

With accrued interest, markups, commissions and changing prices, bond investing is not always easy. In 2003, the National Association of Security Dealers (NASD) issued the results of a 55-question investor-literacy survey. The results of survey showed that just 71% of the participants understood the concept of a bond and only 39% knew the inverse relationship between bond prices and interest rates. These numbers may explain why some people avoid bonds.

Diversifying Is Not Always Easy

If you don't understand bond pricing, using bonds to diversify may be difficult to achieve. The typical face value of a corporate bond is $1000, but if you buy one on the secondary market, you may pay more or less than that amount. The price depends on several factors including prevailing interest rates and credit ratings. Grasping these complex factors can present a roadblock in the attempt to using bonds strategically. (If, however, you would like to start learning, check out Bond Basics and Advanced Bond Concepts
 .) As such, to gain some diversification using bonds, many investors invest in bond mutual funds. You can start with a small amount and receive diversification; however, the trouble is that you don't know exactly what income you'll receive while you own the fund (because you own units of a basket of bonds rather than the actual bonds, which you would own if you bought the bonds yourself). And there are ongoing fees that you pay to the fund company to manage your investment.

When interest rates are falling, it is easy to ignore these fees because the value of the fund's shares goes up (remember bond prices and interest rates have an inverse relationship). But when interest rates rise, expenses could consume a larger portion of your returns. Plus a bond fund has no maturity date, so there is no point in time when you are assured of getting back your original investment (as you are when you own a bond directly). Finally, bond funds also present a potential tax problem. Many owners of taxable bond funds aren't very happy when they get their Form 1099 from their funds. At this time these shareholders realize that they do not have complete control over when they must take capital gains (short or long term) and how they can get hit with taxes even if they haven't sold any of their shares. For instance, when interest rates start to rise, the bond fund's share value can drop. This might cause other fundholders to panic and sell. Fund managers then need the cash to meet the redemptions, so they have to sell bonds that may have appreciated, and must pass that growth to each shareholder, even if the money is reinvested in additional fund shares. Thus, shareholders who stayed in the fund end up with a distribution that they didn't even want, but they still have to pay the associated tax on that distribution. And to make bad matters worse, they might have to pay tax while their fund's value is falling.

Retail Notes Offer Another Option

There is another choice for income-seeking investors that is easy to understand and inexpensive to buy. Retail notes are fixed-income securities that you can purchase directly from the issuer at par in $1000 increments with no accrued interest or added markups. They are fixed-rate subordinated, unsecured obligations of the issuing company. The notes and accompanying interest payments are backed by the full faith and credit of the issuer and are either callable or noncallable. The callable notes usually provide higher yields and include call protection for a set time (for further reading on callable securities, see Call Features
 : Don't Get Caught Off Guard
 ), Once you buy the notes, you will receive regular fixed-interest payments (monthly, quarterly or semiannually) until maturity.

The notes are offered weekly by a limited number of issuers, many of whom are top-rated, well-known international corporations. The offers are valid for one week and include a series of coupon rates, maturities, interest-payment frequencies, call dates and credit ratings. Issuers, however, have the right to change or cancel an offering without notice. You can invest in these securities through a broker who can provide you with the weekly postings. These notes are suitable for fully taxable accounts, or you can put them in your IRA, where the interest income accumulates tax deferred. And investors who want to create an income (bond) ladder can purchase retail notes with different maturity dates and interest-payment schedules.

Even though there might be a secondary market for retail notes, they are meant to be held until maturity. Therefore, they are not suitable if you are looking to trade them for the capital gains (but this is the kind of fixed-income strategy that presents the complexities we discussed above). But like other fixed-income investments, the market value of retail notes can fluctuate until maturity. Finally, most retail notes have a unique survivor's option. This feature gives your estate the ability to return the notes back to the issuer at par value. Therefore, just in case the note is worth less than par value when you die, your heirs can still return the notes for par value.

Conclusion

If you are looking to include or increase the amount of fixed assets in your portfolio, retail notes can make your investing easier. They are simple to understand, can be purchased for a moderate amount, and provide a stable income for their life.

Corporate Bonds

Corporate bonds offer a high yield compared to some other investments, but the higher yield is not free. Most corporate bonds are debentures, meaning they are not secured by collateral. Investors of such bonds must assume not only interest rate risk but also credit risk, the chance that the corporate issuer will default on its debt obligations. Therefore, it is important that investors of corporate bonds know how to assess credit risk and its potential payoffs: while rising interest rate movements can reduce the value of your bond investment, a default can almost eliminate it (holders of defaulted bonds can recover some of their principal, but it is often pennies on the dollar).

Review of Yield

By yield, we mean yield to maturity, which is the total yield resulting from all coupon payments and any gains from a "built-in" price appreciation. The current yield is the portion generated by coupon payments, which are usually paid twice a year, and, it accounts for most of the yield generated by corporate bonds. For example, if you pay $95 for a bond with a $6 annual coupon ($3 every six months), your current yield is about 6.32% ($6 ÷ $95). The built-in price appreciation contributing to yield to maturity results from the additional return the investor makes by purchasing the bond at a discount and then holding it to maturity to receive the par value. It is also possible for a corporation to issue a zero-coupon bond, whose current yield is zero and whose yield to maturity is solely a function of the built-in price appreciation. Investors whose primary concern is a predictable annual income stream look to corporate bonds, whose yields will always exceed government yields. Furthermore, the annual coupons of corporate bonds are more predictable and often higher than the dividends received on common stock.

Assessing Credit Risk

Credit ratings published by Moody's, Standard and Poor's and Fitch IBCA are meant to capture and categorize credit risk. (For more on this topic, see the article What Is A Corporate Credit Rating
 ) But institutional investors in corporate bonds often supplement these agency ratings with their own credit analysis. Many tools can be used to analyze and assess credit risk, but two traditional metrics are interest-coverage ratios and capitalization ratios. Interest-coverage ratios answer the question, "How much money does the company generate each year in order to fund the annual interest on its debt?" A common interest-coverage ratio is EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) divided by annual interest expense. Clearly, as a company should generate enough earnings to service its annual debt, this ratio should well exceed 1.0 — and the higher the ratio, the better. Capitalization ratios answer the question, "How much interest-bearing debt does the company carry in relation to the value of its assets?" This ratio, calculated as long-term debt divided by total assets, assesses the company's degree of financial leverage. This is analogous to dividing the balance on a home mortgage (long-term debt) by the appraised value of the house. A ratio of 1.0 would indicate there is no "equity in the house" and would reflect dangerously high financial leverage. So, the lower the capitalization ratio, the better the company's financial leverage. Broadly speaking, the investor of a corporate bond is buying extra yield by assuming credit risk. He or she should probably ask, "Is the extra yield worth the risk of default?" or "Am I getting enough extra yield for assuming the default risk?" In general, the greater the credit risk, the less likely it is that you should buy directly into a single corporate bond issue. In the case of junk bonds (i.e., those rated below S&P's BBB), the risk of losing the entire principal is simply too great. Investors seeking high yield can consider the automatic diversification of a high-yield bond fund, which can afford a few defaults while still preserving high yields.

Other Risks

Investors should be aware of some other risk factors affecting corporate bonds. Two of the most important ones are call risk and event risk. If a corporate bond is callable, then the issuing company has the right to purchase (or pay off) the bond after some minimum time period. If you hold a high-yielding bond and prevailing interest rates decline, a company with a call option will want to call the bond in order to issue new bonds at lower interest rates (in effect, to refinance its debt). Not all bonds are callable, but if you buy one that is, it is important to note the terms of the bond. It is important that you be compensated for the call provision with a higher yield. Event risk is the risk that a corporate transaction, natural disaster or regulatory change will cause an abrupt downgrade in a corporate bond. Event risk tends to vary by industry sector. For example, if the telecom industry happens to be consolidating, then event risk may run high for all bonds in this sector. The risk is that the bondholder's company may purchase another telecom company and possibly increase its debt burden (financial leverage) in the process.

Credit Spread: The Payoff for Assuming Credit Risk

The payoff for assuming all these extra risks is a higher yield. The difference between the yield on a corporate bond and a government bond is called the credit spread (sometimes just called the yield spread).
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As the illustrated yield curves demonstrate, the credit spread is the difference in yield between a corporate bond and a government bond at each point of maturity. As such, the credit spread reflects the extra compensation investors receive for bearing credit risk. So, the total yield on a corporate bond is a function of both the Treasury yield and the credit spread, which is greater for lower-rated bonds. If the bond is callable by the issuing corporation, the credit spread increases more, reflecting the added risk that the bond may be called.

How Changes in the Credit Spread Affect the Bondholder

Predicting changes in a credit spread is difficult because it depends on both the specific corporate issuer and overall bond market conditions. For example, a credit upgrade on a specific corporate bond, say from S&P BBB to A, will narrow the credit spread for that particular bond because the risk of default lessens. If interest rates are unchanged, the total yield on this "upgraded" bond will go down in an amount equal to the narrowing spread, and the price will increase accordingly. After purchasing a corporate bond, the bondholder will benefit from declining interest rates and from a narrowing of the credit spread, which contributes to a lessening yield to maturity of newly issued bonds. This in turn drives up the price of the bondholder's corporate bond. On the other hand, rising interest rates and a widening of the credit spread work against the bondholder by causing a higher yield to maturity and a lower bond price. So, because narrowing spreads offer less ongoing yield and because any widening of the spread will hurt the price of the bond, investors should be wary of bonds with abnormally narrow credit spreads. Conversely, if the risk is acceptable, corporate bonds with high credit spreads offer the prospect of a narrowing spread, which, in turn, will create price appreciation. But interest rates and credit spreads can move independently. In terms of business cycles, a slowing economy tends to widen credit spreads as companies are more likely to default, and an economy emerging from a recession tends to narrow the spread as companies are theoretically less likely to default in a growing economy. However, in an economy that is growing out of a recession, there is also a possibility for higher interest rates, which would cause Treasury yields to increase. This is a factor that offsets the narrowing credit spread, so the effects of a growing economy could produce either higher or lower total yields on corporate bonds.

Conclusion

If the extra yield is affordable from a risk perspective, the corporate bond investor is concerned with future interest rates and the credit spread. Like other bondholders, he or she is generally hoping that interest rates hold steady or, even better, decline. Additionally, he or she generally hopes that the credit spread either remains constant or narrows but does not widen too much. Because the width of the credit spread is a major determiner of your bond's price, make sure you evaluate whether the spread is too narrow, but also make sure you evaluate the credit risk of companies with wide credit spreads.


Chapter 11

Mutual Funds


 Learning Objectives


After reading this chapter you will know:

• What a mutual fund is

• The advantages of mutual funds

• The disadvantages of mutual funds

• The regulations for mutual funds

• The cost of mutual funds

• The types of mutual funds

• The values of mutual funds

• How to trade mutual funds

• Where the mutual funds are traded

Introduction

A mutual fund is a professionally managed type of collective investment scheme that pools money from many investors and invests it in stocks, bonds, short-term money market instruments, and/or other securities. Mutual funds really captured the public's attention in the 1980s and 1990s when mutual fund investment hit record highs and investors saw incredible returns. However, the idea of pooling assets for investment purposes has been around for a long time. Here we look at the evolution of this investment vehicle, from its beginnings in the Netherlands in the eighteenth century to its present status as a growing, international industry with fund holdings accounting for trillions of dollars in the United States alone.

In the Beginning

Historians are uncertain of the origins of investment funds; some cite the closed-end investment1
 companies launched in the Netherlands in 1822 by King William I as the first mutual funds, while others point to a Dutch merchant named Adriaan van Ketwich whose investment trust created in 1774 may have given the king the idea. Van Ketwich probably theorized that diversification2
 would increase the appeal of investments to smaller investors with minimal capital. The name of van Ketwich's fund, Eendragt Maakt Magt, translates to "unity creates strength". The next wave of near-mutual funds included an investment trust launched in Switzerland in 1849, followed by similar vehicles created in Scotland in the 1880s. The idea of pooling resources and spreading risk using closed-end investments soon took root in Great Britain and France, making its way to the United States in the 1890s. The Boston Personal Property Trust, formed in 1893, was the first closed-end fund in the U.S. The creation of the Alexander Fund in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in 1907 was an important step in the evolution toward what we know as the modem mutual fund. The Alexander Fund featured semi-annual issues and allowed investors to make withdrawals on demand.

The Arrival of the Modern Fund

The creation of the Massachusetts Investors' Trust in Boston, Massachusetts, heralded the arrival of the modem mutual fund in 1924. The fund went public in 1928, eventually spawning the mutual fund firm known today as MFS Investment Management. State Street Investors' Trust was the custodian of the Massachusetts Investors' Trust. Later, State Street Investors started its own fund in 1924 with Richard Paine, Richard Saltonstall and Paul Cabot at the helm. Saltonstall was also affiliated with Scudder, Stevens and Clark, an outfit that would launch the first no-load fund3
 in 1928. A momentous year in the history of the mutual fund, 1928 also saw the launch of the Wellington Fund, which was the first mutual fund to include stocks and bonds, as opposed to direct merchant bank style of investments in business and trade.

Regulation and Expansion

By 1929, there were 19 open-end mutual funds competing with nearly 700 closed-end funds. With the stock market crash of 1929, the dynamic began to change as highly-leveraged closed-end funds were wiped out and small open-end funds4
 managed to survive. Government regulators also began to take notice of the fledgling mutual fund industry. The creation of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the passage of the Securities Act of 1933 and the enactment of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 put in place safeguards to protect investors: mutual funds were required to register with the SEC and to provide disclosure in the form of a prospectus. The Investment Company Act of 1940 put in place additional regulations that required more disclosures and sought to minimize conflicts of interest. The mutual fund industry continued to expand. At the beginning of the 1950s, the number of open-end funds topped 100. In 1954, the financial markets overcame their 1929 peak, and the mutual fund industry began to grow in earnest, adding some 50 new funds over the course of the decade. The 1960s saw the rise of aggressive growth funds5
 , with more than 100 new funds established and billions of dollars in new asset inflows. Hundreds of new funds were launched throughout the 1960s until the bear market of 1969 cooled the public appetite for mutual funds. Money flowed out of mutual funds as quickly as investors could redeem their shares, but the industry's growth later resumed.

Recent Developments

In 1971, William Fouse and John McQuown of Wells Fargo Bank established the first index fund, a concept that John Bogle would use as a foundation on which to build The Vanguard Group, a mutual fund powerhouse renowned for low-cost index funds. The 1970s also saw the rise of the no-load fund. This new way of doing business had an enormous impact on the way mutual funds were sold and would make a major contribution to the industry's success. With the 1980s and 1990s came bull market mania and previously obscure fund managers became superstars; Max Heine, Michael Price and Peter Lynch, the mutual fund industry's top gunslingers, became household names and money poured into the retail investment industry at a stunning pace. More recently, the burst of the tech bubble and a spate of scandals involving big names in the industry took much of the shine off of the industry's reputation. Shady dealings at major fund companies demonstrated that mutual funds aren't always benign investments managed by folks who have their shareholders' best interests in mind and who treat all investors equally.

As you probably know, mutual funds have become extremely popular over the last 20 years. What was once just another obscure financial instrument is now a part of our daily lives. More than 80 million people, or one half of the households in America, invest in mutual funds. That means that, in the United States alone, trillions (yes, with a "T") of dollars are invested in mutual funds. In fact, to many people, investing means buying mutual funds. After all, it's common knowledge that investing in mutual funds is (or at least should be) better than simply letting your cash waste away in a savings account, but, for most people, that's where the understanding of funds ends. It doesn't help that mutual fund salespeople speak a strange language that, sounding sort of like English, is interspersed with jargon like MER, NAVPS, load/no-load, etc. Originally mutual funds were heralded as a way for the little guy to get a piece of the market. Instead of spending all your free time buried in the financial pages of the Wall Street Journal, all you have to do is buy a mutual fund and you'd be set on your way to financial freedom. As you might have guessed, it's not that easy. Mutual funds are an excellent idea in theory, but, in reality, they haven't always delivered. Not all mutual funds are created equal, and investing in mutuals isn't as easy as throwing your money at the first salesperson who solicits your business. This is why we've written this tutorial. We'll explain the basics of mutual funds and hopefully clear up some of the myths around them. You can then decide whether or not they are right for you. It will be helpful for you to understand the basics of stocks and bonds before proceeding.

What Are Mutual Funds?

A mutual fund is nothing more than a collection of stocks and/or bonds. You can think of a mutual fund as a company that brings together a group of people and invests their money in stocks, bonds, and other securities. Each investor owns shares, which represent a portion of the holdings of the fund. You can make money from a mutual fund in three ways:

1. Income is earned from dividends on stocks and interest on bonds. A fund pays out nearly all income it receives over the year to fund owners in the form of a distribution.

2. If the fund sells securities that have increased in price, the fund has a capital gain6
 . Most funds also pass on these gains to investors in a distribution.

3. If fund holdings increase in price but are not sold by the fund manager, the fund's shares increase in price. You can then sell your mutual fund shares for a profit.

Funds will also usually give you a choice either to receive a check for distributions or to reinvest the earnings and get more shares.

Advantages of Mutual Funds


Professional Management
 — The primary advantage of funds (at least theoretically) is the professional management of your money. Investors purchase funds because they do not have the time or the expertise to manage their own portfolio. A mutual fund is a relatively inexpensive way for a small investor to get a full-time manager to make and monitor investments.


Diversification
 — By owning shares in a mutual fund instead of owning individual stocks or bonds, your risk is spread out. The idea behind diversification is to invest in a large number of assets so that a loss in any particular investment is minimized by gains in others. In other words, the more stocks and bonds you own, the less any one of them can hurt you (think about Enron). Large mutual funds typically own hundreds of different stocks in many different industries. It wouldn't be possible for an investor to build this kind of a portfolio with a small amount of money.


Economies of Scale
 — Because a mutual fund buys and sells large amounts of securities at a time, its transaction costs are lower than you as an individual would pay.


Liquidity
 7
 — Just like an individual stock, a mutual fund allows you to request that your shares be converted into cash at any time.


Simplicity
 — Buying a mutual fund is easy! Pretty well any bank has its own line of mutual funds, and the minimum investment is small. Most companies also have automatic purchase plans whereby as little as $100 can be invested on a monthly basis.

Disadvantages of Mutual Funds


Professional Management
 — Did you notice how we qualified the advantage of professional management with the word "theoretically"? Many investors debate over whether or not the so-called professionals
 are any better than you or I at picking stocks. Management is by no means infallible, and, even if the fund loses money, the manager still takes his/her cut. We'll talk about this in detail in a later section.


Costs
 — Mutual funds don't exist solely to make your life easier — all funds are in it for a profit. The mutual fund industry is masterful at burying costs under layers of jargon. These costs are so complicated that in this tutorial we have devoted an entire section to the subject.


Dilution
 — It's possible to have too much diversification (this is explained in our article entitled "Are You Over-Diversified?"). Because funds have small holdings in so many different companies, high returns from a few investments often don't make much difference on the overall return. Dilution is also the result of a successful fund getting too big. When money pours into funds that have had strong success, the manager often has trouble finding a good investment for all the new money.


Taxes
 — When making decisions about your money, fund managers don't consider your personal tax situation. For example, when a fund manager sells a security, a capital-gain tax is triggered, which affects how profitable the individual is from the sale. It might have been more advantageous for the individual to defer the capital gains liability.

Fund Types

No matter what type of investor you are there is bound to be a mutual fund that fits your style. According to the last count there are over 10000 mutual funds in North America! That means there are more mutual funds than stocks. It's important to understand that each mutual fund has different risks and rewards. In general, the higher the potential return, the higher the risk of loss. Although some funds are less risky than others, all funds have some level of risk — it's never possible to diversify away all risk. This is a fact for all investments. Each fund has a predetermined investment objective that tailors the fund's assets, regions of investments, and investment strategies. At the fundamental level, there are three varieties of mutual funds:

1. Equity funds (stocks)

2. Fixed-income funds (bonds)

3. Money market funds

All mutual funds are variations of these three asset classes. For example, while equity funds that invest in fast-growing companies are known as growth funds, equity funds that invest only in companies of the same sector or region are known as specialty funds. Let's go over the many different flavors of funds. We'll start with the safest and then work through to the more risky.

Money Market Funds

The money market consists of short-term debt instruments, mostly T-bills. This is a safe place to park your money. You won't get great returns, but you won't have to worry about losing your principal. A typical return is twice the amount you would earn in a regular checking/savings account and a little less than the average certificate of deposit (CD).

Bond/Income Funds

Income funds are named appropriately: their purpose is to provide current income on a steady basis. When referring to mutual funds, the terms "fixed-income," "bond," and "income" are synonymous. These terms denote funds that invest primarily in government and corporate debt. While fund holdings may appreciate in value, the primary objective of these funds is to provide a steady cashflow to investors. As such, the audience for these funds consists of conservative investors and retirees. Bond funds are likely to pay higher returns than certificates of deposit and money market investments, but bond funds aren't without risk. Because there are many different types of bonds, bond funds can vary dramatically depending on where they invest. For example, a fund specializing in high-yield junk bonds is much more risky than a fund that invests in government securities; also, nearly all bond funds are subject to interest rate risk, which means that if rates go up the value of the fund goes down.

Balanced Funds

The objective of these funds is to provide a "balanced" mixture of safety, income, and capital appreciation. The strategy of balanced funds is to invest in a combination of fixed-income and equities. A typical balanced fund might have a weighting of 60% equity and 40% fixed-income. The weighting might also be restricted to a specified maximum or minimum for each asset class. A similar type of fund is known as an asset allocation fund. Objectives are similar to those of a balanced fund, but these kinds of funds typically do not have to hold a specified percentage of any asset class. The portfolio manager is therefore given freedom to switch the ratio of asset classes as the economy moves through the business cycle.

Equity Funds

Funds that invest in stock represent the largest category of mutual funds. Generally, the investment objective of this class of funds is long-term capital growth with some income. There are, however, many different types of equity funds because there are many different types of equities. A great way to understand the universe of equity funds is to use a style box, an example of which is below. (Using a style box to classify mutual funds was popularized by Morningstar.)
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The idea is to classify funds based on both the size of the companies invested in and the investment style of the manager. The term "value" refers to a style of investing that looks for high quality companies that are out of favor with the market. These companies are characterized by low P/E ratios, price-to-book ratios, and high dividend yields, etc. The opposite of value is growth, which refers to companies that have had (and are expected to continue to have) strong growth in earnings, sales, and cash flow, etc. A compromise between value and growth is "blend," which simply refers to companies that are neither value nor growth stocks and so are classified as being somewhere in the middle. For example, a mutual fund that invests in large-cap companies who are in strong financial shape but have recently seen their share price fall would be placed in the upper left quadrant of the style box (large and value). The opposite of this would be a fund that invests in startup technology companies with excellent growth prospects. Such a mutual would reside in the bottom right quadrant (small and growth).

Global/International Funds

An international fund (or foreign fund) invests only outside your home country. Global funds invest anywhere around the world, including your home country. It's tough to classify these funds as either riskier or safer. On the one hand they tend to be more volatile and have unique country and/or political risks. But, on the flip side, they can, as part of a well-balanced portfolio, actually reduce risk by increasing diversification. Although the world's economies are becoming more inter-related, it is likely that another economy somewhere is outperforming the economy of your home country.

Specialty Funds

This classification of mutual funds is more of an all-encompassing "etc. category" that consists of funds that have proven to be popular but don't necessarily belong to the categories we've described so far. This type of mutual fund forgoes broad diversification to concentrate on a certain segment of the economy. Sector funds are targeted at specific sectors of the economy such as financial, technology, health, etc. Sector funds are extremely volatile. There is a greater possibility of big gains, but you have to accept that your sector may tank. Regional funds make it easier to focus on a specific area of the world. This may mean focusing on a region (say Latin America) or an individual country (for example, only Brazil). An advantage of these funds is that they make it easier to buy stock in foreign countries, which is otherwise difficult and expensive. Just like for sector funds, you have to accept the high risk of loss, which occurs if the region goes into a bad recession. Socially-responsible funds (or ethical funds) invest only in companies that meet the criteria of certain guidelines or beliefs. Most socially responsible funds don't invest in industries such as tobacco, alcoholic beverages, weapons, or nuclear power. The idea is to get a competitive performance while still maintaining a healthy conscience.

Index Funds

The last but certainly not the least important are index funds. This type of mutual fund replicates the performance of a broad market index such as the S&P 500 or DJIA8
 . An investor in an index fund figures that most managers can't beat the market. An index fund merely replicates the market return and benefits investors in the form of low fees.

Costs

Costs are the biggest problem with mutual funds. These costs eat into your return, and they are the main reason why the majority of funds end up with sub-par performance. What's even more disturbing is the way the fund industry hides costs through a layer of financial complexity and jargon. Some critics of the industry say that mutual fund companies get away with the fees they charge only because the average investor does not understand what he/she is paying for. Fees can be broken down into two categories:

1. Ongoing yearly fees to keep you invested in the fund.

2. Transaction fees paid when you buy or sell shares in a fund (loads).

The Expense Ratio

The ongoing expenses of a mutual fund is represented by the expense ratio. This is sometimes also referred to as the management expense ratio (MER). The expense ratio is composed of the following:


The cost of hiring the fund manager(s)
 — Also known as the management fee, this cost is between 0.5% and 1.0% of assets on average. While it sounds small, this fee ensures that mutual fund managers remain in the country's top echelon of earners. Think about it for a second: 1% of 250 million (a small mutual fund) is $2.5 million — fund managers are definitely not going hungry! It's true that paying managers is a necessary fee, but don't think that a high fee assures superior performance.


Administrative costs
 — These include necessities such as postage, record keeping, customer service, cappuccino machines, etc. Some funds are excellent at minimizing these costs while others (the ones with the cappuccino machines in the office) are not.


The last part of the ongoing fee
 (in the United States anyway) is known as the 12B-1 fee9
 . This expense goes toward paying brokerage commissions and toward advertising and promoting the fund. That's right, if you invest in a fund with a 12B-1 fee, you are paying for the fund to run commercials and sell itself!


Loads, A. K. A. "Fee for Salesperson"


Loads are just fees that a fund uses to compensate brokers or other salespeople for selling you the mutual fund. All you really need to know about loads is this: don't buy funds with loads.

In case you are still curious, here is how certain loads work:


Front-end loads
 — These are the most simple type of load: you pay the fee when you purchase the fund. If you invest $1000 in a mutual fund with a 5% front-end load, $50 will pay for the sales charge, and $950 will be invested in the fund.


Back-end loads
 (also known as deferred sales charges) — These are a bit more complicated. In such a fund you pay the back-end load if you sell a fund within a certain time frame. A typical example is a 6% back-end load that decreases to 0% in the seventh year. The load is 6% if you sell in the first year, 5% in the second year, etc. If you don't sell the mutual fund until the seventh year, you don't have to pay the back-end load at all.


A "no-load" fund
 sells its shares without a commission or sales charge. Some in the mutual fund industry will tell you that the load is the fee that pays for the "service" of a broker choosing the correct fund for you. According to this argument, your returns will be higher because the professional advice put you into a better fund. There is little to no evidence that shows a correlation between load funds and superior performance. In fact, when you take the fees into account, the average load fund performs worse than a no-load fund.

Buying and Selling Funds

You can buy some mutual funds (no-load) by contacting the fund companies directly. Other funds are sold through brokers, banks, financial planners, or insurance agents. If you buy through a third party there is a good chance they'll hit you with a sales charge (load). That being said, more and more funds can be purchased through no-transaction fee programs that offer funds of many companies. Sometimes referred to as a "fund supermarket," this service lets you consolidate your holdings and record keeping, and it still allows you to buy funds without sales charges from many different companies. Popular examples are Schwab's OneSource, Vanguard's FundAccess, and Fidelity's FundsNetwork. Many large brokerages have similar offerings. Selling a fund is as easy as purchasing one. All mutual funds will redeem (buy back) your shares on any business day. In the United States companies must send you the payment within seven days.

The Value of Fund

Net asset value (NAV), which is a fund's assets minus liabilities, is the value of a mutual fund. NAV per share is the value of one share in the mutual fund, and it is the number that is quoted in newspapers. You can basically just think of NAV per share as the price of a mutual fund. It fluctuates everyday as fund holdings and shares outstanding change. When you buy shares, you pay the current NAV per share plus any sales front-end load. When you sell your shares, the fund will pay you NAV less any back-end load.

The Truth Revealed about Mutual Fund Ads

I'm sure you've noticed all those mutual fund ads that quote their amazingly high one-year rates of return. Your first thought is "wow, that mutual fund did great!" Well, yes it did great last year, but then you look at the three-year performance, which is lower, and the five-year, which is yet even lower. What's the underlying story here? Lets look at a real example — I got the figures from the local paper (names withheld of course):
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Ok, last year the fund had excellent performance at 53%. But in the past three years the average annual return was 20%. What did it do in years 1 and 2 to bring the average return down to 20%? Some simple math shows us that the fund made an average return of 3.5% over those first two years: 20% = (53% + 3.5% + 3.5%)/3. Because that is only an average, it is very possible that the fund lost money in one of those years. It gets worse when we look at the five-year performance. We know that in the last year the fund returned 53% and in years 2 and 3 we are guessing it returned around 3.5%. So what happened in years 4 and 5 to bring the average return down to 11%? Again, by doing some simple calculations we find that the fund must have lost money, an average of -2.5% each year of those two years: 11% = (53% + 3.5% + 3.5% - 2.5% - 2.5%)/5. Now the fund's performance doesn't look so good! It should be mentioned that, for the sake of simplicity, this example, besides making some big assumptions, doesn't include calculating compound interest. Still, the point wasn't to be technically accurate but to demonstrate how misleading mutual fund ads can be. A fund that loses money for a few years can bump the average up significantly with one or two strong years.


 Summary


1. A mutual fund is a professionally managed type of collective investment scheme that pools money from many investors and invests it in stocks, bonds, short-term money market instruments, and/or other securities.

2. A mutual fund brings together a group of people and invests their money in stocks, bonds, and other securities.

3. The advantages of mutual funds are professional management, diversification, economies of scale, simplicity, and liquidity.

4. The disadvantages of mutual funds are high costs, over-diversification, possible tax consequences, and the inability of management to guarantee a superior return.

5. There are many, many types of mutual funds. You can classify funds based on asset class, investing strategy, region, etc.

6. Mutual funds have lots of costs.

7. Costs can be broken down into ongoing fees (represented by the expense ratio) and transaction fees (loads).

8. The biggest problems with mutual funds are their costs and fees.

9. Mutual funds are easy to buy and sell. You can either buy them directly from the fund company or through a third party.

10. Mutual fund ads can be very deceiving.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. Dutch　荷兰（人）的，荷兰式的

2. Philadelphia　（美国）费城

3. helm　舵，领导（地位）

4. obscure　暗的，模糊的，不引人注目的

5. momentous　重大的，重要的

6. wiped out　去除

7. herald　宣布，通报，预示……的来临

8. intersperse　散布，散置，点缀

9. jargon　行话，难懂的话

10. infallible　不可能错位的，不会犯错位的

11. echelon　梯队，梯次配置，领导系统中的等级

12. demonstrate　证明，认证，表明

13. deceive　欺骗，蒙蔽


 Notes



1. closed-end investment:
 When an investment company issues a fixed number of shares in an actively managed portfolio of securities. The shares are traded in the market just like common stock.


2. diversification:
 A risk-management technique that mixes a wide variety of investments within a portfolio. The rationale behind this technique contends that a portfolio of different kinds of investments will, on average, yield higher returns and pose a lower risk than any individual investment found within the portfolio.


3. no-load fund:
 A mutual fund whose shares are sold without a commission or sales charge. The reason for this is that the shares are distributed directly by the investment company, instead of going through a secondary party. This is the opposite of a load fund, which charges a commission upon the initial purchase at the time of sale.


4. open-end fund:
 A mutual fund that continues to sell shares to will buy back shares when investors wish to sell.


5. aggressive growth funds:
 A mutual fund that attempts to achieve the highest capital gains. Investments held in these funds are companies that demonstrate high growth potential, usually accompanied by a lot of share price volatility. These funds are only for non risk-averse investors willing to accept a high risk-return trade-off. Also commonly referred to as a "capital appreciation fund" or "maximum capital gains fund".


6. capital gain:
 An increase in the value of a capital asset (investment or real estate) that gives it a higher worth than the purchase price. The gain is not realized until the asset is sold. A capital gain may be short-term (one-year or less) or long-term (more than one-year) and must be claimed on income taxes.


7. liquidity:
 1. The degree to which an asset or security can be bought or sold in the market without affecting the asset's price. Liquidity is characterized by a high level of trading activity. 2. The ability to convert an asset to cash quickly. Also known as "marketability".


8. DJIA:
 The Dow Jones Industrial Average is a price-weighted average of 30 significant stocks traded on the New York Stock Exchange and the Nasdaq. The DJIA was invented by Charles Dow back in 1896.


9. 12B-1fee:
 A provision that allows a mutual fund to collect a small fee from investors. This fee is designated for promotions, sales, or any other activity connected with the distribution of the fund's shares. The fee must be reasonable: 0.5% to 1% of the fund's net assets, and up to a maximum of 8.5% of the offering price per share.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What is NOT an advantage of a mutual fund?

A. Instant Diversification.

B. Easy to Use.

C. You can easily make monthly contributions.

D. You are guaranteed to double your money in 5 years.

2. If you were looking to invest in a specific country or region, which mutual fund would be best suited for you?

A. Global Fund

B. Regional Fund

C. Growth Fund

D. Socially Responsible Fund

E. Green Fund

3. What is the difference between a front end and back end load?

A. Front-end funds charge a fee if the fund is redeemed early, back-end funds don't.

B. Front-end funds don't charge a fee, back-end funds do.

C. Front-end funds charge a fee when you buy the fund, back-end funds charge the fee at redemption.

D. None of the above.

4. What percent do most mutual funds have administration fees?

A. 0%

B. 0.5% — 2.5%

C. 3% — 5%

D. 6% — 10%

5. Buying a mutual fund based on past performance is a good strategy.

A. True.

B. False.


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. There are, _____, many different types of equity funds because there are many different types of equities.

2. The idea of pooling resources and spreading risk _____ closed-end investments soon took root in Great Britain and France, _____ its way to the United States in the 1890s.

3. What was _____ just another obscure financial instrument is now a part of our daily lives.

4. Income is earned from _______ on stocks and _____ on bonds. A fund pays out nearly all income it receives over the year to fund owners in the form of a distribution.

5. If the fund sells securities that have increased in price, the fund has a _____. Most _____ also pass on these gains to investors in a distribution.

6. There are many, many types of _____. You can classify funds based on _____, investing strategy, region, etc.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．基金集合了一部分委托人的资金，并代表他们的利益进行有预设目的的投资。每个基金公司都会雇佣投资专业人士来管理基金的投资组合，通常称他们为投资组合管理者。

2．共同基金的投资组合常在变动。例如，货币市场共同基金的投资组合平均持有时间一般不超过3个月；一些股票基金在1年内保持稳定的投资组合；另一些股票基金却变换频繁。

3．开放式基金是世界各国基金运作的基本形式之一。基金管理公司可随时向投资者发售新的基金单位，也须随时应投资者的要求买回其持有的基金单位。

4．目前，开放式基金已成为国际基金市场的主流品种，相对于封闭式基金，开放式基金在激励约束机制、流动性、透明度和投资便利程度等方面都具有较大的优势。

5．封闭式基金是指基金的发起人在设立基金时，事先确定发行总额，筹集到这个总额的80%以上时，基金即宣告成立，并进行封闭，在封闭期内不再接受新的投资。

6．开放式基金是指基金发行总额不固定，基金单位总数随时增减，投资者可以按基金的报价在基金管理人确定的营业场所申购或者赎回基金单位的一种基金。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Funds that invest in stock represent the largest category of mutual funds. Generally, the investment objective of this class of funds is long-term capital growth with some income.

2. The money market consists of short-term debt instruments, mostly T-bills. This is a safe place to park your money. You won't get great returns, but you won't have to worry about losing your principal.

3. Costs are the biggest problem with mutual funds. These costs eat into your return, and they are the main reason why the majority of funds end up with sub-par performance.

4. Diversification — By owning shares in a mutual fund instead of owning individual stocks or bonds, your risk is spread out. The idea behind diversification is to invest in a large number of assets so that a loss in any particular investment is minimized by gains in others.

5. If fund holdings increase in price but are not sold by the fund manager, the fund's shares increase in price.

6. A momentous year in the history of the mutual fund, 1928 also saw the launch of the Wellington Fund, which was the first mutual fund to include stocks and bonds, as opposed to direct merchant bank style of investments in business and trade.


 Reading Materials


The Truth Behind Mutual Fund Returns

Have you ever seen an advertisement for a mutual fund that reports a terrible return? We've never seen it! Yet it seems impossible for no fund to perform poorly. So what happens to the lemons if the mutual fund industry claims that all its funds are winning?

It doesn't take a rocket scientist to realize that the public doesn't invest into funds that historically perform poorly, so, to keep its customers, the mutual fund industry has a trick up its sleeve when it comes to bad funds. Many fund companies simply fold their bad funds into better performing funds. This means that reports of the funds' performance have been skewed by survivorship bias, which can make you think a fund company beats the market when really it underperforms.

A mutual fund company puts survivorship bias into action when distorting the true performance of its mutual funds, making the funds look more attractive than they really are. Survivorship bias occurs when funds with poor performance have been wiped out or made to disappear while strong performers continue to exist, creating skewed statistical data: survivorship bias makes it appear as though the poor performers never existed at all. A mutual fund company's current selection of funds will only include those funds that have been successful in the past. In other words, to hide any poor performance, the funds that exhibited bad returns would have been closed and/or merged into other funds.

For example, right after the dotcom crash many high-flying Internet funds had sunk to the point at which they weren't worth managing. Often companies simply merged their Internet fund into a larger "technology" fund. Not only did the sector funds get watered down, but the past losses were wiped from history as the new funds just treated the merger as an influx of cash. In short, survivorship bias creates an over-estimation of past returns and misleads investors into being over-optimistic of high future returns.

The Journal of Finance (Mar 1997) reports a comprehensive study by Mark Carhart on mutual funds over the period from 1962 to 1993. He states that "by 1993 fully one-third of all mutual funds had disappeared." Furthermore, in 1997 the Wall Street Journal reported that during 1982-1992 mutual funds reported average returns of 18.1%, but after calculating in survivorship bias, the report found that this return was whittled down to 16.3%, lower than the 17.5% return on the S&P 500 during the same period. In other words, when we take survivorship bias into account, the average mutual fund underperforms the market.

Hedge funds also fall into perils of survivorship bias. Many research & database firms, however, didn't start collecting data on retired hedge funds until 1994, so research on this area has yet to come to a definite conclusion. Just be careful when looking at any hedge fund returns reported before 1994 because there is a good chance survivorship bias skews the numbers significantly.

Fund companies argue that they shouldn't have to include dead funds in return calculations because the fund is transferred to a different manager. When a person buys a new car he or she don't get to erase all accidents and speeding tickets, so why is it that mutual fund companies virtually get to erase their past mistakes? The CFA Institute has attempted to place restrictions on how past performance is reported. This disclosure, though, isn't a requirement for mutual fund companies. They follow the restrictions only if they choose. Even companies that do comply usually only need to publish their true performance in the fine print on the prospectus or other promotional material that most investors don't read. The NASD and SEC have also made decisions on how funds report their returns, but there is still a gray area that can be (and often is) exploited by many companies.

Creation bias is a form of survivorship bias a fund company implements to launch a fund. Creation bias works by giving a handful of investment managers a small amount of money to incubate their own funds. After a couple years, the fund company chooses the manager who has performed the best because the better the performance, the more attractive the marketing pamphlets look. The successful funds are then made available to the public and marketed aggressively while the losers disappear as they are silently discontinued. Many investment professionals believe that creation bias is becoming a bigger problem than survivorship bias, particularly because it is much more difficult to detect.

Perhaps John Bogle (founder of Vanguard) had it right when he started advocating the idea that index funds are the only mutual fund investors should buy. When you take into account the super-low management fees, this argument for index funds becomes even stronger. The issues of survivorship and creation bias demonstrate the importance of being skeptical of mutual fund performance claims, particularly when the claims are coming from the company itself. Like we say so often, the key is to do your research. Before buying, always dig a little deeper into the prospectus to see what the true returns of a fund have been.


Chapter 12

Stocks Basics


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What a stock is

• The different types of stocks

• The stock market

• How to trade stocks

• What causes stock prices to change

• How to buy stocks

• How to read a stock table/quote

Introduction

Wouldn't you love to be a business owner without ever having to show up at work? Imagine if you could sit back, watch your company grow, and collect the dividend checks as the money rolls in! This situation might sound like a pipe dream, but it's closer to reality than you might think.

As you've probably guessed, we're talking about owning stocks. This fabulous category of financial instruments is, without a doubt, one of the greatest tools ever invented for building wealth. Stocks are a part, if not the cornerstone, of nearly any investment portfolio. When you start on your road to financial freedom, you need to have a solid understanding of stocks and how they trade on the stock market.

Over the last few decades, the average person's interest in the stock market has grown exponentially. What was once a toy of the rich has now turned into the vehicle of choice for growing wealth. This demand coupled with advances in trading technology has opened up the markets so that nowadays nearly anybody can own stocks.

Despite their popularity, however, most people don't fully understand stocks. Much is learned from conversations around the water cooler with others who also don't know what they're talking about. Chances are you've already heard people say things like, "Bob's cousin made a killing in XYZ company, and now he's got another hot tip…" or "Watch out with stocks — you can lose your shirt in a matter of days!" So much of this misinformation is based on a get-rich-quick mentality, which was especially prevalent during the amazing dotcom market in the late 1990s. People thought that stocks were the magic answer to instant wealth with no risk. The ensuing dotcom crash proved that this is not the case. Stocks can (and do) create massive amounts of wealth, but they aren't without risks. The only solution to this is education. The key to protecting yourself in the stock market is to understand where you are putting your money.

It is for this reason that we've created this tutorial: to provide the foundation you need to make investment decisions yourself. We'll start by explaining what a stock is and the different types of stock, and then we'll talk about how they are traded, what causes prices to change, how you buy stocks and much more.

The Definition of a Stock

Plain and simple, stock is a share in the ownership of a company. Stock represents a claim on the company's assets and earnings. As you acquire more stock, your ownership stake in the company becomes greater. Whether you say shares, equity, or stock, it all means the same thing.

Being an Owner

Holding a company's stock means that you are one of the many owners (shareholders) of a company and, as such, you have a claim (albeit usually very small) to everything the company owns. Yes, this means that technically you own a tiny sliver of every piece of furniture, every trademark, and every contract of the company. As an owner, you are entitled to your share of the company's earnings as well as any voting rights attached to the stock.

A stock is represented by a stock certificate. This is a fancy piece of paper that is proof of your ownership. In today's computer age, you won't actually get to see this document because your brokerage keeps these records electronically, which is also known as holding shares "in street name". This is done to make the shares easier to trade. In the past, when a person wanted to sell his or her shares, that person physically took the certificates down to the brokerage. Now, trading with a click of the mouse or a phone call makes life easier for everybody.
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Being a shareholder of a public company does not mean you have a say in the day-to-day running of the business. Instead, one vote per share to elect the board of directors1
 at annual meetings is the extent to which you have a say in the company. For instance, being a Microsoft shareholder doesn't mean you can call up Bill Gates and tell him how you think the company should be run. In the same line of thinking, being a shareholder of Anheuser Busch doesn't mean you can walk into the factory and grab a free case of Bud Light!

The management of the company is supposed to increase the value of the firm for shareholders. If this doesn't happen, the shareholders can vote to have the management removed, at least in theory. In reality, individual investors like you and I don't own enough shares to have a material influence on the company. It's really the big boys like large institutional investors and billionaire entrepreneurs who make the decisions.

For ordinary shareholders, not being able to manage the company isn't such a big deal. After all, the idea is that you don't want to have to work to make money, right? The importance of being a shareholder is that you are entitled to a portion of the company's profits and have a claim on assets. Profits are sometimes paid out in the form of dividends. The more shares you own, the larger the portion of the profits you get. Your claim on assets is only relevant if a company goes bankrupt. In case of liquidation2
 , you'll receive what's left after all the creditors have been paid. This last point is worth repeating: the importance of stock ownership is your claim on assets and earnings. Without this, the stock wouldn't be worth the paper it's printed on.

Another extremely important feature of stock is its limited liability, which means that, as an owner of a stock, you are not personally liable if the company is not able to pay its debts. Other companies such as partnerships are set up so that if the partnership goes bankrupt the creditors can come after the partners (shareholders) personally and sell off their house, car, furniture, etc. Owning stock means that, no matter what, the maximum value you can lose is the value of your investment. Even if a company of which you are a shareholder goes bankrupt, you can never lose your personal assets.

Debt vs. Equity

Why does a company issue stock? Why would the founders share the profits with thousands of people when they could keep profits to themselves? The reason is that at some point every company needs to raise money. To do this, companies can either borrow it from somebody or raise it by selling part of the company, which is known as issuing stock. A company can borrow by taking a loan from a bank or by issuing bonds. Both methods fit under the umbrella of debt financing3
 . On the other hand, issuing stock is called equity financing4
 . Issuing stock is advantageous for the company because it does not require the company to pay back the money or make interest payments along the way. All that the shareholders get in return for their money is the hope that the shares will someday be worth more than what they paid for them. The first sale of a stock, which is issued by the private company itself, is called the initial public offering (IPO).

It is important that you understand the distinction between a company financing through debt and financing through equity. When you buy a debt investment such as a bond, you are guaranteed the return of your money (the principal) along with promised interest payments. This isn't the case with an equity investment. By becoming an owner, you assume the risk of the company not being successful — just as a small business owner isn't guaranteed a return, neither is a shareholder. As an owner, your claim on assets is less than that of creditors. This means that if a company goes bankrupt and liquidates, you, as a shareholder, don't get any money until the banks and bondholders have been paid out; we call this absolute priority. Shareholders earn a lot if a company is successful, but they also stand to lose their entire investment if the company isn't successful.

Risk

It must be emphasized that there are no guarantees when it comes to individual stocks. Some companies pay out dividends, but many others do not. And there is no obligation to pay out dividends even for those firms that have traditionally given them. Without dividends, an investor can make money on a stock only through its appreciation in the open market. On the downside, any stock may go bankrupt, in which case your investment is worth nothing.

Although risk might sound all negatives, there is also a bright side. Taking on greater risk demands a greater return on your investment. This is the reason why stocks have historically outperformed other investments such as bonds or savings accounts. Over the long term, an investment in stocks has historically had an average return of around 10%-12%.

Stock types

There are two main types of stocks: common stock and preferred stock. Common stock is, well, common. When people talk about stocks they are usually referring to this type. In fact, the majority of stock is issued is in this form. We basically went over features of common stock in the last section. Common shares represent ownership in a company and a claim (dividends) on a portion of profits. Investors get one vote per share to elect the board members, who oversee the major decisions made by management.

Over the long-term, common stock, by means of capital growth, yields higher returns than almost every other investment. This higher return comes at a cost since common stocks entail the most risk. If a company goes bankrupt and liquidates, the common shareholders will not receive money until the creditors, bondholders and preferred shareholders are paid.

Preferred stock represents some degree of ownership in a company but usually doesn't come with the same voting rights. (This may vary depending on the company.) With preferred shares, investors are usually guaranteed a fixed dividend forever. This is different than common stock, which has variable dividends that are never guaranteed. Another advantage is that in the event of liquidation, preferred shareholders are paid off before the common shareholder (but still after debt holders). Preferred stock may also be callable, meaning that the company has the option to purchase the shares from shareholders at anytime for any reason (usually for a premium).

Some people consider preferred stock to be more like debt than equity. A good way to think of these kinds of shares is to see them as being in between bonds and common shares.

Common and preferred are the two main forms of stock; however, it's also possible for companies to customize different classes of stock in any way they want. The most common reason for this is the company wanting the voting power to remain with a certain group; therefore, different classes of shares are given different voting rights. For example, one class of shares would be held by a select group who are given ten votes per share while a second class would be issued to the majority of investors who are given one vote per share.

When there is more than one class of stock, the classes are traditionally designated as Class A and Class B. Berkshire Hathaway (ticker: BRK), has two classes of stock. The different forms are represented by placing the letter behind the ticker symbol in a form like this: "BRKa, BRKb" or "BRK.A, BRK.B".

How Stocks Trade

Most stocks are traded on exchanges, which are places where buyers and sellers meet and decide on a price. Some exchanges are physical locations where transactions are carried out on a trading floor. You've probably seen pictures of a trading floor, in which traders are wildly throwing their arms up, waving, yelling, and signaling to each other. The other type of exchange is virtual, composed of a network of computers where trades are made electronically.

The purpose of a stock market is to facilitate the exchange of securities between buyers and sellers, reducing the risks of investing. Just imagine how difficult it would be to sell shares if you had to call around the neighborhood trying to find a buyer. Really, a stock market is nothing more than a super-sophisticated farmers' market linking buyers and sellers.

Before we go on, we should distinguish between the primary market5
 and the secondary market6
 . The primary market is where securities are created (by means of an IPO) while, in the secondary market, investors trade previously-issued securities without the involvement of the issuing-companies. The secondary market is what people are referring to when they talk about the stock market. It is important to understand that the trading of a company's stock does not directly involve that company.

The New York Stock Exchange

The most prestigious exchange in the world is the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). The "Big Board" was founded over 200 years ago in 1792 with the signing of the Buttonwood Agreement by 24 New York City stockbrokers and merchants. Currently the NYSE, with stocks like General Electric, McDonald's, Citigroup, Coca-Cola, Gillette and Walmart, is the market of choice for the largest companies in America.

The NYSE is the first type of exchange (as we referred to above), where much of the trading is done face-to-face on a trading floor. This is also referred to as a listed exchange. Orders come in through brokerage firms that are members of the exchange and flow down to floor brokers who go to a specific spot on the floor where the stock trades. At this location, known as the trading post, there is a specific person known as the specialist whose job is to match buyers and sellers. Prices are determined using an auction method: the current price is the highest amount any buyer is willing to pay and the lowest price at which someone is willing to sell. Once a trade has been made, the details are sent back to the brokerage firm, who then notifies the investor who placed the order. Although there is human contact in this process, don't think that the NYSE is still in the stone age: computers play a huge role in the process.

The Nasdaq

The second type of exchange is the virtual sort called an over-the-counter (OTC)7
 market, of which the Nasdaq is the most popular. These markets have no central location or floor brokers whatsoever. Trading is done through a computer and telecommunications network of dealers. It used to be that the largest companies were listed only on the NYSE while all other second tier stocks traded on the other exchanges. The tech boom of the late 1990s changed all this; now the Nasdaq is home to several big technology companies such as Microsoft, Cisco, Intel, Dell and Oracle. This has resulted in the Nasdaq becoming a serious competitor to the NYSE. On the Nasdaq brokerages act as market makers for various stocks. A market maker provides continuous bid and ask prices within a prescribed percentage spread for shares for which they are designated to make a market. They may match up buyers and sellers directly but usually they will maintain an inventory of shares to meet demands of investors.

Other Exchanges

The third largest exchange in the U.S. is the American Stock Exchange (AMEX). The AMEX used to be an alternative to the NYSE, but that role has since been filled by the Nasdaq. In fact, the National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD), which is the parent of Nasdaq, bought the AMEX in 1998. Almost all trading now on the AMEX is in small-cap stocks and derivatives.

There are many stock exchanges located in just about every country around the world. American markets are undoubtedly the largest, but they still represent only a fraction of total investment around the globe. The two other main financial hubs are London, home of the London Stock Exchange, and Hong Kong, home of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The last place worth mentioning is the over-the-counter bulletin board (OTCBB). The Nasdaq is an over-the-counter market, but the term commonly refers to small public companies that don't meet the listing requirements of any of the regulated markets, including the Nasdaq. The OTCBB is home to penny stocks because there is little to no regulation. This makes investing in an OTCBB stock very risky.

What Causes Stock Prices to Change?

Stock prices change every day as a result of market forces. By this we mean that share prices change because of supply and demand. If more people want to buy a stock (demand) than sell it (supply), then the price moves up. Conversely, if more people wanted to sell a stock than buy it, there would be greater supply than demand, and the price would fall. Understanding supply and demand is easy. What is difficult to comprehend is what makes people like a particular stock and dislike another stock. This comes down to figuring out what news is positive for a company and what news is negative. There are many answers to this problem and just about any investor you ask has their own ideas and strategies.

That being said, the principal theory is that the price movement of a stock indicates what investors feel a company is worth. Don't equate a company's value with the stock price. The value of a company is its market capitalization, which is the stock price multiplied by the number of shares outstanding8
 . For example, a company that trades at $100 per share and has 1 million shares outstanding has a lesser value than a company that trades at $50 that has 5 million shares outstanding ($100 × 1 million = $100 million while $50 × 5 million = $250 million). To further complicate things, the price of a stock doesn't only reflect a company's current value, it also reflects the growth that investors expect in the future.

The most important factor that affects the value of a company is its earnings. Earnings are the profit a company makes, and in the long run no company can survive without them. It makes sense when you think about it. If a company never makes money, it isn't going to stay in business. Public companies are required to report their earnings four times a year (once each quarter). Wall Street watches with rabid attention at these times, which are referred to as earnings seasons. The reason behind this is that analysts base their future value of a company on their earnings projection. If a company's results surprise (are better than expected), the price jumps up. If a company's results disappoint (are worse than expected), then the price will fall.

Of course, it's not just earnings that can change the sentiment towards a stock (which, in turn, changes its price). It would be a rather simple world if this were the case! During the dotcom bubble, for example, dozens of internet companies rose to have market capitalizations in the billions of dollars without ever making even the smallest profit. As we all know, these valuations did not hold, and most internet companies saw their values shrink to a fraction of their highs. Still, the fact that prices did move that much demonstrates that there are factors other than current earnings that influence stocks. Investors have developed literally hundreds of these variables, ratios and indicators. Some you may have already heard of, such as the price/earnings ratio, while others are extremely complicated and obscure with names like Chaikin oscillator9
 or moving average convergence divergence.

So, why do stock prices change? The best answer is that nobody really knows for sure. Some believe that it isn't possible to predict how stock prices will change, while others think that by drawing charts and looking at past price movements, you can determine when to buy and sell. The only thing we do know is that stocks are volatile and can change in price extremely rapidly.

The important things to grasp about this subject are the following:

1. At the most fundamental level, supply and demand in the market determines stock price.

2. Price times the number of shares outstanding (market capitalization) is the value of a company. Comparing just the share price of two companies is meaningless.

3. Theoretically, earnings are what affect investors' valuation of a company, but there are other indicators that investors use to predict stock price. Remember, it is investors' sentiments, attitudes and expectations that ultimately affect stock prices.

4. There are many theories that try to explain the way stock prices move the way they do. Unfortunately, there is no one theory that can explain everything.

Buying Stocks

You've now learned what a stock is and a little bit about the principles behind the stock market, but how do you actually go about buying stocks? Thankfully, you don't have to go down into the trading pit yelling and screaming your order. There are two main ways to purchase stock.

1. Using a Brokerage

The most common method to buy stocks is to use a brokerage. Brokerages come in two different flavors. Full-service brokerages offer you (supposedly) expert advice and can manage your account; they also charge a lot. Discount brokerages offer little in the way of personal attention but are much cheaper. At one time, only the wealthy could afford a broker since only the expensive, full-service brokers were available. With the internet came the explosion of online discount brokers. Thanks to them nearly anybody can now afford to invest in the market.

2. DRIPs & DIPs

Dividend reinvestment plans (DRIPs) and direct investment plans (DIPs) are plans by which individual companies, for a minimal cost, allow shareholders to purchase stock directly from the company. Drips are a great way to invest small amounts of money at regular intervals.

How to Read A Stock Table/Quote

Any financial paper has stock quotes that will look something like the image below:
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Columns 1 & 2: 52-Week High and Low
 — These are the highest and lowest prices at which a stock has traded over the previous 52 weeks (one year). This typically does not include the previous day's trading.


Column 3: Company Name & Type of Stock
 — This column lists the name of the company. If there are no special symbols or letters following the name, it is common stock. Different symbols imply different classes of shares. For example, "pf" means the shares are preferred stock.


Column 4: Ticker Symbol
 — This is the unique alphabetic name which identifies the stock. If you watch financial TV, you have seen the ticker tape move across the screen, quoting the latest prices alongside this symbol. If you are looking for stock quotes online, you always search for a company by the ticker symbol.


Column 5: Dividend Per Share
 — This indicates the annual dividend payment per share. If this space is blank, the company does not currently pay out dividends.


Column 6: Dividend Yield
 — The percentage return on the dividend. Calculated as annual dividends per share divided by price per share.


Column 7: Price/Earnings Ratio
 — This is calculated by dividing the current stock price by earnings per share from the last four quarters.


Column 8: Trading Volume
 — This figure shows the total number of shares traded for the day, listed in hundreds. To get the actual number traded, add "00" to the end of the number listed.


Column 9 & 10: Day High and Low
 — This indicates the price range at which the stock has traded at throughout the day. In other words, these are the maximum and the minimum prices that people have paid for the stock.


Column 11: Close
 — The close is the last trading price recorded when the market closed on the day. If the closing price is up or down more than 5% than the previous day's close, the entire listing for that stock is bold-faced. Keep in mind, you are not guaranteed to get this price if you buy the stock the next day because the price is constantly changing (even after the exchange is closed for the day). The close is merely an indicator of past performance and except in extreme circumstances serves as a ballpark of what you should expect to pay.


Column 12: Net Change
 — This is the dollar value change in the stock price from the previous day's closing price. When you hear about a stock being "up for the day," it means the net change was positive.
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Quotes on the Internet

Nowadays, it's far more convenient for most to get stock quotes off the Internet. This method is superior because most sites update throughout the day and give you more information, news, charting, research, etc. To get quotes, simply enter the ticker symbol into the quote box of any major financial site. The example below shows a quote for Microsoft (MSFT) from Yahoo Finance. Interpreting the data is exactly the same as with the newspaper.

The Bulls, the Bears and the Farm

On Wall Street, the bulls10
 and bears11
 are in a constant struggle. If you haven't heard of these terms already, you undoubtedly will as you begin to invest.

The Bulls

A bull market is when everything in the economy is great, people are finding jobs, gross domestic product (GDP) is growing, and stocks are rising. Things are just plain rosy! Picking stocks during a bull market is easier because everything is going up. Bull markets cannot last forever though, and sometimes they can lead to dangerous situations if stocks become overvalued. If a person is optimistic and believes that stocks will go up, he or she is called a "bull" and is said to have a "bullish outlook".

The Bears

A bear market is when the economy is bad, recession is looming and stock prices are falling. Bear markets make it tough for investors to pick profitable stocks. One solution to this is to make money when stocks are falling using a technique called short selling12
 . Another strategy is to wait on the sidelines until you feel that the bear market is nearing its end, only starting to buy in anticipation of a bull market. If a person is pessimistic, believing that stocks are going to drop, he or she is called a "bear" and said to have a "bearish outlook".

The Other Animals on the Farm — Chickens and Pigs

Chickens are afraid to lose anything. Their fear overrides their need to make profits and so they turn only to money-market securities or get out of the markets entirely. While it's true that you should never invest in something over which you lose sleep, you are also guaranteed never to see any return if you avoid the market completely and never take any risk. Pigs are high-risk investors looking for the one big score in a short period of time. Pigs buy on hot tips and invest in companies without doing their due diligence. They get impatient, greedy, and emotional about their investments, and they are drawn to high-risk securities without putting in the proper time or money to learn about these investment vehicles. Professional traders love the pigs13
 , as it's often from their losses that the bulls and bears reap their profits.

What Type of Investor Will You Be?

There are plenty of different investment styles and strategies out there. Even though the bulls and bears are constantly at odds, they can both make money with the changing cycles in the market. Even the chickens see some returns, though not a lot. The one loser in this picture is the pig. Make sure you don't get into the market before you are ready. Be conservative and never invest in anything you do not understand. Before you jump in without the right knowledge, think about this old stock market saying: "Bulls make money, bears make money, but pigs just get slaughtered!"


 Summary


1. Stock means ownership. As an owner, you have a claim on the assets and earnings of a company as well as voting rights with your shares.

2. Stock is equity, bonds are debt. Bondholders are guaranteed a return on their investment and have a higher claim than shareholders. This is generally why stocks are considered riskier investments and require a higher rate of return.

3. You can lose all of your investment with stocks. The flip-side of this is you can make a lot of money if you invest in the right company.

4. The two main types of stock are common and preferred. It is also possible for a company to create different classes of stock.

5. Stock markets are places where buyers and sellers of stock meet to trade. The NYSE and the Nasdaq are the most important exchanges in the United States.

6. Stock prices change according to supply and demand. There are many factors influencing prices, the most important of which is earnings. There is no consensus as to why stock prices move the way they do.

7. A bull market is when everything in the economy is great, people are finding jobs, gross domestic product (GDP) is growing, and stocks are rising.

8. A bear market is when the economy is bad, recession is looming and stock prices are falling.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. earning　利润

2. brokerage　经纪、中介

3. liquidation　清算

4. bankrupt　破产

5. appreciation　增值

6. initial public offering　首次公开招股

7. bulls　牛市

8. bears　熊市

9. bid and ask prices　买入价和卖出价


 Notes



1. board of directors:
 A group of individuals that are elected as, or elected to act as, representatives of the stockholders to establish corporate management related policies and to make decisions on major company issues. Such issues include the hiring/firing of executives, dividend policies, options policies and executive compensation. Every public company must have a board of directors.


2. liquidation:
 When a business or firm is terminated or bankrupt, its assets are sold and the proceeds pay creditors. Any leftovers are distributed to shareholders.


3. debt financing:
 When a firm raises money for working capital or capital expenditures by selling bonds, bills, or notes to individual and/or institutional investors. In return for lending the money, the individuals or institutions become creditors and receive a promise that the principal and interest on the debt will be repaid.


4. equity financing:
 The act of raising money for company activities by selling common or preferred stock to individual or institutional investors. In return for the money paid, shareholders receive ownership interests in the corporation.


5. primary market:
 A market that issues new securities on an exchange. Companies, governments and other groups obtain financing through debt or equity based securities. Primary markets are facilitated by underwriting groups, which consist of investment banks that will set a beginning price range for a given security and then oversee its sale directly to investors.


6. secondary market:
 A market where investors purchase securities or assets from other investors, rather than from issuing companies themselves. The national exchanges — such as the New York Stock Exchange and the NASDAQ are secondary markets.


7. Over-The-Counter (OTC):
 A security traded in some context other than on a formal exchange such as the NYSE, TSX, AMEX, etc. The phrase "over-the-counter" can be used to refer to stocks that trade via a dealer network as opposed to on a centralized exchange. It also refers to debt securities and other financial instruments such as derivatives, which are traded through a dealer network.


8. outstanding shares:
 Stock currently held by investors, including restricted shares owned by the company's officers and insiders, as well as those held by the public. Shares that have been repurchased by the company are not considered outstanding stock.


9. chaikin oscillator:
 An oscillator created by subtracting a 10-day EMA from a 3-day EMA of the accumulation/distribution line.


10. bulls:
 An investor who thinks the market, a specific security or an industry will rise.


11. bears:
 An investor who believes that a particular security or market is headed downward. Bears attempt to profit from a decline in prices. Bears are generally pessimistic about the state of a given market.


12. short selling:
 The selling of a security that the seller does not own, or any sale that is completed by the delivery of a security borrowed by the seller. Short sellers assume that they will be able to buy the stock at a lower amount than the price at which they sold short.


13. pigs:
 An investor who is often seen as greedy, having forgotten his or her original investment strategy to focus on securing unrealistic future gains. After experiencing a gain, these investors often have very high expectations about the future prospects of the investment and, therefore, do not sell their position to realize the gain.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What does stock mean?

2. What does dividend mean?

3. What does equity mean?

4. Why does a company issue stock?

5. How to make money for investors if the firm no dividend pay?

6. Where can stocks be traded?

7. What kinds of risk do stock-investors want to face?

8. What is the purpose of a stock market?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Stock is a _____ in the ownership of a company. Stock represents a claim on the company's _____.

2. The management of the company is supposed to _____ the value of the firm for shareholders. If this doesn't happen, the shareholders can _____ to have the management removed, at least in theory.

3. Common stock _____ higher returns than almost every other investment. This higher return comes at a cost since common stocks _____ the most risk.

4. Why do stock prices change? The best answer is that nobody really knows for _____. Some believe that it isn't possible to _____ how stock prices will change, while others think that by drawing charts and looking at past price movements, you can determine when to buy and sell.

5. A bull market is when everything in the economy is _____, people are finding jobs, gross domestic product (GDP) is _____, and stocks are rising.

6. _____ supply and demand is easy. What is difficult to _____ is what makes people like a particular stock and dislike another stock.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．新股的发行价总是超过面值的，记录在公司账上的这个差额叫附加实缴资本，也叫资本公积。

2．尽管股票这个名字很大众化，但是大部分人都不是充分了解它。

3．公司的管理层的主要任务是增加公司股票持有人所持有公司资产的价值。

4．有限责任是股票的一个十分重要的特征，这意味着公司在不能支付它的债务时股票持有者没有负债责任。

5．理解股票供求关系是容易的，但是理解人们喜欢哪些股票不喜欢哪些股票是困难的。

6．一些人认为预测股票价格变化是不可能的，而一些人认为通过图形和分析以前的价格变化就能决定买卖时间。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Stock splits, like stock dividends, do not increase the assets or earning capacity of the firm, the split does decrease the price of the stock and thereby may increase its marketability.

2. Management may repurchase shares to reduce the chance of an unwanted takeover attempt.

3. The two most important characteristics of common stock as an investment are its residual claim and limited liability features.

4. Most stocks are traded on exchanges, which are places where buyers and sellers meet and decide on a price.

5. The most important factor that affects the value of a company is its earnings. Earnings are the profit a company makes, and in the long run no company can survive without them.

6. Stock prices change every day as a result of market forces. By this we mean that share prices change because of supply and demand. If more people want to buy a stock (demand) than sell it (supply), then the price moves up.


 Reading Materials


Stock Market Index

A stock market index is a method of measuring a section of the stock market. Many indices are cited by news or financial services firms and are used to benchmark the performance of portfolios such as mutual funds.

Types of Indices

Stock market indices may be classed in many ways. A broad-base index represents the performance of a whole stock market — and by proxy, reflects investor sentiment on the state of the economy. The most regularly quoted market indices are broad-base indices comprised of the stocks of large companies listed on a nation's largest stock exchanges, such as the British FTSE 100, the French CAC 40, the German DAX, the Japanese Nikkei 225, the American Dow Jones Industrial Average and S&P 500 Index, the Indian Sensex, the Australian All Ordinaries and the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index.

The concept may be extended well beyond an exchange. The Dow Jones Wilshire 5000 Total Stock Market Index, as its name implies, represents the stocks of nearly every publicly traded company in the United States, including all U.S. stocks traded on the New York Stock Exchange (but not ADRs) and most traded on the NASDAQ and American Stock Exchange. Russell Investment Group added to the family of indices by launching the Russell Global Index.

More specialised indices exist tracking the performance of specific sectors of the market. The Morgan Stanley Biotech Index, for example, consists of 36 American firms in the biotechnology industry. Other indices may track companies of a certain size, a certain type of management, or even more specialized criteria — one index published by Linux Weekly News tracks stocks of companies that sell products and services based on the Linux operating environment.

Index Versions

Some indices, such as the S&P 500 have multiple versions. These versions can differ based on how the index components are weighted and on how dividends are accounted for. For example, there are three versions of the S&P 500 index: price return which only considers the price of the components, total return which accounts for dividend reinvestment, and net total return which accounts for dividend reinvestment after the deduction of a withholding tax. As another example, the Wilshire 4500 and Wilshire 5000 indices have five versions each: full capitalization total return, full capitalization price, float-adjusted total return, float-adjusted price, and equal weight. The difference between the full capitalization, float-adjusted, and equal weight versions is in how index components are weighted.

Weighting

An index may also be classified according to the method used to determine its price. In a Price-weighted index such as the Dow Jones Industrial Average and the NYSE ARCA Tech 100 Index, the price of each component stock is the only consideration when determining the value of the index. Thus, price movement of even a single security will heavily influence the value of the index even though the dollar shift is less significant in a relatively highly valued issue, and moreover ignoring the relative size of the company as a whole. In contrast, a market-value weighted or capitalization-weighted index such as the Hang Seng Index factors in the size of the company. Thus, a relatively small shift in the price of a large company will heavily influence the value of the index. In a market-share weighted index, price is weighted relative to the number of shares, rather than their total value. Traditionally, capitalization- or share-weighted indices all had a full weighting i.e., all outstanding shares were included. Recently, many of them have changed to a float-adjusted weighting which helps indexing.

A modified market cap weighted index is a hybrid between equal weighting and capitalization weighting. It is similar to a general market cap with one main difference: the largest stocks are capped to a percent of the weight of the total stock index and the excess weight will be redistributed equally amongst the stocks under that cap. Moreover, in 2005, Standard & Poor's introduced the S&P Pure Growth Style Index and S&P Pure Value Style Index which was attribute weighted. That is, a stock's weight in the index is decided by the score it gets relative to the value attributes that define the criteria of a specific index, the same measure used to select the stocks in the first place. For these two stocks, a score is calculated for every stock, be it their growth score or the value score (a stock cant be both) and accordingly they are weighted for the index.

Criticism of Capitalization-Weighting

The use of capitalization-weighted indices is often justified by the central conclusion of modern portfolio theory that the optimal investment strategy for any investor is to hold the market portfolio, the capitalization-weighted portfolio of all assets. However, empirical tests conclude that market indices are not efficient. This can be explained by the fact that these indices do not include all assets or by the fact that the theory does not hold. The practical conclusion is that using capitalization-weighted portfolios is not necessarily the optimal method. As a consequence, capitalization weighting has been subject to severe criticism (see e.g., Haugen and Baker 1991, Amenc, Goltz, and Le Sourd 2006, or Hsu 2006), pointing out that the mechanics of capitalization weighting lead to trend-following strategies that provide an inefficient risk-return trade-off. Also, while capitalization weighting is the standard in equity index construction, different weighting schemes exist. First, while most indices use capitalization weighting, additional criteria are often taken into account, such as sales/revenue and net income (see the "Guide to the Dow Jones Global Titan 50 Index", January 2006). Second, as an answer to the critiques of capitalization-weighting, equity indices with different weighting schemes have emerged, such as "wealth"-weighted (Morris, 1996), "fundamental"-weighted (Arnott, Hsu and Moore 2005), "diversity"-weighted (Fernholz, Garvy, and Hannon 1998) or equal-weighted indices.

Indices and Passive Investment Management

There has been an accelerating trend in recent decades to create passively managed mutual funds that are based on market indices, known as index funds. Advocates claim that index funds routinely beat a large majority of actively managed mutual funds; one study claimed that over time, the average actively managed fund has returned 1.8% less than the S&P 500 index — a result nearly equal to the average expense ratio of mutual funds (fund expenses are a drag on the funds' return by exactly that ratio). Since index funds attempt to replicate the holdings of an index, they obviate the need for — and thus many costs of — the research entailed in active management, and have a lower "churn" rate (the turnover of securities which lose fund managers' favor and are sold, with the attendant cost of commissions and capital gains taxes).

Indices are also a common basis for a related type of investment, the exchange-traded fund or ETF. Unlike an index fund, which is priced daily, an ETF is priced continuously, is optionable, and can be sold short. Dr. Emanuele Canegrati of Catholic University of Milan has recently developed the concept of Market Index Leader. Based on the Granger-causality concept, he defined a market index leader one which Granger-causes other indices and it is not Granger-caused by any other index. Since Granger-causality does not deal with "true" causality, but only with a temporal sequence of events which have a linkage, he discovered that some indices are first-movers (leaders) and some others follow them. The former Granger-cause the latter.

Ethical Stock Market Indices

A notable specialised index type is those for ethical investing indices that include only those companies satisfying ecological or social criteria, e.g., those of The Calvert Group, KLD, FTSE4Good Index, Dow Jones Sustainability Index and Wilderhill Clean Energy Index. Another important trend is strict mechanical criteria for inclusion and exclusion to prevent market manipulation, e.g., in Canada when Nortel was permitted to rise to over 30% of the TSE 300 index value. Ethical indices have a particular interest in mechanical criteria, seeking to avoid accusations of ideological bias in selection, and have pioneered techniques for inclusion and exclusion of stocks based on complex criteria. Another means of mechanical selection is mark-to-future methods that exploit scenarios produced by multiple analysts weighted according to probability, to determine which stocks have become too risky to hold in the index of concern. Critics of such initiatives argue that many firms satisfy mechanical "ethical criteria", e.g., regarding board composition or hiring practices, but fail to perform ethically with respect to shareholders, e.g., Enron. Indeed, the seeming "seal of approval" of an ethical index may put investors more at ease, enabling scams. One response to these criticisms is that trust in the corporate management, index criteria, fund or index manager, and securities regulator, can never be replaced by mechanical means, so "market transparency" and "disclosure" are the only long-term-effective paths to fair markets.

Environmental Stock Market Indices

An environmental stock market index aims to provide a quantitative measure of the environmental damage caused by the companies in an index. Indices of this nature face much the same criticism as Ethical indices do — that the "score" given is partially subjective. However, whereas "ethical" issues (for example, does a company use a sweatshop) are largely subjective and difficult to score, an environmental impact is often quantifiable through scientific methods. So it is broadly possible to assign a "score" to (say) the damage caused by a tonne of mercury dumped into a local river. It is harder to develop a scoring method that can compare different types of pollutant — for example does one hundred tonnes of carbon dioxide emitted to the air cause more or less damage (via climate change) than one tonne of mercury dumped in a river (and poisoning all the fish). Generally, most environmental economists attempting to create an environmental index would attempt to quantify damage in monetary terms. So one tonne of carbon dioxide might cause $100 worth of damage, whereas one tonne of mercury might cause $50000 (as it is highly toxic). Companies can therefore be given an "environmental impact" score, based on the cost they impose on the environment. Quantification of damage in this nature is extremely difficult, as pollutants tend to be market externalities and so have no easily measurable cost by definition.


Chapter 13

Futures Markets


 Learning Objectives


After reading this chapter you will understand:

• What a forward contract is

• What a futures contract is

• The types of futures

• How to hedge with futures

• How futures contracts2
 are valued

• Users of Futures contracts

• What the Clearinghouse is

Introduction

Although futures1
 prices are widely quoted throughout the media each day, the industry is not well understood by the general public. Futures are contractual agreements made between two parties through a regulated futures exchange. The parties agree to buy or sell an asset-livestock, a foreign currency, or some other item — at a certain time in the future at a mutually agreed upon price. Each futures contract2
 specifies the quantity and quality of the item, expiration month, the time of delivery3
 and virtually all the details of the transaction except price, which the two parties negotiate based on current market conditions. Some futures contracts call for the actual, physical delivery of the underlying commodity or financial instrument4
 at contract termination. Others simply call for a cash settlement at contract termination. Generally, however, market participants do not hold their futures contracts until termination but rather offset5
 futures contracts they have bought ("gone long6
 ") by a subsequent sale; or, offset futures contracts they have sold ("gone short") by a subsequent purchase.

In broadest terms, futures are about anticipated future prices of basic commodities and financial instruments, based on current information. Futures are concerned with such questions as: What will the price of cattle be next December? What will interest rates be in six months? How much will a Euro be worth in May?

Because commodity prices are constantly changing, virtually all businesses face ongoing price risk. Meat processors face risk from fluctuating cattle prices, lenders from changing interest rates, and international businesses from varying currency rates. All these businesses can use futures to help manage their exposure to price risk.

History of Futures

The history of futures trading is, in a sense, two histories, both focused on how people have tried to improve the effectiveness of the commercial marketplace. The early story is a tale of how people in an agrarian society used forward contracts7
 (agreements to buy now, but pay and deliver later) as a means of getting farm commodities efficiently from producers to consumers, at established prices and delivery terms, and how those forward contracts evolved into futures contracts. The present day story explains how the futures industry reinvented itself in the latter part of the twentieth century, essentially by redefining the meaning of "commodity," so that it could accommodate the needs of complex financial markets in a society whose economy was no longer based primarily on agriculture.

The Early Story

Commodity markets have existed for centuries around the world because producers and buyers of foodstuffs and other items have always needed a common place to trade. Cash transactions were most common, but sometimes "forward" agreements were also made-deals to deliver and pay for something in the future at a price agreed upon in the present. There are records, for example, of "forward" agreements related to the rice markets in seventeenth century Japan; most scholars agree that forward arrangements actually date back much farther in time.

The immediate predecessors of futures contracts were "to arrive" contracts8
 . These were simple agreements to purchase designated goods when they arrived by ship, and they were used for centuries when shipping was the primary mode of international trade.

The first organized grain futures trading in the U.S. began in places such as New York City and Buffalo, but the development of "modern" futures, which are a unique type of forward agreement, began in Chicago in the 1840s. With the construction of the railroads, Chicago began to emerge as a center for transportation between mid-western producers and east coast population centers. The city was a natural hub for trade, but the trading that took place there was inefficient and unorganized until a group of Chicago-based business men formed the Board of Trade of the City of Chicago in 1848. The Board was a member-owned organization that offered a centralized location for cash trading of a variety of goods as well as trading of forward contracts. Members served as brokers who facilitated trading in return for commissions.

As trading of forward contracts increased, the Board decided that standardizing those contracts would streamline the trading and delivery processes. Instead of individualized contracts, which took a great deal of time to negotiate and fulfill, people interested in the forward trading of corn at the Board, for example, were asked to trade contracts that were identical in terms of quantity, quality, delivery month and terms, all as established by the exchange. The only thing left for traders to negotiate was price and the number of contracts.

These standardized forwards were essentially the first modern futures contracts. They were unlike other forwards in that they could only be traded at the exchange that created them, and only at certain designated times. They were also different from other forwards in that the bids, offers and negotiated prices of the trades were made public by the exchange. This practice established futures exchanges as venues for "price discovery" in U.S. markets.

In contrast to customized contracts, standardized futures contracts were easy to trade, since all trades were simply re-negotiations of price, and they usually changed hands many times before expiration. People who wanted to make a profit based on a fortuitous price change, or alternatively, who wished to cut mounting losses as quickly as possible, could "offset" a futures contract before expiration by engaging in an opposite trade: buying a contract which they had previously sold (or "gone short"), or selling a contract which they had previously bought (or "gone long").

The usefulness of futures trading became apparent, and a number of other futures exchanges were established throughout the country in the decades that followed. The Chicago Butter and Egg Board was founded in 1898 and evolved into Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) in 1919. Futures exchanges also opened in Milwaukee, New York, St. Louis, Kansas City, Minneapolis, San Francisco, Memphis, New Orleans and elsewhere. Chicago, however, became the most influential and predominant location for futures trading in the U.S.

The Era of Financial Futures

Throughout the first seven decades of the twentieth century, the futures industry remained essentially as it had been-focused on the trading of futures on agricultural products, but a remarkable change occurred in the industry in 1971, with the introduction of futures based on financial products.

Currency Futures

Currency futures are standardized contracts that trade like conventional commodity futures on the floor of a futures exchange. Orders to buy or sell a fixed amount of foreign currency are received by brokers or exchange members. These orders, from companies, individuals, and even market-making commercial banks, are communicated to the floor of the futures exchange. At the exchange, long positions (buyer) are matched with short9
 positions (seller). The exchange, or more precisely, its clearing corporation, guarantees both sides of each two-sided contract, that is, the contract to buy and the contract to sell. The willingness to buy versus the willingness to sell moves futures prices up and down to maintain a balance between the number of buy and sell orders. The market-clearing price is reached in the vibrant, somewhat chaotic-appearing trading pit of the futures exchange, currency futures began trading in the International Money Market of the Chicago Mercantile Exchange in 1972. Since then many other markets have opened, including the COMEX commodities exchange in New York, the Chicago Board of trade, and the London International Financial Futures Exchange.

Interest Rate Futures

For many people it is one thing to understand the agricultural futures markets and even currency futures, but quite another to begin to imagine futures on interest rates. Like agricultural products and currencies, however, interest rates-the price of money-vary according to market pressures, and in this sense, they can also be viewed as a type of commodity. Since many businesses are subject to risk as rates change, the futures industry reasoned that interest rate futures could offer opportunities for hedging against rising or falling rates or capitalizing on rate changes, as did futures on other commodities.

Stock Index Futures

Like currencies, interest rates, and crop prices, stock index values also vary according to numerous market pressures. Changes in index values can positively or negatively affect businesses that depend on them, such as mutual fund companies and pension funds. Stock indexes, then, also fit into the expanded definition of "commodity." In the early 1980s, stock index values had become the barometers of overall health of the stock markets, and stock index futures drew an immediate audience because they enabled people to trade the values of "the market" without having to own any individual shares.

Futures Contract

A futures contract is a binding agreement between a seller and a buyer to make (seller) and to take (buyer) delivery of the underlying commodity (or financial instrument) at a specified future date with agreed upon payment terms. Most futures contracts don't actually result in delivery of the underlying commodity. Instead, most traders find it advantageous to settle their futures market10
 obligation by selling the contract (in the case of a contract that was purchased initially) or by buying it back (in the case of a contract that was sold initially). The trader then completes the actual cash transaction in his or her local cash market.

Futures contracts are standardized with respect to the delivery month; the commodity's quantity, quality, and delivery location; and the payment terms. The fact that futures contracts terms are standardized is important because it enables traders to focus their attention on one variable, namely price. Standardization also makes it possible for traders anywhere in the world to trade in these markets and know exactly what they are trading. This is in sharp contrast to the cash forward contract market, in which changes in specifications from one contract to another might cause price changes from one transaction to another. One reason futures markets are considered a good source of commodity price information is because price changes are attributable to changes in the commodity's price level, not changes in contract terms.

In contrast to a forward cash contract market, futures exchanges provide:

1. Rules of conduct which traders must follow or risk expulsion;

2. An organized market place with established trading hours by which traders must abide;

3. Standardized trading through rigid contract specifications, which ensure that the commodity being traded in every contract is virtually identical;

4. A focal point for the collection and dissemination of information about the commodity's supply and demand, which helps ensure all traders have equal access to information;

5. A mechanism for settling disputes among traders without resorting to the costly and often slow U.S. court system;

6. Guaranteed settlement of contractual and financial obligations via the exchange clearinghouse.

Valuing Futures Contracts

When you trade a futures contract, you agree either to buy or to sell the asset underlying the futures contract on a specified date in the future. The price at which the contract is traded is not pre-set, but is determined by market forces.

It is possible to calculate a theoretical fair value for a futures contract. The fair value of a futures contract should approximately equal the current value of the underlying shares or index, plus an amount referred to as the "cost of carry".

The cost of carry reflects the cost of holding the underlying shares over the life of the futures contract, less the amount the shareholder would receive in dividends on those shares during that time. Because the buyer of the futures contract pays only a small percentage of the contract value at the time of the transaction, they do not directly incur this funding cost.

As maturity approaches, the prices of the futures contract and the underlying asset tend to converge. The trader's profit or loss depends on how far the price of the futures contract at maturity is above or below the price at which the contract was initially traded.

The full value of the futures contract is not paid or received when the contract is established-instead both buyer and seller pay a small initial margin. The traded price is the basis on which profit or loss is calculated at maturity or on closing out the position if this takes place before maturity.

Users of Futures Contracts

Who uses futures, and for what purpose? Traditionally, participants in the futures market have been classified as either hedgers or speculators. Because both groups are important in understanding the role and functioning of futures markets, we will consider each in turn. The distinctions between these two groups apply to financial futures as well as to the more traditional commodity futures.

Hedgers

Hedgers are parties at risk with a commodity or an asset, which means they are exposed to price changes. They buy or sell futures contracts in order to offset their risk. In other words, hedgers actually deal in the commodity or financial instrument specified in the futures contract. By taking a position opposite to that of one already held, at a price set today, hedgers plan to reduce the risk of adverse price fluctuations — that is, to hedge the risk of unexpected price changes. In effect, this is a form of insurance.

In a sense, the real motivation for all futures trading is to reduce price risk. With futures, risk is reduced by having the gain in the futures position offset the loss on the cash position.

Cattle ranchers, for example, may fear that cattle prices will decline before they bring their animals to market. To protect themselves, they decide to sell futures on live cattle that will expire at approximately the same time they expect to deliver their cattle to the market, and at the price they are hoping to get in the cash market. If cattle prices do go down, the ranchers can still make money on their futures positions, which will hopefully offset the reduced price they receive for their cattle.

How to hedge with futures

The key to any hedge is that a futures position is taken opposite to the position in the cash market. That is, the nature of cash market position determines the hedge in the futures market. A commodity or financial instrument held represents a long position, because these items could be sold in the cash market. On the other hand, an investor who sells a futures position not owned has created a short position. Since investors can assume two basic positions with futures contracts, long and short, there are two basic hedge positions.

1. The short hedge. A cash market inventory must sell the futures. Investors should think of short hedges as a means of protecting the value of their portfolios. Since they are hold securities, they are long on the cash position need to protect themselves against a decline in prices. A short hedge reduces, or possibly eliminates, the risk taken in a long position.

2. The long hedge. An investor who currently holds no cash inventory is, in effect, short on cash market; therefore, to hedge with futures requires a long position. Someone who is not currently in the cash market but who expects to be in the future and who wants to lock in current prices and yields until cash is available to make the investment can use a long hedge which reduces the risk of a short position.

Hedging is not an automatic process. It requires more than simply taking a position. Hedgers must make timing decisions as to when to initiate and end the process. As conditions changes, hedgers must adjust their hedge strategy.

Speculators

Speculators trade futures with the objective of making a profit by being on the right side of a price move. Since the prices of commodities and financial instruments tend to change frequently, at least in certain markets, trading opportunities can be numerous.

Speculators can be categorized into several broad groups: scalpers, day traders, position traders, arbitragers, and people seeking exposure to certain markets.

Scalpers typically trade for a small profit on any single trade and therefore often trade continuously, seeking to make as many small gains as possible. In so doing, they create liquidity-the presence of enough people in the market so that market participants, notably hedgers, can buy and sell quickly and in large volume without substantially impacting prices. Scalpers' frequent trades increase the trading possibilities available to others, and help provide the liquidity that is essential to the existence of futures markets.

Other speculators include day traders, who typically make one or two trades per day, and position traders, who tend to hold contracts for days, weeks or months, depending on market factors.

And finally, arbitragers are speculators who watch the relative value of multiple markets closely and step in to trade whenever momentary price discrepancies appear. By keeping prices in line for the same product trading on different exchanges, arbitragers lend stability to the price negotiation process.

Speculators are essential to the proper functioning of the futures market, absorbing the excess demand or supply generated by hedgers and assuming the risk of price fluctuations that hedgers wish to avoid. Speculators contribute to the liquidity of the market and reduce the variability in price over time.

Steps Involved in Trading Futures

Customers who desire to buy or sell futures contracts open accounts at brokerage firms that execute futures transactions. Under exchange requirements, a customer must establish a margin deposit11
 with the broker12
 before a transaction can be executed. This so-called initial margin is typically between 5 percent and 18 percent of a futures contract's full value. Brokers commonly require margin deposits above those required by the exchanges. As the futures contract price changes on a daily basis, its value is "market to market", or revised to reflect the prevailing conditions. When the contract's value moves in an unfavorable direction, participants in futures contracts receive a margin call from the broker, requiring additional margin money to satisfy what is called the maintenance margin. These margin requirements reduce the risk that participants will later default on their obligations.

Customers' orders are communicated to telephone stations located near the trading floor of the futures exchange. The floor brokers accommodate these orders. Each type of financial futures contract is traded in a particular location on the trading floor. The floor brokers make their offers to trade by open outcry, specifying the quantity of contracts they wish to buy or sell. Other floor brokers and traders interested in trading the particular type of futures contract can respond to the open outcry13
 . For every buyer of a futures contract, there is a corresponding seller. A futures exchange facilitates trading process but does not take buy or sell positions on the futures contracts. When two traders on the trading floor reach an agreement, each trader documents the specifics of the agreement, and the information is transmitted to the customers.

If there are more traders with buy offers than sell offers for a particular contract, the futures price will rise until this imbalance is removed. Price changes on financial futures contracts are indicated on quotation tickers.

Futures Exchanges

A futures exchange, legally known in the U.S. as a "designated contract market," is, at its core, an auction market — highly regulated, technical and complex-but an auction market nonetheless.

A futures exchange is the only place where futures and options on futures (which offer the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell an underlying futures contract at a particular price) can be traded. Trading may take place either on the exchange's trading floor or via an electronic trading platform. An exchange itself does not trade futures. Instead, it:

• Provides and maintains the facilities where buyers and sellers meet, ranging from traditional "trading pits" to global electronic trading networks.

• Researches, develops and offers futures contracts to be traded.

• Oversees the trading of its products and enforces trading-related rules and regulations.

• Monitors and enforces financial and ethical standards.

• Provides daily and historical data on the contracts traded under its auspices.

Futures exchanges in the U.S. are subject to a great deal of regulation. They are monitored by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) and the National Futures Association (NFA). In addition, most futures exchanges practice intense self-regulation, monitoring their employees and the trading practices that occur in their facilities.

These agencies look after the public interest, ensure fair practice and monitor the process of price discovery that occurs in futures trading. Other governmental bodies, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Federal Reserve Board, and the U.S. Treasury Board also monitor some futures exchange functions. Violations of exchange rules can result in substantial fines, as well as suspension or revocation of trading privileges.

Futures Exchanges in the U.S. and Abroad

There are currently 13 futures exchanges registered in the U.S. but not all are hosting active trading. CME is the largest futures exchange in the U.S. by volume, and the first U.S. futures exchange to become a for-profit corporation, after revising its original private membership structure and a becoming publicly traded company in 2002. Most U.S. exchanges remain not-for-profit, private membership organizations, but a number of them are actively weighing the advantages of changing to stock corporations.

There are more than 50 futures exchanges worldwide, and they are structured in a number of different ways. Some futures exchanges are owned by groups of banks or by a stock exchange holding company.

Since futures exchanges do not themselves engage in trading, people sometimes wonder how they earn money. Futures exchanges earn income primarily by:

• Receiving a fee for every trade made through the exchange.

• Selling price data-current, streaming price data in real time as well as historical price data on trades made through the exchange.

The Clearinghouse

The clearinghouse, an agency or separate corporation of a futures exchange, is responsible for settling trading accounts, collecting and maintaining margin monies, regulating delivery and reporting trade data. The clearinghouse becomes the buyer to each seller (and the seller to each buyer) and assumes responsibility for protecting buyers and sellers from financial loss by assuring performance on each contract.

Since all futures trades are cleared through the clearinghouse each business day, exchange members must either be members of the clearinghouse or pay a member for this service. From a financial requirement basis, being a member of the clearinghouse is more demanding than being a member of the associated exchange.

A clearinghouse facilitates the trading process by recording all transactions and guaranteeing timely payments on futures contracts. This precludes the need for a purchaser of a futures contract to check the creditworthiness of the contract seller. In fact, purchasers of contracts do not even know who the sellers are, and vice versa. The clearinghouse also supervises the delivery of contracts as of the settlement data.


 Summary


1. Futures are contractual agreements made between two parties through a regulated futures exchange. The parties agree to buy or sell an asset-livestock, a foreign currency, or some other item — at a certain time in the future at a mutually agreed upon price.

2. A futures contract is a binding agreement between a seller and a buyer to make (seller) and to take (buyer) delivery of the underlying commodity (or financial instrument) at a specified future date with agreed upon payment terms.

3. The standardized forwards were essentially the first modern futures contracts.

4. It is possible to calculate a theoretical fair value for a futures contract. The fair value of a futures contract should approximately equal the current value of the underlying shares or index, plus an amount referred to as the "cost of carry".

5. Futures contracts are standardized with respect to the delivery month; the commodity's quantity, quality, and delivery location; and the payment terms.

6. The full value of the futures contract is not paid or received when the contract is established-instead both buyer and seller pay a small initial margin.

7. The key to any hedge is that a futures position is taken opposite to the position in the cash market. That is, the nature of cash market position determines the hedge in the futures market.

8. Participants in the futures market have been classified as either hedgers or speculators.

9. The clearinghouse, an agency or separate corporation of a futures exchange, is responsible for settling trading accounts, collecting and maintaining margin monies, regulating delivery and reporting trade data.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. futures market　期货市场

2. futures contract　期货合约

3. financial futures　金融期货

4. commodity futures　商品期货

5. financial futures contract　金融期货合约

6. currency futures contract　货币期货合约

7. interest rate futures contract　利率期货合约

8. stock index futures contract　股票指数期货合约

9. financial forward contract　金融远期合约

10. clearing house　清算所

11. initial margins　初始保证金

12. settlement　交割

13. short seller　卖空者

14. futures delivery　期货交割

15. futures transaction　期货交易

16. hedger　套期保值者

17. speculator　投机者

18. offset　对冲，平仓

19. a long position　多头

20. a short position　空头，短缺头寸

21. short purchase　买空，空头补进

22. converge　集聚，（为共同利益而）结合一起

23. initial margin　原始保证金

24. futures position　期货头寸

25. brokerage firm　经纪商（号）

26. maintenance margin　维持保证金

27. cash market　现货市场

28. brokerage　经纪业，付给经纪人的佣金

29. futures price　期货价格

30. go long　买金，多头

31. go short　短缺，卖空，空头

32. place an order　订购，下单

33. trading pit　交易场

34. open outcry　公开喊价，公开叫价

35. floor broker　场内经纪人

36. transactions costs　交易费用

37. current futures price　现时的期货价格

38. settlement price　结算价格

39. date of delivery　交割期

40. point of delivery　交割地点

41. market order　市价订单

42. corners　垄断

43. short hedging　空头套做

44. long arbitrage　多头套做

45. margin call　追加保证金

46. market to market　逐日结算


 Notes



1. futures:
 A financial contract that encompasses the sale of financial instruments or physical commodities for future delivery, usually on a commodity exchange. Futures contracts try to "bet" what the value of an index or commodity will be at some date in the future.


2. futures contracts:
 An agreement to purchase or sell a commodity for delivery in the future: (1) at a price that is determined at initiation of the contract; (2) which obligates each party to the contract to fulfill the contract at the specified price; (3) which is used to assume or shift price risk; and (4) which may be satisfied by delivery or offset.


3. delivery:
 the transfer of the cash commodity from the seller of a futures contract to the buyer of a futures contract. Each futures exchange has specific procedures for delivery of a cash commodity. Some futures contracts, such as stock index contracts, are cash settled.


4. Financial instrument:
 there are two basic types: (1) a debt instrument, which is a loan with an agreement to pay back funds with interest; (2) an equity security, which is a share or stock in a company.


5. offset:
 taking a second futures or options position opposite to the initial or opening position.


6. long:
 A buyer of a futures contract. Someone who buys a futures contract is often referred to as being long that particular contract.


7. forward contracts:
 A cash transaction common in many industries, including commodity merchandising, in which a commercial buyer and seller agree upon delivery of a specified quality and quantity of goods at a specified future date. A price may be agreed upon in advance, or there may be agreement that the price will be determined at the time of delivery.


8. "To Arrive" contracts:
 The contracts which specified the future date (usually the month) a specified quantity of grain would be delivered to a particular location at a price identified in the contract, were an early forerunner of the modern futures contracts traded today. The first U.S. futures exchange was the Chicago Board of Trade (CBT), formed in 1848.


9. short:
 A seller of a futures contract. Someone who sells a futures contract is often referred to as being short that particular contract.


10. futures market:
 An auction market in which participants buy and sell commodity/future contracts for delivery on a specified future date. Trading is carried on through open yelling and hand signals in a trading pit.


11. deposit:
 The initial outlay required by a broker of a client to open a futures position, returnable upon liquidation of that position.


12. broker:
 A company or individual that executes futures and options orders on behalf of financial and commercial institutions and/or the general public.


13. open outcry:
 method of public auction for making verbal bids and offers in the trading pits or rings of futures exchanges.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. Carefully describe a futures contract.

2. Explain how futures contracts are valued daily.

3. Describe the role of the clearinghouse in futures trading.

4. Explain the differences between a hedger and a speculator.

5. Give a brief description of the history of futures.

6. What is key difference between forward and futures?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Futures are _____ agreements made between two parties through a regulated futures exchange. Each futures contract specifies the _____ and quality of the item, _____ month, the time of _____ and virtually all the details of the transaction except _____, which the two parties negotiate based on current market conditions.

2. The clearinghouse, an agency or separate corporation of a futures exchange, is responsible for _____ trading accounts, _____ and margin monies, _____ delivery and reporting trade data.

3. A futures contract is an _____ to purchase or sell a commodity for delivery in the future: (1) at a price that is determined at _____ of the contract; (2) which obligates each party to the contract to the contract at the specified price; (3) which is used to assume or shift price _____; and (4) which may be satisfied by _____ or _____.

4. The key to any hedge is that a futures position is taken _____ to the position in the cash market. That is, the nature of _____ market position determines the hedge in the _____ market.

5. Currency futures are _____ contracts that trade like conventional commodity futures on the floor of a futures exchange.

6. These orders, from companies, individuals, and even market-making commercial banks, are _____ to the floor of the futures exchange.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．商品生产者和经营者在生产和经营过程中，时刻面临着价格波动的风险。

2．价格无论向哪个方向变动，都会给一部分商品生产者和经营者造成损失。期货市场建立以后，他们可以在期货市场上按预期价格卖出商品和买进商品，锁住成本。

3．期货市场以标准化的交易所交易的证券代替了不规范的远期合约。

4．须特别注意的是，交割日的期货价格等于当时的现货价格。

5．产品期货交易还可以在一定程度上减少商品价格的波动。

6．期货市场上产品经营风险的转移功能大部分是由投机牟利者来完成的。期货市场上的投机牟利者利用产品价格的频繁变化进行买空和卖空，从中谋利。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Futures trading has a long history, both in the U.S. and around the world. Futures trading on a formal futures exchange in the U.S. originated with the formation of the Chicago Board of Trade (CBT) in the middle of the Nineteenth Century.

2. Grain dealers in Illinois were having trouble financing their grain inventories. The risk of grain prices falling after harvest made lenders reluctant to extend grain dealers credit to purchase grain for subsequent sale in Chicago.

3. To reduce their risk exposure, grain dealers began selling "To Arrive" contracts, which specified the future date (usually the month) a specified quantity of grain would be delivered to a particular location at a price identified in the contract.

4. Futures are contractual agreements made between two parties through a regulated futures exchange. The parties agree to buy or sell an asset-livestock, a foreign currency, or some other item — at a certain time in the future at a mutually agreed upon price.

5. Commodity markets have existed for centuries around the world because producers and buyers of foodstuffs and other items have always needed a common place to trade.

6. Currency futures are standardized contracts that trade like conventional commodity futures on the floor of a futures exchange.


 Reading Materials


Stock Index Futures

A stock market index future is a cash-settled futures contract on the value of a particular stock market index. Trading in stock index futures contracts was introduced by the Kansas City Board of Trade on February 24, 1982. In April 1982, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) began trading in futures contract based on the Standard and Poor's Index of 500 common stocks. The introduction of both contracts was successful, especially the S&P 500 futures contract, adopted by most institutional investors.

The global market for exchange-traded stock market index futures is notionally valued by the Bank for International Settlements at $221,200 million in 2005.

Stock index futures are used for hedging, trading, investments.

• Hedging using stock index futures could involve hedging against a portfolio of shares or equity index options.

• Trading using stock index futures could involve, for instance, volatility trading (The greater the volatility, the greater the likelihood of profit taking — usually taking relatively small but regular profits.)

• Investing via the use of stock index futures could involve exposure to a market or sector without having to actually purchase shares directly.

Please note the following cases of equity hedging with index futures:

• Where your portfolio "exactly" reflects the index (this is unlikely). Here, your portfolio is perfectly hedged via the index future.

• Where your portfolio does not entirely reflect the index (this is more likely to be the case). Here, the degree of correlation between the underlying asset and the hedge is not high. So, your portfolio is unlikely to be "fully hedged".

Stock index futures are traded in terms of number of contracts. Each contract is to buy or sell a fixed value of the index. The value of the index is defined as the value of the index multiplied by the specified monetary amount. In the S&P 500 futures contract traded at the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME), the contract specification states:

 

1 Contract = $250 × Value of the S&P 500

 

If we assume that the S&P 500 is quoting at 1000, the value of one contract will be equal to $250000 (250 × 1000). The monetary value — $250 in this case — is fixed by the exchange where the contract is traded.

Equity index futures and index options tend to be in liquid markets for close to delivery contracts. They trade for cash delivery, usually based on a multiple of the underlying index on which they are defined (for example 10 per index point).

OTC products are usually for longer maturities, and are usually a form of options product. For example, the right but not the obligation to cash delivery based on the difference between the designated strike price, and the value of the designated index at the expiration date. These are traded in the wholesale market, but are often used as the basis of guaranteed equity products, which offer retail buyers a participation if the equity index rises over time, but which provides guaranteed return of capital if the index falls. Sometimes these products can take the form of exotic options (for example Asian options or Quanto options).

Forward prices of equity indices are calculated by computing the cost of carry of holding a long position in the constituent parts of the index. This will typically be:

• The risk-free interest rate, since the cost of investing in the equity market is the loss of interest.

• Minus the estimated dividend yield on the index, since an equity investor receives the sum of the dividends on the component stocks. Since these occur at different times, and are difficult to predict, estimation of the forward price can be difficult, particularly if there are not many stocks in the chosen index.

Indices for futures are the well-established ones, such as S&P 500, FTSE, DAX, CAC40 and other G12 country indices. Indices for OTC products are broadly similar, but offer more flexibility.


Chapter 14

Options


 Learning Objectives


After studing this chapter you will understand:

• What an option is

• The types of options

• How to hedge with options

• Participants in the options market

• How options work

• Long-term options

Introduction

In finance, an option is a contract between a buyer and a seller that gives the buyer the right — but not the obligation — to buy or to sell a particular asset (the underlying asset) at a later day at an agreed price. In return for granting the option, the seller collects a payment (the premium) from the buyer. A call option gives the buyer the right to buy the underlying asset; a put option gives the buyer of the option the right to sell the underlying asset. If the buyer chooses to exercise this right, the seller is obliged to sell or buy the asset at the agreed price. The buyer may choose not to exercise the right and let it expire. The underlying asset can be a piece of property, or shares of stock or some other security, such as, among others, a futures contract. For example, buying a call option provides the right to buy a specified quantity of a security at a set agreed amount, known as the "strike price"1
 at some time on or before expiration, while buying a put option provides the right to sell. Upon the option holder's choice to exercise the option, the party who sold, or wrote the option, must fulfill the terms of the contract.

Nowadays, many investors' portfolios include investments such as mutual funds, stocks, and bonds. But the variety of securities you have at your disposal does not end there. A type of security called an option presents a world of opportunity to sophisticated investors. The power of options lies in their versatility. They enable you to adapt or adjust your position according to any situation that arises. Options can be as speculative or as conservative as you want. This means you can do everything from protecting a position from a decline to outright betting on the movement of a market or index. This versatility, however, does not come without its costs. Options are complex securities and can be extremely risky. This is why, when trading options, you'll see a disclaimer like the following: Options involve risks and are not suitable for everyone. Option trading can be speculative in nature and carry substantial risk of loss. Only invest with risk capital. Despite what anybody tells you, option trading involves risk, especially if you don't know what you are doing. Because of this, many people suggest you steer clear of options and forget their existence. Here we take a different stance on the issue. In our opinion, being ignorant of any type of investment places you in a weak position. Perhaps the speculative nature of options doesn't fit your style. No problem — then don't speculate in options. But, before you decide not to invest in options, you should understand them. Not learning how options function is as dangerous as jumping right in: without knowing about options you would not only forfeit having another item in your investing toolbox but also lose insight into the workings of some of the world's largest corporations. Whether it is to hedge the risk of foreign-exchange transactions or to give employees ownership in the form of stock options, most multinationals today use options in some form or another.

This chapter will introduce you to the fundamentals of options. Keep in mind that most options traders have many years of experience, so don't expect to be an expert immediately after reading this chapter.

What are Options?

An option is a contract giving the buyer the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell an underlying asset at a specific price on or before a certain date. An option, just like a stock or bond, is a security. It is also a binding contract with strictly defined terms and properties. Still confused? The idea behind an option is present in many everyday situations. Say for example you discover a house that you'd love to purchase. Unfortunately, you won't have the cash to buy it for another three months. You talk to the owner and negotiate a deal that gives you an option to buy the house in three months for a price of $200000. The owner agrees, but for this option, you pay a price of $3000. Now, consider two theoretical situations that might arise:

1. It's discovered that the house is actually the true birthplace of Elvis! As a result, the market value of the house skyrockets to $1000000. Because the owner sold you the option, he is obligated to sell you the house for $200000. In the end, your profit is $797000 ($1000000 - $200000 - $3000).

2. While touring the house, you discover not only that the walls are chock-full of asbestos, but also that the ghost of Henry VII haunts the master bedroom; furthermore, a family of super-intelligent rats have built a fortress in the basement. Though you originally thought you had found the house of your dreams, you now consider it worthless. On the upside, because you bought an option, you are under no obligation to go through with the sale. Of course, you still lose the $3000 price of the option. This example demonstrates two very important points. First, when you buy an option, you have a right but not the obligation to do something. You can always let the expiration date go by, at which point the option is worthless. If this happens, you lose 100% of your investment, which is the money you used to pay for the option. Second, an option is merely a contract that deals with an underlying asset. For this reason, options are called derivatives, which means an option derives
 its value from something else. In our example, the house is the underlying asset. Most of the time, the underlying asset is a stock or an index.

Calls and Puts

The two types of options are calls and puts.

A call gives the holder the right to buy an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time. Calls are similar to having a long position2
 on a stock. Buyers of calls hope that the stock will increase substantially before the option expires.

A put gives the holder the right to sell an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time. Puts are very similar to having a short position3
 on a stock. Buyers of puts hope that the price of the stock will fall before the option expires.

Participants in the Options Market

There are four types of participants in options markets depending on the position they take:

1. Buyers of calls.

2. Sellers of calls.

3. Buyers of puts.

4. Sellers of puts.

People who buy options are called holders and those who sell options are called writers; furthermore, buyers are said to have long positions, and sellers are said to have short positions. Here is the important distinction between buyers and sellers: -Call holders and put holders (buyers) are not obligated to buy or sell. They have the choice to exercise their rights if they choose. -Call writers and put writers (sellers) however are obligated to buy or sell. This means that a seller may be required to make good on their promise to buy or sell. Don't worry if this seems confusing — it is. For this reason we are going to look at options from the point of view of the buyer. Selling options is more complicated and can thus be even riskier. At this point it is sufficient to understand that there are two sides of an options contract.

The Lingo

To trade options, you'll have to know the terminology associated with the options market. The price at which an underlying stock can be purchased or sold is called the strike price. This is the price a stock price must go above (for calls) or go below (for puts) before a position can be exercised for a profit. All of this must occur before the expiration date. An option that is traded on a national options exchange such as the CBOE is known as a listed option. These have fixed strike prices and expiration dates. Each listed option represents 100 shares of company stock (known as a contract). For call options, the option is said to be in-the-money4
 if the share price is above the strike price. A put option is in-the-money when the share price is below the strike price. The amount by which an option is in-the-money is referred to as intrinsic value5
 . The total cost (the price) of an option is called the premium. This price is determined by factors including the stock price, strike price, time remaining until expiration (time value), and volatility. Because of all these factors, determining the premium of an option is complicated and beyond the scope of this chapter.

Why use Options?

There are two main reasons why an investor would use options: to speculate and to hedge.

Speculation

You can think of speculation as betting on the movement of a security. The advantage of options is that you aren't limited to making a profit only when the market goes up. Because of the versatility of options, you can also make money when the market goes down or even sideways. Speculation is the territory in which the big money is made — and lost. The use of options in this manner is the reason options have the reputation of being risky. Why? When you buy an option, you have to be correct in determining not only the direction of the stock's movement, but also the magnitude and the timing of this movement. To succeed, you must correctly predict whether a stock will go up or down, and you have to be right about how much the price will change as well as the time frame it will take for all this to happen. And don't forget commissions too! The combinations of these factors means the odds are stacked against you. So why do people speculate with options if the odds are so skewed? Aside from versatility, it's all about using leverage. When you are controlling 100 shares with one contract, it doesn't take much of a price movement to generate substantial profits.

Hedging

The other function of options is hedging. Think of this as an insurance policy. Just as you insure your house or car, options can be used to insure your investments against a downturn. Critics of options say that if you are so unsure of your stock pick that you need a hedge, you shouldn't make the investment. On the other hand, there is no doubt that hedging strategies can be useful, especially for large institutions. Even the individual investor can benefit. Imagine you wanted to take advantage of technology stocks and their upside, but say you also wanted to limit any losses. By using options, you would cost-effectively be able to restrict your downside while enjoying the full upside.

A Word on Stock Options

Although employee stock options6
 aren't available to everyone, this type of option could, in a way, be classified as a third reason for using options. Many companies use stock options as a way to attract and to keep talented employees, especially management. They are similar to regular stock options in that the holder has the right but not the obligation to purchase company stock. The contract, however, is between the holder and the company, whereas a normal option is a contract between two parties that are completely unrelated to the company.

An Example of How Options Work

Now that you know the basics of options, here is an example of how they work. We'll use a fictional firm called Cory's Tequila Company. Let's say that on May 1st, the stock price of Cory's Tequila Co. is $67 and the premium (cost) is $3.15 for a July 70 Call, which indicates that the expiration is the 3rd Friday of July and the strike price is $70. The total price of the contract is $3.15 × 100 = $315. In reality, you, d also have to take commissions into account, but we'll ignore them for this example. Remember, a stock option contract is the option to buy 100 shares; that's why you must multiply the contract by 100 to get the total price. The strike price of $70 means that the stock price must rise above $70 before the call option is worth anything; furthermore, because the contract is $3.15 per share, the break-even7
 price would be $73.15. When the stock price is $67, it's less than the $70 strike price, so the option is worthless. But don't forget that you've paid $315 for the option, so you are currently down by this amount. Three weeks later the stock price is $78. The options contract has increased along with the stock price and is now worth $8.25 × 100 = $825. Subtract what you paid for the contract, and your profit is ($8.25 - $3.15) × 100 = $510. You almost doubled our money in just three weeks! You could sell your options, which is called "closing your position," and take your profits — unless, of course, you think the stock price will continue to rise .... Say we let it ride. By the expiration date, the price tanks and is now $62. Because this is less than our $70 strike price and there is no time left, the option contract is worthless. We are now down to the original investment of $315.

To recap, here is what happened to our option investment:
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The price swing for the length of this contract from high to low was $825, which would have given us over double our original investment. This is leverage in action.

Exercising Versus Trading-out

So far we've talked about options as the right to buy or sell (exercise) the underlying. This is true, but in actuality a majority of options are not actually exercised.

In our example you could make money by exercising at $70 and then selling the stock back in the market at $78 for a profit of $8 a share. You could also keep the stock, knowing you were able to buy it at a discount to the present value.

However, the majority of the time holders choose to take their profits by trading out (closing out) their position. This means that holders sell their options in the market, and writers buy their positions back to close. According to the CBOE about 10% of options are exercised, 60% are traded out, and 30% expire worthless.

Intrinsic Value and Time Value

At this point it is worth explaining more about the pricing of options. In our example the premium (price) of the option went from $3.15 to $8.25. These fluctuations can be explained by intrinsic value and time value. Basically, an option's premium is its intrinsic value + time value. Remember, intrinsic value is the amount in-the-money, which, for a call option, means that the price of the stock equals the strike price. Time value represents the possibility of the option increasing in value. So, the price of the option in our example can be thought of as the following:
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In real life options almost always trade above intrinsic value. If you are wondering, we just picked the numbers for this example out of the air to demonstrate how options work.

Types of Options

There are two main types of options:

• American options can be exercised at any time between the date of purchase and the expiration date. The example about Cory's Tequila Co. is an example of the use of an American option. Most exchange-traded options are of this type.

• European options are different from American options in that they can only be exercised at the end of their life.

The distinction between American and European options has nothing to do with geographic location.

Long-Term Options

So far we've only discussed options in a short-term context. There are also options with holding times of one, two, or multiple years, which may be more appealing for long-term investors. These options are called LEAPS (which stands for Long-Term Equity Anticipation Securities). By providing opportunities to control and manage risk or even speculate, they are virtually identical to regular options. LEAPS, however, provide these opportunities for much longer periods of time. Although they are not available on all stocks, LEAPS are available on most widely-held issues.

Exotic Options

The simple calls and puts we've discussed are sometimes referred to as "plain vanilla" options. Even though the subject of options can be difficult to understand at first, these "plain vanilla" options are as easy as it gets! Because of the versatility of options, there are many types and variations of options. Nonstandard options are called exotic options, which either are variations on the payoff profiles of the plain vanilla options or are wholly different products with "option-ality" embedded in them.

How to Read an Options Table


Column 1: Strike Price
 — This is the stated price per share for which an underlying stock may be purchased (for a call) or sold (for a put) upon the exercise of the option contract. Option strike prices typically move by increments of $2.50 or $5.00 (even though in the above example it moves in $2 increments).
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Column 2: Expiry Date
 — This shows the termination date of an option contract. Remember that U.S. -listed options expire on the third Friday of the expiry month.


Column 3: Call or Put
 — This column refers to whether the option is a call (C) or put (P).


Column 4: Volume
 — This indicates the total number of options contracts traded for the day. The total volume of all contracts is listed at the bottom of each table.


Column 5: Bid
 — This indicates the price someone is willing to pay for the options contract.


Column 6: Ask
 — This indicates the price at which someone is willing to sell an options contract.


Column 7: Open Interest
 — Open interest is the number of options contracts that are open; these are contracts that have not expired nor been exercised.


 Summary


1. An option is a contract giving the buyer the right but not the obligation to buy or sell an underlying asset at a specific price on or before a certain date.

2. Options are derivatives because they derive their value from an underlying asset.

3. A call gives the holder the right to buy an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time.

4. A put gives the holder the right to sell an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time.

5. There are four types of participants in options markets: buyers of calls, sellers of calls, buyers of puts, and sellers of puts.

6. Buyers are often referred to as holders and sellers are also referred to as writers.

7. The price at which an underlying stock can be purchased or sold is called the strike price.

8. The total cost of an option is called the premium, which is determined by factors including the stock price, strike price and time remaining until expiration.

9. A stock option contract represents 100 shares of the underlying stock.

10. Investors use options both to speculate and hedge risk.

11. Employee stock options are different from listed options because they are a contract between the company and the holder. (Employee stock options do not involve any third parties.)

12. The two main classifications of options are American and European.

13. Long-term options are known as LEAPS.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. derivatives　衍生物

2. portfolios　投资组合

3. embedded　嵌入式

4. hedging　套期保值

5. premium　期权总成本

6. upside　上行


 Notes



1. strike price (or exercise price):
 The strike price is a key variable in a derivatives contract between two parties. Where the contract requires delivery of the underlying instrument, the trade will be at the strike price, regardless of the spot price (market price) of the underlying instrument at that time.


2. long position:
 The buying of a security such as a stock, commodity or currency, with the expectation that the asset will rise in value.


3. short position:
 The sale of a borrowed security, commodity or currency with the expectation that the asset will fall in value. In the context of options, it is the sale (also known as "writing") of an options contract.


4. in the money:
 For a call option, when the option's strike price is below the market price of the underlying asset. For a put option, when the strike price is above the market price of the underlying asset.


5. intrinsic value:
 For call options, this is the difference between the underlying stock's price and the strike price. For put options, it is the difference between the strike price and the underlying stock's price. In the case of both puts and calls, if the respective difference value is negative, the intrinsic value is given as zero.


6. employee stock option:
 An employee stock option is a call option on the common stock of a company, issued as a form of non-cash compensation. Restrictions on the option (such as vesting and limited transferability) attempt to align the holder's interest with those of the business, shareholders.


7. break-even point:
 In general, the point at which gains equal losses. In options, the market price that a stock must reach for option buyers to avoid a loss if they exercise. For a call, it is the strike price plus the premium paid. For a put, it is the strike price minus the premium paid.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. Why use options?

2. What are options?

3. How many types of options?

4. What is a call option?

5. What is a put option?

6. What is the function of stock option?

7. What is an option's premium?

8. What is advantage of options?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. An option is a contract between a buyer and a seller that _____ the buyer the right — but not the obligation — to buy or to sell a particular asset (the _____ asset) at a later day at an agreed price.

2. A call gives the holder the right to _____ an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time. Calls are similar to having a long position on a stock. Buyers of calls hope that the stock will _____ substantially before the option expires.

3. A put gives the holder the right to _____ an asset at a certain price within a specific period of time. Puts are very similar to having a short position on a stock. Buyers of puts hope that the price of the stock will before the option expires.

4. People who _____ options are called holders and those who _____ options are called writers; furthermore, buyers are said to have long positions, and sellers are said to have short positions.

5. Many companies use stock options _____ a way to attract and to _____ talented employees, especially management.

6. Intrinsic value is the amount in-the-money, which, for a call option, means that the price of the stock _____ the strike price. Time value represents the possibility of the option _____ in value.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．期权是一份和约，在这份合约中期权出售方授予期权的买方在规定的时间内从卖方购买或卖给卖方一定的产品的权利。

2．与其他的金融工具一样，期权可在有组织的交易所进行交易，也可以在场外进行。

3．期权可以根据期权买方执行该期权的时间来划分。在到期日前的任一时点都可执行的期权叫美式期权，只有在到期日才可执行的期权叫欧式期权。

4．场外期权有时又叫经纪人期权。

5．买入看涨期权所建立的金融头寸为多头看涨头寸。

6．期权的内在价值是立即执行期权后产生的期权的经济价值。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The option price reflects the option's intrinsic value and any additional amount over its intrinsic value.

2. When an option holds intrinsic value, it is said to be "in the money." When the strike price of a call option exceeds the current asset price, the call option is said to be "out of the money", it has no intrinsic value.

3. The strike price is fixed for the life of option. All other factors being equal, the lower the strike price, the higher the price of a call option.

4. Buying calls or selling puts allows the investor to gain if the price of the underlying asset rises. Selling calls and buying puts allows the investor to gain if the price of the underlying asset falls.

5. Writing a put option creates a financial position referred to as a short put position.

6. The clearinghouse associated with the exchange where the option trades performs the same function in the option market that is does in the futures market.


 Reading Materials


Employee Stock Option

An employee stock option is a call option on the common stock of a company, issued as a form of non-cash compensation. Restrictions on the option (such as vesting and limited transferability) attempt to align the holder's interest with those of the business' shareholders. If the company's stock rises, holders of options experience a direct financial benefit. This gives employees an incentive to behave in ways that will boost the company's stock price.

Employee stock options are mostly offered to management as part of their executive compensation package. They are also offered to lower staff, especially by businesses that are not yet profitable. They can also be offered to non-employees: suppliers, consultants, lawyers and promoters for services rendered.

Overview

Employee stock options (ESOs) are non-standardized, over-the-counter options that are issued as a private contract between the employer and employee. Over the course of employment, a company issues vested or non-vested ESOs to an employee which are struck at a particular price, often the company's current stock price. Depending on the vesting schedule and the maturity of the options, the employee may elect to exercise the options at some point, obligating the company to sell the employee its stock at whatever stock price was used as the strike price. At that point, the employee may either sell the stock, or hold on to it in the hope of further price appreciation.

Contract differences

Employee stock options have the following differences from standardized, exchange-traded options:

• Strike: The strike price is non-standardized and is often the current price of the company stock at the time of issue. Alternatively, a formula may be used, such as sampling the lowest closing price over a 30-day window on either side of the grant date. Often, an employee may have ESOs struck at different times and different strike prices.

• Quantity: Standardized stock options typically have 100 shares per contract. ESOs usually have some non-standardized amount.

• Vesting: Often the number of shares available to be exercised at the strike price will increase as time passes according to some vesting schedule. Vesting only occurs during the duration of the employment.

• Duration: ESOs often have a maturity that far exceeds the maturity of standardized options. It is not unusual for ESOs to have a maturity of 10 years from date of issue, while standardized options usually have a maximum maturity of about 30 months.

• Non-transferable: With few exceptions, ESOs are generally not transferable and must either be exercised or allowed to expire worthless on termination of employment.

• Over the counter: Unlike exchange traded options, ESOs are considered a private contract between the employer and employee. As such, those two parties are responsible for arranging the clearing and settlement of any transactions that result from the contract. In addition, the employee is subjected to the credit risk of the company. If for any reason the company is unable to deliver the stock against the option contract upon exercise, the employee may have limited recourse. For exchange-trade options, the fulfillment of the option contract is guaranteed by the credit of the exchange.

• Tax issues: There are a variety of differences in the tax treatment of ESOs having to do with their use as compensation. These vary by country of issue but in general, ESOs are tax-disadvantaged with respect to standardized options.

Valuation

The value of an ESOs closely follows the valuation techniques used for standardized options. The same models used in valuing standardized options, such as Black-Scholes and the binomial model, are also used for ESOs. Often, the only inputs to the pricing model that cannot be readily determined is the estimate of future realized volatility on the underlier, and the appropriate interest rate to use. However, there are a variety of services that are now offered to help determine appropriate values.

As of 2006, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) agree that the fair value at the grant date should be estimated at the grant date using an option pricing model. The majority of public and private companies apply the Black-Scholes model, however, through September 2006, over 350 companies have publicly disclosed the use of a binomial model in SEC filings.

Employee stock options in the U.S.

USA GAAP

FAS 123 Revised, does not state a preference in valuation model. However, it does state that "a lattice model can be designed to accommodate dynamic assumptions of expected volatility and dividends over the option's contractual term, and estimates of expected option exercise patterns during the option's contractual term, including the effect of blackout periods. Therefore, the design of a lattice model more fully reflects the substantive characteristics of a particular employee share option or similar instrument. Nevertheless, both a lattice model and the Black-Scholes-Merton formula, as well as other valuation techniques that meet the requirements in paragraph A8, can provide a fair value estimate that is consistent with the measurement objective and fair-value-based method of this Statement." The simplest and most common form of a lattice model is a binomial model.

According to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles in effect before June 2005, stock options granted to employees did not need to be recognized as an expense on the income statement when granted, although the cost was disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. This allows a potentially large form of employee compensation to not show up as an expense in the current year, and therefore, currently overstate income. Many assert that over-reporting of income by methods such as this by American corporations was one contributing factor in the Stock Market Downturn of 2002.

Employee stock options have to be expensed under U.S. GAAP in the U.S. Each company must begin expensing stock options no later than the first reporting period of a fiscal year beginning after June 15th, 2005. As most companies have fiscal years that are calendars, for most companies this means beginning with the first quarter of 2006. As a result, companies that have not voluntarily started expensing options will only see an income statement effect in fiscal year 2006. Companies will be allowed, but not required, to restate prior-period results after the effective date. This will be quite a change versus before, since options did not have to be expensed in case the exercise price was at or above the stock price (intrinsic value based method APB 25). Only a disclosure in the footnotes was required. Intentions from the international accounting body IASB indicate that similar treatment will follow internationally.

Method of option expensing: SAB 107, issued by the SEC, does not specify a preferred valuation model, but 3 criteria must be met when selecting a valuation model: The model 1) is applied in a manner consistent with the fair value measurement objective and other requirements of FAS123R; 2) is based on established financial economic theory and generally applied in the field; and 3) reflects all substantive characteristics of the instrument (i.e., assumptions on volatility, interest rate, dividend yield, etc. need to be specified) …

Types of employee stock options

In the U.S., stock options granted to employees are of two forms, that differ primarily in their tax treatment. They may be either:

• Incentive stock options (ISOs)

• Non-qualified stock options (NQSOs or NSOs)

Taxation of employee stock options in the USA

Because most employee stock options are non-transferable, are not immediately exercisable, and have other restrictions, the IRS considers that their "fair market value" cannot be "readily determined", and therefore "no taxable event" occurs when an employee receives an option grant. Depending on the type of option granted, the employee may or may not be taxed upon exercise. Non-qualified stock options (those most often granted to employees) are taxed upon exercise. Incentive stock options (ISO) are not, assuming that the employee complies with certain additional tax code requirements. Most importantly, shares acquired upon exercise must be held for at least one year after the date of exercise. If any of the additional requirements are not fulfilled, there is a "disqualifying disposition" and the gain realized upon exercise is taxed as ordinary income. When ISO shares are held at exercise and not sold in that calendar year, the spread at exercise is part of the Alternative Minimum Tax calculation.


Chapter 15

Swaps


 Learning Objectives


After studying this chapter you will understand:

• What a swap is

• Where swaps are traded

• The various types of swaps

• The valuation and pricing of swaps

• The risks of swaps

• The swaps and hedge

• The market of swaps

Introduction

A swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange sequences of cash flows for a set period of time. Usually, at the time the contract is initiated, at least one of these series of cash flows is determined by a random or uncertain variable, such as an interest rate, foreign exchange rate, equity price or commodity price. Conceptually, one may view a swap as either a portfolio of forward contracts, or as a long position in one bond coupled with a short position in another bond. This chapter will introduce the two most common and most basic types of swaps: the plain vanilla interest rate1
 and currency swaps.

The Swaps Market

Unlike most standardized options and futures contracts, swaps are not exchange-traded instruments. Instead, swaps are customized contracts that are traded in the over-the-counter (OTC2
 ) market between private parties. Firms and financial institutions dominate the swaps market, with few (if any) individuals ever participating. Because swaps occur on the OTC market, there is always the risk of a counterparty3
 defaulting on the swap.

The first interest rate swap occurred between IBM and the World Bank in 1981. However, despite their relative youth, swaps have exploded in popularity. In 1987, the International Swaps and Derivatives Association reported that the swaps market had a total notional value of $865.6 billion. By mid-2006, this figure exceeded $250 trillion, according to the Bank for International Settlements. That's more than 15 times the size of the U.S. public equities market.

Plain Vanilla Interest Rate Swap

The most common and simplest swap is a "plain vanilla" interest rate swap. In this swap, Party A agrees to pay Party B a predetermined, fixed rate of interest on a notional principal4
 on specific dates for a specified period of time. Concurrently, Party B agrees to make payments based on a floating interest rate to Party A on that same notional principal on the same specified dates for the same specified time period. In a plain vanilla swap, the two cash flows are paid in the same currency. The specified payment dates are called settlement dates, and the time between is called settlement periods. Because swaps are customized contracts, interest payments may be made annually, quarterly, monthly, or at any other interval determined by the parties.

For example, on December 31, 2006, Company A and Company B enter into a five-year swap with the following terms:

• Company A pays Company B an amount equal to 6% per annum on a notional principal of $20 million.

• Company B pays Company A an amount equal to one-year LIBOR4
 + 1% per annum on a notional principal5
 of $20 million.

LIBOR, or London Interbank Offer Rate, is the interest rate offered by London banks on deposits made by other banks in the eurodollar markets. The market for interest rate swaps frequently (but not always) uses LIBOR as the base for the floating rate. For simplicity, let's assume the two parties exchange payments annually on December 31, beginning in 2007 and concluding in 2011.

At the end of 2007, Company A will pay Company B $20000000 × 6% = $1200000. On December 31, 2006, one-year LIBOR was 5.33%; therefore, Company B will pay Company A $20000000 × (5.33% + 1%) = $1266000. In a plain vanilla interest rate swap, the floating rate is usually determined at the beginning of the settlement period. Normally, swap contracts allow for payments to be netted against each other to avoid unnecessary payments. Here, Company B pays $66000, and Company A pays nothing. At no point does the principal change hands, which is why it is referred to as a "notional" amount. Figure 1 shows the cash flows between the parties, which occur annually (in this example).
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Figure 1 Cash flows for a plain vanilla interest rate swap


Plain Vanilla Foreign Currency Swap

The plain vanilla currency swap involves exchanging principal and fixed interest payments on a loan in one currency for principal and fixed interest payments on a similar loan in another currency. Unlike an interest rate swap, the parties to a currency swap will exchange principal amounts at the beginning and end of the swap. The two specified principal amounts are set so as to be approximately equal to one another, given the exchange rate at the time the swap is initiated.

For example, Company C, a U.S. firm, and Company D, a European firm, enter into a five-year currency swap for $50 million. Let's assume the exchange rate at the time is $1.25 per euro (i.e., the dollar is worth $0.80 euro). First, the firms will exchange principals. So, Company C pays $50 million, and Company D pays 40 million. This satisfies each company's need for funds denominated in another currency (which is the reason for the swap).
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Figure 2 Cash flows for a plain vanilla currency swap, Step 1


Then, at intervals specified in the swap agreement, the parties will exchange interest payments on their respective principal amounts. To keep things simple, let's say they make these payments annually, beginning one year from the exchange of principal. Because Company C has borrowed euros, it must pay interest in euros based on a euro interest rate. Likewise, Company B, which borrowed dollars, will pay interest in dollars, based on a dollar interest rate. For this example, let's say the agreed-upon dollar-denominated interest rate is 8.25%, and the euro-denominated interest rate is 3.5%. Thus, each year, Company C pays 40000000 × 3.50% = 1 400000 to Company D. Company D will pay Company C $50000000 × 8.25% = $4125000. As with interest rate swaps, the parties will actually net the payments against each other at the then-prevailing exchange rate. If at the one-year mark, the exchange rate is $1.40 per euro, then Company D's payment equals $1960000, and Company C would pay the difference ($4125000 - $1960000 = $2165000).

[image: ]



Figure 3 Cash flows for a plain vanilla currency swap, Step 2


Finally, at the end of the swap (usually also the date of the final interest payment), the parties re-exchange the original principal amounts. These principal payments are unaffected by exchange rates at the time.
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Figure 4 Cash flows for a plain vanilla currency swap, Step 3


Who Would Use A Swap?

The motivations for using swap contracts fall into two basic categories: commercial needs and comparative advantage. The normal business operations of some firms lead to certain types of interest rate or currency exposures that swaps can alleviate. For example, consider a bank, which pays a floating rate of interest on deposits (i.e., liabilities) and earns a fixed rate of interest on loans (i.e., assets). This mismatch between assets and liabilities can cause tremendous difficulties. The bank could use a fixed-pay swap (pay a fixed rate and receive a floating rate) to convert its fixed-rate assets into floating-rate assets, which would match up well with its floating-rate liabilities.

Some companies have a comparative advantage in acquiring certain types of financing. However, this comparative advantage may not be for the type of financing desired. In this case, the company may acquire the financing for which it has a comparative advantage, then use a swap to convert it to the desired type of financing.

For example, consider a well-known U.S. firm that wants to expand its operations into Europe, where it is less well known. It will likely receive more favorable financing terms in the U.S. By then using a currency swap, the firm ends with the euros it needs to fund its expansion.

Exiting a Swap Agreement

Sometimes one of the swap parties needs to exit the swap prior to the agreed-upon termination date. This is similar to an investor selling an exchange-traded futures or option contract before expiration. There are four basic ways to do this.

• Buy Out the Counter-party


Just like an option or futures contract, a swap has a calculable market value, so one party may terminate the contract by paying the other this market value. However, this is not an automatic feature, so either it must be specified in the swaps contract in advance, or the party who wants out must secure the counterparty's consent.

• Enter an Offsetting Swap


For example, Company A from the interest rate swap example above could enter into a second swap, this time receiving a fixed rate and paying a floating rate.

• Sell the Swap to Someone Else


Because swaps have calculable value, one party may sell the contract to a third party. As with Strategy 1, this requires the permission of the counterparty.

• Use a Swaption


A swaption is an option on a swap. Purchasing a swaption would allow a party to set up, but not enter into, a potentially offsetting swap at the time they execute the original swap. This would reduce some of the market risks associated with Strategy 2.

Interest Rate Swap

An interest rate swap is a derivative in which one party exchanges a stream of interest payments for another party's stream of cash flows. Interest rate swaps can be used by hedgers to manage their fixed or floating assets and liabilities. They can also be used by speculators to replicate unfunded bond exposures to profit from changes in interest rates. Interest rate swaps are very popular and highly liquid instruments. Interest rate swaps are simply the exchange of one set of cash flows (based on interest rate specifications) for another. Because they trade OTC3
 , they are really just contracts set up between two or more parties, and thus can be customized in any number of ways.

Generally speaking, swaps are sought by firms that desire a type of interest rate structure that another firm can provide less expensively. For example, let's say Cory's Tequila Company (CTC) is seeking to loan funds at a fixed interest rate, but Tom's Sports Inc. (TSI) has access to marginally cheaper fixed-rate funds. Tom's Sports can issue debt to investors at its low fixed rate and then trade the fixed-rate cash flow obligations to CTC for floating-rate obligations issued by TSI. Even though TSI may have a higher floating rate than CTC, by swapping the interest structures they are best able to obtain inexpensively, the combined costs are decreased － a benefit that can be shared by both parties. In an interest rate swap, each counterparty agrees to pay either a fixed or floating rate denominated in a particular currency to the other counterparty. The fixed or floating rate is multiplied by a notional principal1
 amount (say, USD 1 million). This notional amount is generally not exchanged between counterparties, but is used only for calculating the size of cashflows to be exchanged.

The most common interest rate swap is one where one counterparty A pays a fixed rate (the swap rate) to counterparty B, while receiving a floating rate (usually pegged to a reference rate such as LIBOR).

A pays fixed rate to B (A receives variable rate).

B pays variable rate to A (B receives fixed rate).

Consider the following swap in which Party A agrees to pay Party B periodic fixed interest rate payments of 3.00%, in exchange for periodic variable interest rate payments of LIBOR + 50 bps (0.50%). Note that there is no exchange of the principal amounts and that the interest rates are on a "notional" (i.e., imaginary) principal amount. Also note that the interest payments are settled in net (e.g., if LIBOR is 1.30% then Party B receives 1.20% (3.00% － (LIBOR + 50 bps)) and Party A pays 1.20%). The fixed rate (3.00% in this example) is referred to as the swap rate.

At the point of initiation of the swap, the swap is priced so that it has a net present value of zero. If one party wants to pay 50 bps above the par swap rate, the other party has to pay approximately 50 bps over LIBOR to compensate for this.

Being OTC instruments interest rate swaps can come in a huge number of varieties and can be structured to meet the specific needs of the counterparties. By far the most common are fixed-for-fixed, fixed-for-floating or floating-for-floating. The legs of the swap can be in the same currency or in different currencies. (A single-currency fixed-for-fixed rate swap is generally not possible; since the entire cash-flow stream can be predicted at the outset there would be no reason to maintain a swap contract as the two parties could just settle for the difference between the present values of the two fixed streams; the only exceptions would be where the notional amount on one leg is uncertain or other esoteric uncertainty is introduced.)

Fixed-for-flodting Rate Swap, Same Currency

Party P pays/receives fixed interest in currency A to receive/pay floating rate in currency A indexed to X on a notional N for a term of T years. For example, you pay fixed 5.32% monthly to receive USD 1M Libor monthly on a notional USD 1 million for 3 years. The party that pays fixed and receives floating coupon rates is said to be long the interest swap. Interest rate swaps are simply the exchange of one set of cash flows for another.

Fixed-for-floating swaps in same currency are used to convert a fixed rate asset/liability to a floating rate asset/liability or vice versa. For example, if a company has a fixed rate USD 10 million loan at 5.3% paid monthly and a floating rate investment of USD 10 million that returns USD 1M Libor + 25 bps monthly, it may enter into a fixed-for-floating swap. In this swap, the company would pay a floating USD 1M Libor +25 bps and receive a 5.5% fixed rate, locking in 20bps profit.

Fixed-for-floating Rate Swap, Different Currencies

Party P pays/receives fixed interest in currency A to receive/pay floating rate in currency B indexed to X on a notional N at an initial exchange rate of FX for a tenure of T years. For example, you pay fixed 5.32% on the USD notional 10 million quarterly to receive JPY 3M (TIBOR) monthly on a JPY notional 1.2 billion (at an initial exchange rate of USD/JPY 120) for 3 years. For non-deliverable swaps, the USD equivalent of JPY interest will be paid/received (according to the FX rate on the FX fixing date for the interest payment day). No initial exchange of the notional amount occurs unless the Fx fixing date and the swap start date fall in the future. Fixed-for-floating swaps in different currencies are used to convert a fixed rate asset/liability in one currency to a floating rate asset/liability in a different currency, or vice versa. For example, if a company has a fixed rate USD 10 million loan at 5.3% paid monthly and a floating rate investment of JPY 1.2 billion that returns JPY 1M Libor + 50 bps monthly, and wants to lock in the profit in USD as they expect the JPY 1M Libor to go down or USD/JPY to go up (JPY depreciate against USD), then they may enter into a Fixed-Floating swap in different currency where the company pays floating JPY 1M Libor + 50 bps and receives 5.6% fixed rate, locking in 30bps profit against the interest rate and the fx exposure.

Floating-for-floating Rate Swap, Same Currency

Party P pays/receives floating interest in currency A Indexed to X to receive/pay floating rate in currency A indexed to Y on a notional N for a tenure of T years. For example, you pay JPY 1M LIBOR monthly to receive JPY 1M TIBOR monthly on a notional JPY 1 billion for 3 years.

Floating-for-floating rate swaps are used to hedge against or speculate on the spread between the two indexes widening or narrowing. For example, if a company has a floating rate loan at JPY 1M LIBOR and the company has an investment that returns JPY 1M TIBOR + 30 bps and currently the JPY 1M TIBOR = JPY 1M LIBOR + 10bps. At the moment, this company has a net profit of 40 bps. If the company thinks JPY 1M TIBOR is going to come down (relative to the LIBOR) or JPY 1M LIBOR is going to increase in the future (relative to the TIBOR) and wants to insulate from this risk, they can enter into a float-float swap in same currency where they pay, say, JPY TIBOR + 30 bps and receive JPY LIBOR + 35 bps. With this, they have effectively locked in a 35 bps profit instead of running with a current 40 bps gain and index risk. The 5 bps difference (w.r.t. the current rate difference) comes from the swap cost which includes the market expectations of the future rate difference between these two indices and the bid/offer spread which is the swap commission for the swap dealer.

Floating-for-floating rate swaps are also seen where both sides reference the same index, but on different payment dates, or use different business day conventions. These have almost no use for speculation, but can be vital for asset-liability management. An example would be swapping 3M LIBOR being paid with prior non-business day convention, quarterly on JAJO (i.e., Jan, Apr, Jul, Oct) 30, into FMAN (i.e., Feb, May, Aug, Nov) 28 modified following.

Floatirig-for-floatirig Rate Swap, Different Currencies

Party P pays/receives floating interest in currency A indexed to X to receive/pay floating rate in currency B indexed to Y on a notional N at an initial exchange rate of FX for a tenor T years. For example, you pay floating USD 1M LIBOR on the USD notional 10 million quarterly to receive JPY 3M TIBOR monthly on a JPY notional 1.2 billion (at an initial exchange rate of USD/JPY 120) for 4 years. To explain the use of this type of swap, consider a US company operating in Japan. To fund their Japanese growth, they need JPY 10 billion. The easiest option for the company is to issue debt in Japan. As the company might be new in the Japanese market without a well known reputation among the Japanese investors, this can be an expensive option. Added on top of this, the company might not have appropriate debt issuance program in Japan and they might lack sophisticated treasury operation in Japan. To overcome the above problems, it can issue USD debt and convert to JPY in the FX market. Although this option solves the first problem, it introduces two new risks to the company:

• FX risk. If this USD/JPY spot goes up at the maturity of the debt, then when the company converts the JPY to USD to pay back its matured debt, it receives less USD and suffers a loss.

• USD and JPY interest rate risk. If the JPY rates come down, the return on the investment in Japan might go down and this introduces an interest rate risk component.

The first exposure in the above can be hedged using long dated FX forward contracts but this introduces a new risk where the implied rate from the FX spot and the FX forward is a fixed rate but the JPY investment returns a floating rate. Although there are several alternatives to hedge both the exposures effectively without introducing new risks, the easiest and the most cost effective alternative would be to use a floating-for-floating swap in different currencies. In this, the company raises USD by issuing USD Debt and swaps it to JPY. It receives USD floating rate (so matching the interest payments on the USD Debt) and pays JPY floating rate matching the returns on the JPY investment.

Fixed-for-fixed Rate Swap, Different Currencies

Party P pays/receives fixed interest in currency A to receive/pay fixed rate in currency B for a term of T years. For example, you pay JPY 1.6% on a JPY notional of 1.2 billion and receive USD 5.36% on the USD equivalent notional of 10 million at an initial exchange rate of USD/JPY 120.

Other Variations

A number of other variations are possible, although far less common. Mostly tweaks are made to ensure that a bond is hedged "perfectly", so that all the interest payments received are exactly offset by the swap. This can lead to swaps where principal is paid on one or more legs, rather than just interest (for example to hedge a coupon strip), or where the balance of the swap is automatically adjusted to match that of a prepaying bond (such as RMBS).

Uses

Interest rate swaps were originally created to allow multi-national companies to evade exchange controls. Today, interest rate swaps are used to hedge against or speculate on changes in interest rates.

Hedging

Today, interest rate swaps are often used by firms to alter their exposure to interest-rate fluctuations, by swapping fixed-rate obligations for floating rate obligations, or vice versa. By swapping interest rates, a firm is able to alter its interest rate exposures and bring them in line with management's appetite for interest rate risk. For example, Fannie Mae uses interest rate derivatives to hedge its cash flows. The products it uses are pay-fixed swaps, receive-fixed swaps, basis swaps, interest rate caps and swaptions, and forward starting swaps. Its "cash flow hedges" had a notional value of $872 billion at December 31, 2003, while its "fair value hedges" stood at $169 billion (SEC Filings) (2003 10-K page 79). Its "net value" on "a net present value basis, to settle at current market rates all outstanding derivative contracts" was (7,712) million and 8,139 million, which makes a total of 6,633 million when a "purchased options time value" of 8,139 million is added.

Speculation

Interest rate swaps are also used speculatively by hedge funds or other investors who expect a change in interest rates or the relationships between them. Traditionally, fixed income investors who expected rates to fall would purchase cash bonds, whose value increased as rates fell. Today, investors with a similar view could enter a floating-for-fixed interest rate swap; as rates fall, investors would pay a lower floating rate in exchange for the same fixed rate.

Interest rate swaps are also very popular due to the arbitrage opportunities they provide. Due to varying levels of creditworthiness in companies, there is often a positive quality spread differential6
 which allows both parties to benefit from an interest rate swap. The interest rate swap market is closely linked to the Eurodollar futures market which trades at the Chicago Mercantile Exchange.

LIBOR/Swap zero rate

Since LIBOR only has maturities out to 12 months and that interest rate swaps often use LIBOR as the reference rate, interest rate swaps can be used as a proxy to extend the LIBOR yield curve out past 12 months.

Valuation and pricing

The present value of a plain vanilla (i.e., fixed rate for floating rate) swap can easily be computed using standard methods of determining the present value (PV) of the fixed leg and the floating leg.

The value of the fixed leg is given by the present value of the fixed coupon payments known at the start of the swap, i.e.,
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where C
 is the swap rate, M
 is the number of fixed payments, P
 is the notional amount, ti

 is the number of days in period i
 , Ti

 is the basis according to the day count convention7
 and dfi

 is the discount factor.

Similarly, the value of the floating leg is given by the present value of the floating coupon payments determined at the agreed dates of each payment. However, at the start of the swap, only the actual payment rates of the fixed leg are known in the future, whereas the forward rates (derived from the yield curve) are used to approximate the floating rates. Each variable rate payment is calculated based on the forward rate for each respective payment date. Using these interest rates leads to a series of cash flows. Each cash flow is discounted by the zero-coupon rate for the date of the payment; this is also sourced from the yield curve data available from the market. Zero-coupon rates are used because these rates are for bonds which pay only one cash flow. The interest rate swap is therefore treated like a series of zero-coupon bonds. Thus, the value of the floating leg is given by the following:
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where N
 is the number of floating payments, fj

 is the forward rate, P
 is the notional amount, tj

 is the number of days in period, j
 , Tj

 is the basis according to the day count convention and dfj

 is the discount factor. The discount factor always starts with 1. The discount factor is found as follows: [Discount factor in the previous period]/[1 + (Forward rate of the floating underlying asset in the previous period × Number of days in period/360)].

(Depending on the currency, the denominator is 365 instead of 360; e.g., for GBP.)

The fixed rate offered in the swap is the rate which values the fixed rates payments at the same PV as the variable rate payments using today's forward rates, i.e, :
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Therefore, at the time the contract is entered into, there is no advantage to either party, i.e.,
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Thus, the swap requires no upfront payment from either party.

During the life of the swap, the same valuation technique is used, but since, over time, the forward rates change, the PV of the variable-rate part of the swap will deviate from the unchangeable fixed-rate side of the swap. Therefore, the swap will be an asset to one party and a liability to the other. The way these changes in value are reported is the subject of IAS 39 for jurisdictions following IFRS, and FAS 133 for U.S. GAAP. Swaps are marked to market by debt security traders to visualize their inventory at a certain time.

Risks

Interest rate swaps expose users to interest rate risk and credit risk.

• Interest rate risk originates from changes in the floating rate. In a plain vanilla fixed-for-floating swap, the party who pays the floating rate benefits when rates fall. (Note that the party that pays floating has an interest rate exposure analogous to a long bond position.)

• Credit risk on the swap comes into play if the swap is in the money or not. If one of the parties is in the money, then that party faces credit risk of possible default by another party. This is not true with FTSE MTIRS Index.

Market Size

The Bank for International Settlements reports that interest rate swaps are the largest component of the global OTC derivative market. The notional amount outstanding as of December 2006 in OTC interest rate swaps was $229.8 trillion, up $60.7 trillion (35.9%) from December 2005. These contracts account for 55.4% of the entire $415 trillion OTC derivative market. Interest Rate swaps can now be traded as an Index through the FTSE MTIRS8
 Index.


 Summary


1. A swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange sequences of cash flows for a set period of time, swaps are customized contracts that are traded in the over-the-counter7
 (OTC) market between private parties.

2. The most common and simplest swap is a "plain vanilla" interest rate swap. In this swap, Party A agrees to pay Party B a predetermined, fixed rate of interest on a notional principal on specific dates for a specified period of time.

3. The plain vanilla currency swap involves exchanging principal and fixed interest payments on a loan in one currency for principal and fixed interest payments on a similar loan in another currency.

4. The motivations for using swap contracts fall into two basic categories: commercial needs and comparative advantage.

5. When one of the swap parties needs to exit the swap prior to the agreed-upon termination date, it is similar to an investor selling an exchange-traded futures or option contract before expiration.

6. An interest rate swap is a derivative in which one party exchanges a stream of interest payments for another party's stream of cash flows.

7. Interest rate swaps were originally created to allow multi-national companies to evade exchange controls. Today, interest rate swaps are used to hedge against or speculate on changes in interest rates.

8. Interest rate swaps are also very popular due to the arbitrage opportunities they provide.

9. The Bank for International Settlements reports that interest rate swaps are the largest component of the global OTC derivative market.

10. Interest rate swaps expose users to interest rate risk and credit risk.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. portfolio　投资组合

2. vanilla　香草

3. counterparty　对方

4. interval　区间

5. alleviate　减轻

6. or vice versa　反之亦然

7. sought　寻求

8. hedge funds　对冲基金

9. replicate　复制，折转


 Notes



1. the plain vanilla interest rate swap:
 it is the simplest swap structure, in which one party receives a fixed interest rate agreed in advance and the other party a variable reference interest rate.


2. OTC:
 A security traded in some context other than on a formal exchange such as the NYSE, TSX, AMEX, etc. The phrase "over-the-counter" can be used to refer to stocks that trade via a dealer network as opposed to on a centralized exchange. It also refers to debt securities and other financial instruments such as derivatives, which are traded through a dealer network.


3. counterparty:
 A counterparty (sometimes contraparty) is a legal and financial term. It means a party to a contract. A counterparty is usually the entity with whom one negotiates on a given agreement, and the term can refer to either party or both, depending on context.


4. LIBOR:
 London Interbank Offered Rate, An interest rate at which banks can borrow funds, in marketable size, from other banks in the London interbank market. The LIBOR is fixed on a daily basis by the British Bankers' Association. The LIBOR is derived from a filtered average of the world's most creditworthy banks' interbank deposit rates for larger loans with maturities between overnight and one full year.


5. notional principal:
 In an interest rate swap, the predetermined dollar amount on which the exchanged interest payments are based.


6. Quality Spread Differential (QSD):
 Quality Spread Differential arises during an interest rate swap in which two parties of different levels of creditworthiness experience different levels of interest rates of debt obligations. A positive QSD means that a swap is in the interest of both parties.


7. day count convention:
 In finance, a day count convention determines how interest accrues over time for a variety of investments, including bonds, notes, loans, medium-term notes, swaps, and FRAs. This includes the amount transferred on interest payment dates, but also the calculation of accrued interest for dates between payments. When a security such as a bond is sold between interest payment dates, the seller is eligible to some fraction of the coupon amount.


8. The FTSE MTIRS:
 The FTSE MTIRS Indices are designed to accurately move in direct correlation to OTC Interest Rate Swaps market with a total of 45 indices covering the USD curve from 2 years to 30 years including spreads and butterflies. FTSE MTIRS Indices account for changes to both fixed and floating rates and are rebalanced daily. The value of the FTSE MTIRS Indices change as the NPV changes and is mathematically rebalanced daily to ensure that the indices represent periods out of spot and remains at constant maturity. Composite market maker prices are used to calculate the FTSE MTIRS Index series and are used for rebalancing, supplying perfect correlation to OTC Interest Rate Swaps and effectively tracks fixed for floating Interest rates enabling the tracking of OTC Interest rate Swap exposure.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What is swaps?

2. Where can swaps be changed?

3. Who would use a swap?

4. what is an interest swaps?

5. What does comparative advantage mean?

6. What is a swaption?

7. What is plain vanilla interest rate swap?

8. How to Exit a Swap Agreement?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. Swaps are not exchange-traded instruments. Instead, swaps are _____ contracts that are traded in the over-the-counter (OTC) market between _____ parties.

2. In a plain vanilla swap, the two cash flows are paid in the same currency. The specified payment dates are called settlement _____, and the time between is called settlement _____.

3. The normal business _____ of some firms lead to certain types of interest rate or currency exposures that swaps can _____ .

4. An interest rate swap is a _____ in which one party exchanges a stream of interest payments for another party's stream of cash flows. Interest rate swaps can be used by _____ to manage their fixed or floating assets and liabilities.

5. Today, interest rate swaps are often used by firms to _____ their exposure to interest-rate fluctuations, by _____ fixed-rate obligations for floating rate obligations, or vice versa.

6. Interest rate swaps expose users to _____ risk and _____ risk.


III. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．互换是借款人和投资者用来控制风险的衍生金融工具。

2．互换是双方（也叫对手）达成的一项协议，以此为依据双方同意定期交换支付。

3．在利率互换中，双方根据相同货币约定的利率互换利率的支付。

4．在互换中，双方要交换支付，因而就会有一方不履行支付义务的风险（违约），这叫做对手风险。

5．套期保值者可利用利率互换来管理他们的固定或浮动利率的资产和负债。投机者也可利用利率互换在利率变化中规避债券风险而获利。

6．就像期权或期货合同，互换有可计算的市场价值，因此一方当事人可用支付对方互换的市场价值的方法终止合同。


IV. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. The market for interest rate swaps frequently (but not always) uses LIBOR as the base for the floating rate.

2. Because swaps are customized contracts, interest payments may be made annually, quarterly, monthly, or at any other interval determined by the parties.

3. Some companies have a comparative advantage in acquiring certain types of financing. However, this comparative advantage may not be for the type of financing desired. In this case, the company may acquire the financing for which it has a comparative advantage, then use a swap to convert it to the desired type of financing.

4. Fixed-for-floating swaps in same currency are used to convert a fixed rate asset/liability to a floating rate asset/liability or vice versa.

5. Swaps have exploded in popularity. In 1987, the International Swaps and Derivatives Association reported that the swaps market had a total notional value of $865.6 billion. By mid-2006, this figure exceeded $250 trillion.

6. Floating-for-floating rate swaps are used to hedge against or speculate on the spread between the two indexes widening or narrowing.


 Reading Materials


Currency Swap

Introduction

Currency swaps involve an exchange of cash flows in two different currencies. It is generally used to raise funds in a market where the corporate has a comparative advantage and to achieve a portfolio in a different currency of his choice, at a cost lower than if he accessed the market of the second currency directly. However, since these types of swaps involve an exchange of two currencies, an exchange rate, generally the prevailing spot rate is used to calculate the amount of cash flows, apart from interest rates relevant to these two currencies. By its special nature, these instruments are used for hedging risk arising out of interest rates and exchange rates.

A currency swap is a contract which commits two counter parties to an exchange, over an agreed period, two streams of payments in different currencies, each calculated using a different interest rate, and an exchange, at the end of the period, of the corresponding principal amounts, at an exchange rate agreed at the start of the contract.

Consider a swap in which

Bank UK commits to pay Bank U.S., over a period of 2 years, a stream of interest on USD 14 million, the interest rate is agreed when the swap is negotiated; in exchange, Bank U.S. commits to pay Bank UK, over the same period, a counter stream of sterling interest on GBP 10 million; this interest rate is also agreed when the swap is negotiated.

Bank UK and Bank U.S. also commit to exchange, at the end of the two year period, the principals of USD 14 million and GBP 10 million on which interest payments are being made; the exchange rate of 1.4000 is agreed at the start of the swap. We can now see from the above that currency swaps differ from interest rate swaps in that currency swaps involve:

• An exchange of payments in two currencies.

• Not only exchange of interest, but also an exchange of principal amounts.

• Unlike interest rate swaps, currency swaps are not off balance sheet instruments since they involve exchange of principal at the end of the period.

• The idea of entering into the currency swap is that, Bank U.S. is probably expecting an amount of GBP 10 million at the end of the period, while Bank UK is expecting an amount of USD 14 million, which they agreed to exchange at the end of the period at a mutually agreed exchange rate.

• The interest payments at various intervals are calculated either at a fixed interest rate or a floating rate index as agreed between the parties.

• Currency swaps can also use two fixed interest rates for the two different currencies — different from the interest rate swaps.

• The agreed exchange rate need not be related to the market.

• The principal amounts can be exchanged even at the start of the swap.
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If in the above-mentioned swap, the two banks agree to exchange the principal at the beginning.

• Bank UK will sell GBP to Bank U.S. in exchange for U.S. Dollars.

• This would be at an exchange rate, most likely the spot rate.

• These banks would borrow the respective currencies, which they have sold.

• But at maturity, this exchange of principal would be reversed at the original exchange rate. (This kind of swap is called a par swap.)

Types of Currency Swaps

Cross-currency coupon swaps

These are fixed-against-floating swaps.
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Cross-currency basis swap

These swaps involve payments attached to a floating rate index for both the currencies. In other words, floating-against-floating cross-currency basis swaps.

Risk Management with currency swaps (Principal exchanged at Maturity)

A UK Co. With mainly sterling revenues, has borrowed fixed-interest dollars in order to purchase machinery from the U.S. It now expects the GBP to depreciate against the USD and is worried about increase in its cost of repayment.

It could now hedge its exposure to a dollar appreciation by using a GBP/USD currency swap. It would fix the rate at which the company, at maturity, could exchange its accumulated sterling revenues for the dollars needed to repay the borrowing. Fixing the exchange rate hedges the currency risk in borrowing dollars and repaying through sterling. Assuming, the Company expects not only the dollar to appreciate, but also the GBP interest rates to fall. It could take advantage of this situation, by swapping from fixed-interest dollars into floating interest sterling.
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Stages:

a. At the start of the swap, the GBP/USD rate is agreed at which the principal amounts will be exchanged at maturity (probably, the prevailing GBP/USD spot rate).

b. At the same time, interest rates for use in the swap are also agreed.

c. Over the life of the swap, the UK Company will pay a stream of sterling floating interest through the swap and will receive a counter stream of dollar fixed interest in exchange. The dollar interest received through the swap will be used to service the dollar borrowing; the sterling interest paid through the swap will be funded from earnings.

d. At maturity, the company will pay a sterling principal amount through the swap and receive a dollar principal amount in exchange. The exchange is made at the GBP/USD rate agreed at the start of the swap. The company will fund its payment of principal through the swap from accumulated sterling earnings from its business and will use the dollar principal it receives in exchange to repay its dollar borrowing.

Example: (Principal exchanged at the beginning)

This will be the case when the UK co. wants to swap its dollar loan into a sterling loan, but needs dollars at the outset to pay for dollar imports or for any other purpose. In this case, the UK co. would simply acquire the dollars from the spot foreign exchange market. It would fund this spot purchase of dollars with the sterling received through the swap in the initial exchange of principal amounts.
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Stages:

a. At the start of the swap, the UK co. buys dollars against sterling in the spot market.

b. The dollar bought in the spot are exchanged through the swap for sterling, at the same GBP/USD exchange rate at which the UK co. had to buy dollars against sterling in the spot market; the sterling received through the swap is used to fund the spot purchase of the dollars.

c. At the same time, the GBP/USD rate at which the principal amounts will be exchanged at maturity is fixed at the spot rate at which the UK co. had to buy dollar against sterling in the spot.

d. The interest rates for use in the swap are also agreed.

e. Over the life of the swap, the UK co. will pay a stream of sterling interest through the swap and will receive a counter stream of dollar interest in exchange. The dollar interest received will be used to service to the dollar borrowing; the sterling interest paid through the swap will be funded from earnings.

f. At maturity, the co. will pay a sterling principal amount through the swap and receive a dollar principal amount in exchange. The exchange is made at the GBP/USD rate agreed at the start of the swap. The co. will fund its payment of principal through the swap from accumulated sterling earnings from its operations and will use the dollar principal, it receives in exchange, to repay its dollar borrowing.


Chapter 16

Insurance


 Learning Objectives


After studing this chapter you will understand:

• What the principles of insurance are

• What the insurance is

• The types of the insurances

• The functions of the insurances

• Insurers' business model

• The risk of insurance

• The types of insurance companies

Introduction

Insurance is a contract (policy) in which an individual or entity receives financial protection or reimbursement against losses from an insurance company. The company pools clients' risks to make payments more affordable for the insured. Insurance, in law and economics, is a form of risk management primarily used to hedge against the risk of a contingent loss. Insurance is defined as the equitable transfer of the risk of a loss, from one entity to another, in exchange for a premium, and can be thought of as a guaranteed small loss to prevent a large, possibly devastating loss. An insurer is a company selling the insurance; an insured is the person or entity buying the insurance. The insurance rate is a factor used to determine the amount to be charged for a certain amount of insurance coverage, called the premium. Risk management, the practice of appraising and controlling risk, has evolved as a discrete field of study and practice.

Principles of Insurance

Commercially insurable risks typically share seven common characteristics.


1. A large number of homogeneous exposure units.
 The vast majority of insurance policies are provided for individual members of very large classes. Automobile insurance, for example, covered about 175 million automobiles in the United States in 2004. The existence of a large number of homogeneous exposure units allows insurers to benefit from the so-called "law of large numbers1
 ," which in effect states that as the number of exposure units increases, the actual results are increasingly likely to become close to expected results. There are exceptions to this criterion. Lloyd's of London is famous for insuring the life or health of actors, actresses and sports figures. Satellite Launch insurance covers events that are infrequent. Large commercial property policies may insure exceptional properties for which there are no "homogeneous" exposure units. Despite failing on this criterion, many exposures like these are generally considered to be insurable.


2. Definite Loss.
 The event that gives rise to the loss that is subject to the insured, at least in principle, take place at a known time, in a known place, and from a known cause. The classic example is death of an insured person on a life insurance policy. Fire, automobile accidents, and worker injuries may all easily meet this criterion. Other types of losses may only be definite in theory. Occupational disease, for instance, may involve prolonged exposure to injurious conditions where no specific time, place or cause is identifiable. Ideally, the time, place and cause of a loss should be clear enough that a reasonable person, with sufficient information, could objectively verify all three elements.


3. Accidental Loss.
 The event that constitutes the trigger of a claim should be fortuitous, or at least outside the control of the beneficiary of the insurance. The loss should be "pure", in the sense that it results from an event for which there is only the opportunity for cost. Events that contain speculative elements, such as ordinary business risks, are generally not considered insurable.


4. Large Loss.
 The size of the loss must be meaningful from the perspective of the insured. Insurance premiums need to cover both the expected cost of losses, plus the cost of issuing and administering the policy, adjusting losses, and supplying the capital needed to reasonably assure that the insurer will be able to pay claims. For small losses these latter costs may be several times the size of the expected cost of losses. There is little point in paying such costs unless the protection offered has real value to a buyer.


5. Affordable Premium.
 If the likelihood of an insured event is so high, or the cost of the event so large, that the resulting premium is large relative to the amount of protection offered, it is not likely that anyone will buy insurance, even if on offer. Further, as the accounting profession formally recognizes in financial accounting standards, the premium cannot be so large that there is not a reasonable chance of a significant loss to the insurer. If there is no such chance of loss, the transaction may have the form of insurance, but not the substance. (See the U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board standard number 113).


6. Calculable Loss.
 There are two elements that must be at least estimable, if not formally calculable: the probability of loss, and the attendant cost. Probability of loss is generally an empirical exercise, while cost has more to do with the ability of a reasonable person in possession of a copy of the insurance policy and a proof of loss associated with a claim presented under that policy to make a reasonably definite and objective evaluation of the amount of the loss recoverable as a result of the claim.


7. Limited risk of catastrophically large losses.
 The essential risk is often aggregation. If the same event can cause losses to numerous policyholders of the same insurer, the ability of that insurer to issue policies becomes constrained, not by factors surrounding the individual characteristics of a given policyholder, but by the factors surrounding the sum of all policyholders so exposed. Typically, insurers prefer to limit their exposure to a loss from a single event to some small portion of their capital base, on the order of 5 percent. Where the loss can be aggregated, or an individual policy could produce exceptionally large claims, the capital constraint will restrict an insurer's appetite for additional policyholders. The classic example is earthquake insurance, where the ability of an underwriter to issue a new policy depends on the number and size of the policies that it has already underwritten. Wind insurance in hurricane zones, particularly along coast lines, is another example of this phenomenon. In extreme cases, the aggregation can affect the entire industry, since the combined capital of insurers and reinsurers can be small compared to the needs of potential policyholders in areas exposed to aggregation risk. In commercial fire insurance it is possible to find single properties whose total exposed value is well in excess of any individual insurer's capital constraint. Such properties are generally shared among several insurers, or are insured by a single insurer who syndicates the risk into the reinsurance market.

Indemnification

The technical definition of "indemnity" means to make whole again. There are two types of insurance contracts:

1. an "indemnity" policy;

2. a "pay on behalf" or "on behalf of" policy.

The difference is significant on paper, but rarely material in practice.

An "indemnity" policy will never pay claims until the insured has paid out of pocket to some third party; for example, a visitor to your home slips on a floor that you left wet and sues you for $10000 and wins. Under an "indemnity" policy the homeowner would have to come up with the $10000 to pay for the visitor's fall and then would be "indemnified" by the insurance carrier for the out of pocket costs (the $10000). Under the same situation, a "pay on behalf" policy, the insurance carrier would pay the claim and the insured (the homeowner) would not be out of pocket for anything. Most modern liability insurance is written on the basis of "pay on behalf" language.

An entity seeking to transfer risk (an individual, corporation, or association of any type, etc.) becomes the "insured" party once risk is assumed by an "insurer", the insuring party, by means of a contract, called an insurance "policy". Generally, an insurance contract includes, at a minimum, the following elements: the parties (the insurer, the insured, the beneficiaries), the premium, the period of coverage, the particular loss event covered, the amount of coverage (i.e., the amount to be paid to the insured or beneficiary in the event of a loss), and exclusions (events not covered). An insured is thus said to be "indemnified" against the loss covered in the policy.

When insured parties experience a loss for a specified peril, the coverage entitles the policyholder to make a "claim" against the insurer for the covered amount of loss as specified by the policy. The fee paid by the insured to the insurer for assuming the risk is called the "premium". Insurance premiums from many insureds are used to fund accounts reserved for later payment of claims — in theory for a relatively few claimants — and for overhead costs. So long as an insurer maintains adequate funds set aside for anticipated losses (i.e., reserves), the remaining margin is an insurer's profit.

Insurers' Business Model

Underwriting and Investing

The business model can be reduced to a simple equation: Profit = earned premium + investment income - incurred loss - underwriting2
 expenses.

Insurers make money in two ways: (1) through underwriting, the process by which insurers select the risks to insure and decide how much in premiums to charge for accepting those risks, and (2) by investing the premiums they collect from insured parties.

The most complicated aspect of the insurance business is the underwriting of policies. Using a wide assortment of data, insurers predict the likelihood that a claim will be made against their policies and price products accordingly. To this end, insurers use actuarial science to quantify the risks they are willing to assume and the premium they will charge to assume them. Data is analyzed to fairly accurately project the rate of future claims based on a given risk. Actuarial science uses statistics and probability to analyze the risks associated with the range of perils covered, and these scientific principles are used to determine an insurer's overall exposure. Upon termination of a given policy, the amount of premium collected and the investment gains thereon minus the amount paid out in claims is the insurer's underwriting profit on that policy. Of course, from the insurer's perspective, some policies are winners (i.e., the insurer pays out less in claims and expenses than it receives in premiums and investment income) and some are losers (i.e., the insurer pays out more in claims and expenses than it receives in premiums and investment income).

An insurer's underwriting performance is measured in its combined ratio. The loss ratio (incurred losses and loss-adjustment expenses divided by net earned premium) is added to the expense ratio (underwriting expenses divided by net premium written) to determine the company's combined ratio. The combined ratio is a reflection of the company's overall underwriting profitability. A combined ratio of less than 100 percent indicates underwriting profitability, while anything over 100 indicates an underwriting loss.

Insurance companies also earn investment profits on "float". "Float" or available reserve is the amount of money, at hand at any given moment, that an insurer has collected in insurance premiums but has not been paid out in claims. Insurers start investing insurance premiums as soon as they are collected and continue to earn interest on them until claims are paid out. The Association of British Insurers (gathering 400 insurance companies and 94% of UK insurance services) has almost 20% of the investments in the London Stock Exchange.

In the United States, the underwriting loss of property and casualty insurance companies was $142.3 billion in the five years ending 2003. But overall profit for the same period was $68.4 billion, as the result of float. Some insurance industry insiders, most notably Hank Greenberg, do not believe that it is forever possible to sustain a profit from float without an underwriting profit as well, but this opinion is not universally held. Naturally, the "float" method is difficult to carry out in an economically depressed period. Bear markets do cause insurers to shift away from investments and to toughen up their underwriting standards. So a poor economy generally means high insurance premiums. This tendency to swing between profitable and unprofitable periods over time is commonly known as the "underwriting" or insurance cycle.

Property and casualty insurers currently make the most money from their auto insurance line of business. Generally better statistics are available on auto losses and underwriting on this line of business has benefited greatly from advances in computing. Additionally, property losses in the United States, due to unpredictable natural catastrophes, have exacerbated this trend.

Claims

Finally, claims and loss handling is the materialized utility of insurance; it is the actual "product" paid for, though one hopes it will never need to be used. Claims may be filed by insureds directly with the insurer or through brokers or agents. The insurer may require that the claim be filed on its own proprietary forms, or may accept claims on a standard industry form such as those produced by ACORD.

Insurance company claim departments employ a large number of claims adjusters supported by a staff of records management and data entry clerks. Incoming claims are classified based on severity and are assigned to adjusters whose settlement authority varies with their knowledge and experience. The adjuster undertakes a thorough investigation of each claim, usually in close cooperation with the insured, determines its reasonable monetary value, and authorizes payment. Adjusting liability insurance claims is particularly difficult because there is a third party involved (the plaintiff who is suing the insured) who is under no contractual obligation to cooperate with the insurer and in fact may regard the insurer as a deep pocket. The adjuster must obtain legal counsel for the insured (either inside "house" counsel or outside "panel" counsel), monitor litigation that may take years to complete, and appear in person or over the telephone with settlement authority at a mandatory settlement conference when requested by the judge.

In managing the claims handling function, insurers seek to balance the elements of customer satisfaction, administrative handling expenses, and claims overpayment leakages. As part of this balancing act, fraudulent insurance practices are a major business risk that must be managed and overcome. Disputes between insurers and insureds over the validity of claims or claims handling practices occasionally escalate into litigation; see insurance bad faith.

History of Insurance

In some sense we can say that insurance appears simultaneously with the appearance of human society. We know of two types of economies in human societies: money economies (with markets, money, financial instruments and so on) and non-money or natural economies (without money, markets, financial instruments and so on). The second type is a more ancient form than the first. In such an economy and community, we can see insurance in the form of people helping each other. For example, if a house burns down, the members of the community help build a new one. Should the same thing happen to one's neighbour, the other neighbours must help. Otherwise, neighbours will not receive help in the future. This type of insurance has survived to the present day in some countries where modern money economy with its financial instruments is not widespread (for example countries in the territory of the former Soviet Union).

Turning to insurance in the modern sense (i.e., insurance in a modern money economy, in which insurance is part of the financial sphere), early methods of transferring or distributing risk were practised by Chinese and Babylonian traders as long ago as the 3rd and 2nd millennia BC, respectively. Chinese merchants travelling treacherous river rapids would redistribute their wares across many vessels to limit the loss due to any single vessel's capsizing. The Babylonians developed a system which was recorded in the famous Code of Hammurabi3
 , ca. 1750 BC, and practised by early Mediterranean sailing merchants. If a merchant received a loan to fund his shipment, he would pay the lender an additional sum in exchange for the lender's guarantee to cancel the loan should the shipment be stolen.

Achaemenian monarchs of Iran were the first to insure their people and made it official by registering the insuring process in governmental notary offices. The insurance tradition was performed each year in Norouz (beginning of the Iranian New Year); the heads of different ethnic groups as well as others willing to take part, presented gifts to the monarch. The most important gift was presented during a special ceremony. When a gift was worth more than 10000 Derrik (Achaemenian gold coin) the issue was registered in a special office. This was advantageous to those who presented such special gifts. For others, the presents were fairly assessed by the confidants of the court. Then the assessment was registered in special offices.

The purpose of registering was that whenever the person who presented the gift registered by the court was in trouble, the monarch and the court would help him. Jahez, a historian and writer, writes in one of his books on ancient Iran: "whenever the owner of the present is in trouble or wants to construct a building, set up a feast, have his children married, etc. the one in charge of this in the court would check the registration. If the registered amount exceeded 10000 Derrik, he or she would receive an amount of twice as much. "

A thousand years later, the inhabitants of Rhodes invented the concept of the "general average". Merchants whose goods were being shipped together would pay a proportionally divided premium which would be used to reimburse any merchant whose goods were jettisoned during storm or sinkage.

The Greeks and Romans introduced the origins of health and life insurance since 600 AD when they organized guilds called "benevolent societies" which cared for the families and paid funeral expenses of members upon death. Guilds in the Middle Ages served a similar purpose. The Talmud deals with several aspects of insuring goods. Before insurance was established in the late 17th century, "friendly societies" existed in England, in which people donated amounts of money to a general sum that could be used for emergencies.

Separate insurance contracts (i.e., insurance policies not bundled with loans or other kinds of contracts) were invented in Genoa in the 14th century, as were insurance pools backed by pledges of landed estates. These new insurance contracts allowed insurance to be separated from investment, a separation of roles that first proved useful in marine insurance. Insurance became far more sophisticated in post-Renaissance Europe, and specialized varieties developed.

Toward the end of the seventeenth century, London's growing importance as a centre for trade increased demand for marine insurance. In the late 1680s, Edward Lloyd opened a coffee house that became a popular haunt of ship owners, merchants, and ships' captains, and thereby a reliable source of the latest shipping news. It became the meeting place for parties wishing to insure cargoes and ships, and those willing to underwrite such ventures. Today, Lloyd's of London remains the leading market (note that it is not an insurance company) for marine and other specialist types of insurance, but it works rather differently than the more familiar kinds of insurance.

Insurance as we know it today can be traced to the Great Fire of London, which in 1666 devoured 13,200 houses. In the aftermath of this disaster, Nicholas Barbon opened an office to insure buildings. In 1680, he established England's first fire insurance company, "The Fire Office," to insure brick and frame homes.

The first insurance company in the United States underwrote fire insurance and was formed in Charles Town (modern-day Charleston), South Carolina, in 1732. Benjamin Franklin helped to popularize and make standard the practice of insurance, particularly against fire in the form of perpetual insurance. In 1752, he founded the Philadelphia Contributionship for the Insurance of Houses from Loss by Fire. Franklin's company was the first to make contributions toward fire prevention. Not only did his company warn against certain fire hazards, it refused to insure certain buildings where the risk of fire was too great, such as all wooden houses.

Types of Insurance

Any risk that can be quantified can potentially be insured. Specific kinds of risk that may give rise to claims are known as "perils". An insurance policy will set out in detail which perils are covered by the policy and which are not. Below are (non-exhaustive) lists of the many different types of insurance that exist. A single policy may cover risks in one or more of the categories set out below. For example, auto insurance would typically cover both property risk (covering the risk of theft or damage to the car) and liability risk (covering legal claims from causing an accident). A homeowner's insurance policy in the U.S. typically includes property insurance covering damage to the home and the owner's belongings, liability insurance covering certain legal claims against the owner, and even a small amount of coverage for medical expenses of guests who are injured on the owner's property.

Business insurance can be any kind of insurance that protects businesses against risks. Some principal subtypes of business insurance are: (a) the various kinds of professional liability insurance, also called professional indemnity insurance, which are discussed below under that name; and (b) the business owner's policy (BOP), which bundles into one policy many of the kinds of coverage that a business owner needs, in a way analogous to how homeowners insurance bundles the coverages that a homeowner needs.

Auto insurance

Auto insurance protects you against financial loss if you have an accident. It is a contract between you and the insurance company. You agree to pay the premium and the insurance company agrees to pay your losses as defined in your policy. Auto insurance provides property, liability and medical coverage:

1. Property coverage pays for damage to or theft of your car.

2. Liability coverage pays for your legal responsibility to others for bodily injury or property damage.

3. Medical coverage pays for the cost of treating injuries, rehabilitation and sometimes lost wages and funeral expenses.

An auto insurance policy is comprised of six different kinds of coverage. Most countries require you to buy some, but not all, of these coverages. If you're financing a car, your lender may also have requirements. Most auto policies are for six months to a year. In the United States, your insurance company should notify you by mail when it's time to renew the policy and to pay your premium.

Home insurance

Home insurance provides compensation for damage or destruction of a home from disasters. In some geographical areas, the standard insurances excludes certain types of disasters, such as flood and earthquakes, that require additional coverage. Maintenance-related problems are the homeowners' responsibility. The policy may include inventory, or this can be bought as a separate policy, especially for people who rent housing. In some countries, insurers offer a package which may include liability and legal responsibility for injuries and property damage caused by members of the household, including pets.

Health

Health insurance policies by the National Health Service in the United Kingdom (NHS) or other publicly-funded health programs will cover the cost of medical treatments. Dental insurance, like medical insurance, is coverage for individuals to protect them against dental costs. In the U.S., dental insurance is often part of an employer's benefits package, along with health insurance.

Disability

Disability insurance policies provide financial support in the event the policyholder is unable to work because of disabling illness or injury. It provides monthly support to help pay such obligations as mortgages and credit cards.

Disability overhead insurance allows business owners to cover the overhead expenses of their business while they are unable to work.

Total permanent disability insurance provides benefits when a person is permanently disabled and can no longer work in their profession, often taken as an adjunct to life insurance.

Workers' compensation insurance replaces all or part of a worker's wages lost and accompanying medical expenses incurred because of a job-related injury.

Casualty

Casualty insurance insures against accidents, not necessarily tied to any specific property.

Crime insurance is a form of casualty insurance that covers the policyholder against losses arising from the criminal acts of third parties. For example, a company can obtain crime insurance to cover losses arising from theft or embezzlement.

Political risk insurance is a form of casualty insurance that can be taken out by businesses with operations in countries in which there is a risk that revolution or other political conditions will result in a loss.

Life

Life insurance provides a monetary benefit to a decedent's family or other designated beneficiary, and may specifically provide for income to an insured person's family, burial, funeral and other final expenses. Life insurance policies often allow the option of having the proceeds paid to the beneficiary either in a lump sum cash payment or an annuity.

Annuities provide a stream of payments and are generally classified as insurance because they are issued by insurance companies and regulated as insurance and require the same kinds of actuarial and investment management expertise that life insurance requires. Annuities and pensions that pay a benefit for life are sometimes regarded as insurance against the possibility that a retiree will outlive his or her financial resources. In that sense, they are the complement of life insurance and, from an underwriting perspective, are the mirror image of life insurance.

Certain life insurance contracts accumulate cash values, which may be taken by the insured if the policy is surrendered or which may be borrowed against. Some policies, such as annuities and endowment policies, are financial instruments to accumulate or liquidate wealth when it is needed.

In many countries, such as the U.S. and the UK, the tax law provides that the interest on this cash value is not taxable under certain circumstances. This leads to widespread use of life insurance as a tax-efficient method of saving as well as protection in the event of early death.

In U.S., the tax on interest income on life insurance policies and annuities is generally deferred. However, in some cases the benefit derived from tax deferral may be offset by a low return. This depends upon the insuring company, the type of policy and other variables (mortality, market return, etc.). Moreover, other income tax saving vehicles (e.g., IRAs, 401 (k) plans, Roth IRAs) may be better alternatives for value accumulation. A combination of low-cost term life insurance and a higher-return tax-efficient retirement account may achieve better investment return.

Property

Property insurance provides protection against risks to property, such as fire, theft or weather damage. This includes specialized forms of insurance such as fire insurance, flood insurance, earthquake insurance, home insurance, inland marine insurance or boiler insurance.

Automobile insurance, known in the UK as motor insurance, is probably the most common form of insurance and may cover both legal liability claims against the driver and loss of or damage to the insured's vehicle itself. Throughout the United States an auto insurance policy is required to legally operate a motor vehicle on public roads. In some jurisdictions, bodily injury compensation for automobile accident victims has been changed to a no-fault system, which reduces or eliminates the ability to sue for compensation but provides automatic eligibility for benefits. Credit card companies insure against damage on rented cars. Driving School Insurance insurance provides cover for any authorized driver whilst undergoing tuition, cover also unlike other motor policies provides cover for instructor liability where both the pupil and driving instructor are equally liable in the event of a claim.

Aviation insurance insures against hull, spares, deductibles, hull wear and liability risks.

Boiler insurance (also known as boiler and machinery insurance or equipment breakdown insurance) insures against accidental physical damage to equipment or machinery.

Builder's risk insurance insures against the risk of physical loss or damage to property during construction. Builder's risk insurance is typically written on an "all risk" basis covering damage due to any cause (including the negligence of the insured) not otherwise expressly excluded.

Crop insurance: "Farmers use crop insurance to reduce or manage various risks associated with growing crops. Such risks include crop loss or damage caused by weather, hail, drought, frost damage, insects, or disease, for instance."

Earthquake insurance is a form of property insurance that pays the policyholder in the event of an earthquake that causes damage to the property. Most ordinary homeowners insurance policies do not cover earthquake damage. Most earthquake insurance policies feature a high deductible. Rates depend on location and the probability of an earthquake, as well as the construction of the home.

A fidelity bond is a form of casualty insurance that covers policyholders for losses that they incur as a result of fraudulent acts by specified individuals. It usually insures a business for losses caused by the dishonest acts of its employees.

Flood insurance protects against property loss due to flooding. Many insurers in the U.S. do not provide flood insurance in some portions of the country. In response to this, the federal government created the National Flood Insurance Program which serves as the insurer of last resort.

Home insurance or homeowners' insurance: See "Property insurance".

Landlord insurance is specifically designed for people who own properties which they rent out. Most house insurance cover in the U. K will not be valid if the property is rented out therefore landlords must take out this specialist form of home insurance.

Marine insurance and marine cargo insurance cover the loss or damage of ships at sea or on inland waterways, and of the cargo that may be on them. When the owner of the cargo and the carrier are separate corporations, marine cargo insurance typically compensates the owner of cargo for losses sustained from fire, shipwreck, etc., but excludes losses that can be recovered from the carrier or the carrier's insurance. Many marine insurance underwriters will include "time element" coverage in such policies, which extends the indemnity to cover loss of profit and other business expenses attributable to the delay caused by a covered loss.

Surety bond insurance is a three party insurance guaranteeing the performance of the principal.

Terrorism insurance provides protection against any loss or damage caused by terrorist activities.

Volcano insurance is an insurance that covers volcano damage in Hawaii.

Windstorm insurance is an insurance covering the damage that can be caused by hurricanes and tropical cyclones.

Liability

Liability insurance is a very broad superset that covers legal claims against the insured. Many types of insurance include an aspect of liability coverage. For example, a homeowner's insurance policy will normally include liability coverage which protects the insured in the event of a claim brought by someone who slips and falls on the property; automobile insurance also includes an aspect of liability insurance that indemnifies against the harm that a crashing car can cause to others' lives, health, or property. The protection offered by a liability insurance policy is twofold: a legal defense in the event of a lawsuit commenced against the policyholder and indemnification (payment on behalf of the insured) with respect to a settlement or court verdict. Liability policies typically cover only the negligence of the insured, and will not apply to results of wilful or intentional acts by the insured.

Directors and officers liability insurance protects an organization (usually a corporation) from costs associated with litigation resulting from mistakes made by directors and officers for which they are liable. In the industry, it is usually called "D&O" for short.

Environmental liability insurance protects the insured from bodily injury, property damage and cleanup costs as a result of the dispersal, release or escape of pollutants.

Errors and omissions insurance: See "Professional liability insurance" under "Liability insurance".

Prize indemnity insurance protects the insured from giving away a large prize at a specific event. Examples would include offering prizes to contestants who can make a half-court shot at a basketball game, or a hole-in-one at a golf tournament.

Professional liability insurance, also called professional indemnity insurance, protects insured professionals such as architectural corporation and medical practice against potential negligence claims made by their patients/clients. Professional liability insurance may take on different names depending on the profession. For example, professional liability insurance in reference to the medical profession may be called malpractice insurance. Notaries public may take out errors and omissions insurance (E&O). Other potential E&O policyholders include, for example, real estate brokers, Insurance agents, home inspectors, appraisers, and website developers.

Credit

Credit insurance repays some or all of a loan when certain things happen to the borrower such as unemployment, disability, or death.

Mortgage insurance insures the lender against default by the borrower. Mortgage insurance is a form of credit insurance, although the name credit insurance more often is used to refer to policies that cover other kinds of debt.

Other types

Collateral protection insurance or CPI, insures property (primarily vehicles) held as collateral for loans made by lending institutions.

Defense Base Act Workers' compensation or DBA Insurance provides coverage for civilian workers hired by the government to perform contracts outside the U.S. and Canada. DBA is required for all U.S. citizens, U.S. residents, U.S. Green Card holders, and all employees or subcontractors hired on overseas government contracts. Depending on the country, Foreign Nationals must also be covered under DBA. This coverage typically includes expenses related to medical treatment and loss of wages, as well as disability and death benefits.

Expatriate insurance provides individuals and organizations operating outside of their home country with protection for automobiles, property, health, liability and business pursuits.

Financial loss insurance protects individuals and companies against various financial risks. For example, a business might purchase coverage to protect it from loss of sales if a fire in a factory prevented it from carrying out its business for a time. Insurance might also cover the failure of a creditor to pay money it owes to the insured. This type of insurance is frequently referred to as "business interruption insurance." Fidelity bonds and surety bonds are included in this category, although these products provide a benefit to a third party (the "obligee") in the event the insured party (usually referred to as the "obligor") fails to perform its obligations under a contract with the obligee.

Locked funds insurance is a little-known hybrid insurance policy jointly issued by governments and banks. It is used to protect public funds from tamper by unauthorized parties. In special cases, a government may authorize its use in protecting semi-private funds which are liable to tamper. The terms of this type of insurance are usually very strict. Therefore it is used only in extreme cases where maximum security of funds is required.

Nuclear incident insurance covers damages resulting from an incident involving radioactive materials and is generally arranged at the national level. See the Nuclear exclusion clause and for the United States the Price-Anderson Nuclear Industries Indemnity Act.

Pet insurance insures pets against accidents and illnesses — some companies cover routine/wellness care and burial, as well.

Pollution Insurance, which consists of first-party coverage for contamination of insured property either by external or on-site sources. Coverage for liability to third parties arising from contamination of air, water, or land due to the sudden and accidental release of hazardous materials from the insured site. The policy usually covers the costs of cleanup and may include coverage for releases from underground storage tanks. Intentional acts are specifically excluded.

Purchase insurance is aimed at providing protection on the products people purchase. Purchase insurance can cover individual purchase protection, warranties, guarantees, care plans and even mobile phone insurance. Such insurance is normally very limited in the scope of problems that are covered by the policy.

Title insurance provides a guarantee that title to real property is vested in the purchaser and/or mortgagee, free and clear of liens or encumbrances. It is usually issued in conjunction with a search of the public records performed at the time of a real estate transaction.

Travel insurance is an insurance cover taken by those who travel abroad, which covers certain losses such as medical expenses, loss of personal belongings, travel delay, personal liabilities, etc.

Insurance Financing Vehicles

Fraternal insurance is provided on a cooperative basis by fraternal benefit societies or other social organizations.

No-fault insurance is a type of insurance policy (typically automobile insurance) where insureds are indemnified by their own insurer regardless of fault in the incident.

Protected Self-Insurance is an alternative risk financing mechanism in which an organization retains the mathematically calculated cost of risk within the organization and transfers the catastrophic risk with specific and aggregate limits to an insurer so the maximum total cost of the program is known. A properly designed and underwritten Protected Self-Insurance Program reduces and stabilizes the cost of insurance and provides valuable risk management information.

Retrospectively Rated Insurance is a method of establishing a premium on large commercial accounts. The final premium is based on the insured's actual loss experience during the policy term, sometimes subject to a minimum and maximum premium, with the final premium determined by a formula. Under this plan, the current year's premium is based partially (or wholly) on the current year's losses, although the premium adjustments may take months or years beyond the current year's expiration date. The rating formula is guaranteed in the insurance contract. Formula: retrospective premium = converted loss + basic premium × tax multiplier. Numerous variations of this formula have been developed and are in use.

Formal self insurance is the deliberate decision to pay for otherwise insurable losses out of one's own money. This can be done on a formal basis by establishing a separate fund into which funds are deposited on a periodic basis, or by simply forgoing the purchase of available insurance and paying out-of-pocket. Self insurance is usually used to pay for high-frequency, low-severity losses. Such losses, if covered by conventional insurance, mean having to pay a premium that includes loadings for the company's general expenses, cost of putting the policy on the books, acquisition expenses, premium taxes, and contingencies. While this is true for all insurance, for small, frequent losses the transaction costs may exceed the benefit of volatility reduction that insurance otherwise affords.

Reinsurance is a type of insurance purchased by insurance companies or self-insured employers to protect against unexpected losses. Financial reinsurance is a form of reinsurance that is primarily used for capital management rather than to transfer insurance risk.

Social insurance can be many things to many people in many countries. But a summary of its essence is that it is a collection of insurance coverages (including components of life insurance, disability income insurance, unemployment insurance, health insurance, and others), plus retirement savings, that requires participation by all citizens. By forcing everyone in society to be a policyholder and pay premiums, it ensures that everyone can become a claimant when or if he/she needs to. Along the way this inevitably becomes related to other concepts such as the justice system and the welfare state4
 . This is a large, complicated topic that engenders tremendous debate, which can be further studied in the following articles (and others):

• National Insurance

• Social safety net

• Social security

• Social Security debate (United States)

• Social Security (United States)

• Social welfare provision

Stop-loss insurance provides protection against catastrophic or unpredictable losses. It is purchased by organizations who do not want to assume 100% of the liability for losses arising from the plans. Under a stop-loss policy, the insurance company becomes liable for losses that exceed certain limits called deductibles.

Closed Community Self-insurance

Some communities prefer to create virtual insurance amongst themselves by other means than contractual risk transfer, which assigns explicit numerical values to risk. A number of religious groups, including the Amish and some Muslim groups, depend on support provided by their communities when disasters strike. The risk presented by any given person is assumed collectively by the community who all bear5
 the cost of rebuilding lost property and supporting people whose needs are suddenly greater after a loss of some kind. In supportive communities where others can be trusted to follow community leaders, this tacit form of insurance can work. In this manner the community can even out the extreme differences in insurability that exist among its members. Some further justification is also provided by invoking the moral hazard6
 of explicit insurance contracts.

In the United Kingdom, The Crown (which, for practical purposes, meant the Civil service) did not insure property such as government buildings. If a government building was damaged, the cost of repair would be met from public funds because, in the long run, this was cheaper than paying insurance premiums. Since many UK government buildings have been sold to property companies, and rented back, this arrangement is now less common and may have disappeared altogether.

Insurance companies

Insurance companies may be classified into two groups:

• Life insurance companies, which sell life insurance, annuities and pensions products.

• Non-life, General, or Property/Casualty insurance companies, which sell other types of insurance.

General insurance companies can be further divided into these sub categories.

• Standard Lines

• Excess Lines

In most countries, life and non-life insurers are subject to different regulatory regimes and different tax and accounting rules. The main reason for the distinction between the two types of company is that life, annuity, and pension business is very long-term in nature — coverage for life assurance or a pension can cover risks over many decades. By contrast, non-life insurance cover usually covers a shorter period, such as one year.

In the United States, standard line insurance companies are "mainstream" insurers. These are the companies that typically insure autos, homes or businesses. They use pattern or "cookie-cutter" policies without variation from one person to the next. They usually have lower premiums than excess lines and can sell directly to individuals. They are regulated by state laws that can restrict the amount they can charge for insurance policies.

Excess line insurance companies (aka Excess and Surplus) typically insure risks not covered by the standard lines market. They are broadly referred as being all insurance placed with non-admitted insurers. Non-admitted insurers are not licensed in the states where the risks are located. These companies have more flexibility and can react faster than standard insurance companies because they are not required to file rates and forms as the "admitted" carriers do. However, they still have substantial regulatory requirements placed upon them. State laws generally require insurance placed with surplus line agents and brokers not to be available through standard licensed insurers.

Insurance companies are generally classified as either mutual or stock companies. Mutual companies are owned by the policyholders, while stockholders (who may or may not own policies) own stock insurance companies. Demutualization of mutual insurers to form stock companies, as well as the formation of a hybrid known as a mutual holding company, became common in some countries, such as the United States, in the late 20th century. Other possible forms for an insurance company include reciprocals, in which policyholders "reciprocate" in sharing risks, and Lloyds organizations.

Insurance companies are rated by various agencies such as A. M. Best. The ratings include the company's financial strength, which measures its ability to pay claims. It also rates financial instruments issued by the insurance company, such as bonds, notes, and securitization products.

Reinsurance companies are insurance companies that sell policies to other insurance companies, allowing them to reduce their risks and protect themselves from very large losses. The reinsurance market is dominated by a few very large companies, with huge reserves. A reinsurer may also be a direct writer of insurance risks as well.

Captive insurance companies may be defined as limited-purpose insurance companies established with the specific objective of financing risks emanating from their parent group or groups. This definition can sometimes be extended to include some of the risks of the parent company's customers. In short, it is an in-house self-insurance vehicle. Captives may take the form of a "pure" entity (which is a 100% subsidiary of the self-insured parent company); of a "mutual" captive (which insures the collective risks of members of an industry); and of an "association" captive (which self-insures individual risks of the members of a professional, commercial or industrial association). Captives represent commercial, economic and tax advantages to their sponsors because of the reductions in costs they help create and for the ease of insurance risk management and the flexibility for cash flows they generate. Additionally, they may provide coverage of risks which is neither available nor offered in the traditional insurance market at reasonable prices.

The types of risk that a captive can underwrite for their parents include property damage, public and product liability, professional indemnity, employee benefits, employers' liability, motor and medical aid expenses. The captive's exposure to such risks may be limited by the use of reinsurance.

Captives are becoming an increasingly important component of the risk management and risk financing strategy of their parent. This can be understood against the following background:

• heavy and increasing premium costs in almost every line of coverage;

• difficulties in insuring certain types of fortuitous risk;

• differential coverage standards in various parts of the world;

• rating structures which reflect market trends rather than individual loss experience;

• insufficient credit for deductibles and/or loss control efforts.

There are also companies known as "insurance consultants". Like a mortgage broker, these companies are paid a fee by the customer to shop around for the best insurance policy amongst many companies. Similar to an insurance consultant, an "insurance broker" also shops around for the best insurance policy amongst many companies. However, with insurance brokers, the fee is usually paid in the form of commission from the insurer that is selected rather than directly from the client.

Neither insurance consultants nor insurance brokers are insurance companies and no risks are transferred to them in insurance transactions. Third party administrators are companies that perform underwriting and sometimes claims handling services for insurance companies. These companies often have special expertise that the insurance companies do not have.

The financial stability and strength of an insurance company should be a major consideration when buying an insurance contract. An insurance premium paid currently provides coverage for losses that might arise many years in the future. For that reason, the viability of the insurance carrier is very important. In recent years, a number of insurance companies have become insolvent, leaving their policyholders with no coverage (or coverage only from a government-backed insurance pool or other arrangement with less attractive payouts for losses). A number of independent rating agencies, such as Best's, Fitch, Standard & Poor's, and Moody's Investors Service, provide information and rate the financial viability of insurance companies.

Global Insurance Industry

Global insurance premiums grew by 11% in 2007 (or 3.3% in real terms) to reach $4.1 trillion. The macro-economic environment was characterised by slower economic growth in 2007 and rising inflation. Profitability improved in life insurance and fell slighlty in the non-life sector during the year. Life insurance premiums grew by 12.6%, accelerating in the advanced economies with the exception of Japan and Continental Europe. Non-life insurance premiums grew by 7.6% during the year. Figures for premium income are not yet available for 2008, but the insurance industry is likely to see a slowdown in new business and falling investment revenue.

Advanced economies account for the bulk of global insurance. With premium income of $1,681bn, Europe was the most important region, followed by North America ($1,330bn) and Asia ($814bn). The top four countries accounted for nearly 60% of premiums in 2007. The U.S. and UK alone accounted for 42% of world insurance, much higher than their 7% share of the global population. Emerging markets accounted for over 85% of the world's population but generated only around 10% of premiums.

Controversies

Insurance insulates too much

By creating a "security blanket" for its insureds, an insurance company may inadvertently find that its insureds may not be as risk-averse as they might otherwise be (since, by definition, the insured has transferred the risk to the insurer,) a concept known as moral hazard. To reduce their own financial exposure, insurance companies have contractual clauses that mitigate their obligation to provide coverage if the insured engages in behavior that grossly magnifies their risk of loss or liability. For example, life insurance companies may require higher premiums or deny coverage altogether to people who work in hazardous occupations or engage in dangerous sports. Liability insurance providers do not provide coverage for liability arising from intentional torts7
 committed by the insured. Even if a provider were so irrational as to want to provide such coverage, it is against the public policy of most countries to allow such insurance to exist, and thus it is usually illegal.

Complexity of insurance policy contracts

Insurance policies can be complex and some policyholders may not understand all the fees and coverages included in a policy. As a result, people may buy policies on unfavorable terms. In response to these issues, many countries have enacted detailed statutory and regulatory regimes governing every aspect of the insurance business, including minimum standards for policies and the ways in which they may be advertised and sold. For example, most insurance policies in the English language today have been carefully drafted in plain English8
 ; the industry learned the hard way that many courts will not enforce policies against insureds when the judges themselves cannot understand what the policies are saying.

Many institutional insurance purchasers buy insurance through an insurance broker. While on the surface it appears the broker represents the buyer (not the insurance company), and typically counsels the buyer on appropriate coverage and policy limitations, it should be noted that in the vast majority of cases a broker's compensation comes in the form of a commission as a percentage of the insurance premium, creating a conflict of interest in that the broker's financial interest is tilted towards encouraging an insured to purchase more insurance than might be necessary at a higher price. A broker generally holds contracts with many insurers, thereby allowing the broker to "shop" the market for the best rates and coverage possible.

Insurance may also be purchased through an agent. Unlike a broker, who represents the policyholder, an agent represents the insurance company from whom the policyholder buys. An agent can represent more than one company.

An independent insurance consultant advises insureds on a fee-for-service retainer, similar to an attorney, and thus offers completely independent advice, free of the financial conflict of interest of brokers and/or agents. However, such a consultant must still work through brokers and/or agents in order to secure coverage for their clients.

Redlining

Redlining is the practice of denying insurance coverage in specific geographic areas, supposedly because of a high likelihood of loss, while the alleged motivation is unlawful discrimination. Racial profiling or redlining has a long history in the property insurance industry in the United States. From a review of industry underwriting and marketing materials, court documents, and research by government agencies, industry and community groups, and academics, it is clear that race has long affected and continues to affect the policies and practices of the insurance industry.

All states have provisions in their rate regulation laws or in their fair trade practice acts that prohibit unfair discrimination, often called redlining, in setting rates and making insurance available. In determining premiums and premium rate structures, insurers consider quantifiable factors, including location, credit scores, gender, occupation, marital status, and education level. However, the use of such factors is often considered to be unfair or unlawfully discriminatory, and the reaction against this practice has in some instances led to political disputes about the ways in which insurers determine premiums and regulatory intervention to limit the factors used.

An insurance underwriter's job is to evaluate a given risk as to the likelihood that a loss will occur. Any factor that causes a greater likelihood of loss should theoretically be charged a higher rate. This basic principle of insurance must be followed if insurance companies are to remain solvent. Thus, "discrimination" against (i.e., negative differential treatment of) potential insureds in the risk evaluation and premium-setting process is a necessary by-product of the fundamentals of insurance underwriting. For instance, insurers charge older people significantly higher premiums than they charge younger people for term life insurance. Older people are thus treated differently than younger people (i.e., a distinction is made, discrimination occurs). The rationale for the differential treatment goes to the heart of the risk a life insurer takes: Old people are likely to die sooner than young people, so the risk of loss (the insured's death) is greater in any given period of time and therefore the risk premium must be higher to cover the greater risk. However, treating insureds differently when there is no actuarially sound reason for doing so is unlawful discrimination.

What is often missing from the debate is that prohibiting the use of legitimate, actuarially sound factors means that an insufficient amount is being charged for a given risk, and there is thus a deficit in the system. The failure to address the deficit may mean insolvency and hardship for all of a company's insureds. The options for addressing the deficit seem to be the following: Charge the deficit to the other policyholders or charge it to the government (i.e., externalize outside of the company to society at large).

Insurance Patents

New assurance products can now be protected from copying with a business method patent in the United States.

A recent example of a new insurance product that is patented is Usage Based auto insurance. Early versions were independently invented and patented by a major U.S. auto insurance company, Progressive Auto Insurance (U.S. Patent 5,797,134) and a Spanish independent inventor, Salvador Minguijon Perez (EP patent 0700009).

Many independent inventors are in favor of patenting new insurance products since it gives them protection from big companies when they bring their new insurance products to market. Independent inventors account for 70% of the new U.S. patent applications in this area.

Many insurance executives are opposed to patenting insurance products because it creates a new risk for them. The Hartford insurance company, for example, recently had to pay $80 million to an independent inventor, Bancorp Services, in order to settle a patent infringement and theft of trade secret lawsuit for a type of corporate owned life insurance product invented and patented by Bancorp.

There are currently about 150 new patent applications on insurance inventions filed per year in the United States. The rate at which patents have issued has steadily risen from 15 in 2002 to 44 in 2006.

Inventors can now have their insurance U.S. patent applications reviewed by the public in the Peer to Patent program. The first insurance patent application to be posted was US2009005522 "Risk assessment company". It was posted on March 6, 2009. This patent application describes a method for increasing the ease of changing insurance companies.

The insurance industry and rent seeking

Certain insurance products and practices have been described as rent seeking by critics. That is, some insurance products or practices are useful primarily because of legal benefits, such as reducing taxes, as opposed to providing protection against risks of adverse events. Under United States tax law, for example, most owners of variable annuities and variable life insurance can invest their premium payments in the stock market and defer or eliminate paying any taxes on their investments until withdrawals are made. Sometimes this tax deferral is the only reason people use these products. Another example is the legal infrastructure which allows life insurance to be held in an irrevocable trust which is used to pay an estate tax while the proceeds themselves are immune from the estate tax.

Criticism of insurance companies

Some people believe that modern insurance companies are money-making businesses which have little interest in insurance. They argue that the purpose of insurance is to spread risk so the reluctance of insurance companies to take on high-risk cases (e.g., houses in areas subject to flooding, or young drivers) runs counter to the principle of insurance.

Other criticisms include:

• Insurance policies contain too many exclusion clauses. For example, some house insurance policies do not cover damage to garden walls.

• Many insurance companies now use call centres and staff attempt to answer questions by reading from a script. It is difficult to speak to anybody with expert knowledge. While policyholders find their premium payments decrease when dealing with companies who sacrifice the use of trained insurance agents, they also risk greater financial loss due to inadequate coverage protection. Those companies who invest in educated insurance agents provide a valued service to the community. Policyholders who work with knowledgeable insurance agents are more likely to identify needs, evaluate options, purchase sufficient insurance protection, and minimize the risk of heavy financial loss for themselves and their family.


 Summary


1. Insurance is defined as the equitable transfer of the risk of a loss, from one entity to another, in exchange for a premium, and can be thought of as a guaranteed small loss to prevent a large, possibly devastating loss.

2. When insured parties experience a loss for a specified peril, the coverage entitles the policyholder to make a "claim" against the insurer for the covered amount of loss as specified by the policy.

3. The insurance business model can be reduced to a simple equation: Profit = earned premium + investment income - incurred loss - underwriting expenses.

4. Insurance companies may be classified into two groups: Life Insurance Companies and Property/Casualty Insurance Companies.

5. Any risk that can be quantified can potentially be insured.

6. Business insurance can be any kind of insurance that protects businesses against risks. Some principal subtypes of business insurance are: (a) the various kinds of professional liability insurance, also called professional indemnity insurance, which are discussed below under that name; and (b) the business owner's policy (BOP), which bundles into one policy many of the kinds of coverage that a business owner needs, in a way analogous to how homeowners insurance bundles the coverages that a homeowner needs.

7. Some communities prefer to create virtual insurance amongst themselves by other means than contractual risk transfer, which assigns explicit numerical values to risk.

8. Redlining is the practice of denying insurance coverage in specific geographic areas, supposedly because of a high likelihood of loss, while the alleged motivation is unlawful discrimination.

9. Reinsurance companies are insurance companies that sell policies to other insurance companies, allowing them to reduce their risks and protect themselves from very large losses.


 Vocabulary and Expressions


1. indemnified　赔偿

2. Mediterranean　地中海

3. Achaemenian　阿契美尼德王朝

4. indemnity　保障，赔款

5. fraternal　兄弟

6. controversies　争议

7. gender　性别

8. discriminatory　歧视

9. rent seeking　寻租

10. estate　房地产


 Notes



1. the law of large numbers (LLN):
 The law of large numbers is a theorem in probability that describes the long-term stability of the mean of a random variable. Given a random variable with a finite expected value, if its values are repeatedly sampled, as the number of these observations increases, their mean will tend to approach and stay close to the expected value (the mean (average) for the population).


2. underwriting:
 Underwriting refers to the process that a large financial service provider (bank, insurer, investment house) uses to assess the eligibility of a customer to receive their products (equity capital, insurance, mortgage or credit).


3. The Code of Hammurabi:
 The Code of Hammurabi (Codex Hammurabi
 ) is a well-preserved ancient law code, created ca. 1760 BC (middle chronology) in ancient Babylon.


4. welfare state:
 A model in which the state assumes primary responsibility for the welfare of its citizens.


5. combined ratio = loss ratio + expense ratio + commission ratio:
 Loss ratio is calculated by dividing the amount of losses (sometimes including loss adjustment expenses) by the amount of earned premium. Expense ratio is calculated by dividing the amount of operational expenses by the amount of written premium. A lower number indicates a better return on the amount of capital placed at risk by an insurer.


6. moral hazard:
 Moral hazard is the prospect that a party insulated from risk may behave differently from the way it would behave if it were fully exposed to the risk.


7. an intentional tort:
 An intentional tort is a category of torts that describes a civil wrong resulting from an intentional act on the part of the tortfeasor. The term negligence tort, on the other hand, pertains to a tort that simply results from the failure of the tortfeasor to take sufficient care in fulfilling a duty owed.


8. plain English
 (sometimes referred to more broadly as plain language): Plain English is a generic term for communication styles that emphasise clarity, brevity and the avoidance of technical language.


 Exercises



I. Answer the following questions in English.


1. What is the insurance?

2. What is the premium?

3. What is an insured?

4. What ways do insurers make money?

5. What is reinsurance companis?

6. What are claims and loss handing?

7. What is auto insurance?

8. What is redline?


II. Fill in the each blank with an appropriate word or expression.


1. The insurance rate is a factor used to _____ the amount to be _____ for a certain amount of insurance coverage, called the premium.

2. An entity _____ to transfer risk (an individual, corporation, or association of any type, etc.) becomes the "insured" party once risk is _____ by an "insurer", the insuring party, by means of a contract, called an insurance "policy".

3. In managing the claims handling function, insurers seek to _____ the elements of customer satisfaction, administrative handling expenses, and _____ overpayment leakages.

4. Reinsurance is a type of insurance _____ by insurance companies or self-insured employers to protect against unexpected losses. Financial reinsurance is a form of reinsurance that is primarily used for capital management rather than to _____ insurance risk.

5. Insurance may also be _____ through an agent. Unlike a broker, who _____ the policyholder, an agent represents the insurance company from whom the policyholder buys. An agent can represent more than one company.

6. Many independent inventors are in _____ of patenting new insurance products since it gives them protection from big companies when they _____ their new insurance products to market.


III. Translate the following sentences into Chinese.


1. Health insurance provides coverage for medicine, visits to the doctor or emergency room, hospital stays and other medical expenses.

2. Policies differ in what they cover, the size of the deductible and/or co-payment, limits of coverage and the options for treatment available to the policy holder.

3. Many people receive health insurance from their employer as a benefit, but others must shop around for the right policy.

4. Health Maintenance Organization (HMO). An HMO is a type of managed health care system. A group of doctors and other medical professionals offer care through the HMO for a flat monthly rate with no deductibles.

5. However, only visits to professionals within the HMO network are covered by the policy.

6. All visits, prescriptions and other care must be cleared by the HMO in order to be covered. Your primary physician within the HMO will handle referrals.


IV. Translate the following sentences into English.


1．财产保险的投保方（在保险单或保险凭证中称被保险人）应当是被保险财产的所有人或经营管理人，或者是对保险标的有保险利益的人。投保方向保险方申请订立保险合同，负责交纳保险费的。

2．投保方提出投保要求，填具投保单，经与保险方商定交付保险费办法并经保险方签章承保后，保险合同即告成立，保险方并应根据保险合同及时向投保方出具保险单或者保险凭证。

3．根据《经济合同法》规定：“财产保险合同，采用保险单或保险凭证的形式签订。”为履行财产保险合同，保险方和投保方都应明确合同的内容和双方的责任。

4．保险合同一经成立，保险方不得在保险有效期内终止合同。

5．保险方提前终止保险合同时，应将按日计算的未到期的保险费，退还投保方。除非保险合同另有规定，投保方中途不能要求终止合同，也不能要求退还保险费。

6．当投保船舶在发生事故后，保险公司应派相关专家前往组织打捞、救助，请专业机构评估损失，积极赔付。


 Reading Materials


Auto Insurance

Auto insurance protects you against financial loss if you have an accident. It is a contract between you and the insurance company. You agree to pay the premium and the insurance company agrees to pay your losses as defined in your policy.

Auto insurance provides property, liability and medical coverage:

• Property coverage pays for damage to or theft of your car.

• Liability coverage pays for your legal responsibility to others for bodily injury or property damage.

• Medical coverage pays for the cost of treating injuries, rehabilitation and sometimes lost wages and funeral expenses.

An auto insurance policy is comprised of six different kinds of coverage. Most states require you to buy some, but not all, of these coverages. If you're financing a car, your lender may also have requirements.

Most auto policies are for six months to a year. Your insurance company should notify you by mail when it's time to renew the policy and to pay your premium.

What is covered by a basic auto policy?

Auto policy may include six coverages. Each coverage is priced separately.

1. Bodily Injury Liability

This coverage applies to injuries that you, the designated driver or policyholder, cause to someone else. You and family members listed on the policy are also covered when driving someone else's car with their permission.

It's very important to have enough liability insurance, because if you are involved in a serious accident, you may be sued for a large sum of money. Definitely consider buying more than the state-required minimum to protect assets such as your home and savings.

2. Medical Payments or Personal Injury Protection (PIP)

This coverage pays for the treatment of injuries to the driver and passengers of the policyholder's car. At its broadest, PIP can cover medical payments, lost wages and the cost of replacing services normally performed by someone injured in an auto accident. It may also cover funeral costs.

3. Property Damage Liability

This coverage pays for damage you (or someone driving the car with your permission) may cause to someone else's property. Usually, this means damage to someone else's car, but it also includes damage to lamp posts, telephone poles, fences, buildings or other structures your car hit.

4. Collision

This coverage pays for damage to your car resulting from a collision with another car, object or as a result of flipping over. It also covers damage caused by potholes. Collision coverage is generally sold with a deductible of $250 to $1,000 — the higher your deductible, the lower your premium. Even if you are at fault for the accident, your collision coverage will reimburse you for the costs of repairing your car, minus the deductible. If you're not at fault, your insurance company may try to recover the amount they paid you from the other driver's insurance company. If they are successful, you'll also be reimbursed for the deductible.

5. Comprehensive

This coverage reimburses you for loss due to theft or damage caused by something other than a collision with another car or object, such as fire, falling objects, missiles, explosion, earthquake, windstorm, hail, flood, vandalism, riot, or contact with animals such as birds or deer.

Comprehensive insurance is usually sold with a $100 to $300 deductible, though you may want to opt for a higher deductible as a way of lowering your premium.

Comprehensive insurance will also reimburse you if your windshield is cracked or shattered. Some companies offer glass coverage with or without a deductible.

6. Uninsured and Underinsured Motorist Coverage

This coverage will reimburse you, a member of your family, or a designated driver if one of you is hit by an uninsured or hit-and-run driver.

Underinsured motorist coverage comes into play when an at-fault driver has insufficient insurance to pay for your total loss. This coverage will also protect you if you are hit as a pedestrian.

Can drivers drive legally without insurance?

NO! Almost every state requires drivers to have auto liability insurance. All states also have financial responsibility laws. This means that even in a state that does not require liability insurance, drivers need to have sufficient assets to pay claims if drivers cause an accident. If drivers don't have enough assets, drivers must purchase at least the state minimum amount of insurance. But insurance exists to protect driver's assets. Trying to see how little drivers can get by with can be very shortsighted and dangerous. The insurance industry and consumer groups generally recommend a minimum of $100,000 of bodily injury protection per person and $300,000 per accident since accidents may cost far more than the minimum limits mandated by most states.

If drivers have financed their car, their lender may require comprehensive and collision insurance as part of the loan agreement.

What if I lease a car?

If you lease a car, you still need to buy your own auto insurance policy. The auto dealer or bank that is financing the car will require you to buy collision and comprehensive coverage. You'll need to buy these coverages in addition to the others that may be mandatory in your state, such as auto liability insurance.

Collision covers the damage to the car from an accident with another automobile or object.

Comprehensive covers a loss that is caused by something other than a collision with another car or object, such as a fire or theft or collision with a deer.

The leasing company may also require "gap" insurance. This refers to the fact that if you have an accident and your leased car is damaged beyond repair or "totaled," there's likely to be a difference between the amount that you still owe the auto dealer and the check you'll get from your insurance company. That's because the insurance company's check is based on the car's actual cash value which takes into account depreciation. The difference between the two amounts is known as the "gap."

On a leased car, the cost of gap insurance is generally rolled into the lease payments. You don't actually buy a gap policy. Generally, the auto dealer buys a master policy from an insurance company to cover all the cars it leases and charges you for a "gap waiver." This means that if your leased car is totaled, you won't have to pay the dealer the gap amount. Check with the auto dealer when leasing your car.

If you have an auto loan rather than a lease, you may want to buy gap insurance to protect yourself from having to come up with the gap amount if your car is totaled before you've finished paying for it. Ask your insurance agent about gap insurance or search the Internet. Gap insurance may not be available in some states.

Do I need separate rental car insurance?

Properly insuring a rental car can be confusing, frustrating and downright daunting. Unfortunately, many consumers do not even think about car rental insurance until they get to the counter, which can result in costly mistakes—either wasting money by purchasing unnecessary coverage or having dangerous gaps in coverage.

Before renting a car, it is better for you to make two phone calls — one to your insurance agent or company representative and another to the credit card company you will be using to pay for the rental car.

1. Insurance Company

Find out how much coverage you currently have on your own car. In most cases, whatever coverage and deductibles you have on your own car would apply when you rent a car, providing you are using the car for recreation and not for business.

If you have dropped either comprehensive or collision on your own car as a way to reduce costs, you will not be covered if your rental car is stolen or damaged in an accident.

Check to see whether your insurance company pays for administrative fees, loss of use or towing charges. Some companies may provide an insurance rider to cover some of these costs, which would make it less expensive than purchasing coverage through the rental car company. Keep in mind, however, that in most states diminished value is not covered by insurers.

2. Credit Card Company

Insurance benefits offered by credit card companies differ by both the company and/or the bank that issues the card, as well as by the level of credit card used. For instance, a platinum card may offer more insurance coverage than a gold card.

Credit cards usually cover only damage to or loss of the rented vehicle, not for other cars, personal belongings or the property of others. There may be no personal liability coverage for bodily injury or death claims. Some credit card companies will provide coverage for towing, but many may not provide for diminished value or administrative fees. Some credit card companies have changed their policies, too, so you may not have as much coverage as you thought.

To know exactly what type of insurance you have, call the toll-free number on the back of the card you will be using to rent the car. If you are depending on a credit card for insurance protection, ask the credit card company or bank to send you their coverage information in writing. In most cases, credit card benefits are secondary to either your personal insurance protection or the insurance offered by the rental car company.

If you have more than one credit card, consider calling each one to see which offers the best insurance protection.

At the Rental Car Counter

Since insurance is state regulated, the cost and coverage will vary from state to state. Consumers, however, can generally choose from the following coverages:

• Loss Damage Waiver (LDW)

Also referred to as a collision damage waiver outside the U.S., an LDW is not technically an insurance product. LDWs do, however, relieve or "waive" renters of financial responsibility if their rental car is damaged or stolen. In most cases, waivers also provide coverage for "loss of use," in the event the rental car company charges the renter for the time a damaged car can not be used because it is being fixed. It may also cover towing and administrative fees.

Waivers, however, may become void if the accident was caused by speeding, driving on unpaved roads or driving while intoxicated. If you already have comprehensive and collision coverage on your own car, check with your personal auto insurer to make sure you are not duplicating coverage you already have. Should you decide it is necessary, this coverage generally costs between $9 and $19 a day.

• Liability Insurance

By law, rental companies must provide the state required amount of liability insurance. Generally, these amounts are low and do not provide much protection. If you have adequate amounts of liability protection on your own car, you may consider forgoing additional liability protection. If you want the supplemental insurance, it will cost between $7 and $14 a day.

An umbrella liability policy, however, may be more cost-effective. Umbrella liability insurance is so named because it acts like an umbrella, sitting on top of your auto and homeowners (or renters) liability policies to provide extra protection including accidents while driving your own car or one that you rent. These policies, usually sold in increments of a million dollars, cost as little as $200 to $300 annually for a million dollars worth of coverage and another $50 to $100 for each additional million.

Those who do not own their own car and are frequent car renters, can also consider purchasing a non-owner liability policy. This not only provides liability protection when you rent a car, but also when you borrow someone else's car.

• Personal Accident Insurance

Personal Accident Insurance offers coverage to you and your passengers for medical and ambulance bills for injuries caused in a car crash. If you have adequate health insurance or are covered by personal injury protection under your own car insurance, you may not need this additional insurance. It usually costs about $1 to $5 a day.

• Personal Effects Coverage

Personal Effects Coverage provides insurance protection for the theft of items in your car. If you have a homeowners or renters insurance policy that includes off-premises theft coverage, you are generally covered for theft of your belongings away from home, minus the deductible. If you purchase this coverage through the rental car company, it generally costs between $1 and $4 a day.

If you frequently travel with expensive items such as jewelry, cameras, musical equipment or sports equipment, it may be more cost-effective to purchase a personal articles floater under your homeowners or renters insurance policy. With such a floater, your valuable items are protected at home as well as while traveling anywhere in the world and the coverage is broader.

Other Things to Consider

States have minimum age requirements for renting a car and most major rental car companies refuse to rent a car to someone who is under 21 and in some cases under 25. In addition, some rental car companies now investigate your driving record and/or credit history so check with the rental car company before picking up the car.

If you are planning to rent a car abroad, contact both your insurance agent and travel agent to find out what you need to do to be properly insured. Those driving a rental car from the U.S. into Mexico may find it progressively more difficult to rent a car as U.S. rental car companies are increasingly concerned about the rising crime rates in that country. The minimum required insurance coverage to drive in Mexico is civil liability insurance which covers you in case you cause injury or damage. Your American liability insurance is not valid in Mexico for bodily injury, though some American insurance policies will cover you for physical damage—check with your agent or insurance company representative. You can also buy Mexican car insurance in several American border towns; there are generally several storefronts selling Mexican car insurance near the border.

Note: If you're renting a car abroad, you may need an international drivers license.
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Face value of Bankers Acceptance $1 000 000
Minus 2% per annum commission for one year - $20000
Amount received by exporter in one year $980 000
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People skills High





OEBPS/Image00013.jpg
Par Value of Convertible Bond
Conversion Price of Equity

Conversion Ratio =





OEBPS/Image00011.jpg
(Figures USD) 2007 2008

Sales 1500 000 2 000 000
Cost of Goods Sold (350 000) (375000)
Gross Profit 1150 000 1625 000
General Operating Expenses (175 000) (200 000)
Depreciation (60 000) (60 000)
Operating Inc 915 000 1365 000
Other Income (lnterest Income) 40 000 60 000
Extraordinary Income (15000)
Earnings Before Interest and Tax 955 000 1410 000
Interest Expense (50 000) (50 000)
Net Profit Before Taxes 905 000 1360 000
Taxes (10% ) (90 500) (136 000)
Net Profit After Taxes 814 500 1224 000
Dividends Paid to Shareholders - (100 000)
Retained Earnings 814 500 1124 000
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Gash Flow Statement
Company XYZ
FY Ended 31 Dec 2003

all figures in USD

Cash Flow from Operations

Net Earnings 2 000 000

Additions to Cash

Depreciation 10 000

Decrease in Accounts Receivable 15 000

Increase in Taxes Payable 2000

Subtractions from Cash

Decrease in Accounts Payable -15000

Increase in Inventory —30 000

Net Cash from Operations 1982 000

Cash Flow from Investing

Equipment -500 000

Cash Flow from Financing

Notes Payable 10 000
1492 000

Cash Flow from FY Ended 31 Dec 2003






